
SOUTHEND-ON-SEA CITY COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet 
 

Date: Tuesday, 13th September, 2022 
Time: 6.30 pm 

Place: Council Chamber - Civic Suite 
Contact: Colin Gamble - Head of Democratic Services  

email: committeesection@southend.gov.uk 
 

 
A G E N D A 

  
1   Apologies for Absence  

  
2   Declarations of Interest  

  
3   Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 26 July 2022 

  
4   Minutes of the Special Meeting held on Wednesday, 24 August 2022 

  
5   Resourcing Better Outcomes - Finance and Corporate Performance 

Report for July (Period 4)  
 Report of Executive Director (Finance and Resources) to follow 

  
6   City Centre Strategy and Investment Plan (Pages 11 - 110) 
 Report of Director of Regeneration and Growth 

  
7   City Council Brand Refresh (Pages 111 - 124) 
 Report of Executive Director (Strategy, Change and Governance) 

  
8   Community Safety Partnership Strategy (Pages 125 - 152) 
 Report of Director of Public Protection 

  
9   Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (Pages 153 - 202) 
 Report of Director of Public Protection 

  
10   Transport East's Transport Strategy (Pages 203 - 210) 
 Report of Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and Environment) 

  
11   Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector Contract (Pages 211 

- 218) 
 Report of Executive Director (Adult and Communities) 

  
12   Stray Dog Service (Pages 219 - 230) 
 Report of Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and Environment) 

  
13   Personal Watercraft and BBQ PSPO (Pages 231 - 242) 
 Report of Director of Culture and Tourism 

  
14   Feed and Food Service Plan 2022-23 (Pages 243 - 274) 
 Report of Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and Environment) 

Public Document Pack



  
15   School Admissions Arrangements 2024-25 (Pages 275 - 308) 
 Report of Executive Director (Children and Public Health) 

  
16   Treasury Management Report - Quarter 1 2022/23 (Pages 309 - 324) 
 Report of Executive Director (Finance and Resources) 

  
17   Minutes of the meeting of Economic Recovery, Regeneration and 

Housing Working Party held Monday, 5 September 2022  
 Minutes to follow 

  
18   Minutes of the meeting of Highways, Transport and Parking Working 

Party held Tuesday, 6 September 2022  
 Minutes to follow 

  
19   SO46 Report (Pages 325 - 326) 
 Report attached 

  
20   Exclusion of the Public  

  
21   SO46 Confidential Report  
 Report attached 

 
 
 
Chair & Members: 
 
Cllr S George (Chair), Cllr C Mulroney (Vice-Chair), Cllr L Burton, Cllr P Collins, Cllr 
I Gilbert, Cllr K Mitchell, Cllr M Terry and Cllr S Wakefield 
 



 
 

 
 

SOUTHEND-ON-SEA CITY COUNCIL 
 

Meeting of Cabinet 
 

Date: Tuesday, 26th July, 2022 
Place: Council Chamber - Civic Suite 

 
Present:  Councillor S George (Chair) 
 Councillors C Mulroney (Vice-Chair), L Burton, P Collins, I Gilbert, 

K Mitchell, M Terry and S Wakefield 
 

In Attendance: Councillors J Moyies and R Woodley 
M Marks, A Lewis, J Chesterton, G Gilbert, J Burr, S Dolling, 
R Harris, S Meah-Sims and K Ramkhelawon 
 

Start/End Time: 10.00 am - 11.35 am 
 
  

185   Apologies for Absence  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
  

186   Declarations of Interest  
 
The following declarations of interest were made: 
  
(a) Cllr Mitchell – Agenda Items 7 (Corporate Risk Register) and 8 (Annual Public 
Health Report) – A Better Start Southend (ABSS) is in partnership with Hamlet 
Court Road in Harmony Community Group  - the Councillor is the Chair of this 
group. 
  

187   Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 14 March 2022  
 
Resolved: 
  
That the minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 14 March 2022 be confirmed 
and signed as a correct record. 
  

188   Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 14 June 2022  
 
Resolved: 
  
That the minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 14 June 2022 be confirmed and 
signed as a correct record. 
  

189   Minutes of the Special Meeting held on Friday, 1 July 2022  
 
Resolved:- 
  
That the Minutes of the Meeting held on Friday, 1 July 2022 be confirmed as a 
correct record and signed. 
 
  

Public Document Pack

1

3



 
 

 
 

190   Corporate Plan  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Executive Director (Strategy, 
Change and Governance) presenting the Council’s draft Corporate Plan for 2022-
26 for agreement.  
  
Recommended: 
  
That the draft Corporate Plan 2022-26, set out at Appendix 1 to the submitted 
report, be approved and the responsibility for any final changes prior to 
publication be delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council. 
  
Other Options: 
  
There is no requirement to have a Corporate Plan, but it is best practice and 
provides a helpful narrative to set the direction for the work, clearly articulating our 
priorities and contribution to the Southend 2050 Ambition. 
  
Reasons for recommendation: 
  
To ensure the Council has a robust strategic plan which clearly articulates the 
priorities for the organisation enabling efficient use of resources. 
  
Note: This is a Council Function 
Called-in to: Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Cllr George 
  

191   Corporate Risk Register  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Executive Director (Finance and 
Resources) presenting the the updated summary Corporate Risk Register.  
  
Resolved: 
  
That the updated summary Corporate Risk Register and the position at July 2022, 
outlined in Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be noted. 
  
Other options: 
  
None 
  
Reason for decision: 
  
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that a relevant authority must 
ensure it has a sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective 
exercise of its function and the achievement of its aims and objectives, ensures 
that the financial and operational management of the authority is effective and 
includes effective arrangements for the management of risk. 
  
Note: This is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: All three Scrutiny Committees 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Collins 

2



 
 

 
 

  
192   Annual Public Health Report  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Executive Director (Children and Public 
health) presenting the 2021 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health. 
  
Resolved: 
  
That the content and recommendations of the 2021 Annual Report of the Director 
of Public Health be noted. 
  
Other Options: 
  
There are no other options as it is a statutory duty of the Director of Public Health 
to prepare an Annual Public Health Report. 
  
Reason for decision: 
  
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires Directors of Public Health to 
prepare an annual report on the health of the local population. 
  
Note: This is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: People Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Mitchell 
  

193   In-depth Scrutiny Project - 'Enabling Councillors to be effective' Final 
Report  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Executive Director (Strategy, 
Change and Governance) presenting the final report of the In-Depth Scrutiny 
Project for 2021/22 – ‘Enabling Councillors to be Effective.’  
  
Resolved: 
  
1. That the recommendations arising from the in-depth scrutiny project, as set out 
in Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be approved. 
  
2. That the budget implications arising from the recommendations of the in-depth 
scrutiny project be considered as part of current and future years’ budget 
processes prior to implementation. 
  
Reason for decisions: 
  
In accordance with Scrutiny Procedure Rule 10 (Part 4 (e) of the Constitution), the 
report of the in-depth scrutiny requires approval by the Cabinet.  Some of the 
recommendations arising from the review have budget implications that will 
require consideration as part of future years’ budget processes prior to 
implementation. 
  
Other Options: 
  
To note the report but not progress any of the recommendations. 
  

3



 
 

 
 

Note: This is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: All three Scrutiny Committees 
Cabinet Member: Cllr George 
  

194   City Culture Bid  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Executive Director (Adults and 
Communities) setting out the potential opportunities, risks and likely resources 
required for the Council to prepare a bid for the 2029 UK City of Culture 
competition. 
  
Resolved: 
  
That initial research and engagement be undertaken with the Southend-on-Sea 
resident community to assess the level of support for a bid to become the 2029 
UK City of Culture and that a further report come back to Cabinet on the outcome 
of this engagement, with a 66% in favour of a bid being the criteria. 
  
Other Options: 
  
The Council could decide not to pursue a city of culture bid without any evidence 
gathering of the benefits/disbenefits and community engagement.  
  
Reason for decision: 
  
To reach out to the Southend-on-Sea community to test their appetite before 
committing significant public finances to progress a bid. 
  
Note: This is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: Place Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Mulroney 
  

195   Leisure Services  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Executive Director (Adults and 
Communities) presenting a way forward for the long-term future delivery of the 
Council’s leisure provision following an options appraisal. 
  
Resolved: 
  
1. That the options for the long-term delivery of the Council’s leisure provision, as 
set out in the submitted report, be noted. 
 
2. That a procurement exercise be undertaken to appoint a provider to be the 
Council’s leisure operator, which should consider and factor in the following key 
principles:  
 

i. A 10-15 year contract to allow for investment in the facilities and provide the 
Council with both the best return and also the most attractive proposition for the 
market; 
ii. The Council should seek investment from the market within SLTC as described 
and also the condition survey investment, on the basis that this will generate 
additional revenue to fund the capital through prudential borrowing undertaken by 
the Council; 

4



 
 

 
 

iii. Seek a financial offer from the market to deliver a new improved contract with a 
revenue position that enhances that under the existing leisure contract with 
innovation in offer and method of operation; 
iv. Structure the procurement on a lot-based approach, providing the opportunity 
for the relevant schools to bid and operate their own facilities where appropriate; 
v. Include utilities benchmarking; 
vi. Build into the specification the delivery of: 
  
a. The overall health and wellbeing strategic aims and vision to ensure that the 
operator is required to support the Council in delivering these  
b. The strategic management of Garon Park in partnership with the Garon Park 
Trust 
  
vii. Develop a dialogue-based approach to procurement to enable the Council to 
discuss approaches through competitive dialogue with the market. 
  
Other options: 
  
There are several alternative management options available when considering the 
future delivery of the Council’s leisure provision. 
  
Reasons for decision: 
  
To proceed with a procurement exercise to appoint a provider to be the Council’s 
leisure operator factoring in a range of key principles. 
  
Note: This is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: Place Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Mulroney 
  

196   Southend Business Improvement District LTD RE-Ballot  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Executive Director (Adults and 
Communities) presenting an update on the success of the Southend Business 
Improvement District (BID) since its launch in April 2013 and re-ballot in 2017 and 
sought agreement to provide the support required for a renewal ballot of Southend 
City Centre businesses for a further five-year term of the Southend BID. 
  
Resolved: 
  
1. That the progress and impact of the BID be noted. 
  
2. That the Director of Culture and Tourism, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Public Protection, be given delegated authority to: - 
  
i. Consider on behalf of the Council as billing authority, whether the proposal 
conflicts with any formally adopted policy of the Council, and, if it does, give notice 
of this in accordance with the BID regulations. 
  
ii. Determine whether the Council should support the BID’s proposal decided by 
the majority of BID Directors and businesses and if so, to vote yes on its behalf in 
the BID ballot. If a ‘no’ vote is proposed, this will be referred to Cabinet for further 
consideration. 

5



 
 

 
 

  
iii. Formally manage the ballot process in accordance with BID regulations. 
  
iv. That subject to a ‘yes’ vote at ballot by the relevant BID business community, 
the Council as relevant local billing authority will manage the billing and collection 
of the additional levy, and its transfer to the BID company. In the event of a ‘no’ 
vote, that the costs of the ballot be recovered from the BID Company as per the 
BID regulations. 
  
v. Review and update the Operating Agreement, as required, which details the 
billing, collection and enforcement provisions as well as the arrangements for 
transmitting the BID receipts to the BID in consultation with the Executive Director 
(Finance and Resources). 
  
vi. Enter into a revised service level agreement with the BID company regarding 
the operation of the BID and delivery of Council requirements and baselines. 
  
Other Options: 
  
There are certain functions within the BID ballot process which can only be 
undertaken by the local authority. Therefore, if the Council is to support a third 
term of the BID it must be willing to undertake these activities.  
  
Reasons for Decision: 
  
The Southend BID company has leveraged funding from businesses in the BID 
area which wouldn’t otherwise have been available to invest in the city centre.   
The report sets out the impact the BID has made in the city centre and central 
seafront area funded through the levy and additional contributions.  
These interventions and value adding activities have been to the benefit of the 
area and could not have been delivered under the previous Town Centre 
Partnership / Management arrangement. 
  
Note: This is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: Place Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Terry 
   

197   Fees and Charges Update  
 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Executive Director (Finance and 
Resources) presenting a selected range of new fees and charges, together with 
some targeted increases above CPI which are outside the scope of the Council’s 
delegated fees and charges policy. 
 

Recommended: 
 

1. That the new fees and charges proposed for property and legal services, set 
out at Appendix 1a and the revisions to fees and charges shown in the schedule, 
set out at Appendix 1b to the submitted report, be approved. 
 

2. That it not be the Council’s policy to introduce charging in the following very 
small car parks in Zone 3: 

       Eastwood Boulevard Car Park (Blenheim Park Ward); 
       Pargat Drive Car Park (Eastwood Park Ward); and 
       Sutherland Boulevard Car Park (West Leigh Ward) 

6



 
 

 
 

3. That any decision to implement charging in the Rayleigh Road Cark Park in 
Eastwood, as set out in the submitted report, will only occur after the appropriate 
governance process is followed. 
  
Other Options: 
  
To retain fees and charges at their current levels which will result in an increasing 
gap between income and expenditure as inflationary pressures drive up costs 
whilst fees and charges remain static.  
  
Reasons for Recommendation: 
  
As part of our commitment to achieving financial self-sustainability and improved 
resilience we must ensure a sensible commercial mindset where appropriate. The 
recommendations in this report allow the Council to improve its income generating 
capabilities and ensure that appropriate charges are levied where necessary to 
better cover (or make a contribution) to the costs incurred for delivery of that 
service. 
  
Note: This is a Council Function 
Called-in to: Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Members: Cllr George and Cllr Collins 
  

198   SO46 Report  
 
Resolved: 
  
That the submitted report, be noted. 
  
Note: This is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: Place Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Collins 
  

199   Reports approved under the Delegated Authority Report process  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Executive Director 
(Neighbourhoods and Environment) presenting the decisions taken under the 
Delegated Authority Report (DAR) process. 
 

Resolved: 
 

That the decisions taken under Delegated Authority, be noted. 
 

Note: This is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: Place Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Wakefield 
  

200   Exclusion of the Public  
 

Resolved: 
 

That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the items of business set out below, on the grounds 
that they would involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

7



 
 

 
 

  
201   Parking Procurement  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Executive Director 
(Neighbourhoods and Environment) presenting the outcomes of the invitation to 
Tender (ITT) process for the Parking Enforcement Services Contract Lot 1 and the 
Cashless Parking and Parking Permits System Contract Lot 2 and sought 
approval to award the Parking Enforcement Services contract (Lot 1) following the 
ITT process to the successful bidder and the direct award through a procurement 
framework agreement for the award of the Lot 2 Contract. 
  
Resolved: 
  
1. That the contract be awarded to Provider A; this being the successful bidder for 
the Lot 1 Contract for a seven-year period with the option to extend up to a further 
3 years at the Council’s discretion. 

2. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and 
Environment) to liaise with Legal Services to finalise the required contract 
documentation and contract sealing for the Lot 1 Contract. 

3. That a permanent budget increase of £300k per annum for the Lot 1 contract 
commencing April 2023 and that this be included as part of the 2023/24 budget 
setting process, be approved.  

4. That one off implementation costs of £198k for the new contract funded by the 
Business Transformation Reserve, be approved.  

5. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and 
Environment) to procure the services for Lot 2 Contract by way of direct award via 
a Framework Agreement, subject to the appropriate operating budget being in 
place. 

Other Options: 
  
As set out in the submitted report. 

Reasons for Decisions: 
  
As set out in the submitted report. 
  
Note: this is an Executive Function 
Called-in to: Place Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Wakefield 
  

Chair:  
 
 

8



 
 

 
 

SOUTHEND-ON-SEA CITY COUNCIL 
 

Meeting of Cabinet 
 

Date: Wednesday, 24th August, 2022 
Place: Council Chamber - Civic Suite 

 
Present:  Councillor S George (Chair) 
 Councillors C Mulroney (Vice-Chair), L Burton, P Collins, I Gilbert, 

K Mitchell and S Wakefield 
 

In Attendance: Councillor R Woodley 
A Lewis and G Gilbert and R Harris 
 

Start/End Time: 6.30  pm - 6.35 pm 
 
  

225   Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Terry. 
  

226   Declarations of Interest  
 
The following declaration of interest was made: 
  
A Lewis – Minute 227 (Porters Place LLP – Change of Control – Acquisition of 
Swan HA by Orbit Group Limited) – Council representative on Porters Place 
Southend-on-Sea LLP Board. 
  

227   Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP: Change of Control - Acquisition of 
Swan HA by Orbit Group Limited  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Director of Regeneration and 
Growth seeking formal approval to give Southend-on-Sea City Council’s consent 
under the Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP Partnership Agreement for a 
change of control of Swan Housing Association in favour of Orbit Group Limited. 
  
The matter had been considered by the Shareholder Board at its meeting held on 
23rd August 2022 and the recommendations from the Board were before the 
Cabinet for consideration (Minute 228 below refers). 
  
The Cabinet noted that the Shareholder Board had made an amendment to 
resolution 3 in respect of the extension to the time periods concerning the revised 
Business Plan, budget and viability assessment (as set out in the tabled Minutes). 
  
Resolved: 
  
1. That approval is given for consent, under the Porters Place Southend-on-Sea 
LLP Agreement, to a change of control of Swan BQ Limited to reflect the proposed 
acquisition of Swan Housing Association (together with its subsidiaries) by Orbit 
Group Limited. 
  

9

4



 
 

 
 

2. That the Executive Director (Finance and Resources) be authorised to finalise 
and authorise the execution of any legal documentation (if required) with Orbit 
Group Limited, and any relevant other party, to comply with the terms of the legal 
suite and to effect the approval of the change of control. 
  
3. That the time periods referred to in resolutions 1 and 2 of Cabinet of 22nd March 
2022 (Minute 836 refers) be extended beyond the 31st December 2022 until such 
time as the revised Business Plan, budget and viability assessment is approved or 
the 31st December 2023, whichever is the earlier. 
  
Note: This is an Executive Function 
Cabinet Members: Cllr George and Cllr Gilbert 
Referred direct to: Place Scrutiny Committee 
  

228   Minutes of the meeting of the Shareholder Board held on Tuesday, 23 
August 2022  
 
The Cabinet received the Minutes of the meeting of the Shareholder Board that 
had taken place on 23rd August 2022, in respect of the report referred to in Minute 
227 above. 
  
Resolved: 
  
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Shareholder Board held on 23rd August 
2022, be noted. 
  
Note: This is an Executive Function 
Cabinet Member: Cllr George and Cllr Gilbert 
Referred direct to: Place Scrutiny Committee 
  
  

Chair:  
 
 

10



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 1 of 10  

 

 
 Southend-on-Sea City Council  
   
 Report of Interim Executive Director Growth & Housing  
 To  
 CABINET  

 On  
 13 September 2022  

   
 Report prepared by:  

Emma Lindsell Interim Director of Regeneration & Growth 
 

 

City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan 
 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Place Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Members: Councillor Ian Gilbert  

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item)  
 
1. Purpose of Report 
  
1.1 The purpose of the report is to set out the City Centre Strategy & Investment 

Plan which is a place-based plan which has been developed with partners 
following significant public and stakeholder engagement. The City Centre 
Strategy & Investment Plan outlines actions, both short and long term, to create a 
thriving, active, safe, and sustainable City Centre. 

  
2.  Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan (Appendix 1) is endorsed 

by the Council as a means to create a thriving, active, safe and sustainable 
City Centre. 
 

2.2 That the governance arrangements and next steps, including Day One 
actions be noted and endorsed. 
 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 In June 2021, Cabinet agreed the development of a culture-led visual 
 ‘masterplan lite’ for the City Centre and set aside £125,000 from the Covid 
 Recovery Reserve to resource this work.  Consultants “We Made That” and 
 “PRD” were appointed to develop a City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan and 
 this work was overseen by the Engineroom, a cross-sector partnership group 
 chaired by Philip Tolhurst.  
 
3.2 The City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan (Appendix 1) takes a placemaking 

 approach to the culture-led regeneration of the City Centre to create a 
 reimagined City Centre that has a mix of cultural, creative, residential, leisure, 
 community, learning, commercial and performance space.  It is not a Council 
plan, rather a plan for the place, developed through the Engineroom in 
consultation with key stakeholders. 

 

Agenda
Item 
No.

11

6



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 2 of 10  

 

3.3 The Strategy & Investment Plan is intended to set out ambitions for the City 
Centre and explore how the Council with private and other partners, might make 
the changes and improvements identified. It described changes that can happen 
quickly, as well as those that may be required in the years, even decades to 
come. It is intended to be a living document that will change and develop as 
new projects and investment comes forward. The Strategy has links to the Local 
Plan and Local Transport Plan and will seek to inform, and be informed by both. 
 

3.4 Consultation with stakeholders, businesses and the public started in February 
2022 to understand aspirations for the City Centre and has continued 
throughout the development of the Strategy & Investment Plan. 428 residents 
and stakeholders, including young people, have given their views about the 
future of the City Centre through face-to-face discussions, workshops, drop-ins, 
library exhibitions and also through an online survey. The anchor projects 
described in the Strategy were all identified through consultation and 
engagement as priorities for our residents, businesses and stakeholders. 
 

3.5 The City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan sets out anchor projects in different 
areas of the City Centre and describes immediate actions to push projects 
forward (Day One activities). 
 

3.6 In terms of governance, it is proposed that the Engineroom continues to lead 
the City Strategy & Investment Plan overseeing delivery of Day One actions and 
longer-term activity.  The Engineroom will receive regular updates on key 
projects and stakeholders and will keep up momentum in terms of delivery. 
 

 
4. Summary of the Strategy & Investment Plan 

 
4.1 The Strategy & Investment Plan explores different spaces in the City Centre and 

identifies anchor projects in each area: 
• Victoria Gateway 
• Forum and Central  
• Central High Street 
• Royals and the seafront 
• Kursaal 

 
4.2 The Strategy & Investment Plan looks at each area and anchor project under 3 

key themes: 
• A different kind of City Centre  
• Healthier Lives  
• Inspiring Young Residents  

 
4.3 Environmental sustainability, and equality and inclusion are cross-cutting 

themes that underpin all themes and activities in the Strategy & Investment 
Plan. 
 
Victoria Gateway 

4.4 The strategy for the Victoria Gateway area is to accelerate access to services 
and facilitate transportation throughout the City Centre. 
 

4.5 The first anchor project identified for the Victoria Gateway area is a reimagined 
Victoria Centre.  The Council will need to lead on this project as the owner of 

12



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 3 of 10  

 

the centre.  Large indoor and outdoor spaces create a unique opportunity to 
bring facilities and services right into the heart of the City Centre, building 
diversification around a core retail offer.  The project will bring together a range 
of health and other public sector services with leisure, retail; cultural and 
learning uses. 
 

4.6 The Council already owns the Victoria Centre and is investing in improvements 
through the capital programme to deliver some of the changes described.  Our 
Levelling-Up round 2 (LUF2) bid also seeks further investment in the Victoria 
Centre to create new leisure, performance and creative spaces.  This area of 
the City Centre also includes the Better Queensway development which will 
bring additional and improved homes to the City Centre along with a park and 
business spaces. 
 

4.7 Day One Actions identified in the Strategy & Investment Plan: 
Communicate more widely the future proposals for the Victoria Centre so 
that investors and developers can better understand the direct actions 
that Southend is taking to improve the City Centre experience. 
 
Liveable City Centre 

4.8 The second anchor project is a Liveable City Centre.  A joined-up approach to 
public transport and active travel could make Southend the easiest city to get 
around. It brings together public transport options and active travel solutions. 
 

4.9 Work is already underway on the Local Transport Plan (LTP) and Bus Service 
Improvement Plan both of which will unlock active travel and public transport 
improvements across the City. We are also progressing with plans to deliver 
more electric vehicle (EV) charging points to support EV use and improve air 
quality. 
 

4.10 Day One Action in the Strategy & Investment Plan: Explore external funding 
to trial of new transport modes such as rental bikes and ensure that wider 
planned strategic and operational transport investment addresses these 
ambitions. 
 
Forum and Central 

4.11 The strategy for the Forum and Central area is a Creative Business Hub - a 
clustering of creative businesses and learning uses.  
 

4.12 The anchor project will deliver a creative businesses cluster in the City Centre to 
provide pathways for business growth and opportunities for young people to 
access skills and employment opportunities in the cultural and creative sector.  
Subject to demand, a reinvention of Central House or similar space could provide 
this opportunity.  
 

4.13 Work with C2C and Network Rail is already underway to explore the art of the 
possible around mixed-use investment in Central Station.  This could include 
creative commercial ground floor opportunities. The Council is also already 
prioritising investing in creative workspaces elsewhere in the City Centre 
including 90 High Street (The Ironworks) and in the Victoria Centre through our 
LUF2 bid (outcome expected autumn 2022).  
 

4.14 Day One Action from the Strategy & Investment Plan: Identify affordable 
space opportunities in high footfall locations that have the potential to 

13



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 4 of 10  

 

become workspace hubs for target sectors and scope their potential. 
 
Central High Street 

4.15 The strategy for the Central area sets out how the High Street could become a 
greener, more sustainable place that can be used by children and their families.  
 

4.16 The first anchor project in this Central area is a green and playable high street 
using green corridors as a destination for health, leisure and wellbeing.  The High 
Street and Chichester Road become exemplary healthy streets through greening, 
integrated play opportunities, and exemplary walking and cycling environments.  
 

4.17 The second anchor project is about creating a 24 hour economy, activating 
spaces during the day and at night and improving the sense of safety when in the 
City Centre. The LuminoCity festival and encouraging new leisure uses in the 
City Centre will promote safety at all times of the day and night. 

 
4.18 Day One Actions identified in the Strategy & Investment Plan:  Identify 

existing resources that could be used to deliver greening and improved 
active travel in the City Centre e.g. tree planting. Seek external funding for 
greening projects across the City centre with the potential to include 
businesses grants for green roofs, improved public realm with appropriate 
planting and creation of pocket parks.  

 
 The Royals & Seafront 
4.19 The strategy for the Royals and seafront includes working with the new owner of 

the Royals to redevelop/repurpose the site and making active connections 
between the seafront and the high street via green, accessible public spaces. 
 

4.20 The first anchor project for this area is repurposing the Royals to create a mixed-
use site. The Royals is a gateway site in Southend, at a key moment where the 
seafront links to the High Street.  Repurposing the building could provide a new 
anchor of activity for the high street which could include retail, leisure, residential 
and workspaces. 
 

4.21 The second anchor project is to set the parameters for future development from 
the Royals and along the seafront linking the opportunities for the High Street 
with the seafront, the Kursaal, and all sites in between.  It will activate this area 
currently characterised by service entrances and underused sites. With limited 
public sector ownership, the Council will have influence as the planning authority, 
but these changes will need to be led by the private sector owners here.  
 

4.20 Day One Action from the Strategy & Investment Plan for both anchor 
projects: encourage developers to work together using the Engineroom as a 
catalyst for conversation and action to develop a more detailed shared vision 
for this area of the City. 
 
Kursaal 

4.21 The Strategy looks at the Kursaal area as hub for learning, creativity, fun and 
community engagement.  
 

4.22 The anchor project for this area is the reinvention of the Kursaal as an 
Imaginarium a home for learning, arts and culture for all ages. The Kursaal is a 
well-loved heritage icon, with strong community support for its reinvention.  A 

14



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 5 of 10  

 

new vision to reinvent this iconic building as an imaginarium will inspire and 
support children and young people through creative and cultural uses.  This will 
need to be led by the private sector owner and the Council will need to be open 
minded to alternative uses which bring the Kursaal back into positive use. 
 

4.23 This area of the City Centre also includes Marine Plaza which although delayed, 
has been granted a planning consent for a significant redevelopment including 
residential, restaurants, cafes and bars and the developers have stated will begin 
on site after the 2022 summer season. The Council will continue to work with all 
developers of stalled sites to explore opportunities to bring forward investment.  
This area also includes the Seaway Leisure development which will brings new 
leisure uses to the City Centre including cinema, hotel, leisure and food and 
beverage uses alongside public car parking (and EVs). 
 

4.24 Day One Action in the Strategy & Investment Plan: Continue to seek external 
investment with the aim of mobilising the Kursaal Imaginarium project. 
Funding has been secured through the Creative Estuary programme to 
generate a project plan for Kursaal as an imaginarium owned and delivered 
by the community for the community.  

 
 

5. Proposed governance arrangements and next steps 
 

5.1 It is proposed that the Engineroom continues to lead the City Strategy & 
Investment Plan, overseeing delivery of Day One actions and longer-term 
activity.  The Engineroom will receive regular updates on key projects and 
stakeholders and will keep up momentum in terms of delivery. 
 

5.2 Further it is proposed that Engineroom is strengthened to include additional 
developers and landowners to bring together the key investors in Southend. 
 

5.3 Engineroom will produce an annual report on key projects and initiatives 
identified in the Strategy & Investment Plan. 
 

5.4 Immediate next steps are to deliver the Day One actions listed above in this 
report and to identify a named lead for the anchor projects. 
 

 
6. Reasons for Recommendation  

 
6.1 Evidence highlights that culture-led regeneration can have positive effects on 

myriad socio-economic factors including health and well-being, skills and 
learning, commercial opportunity, investment, and social connection. It 
underpins and adds value to a number of the 2050 outcomes and recovery 
priorities. 
 

6.2 This Strategy builds on developments already in progress in the City Centre.  
The principle aim of the strategy and investment plan is to bring about social, 
health, economic, and environmental improvement for local people. This is 
central to delivery of Southend 2050.  The Strategy also uses the creative & 
cultural industries in the City as a catalyst for positive regeneration of the City 
which reflects the priority it has as part of the Southend 2050 ambition and the 
underpinning role it plays across several 2050 themes and outcomes. 

15



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 6 of 10  

 

 
6.3 The Strategy provides strategic direction and a statement of intent for the City 

Centre and is intended as a tool to support and guide investment.  
 
 
7. Corporate Implications 
 
7.1 Contribution to the Southend 2050 ambition, outcomes and road map  

As above, a thriving City Centre underpins several 2050 themes and outcomes 
including: 
 

7.2 We have a fast-evolving, re-imagined and thriving City Centre, with an 
inviting mix of shops, homes, culture and leisure opportunities.  The whole 
strategy seeks to achieve this reimagining of the City Centre, the proposed 
actions will create a vibrant, green, well used 24 hour City Centre which is 
accessible by all. 

 
7.3 There is a tangible sense of pride in the place and local people are 

actively, and knowledgeably, talking up Southend.  Through investment in 
visible improvements to the City Centre there will be positive impact on pride in 
place. 

 
7.4 Southend is a place that is renowned for its creative industries, where new 

businesses thrive and where established employers and others invest for 
the long term.  The strategy explores ways to create and activate spaces for 
the creative industry and supports new businesses and entrepreneurs in the 
sector.  

 
7.5 Southend provides fulfilling careers for our residents, and enough job 

roles to match the needs of the population.  Investing in the cultural 
economy, and therefore attracting more visitors and greater spend, should 
thereby create more and a wider variety of jobs. Similarly, the creative sector 
offers an exciting and growing range of career opportunities. 

 
7.6 People have a wide choice of transport options. The strategy explores many 

transport options including improvements to walking and cycling routes. 
 
7.7 Southend is a leading digital City with world class infrastructure that 

reflects equity of digital provision for the young, vulnerable and 
disadvantaged.  Digital is a growing part of the creative sector, the creative hub 
proposed in the strategy will bring more digital businesses to the City Centre. 
Included in the strategy is improved public Wi-Fi which will support all residents 
and businesses connect digitally. 

 
7.8 The variety and quality of our outstanding cultural and leisure offer has 

increased for our residents and visitors and we have become the region’s 
first choice coastal tourism destination.  Through investing in new cultural 
and leisure opportunities, including at the Victoria Centre, Seaway Leisure and 
Elmer Square, we are expanding the offer for both residents and visitors. 

 
7.9 Our streets and public spaces are valued and support the mental  and 

physical wellbeing of residents and visitors. The City Centre is a public 
space for which people have great affinity.  Investing in public realm and other 

16



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 7 of 10  

 

reasons to spend more time there is evidenced to drive footfall so increasing 
numbers of people and City Centre business benefit. 

 
7.10 We act as a Green City with outstanding examples of energy efficient and 

carbon neutral buildings, streets, transport and Recycling.  Environmental 
sustainability is underpins the strategy and the greening of the high street key 
part of intended delivery. 

 
7.11 Even more Southenders agree that people from different backgrounds are 

valued and get on well together.  Cultural assets and activities such as those 
proposed in the strategy can create times and spaces which support community 
wellbeing and understanding. 

 
7.12 Residents are routinely involved in the design and delivery of services. 

Extensive consultation has been undertaken with residents and stakeholders. 
438 people engaged as part of the consultation, over 124 of these were young 
people. 

 
7.13 Our children are school and life ready and young people are ready for 

further education, training or employment.  Young people are a key theme 
and focus within the strategy, several proposed activities seek to improve 
learning outcomes and to provide better spaces for children and young people. 

 
 
8. Finance and Value for Money implications 
 
8.1 Financial Implications  
 
8.1      The Strategy & Investment Plan has potential financial implications for the 

Council but in the main these will be for partners and for future investors in 
Southend.  At this time, however, there is no request for additional investment 
from Council revenue or capital funds. Officer time will be required to co-
ordinate the Engineroom and Strategy actions – it is anticipated that one day 
per week of the Director of Regeneration & Growth and one day per week 
across the Capital and Economic Inclusion teams will be sufficient for this 
activity, which is already provided for in the existing staffing base budget for 
those teams.  

8.2      Cost consultants have estimated that at current prices delivering anchor 
projects in their entirety will cost around between £100m and £150m. These 
costs are likely to escalate over the medium term given the inflationary 
pressures that will impact on the economy over this period. The developments 
will be phased over several years and funded by mixed sources including 
significant private sector investment. The Council may choose to provide match 
funding to contribute to and accelerate the delivery of projects and will also 
actively seek external funding, CIL and Section 106 monies, support initiatives 
through existing resources and crowd source funding. Any funding from 
whatever Council source will first need assessment against all the other Council 
priorities in our capital investment programme and revenue budget and also in 
the light of the significant demand and cost pressures being experienced by the 
Council.  

8.3      The Council may decide to bring forward some capital projects directly, 
particularly where delivery sits most appropriately with the council e.g. public 

17



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 8 of 10  

 

realm and active travel, and in this case projects will follow the capital gateway 
process and will require reprioritisation of the existing capital investment 
programme to ensure there is no further net cost to the Council’s capital 
investment programme. 

8.4      Some Day One actions proposed have funding already identified and for other 
activities the Council will work with partners to identify funding including scoping 
sources identified above. 

 
8.5      Regenerating the City Centre will have a positive impact on income to the 

Council. Increased residential units in the City Centre will bring in additional 
Council Tax income, although more residents will also mean more public sector 
service requirements; it will also drive local spend in the City Centre.  Bringing in 
more businesses will also drive income through additional business rates 
yield.  Central businesses will also benefit through increased Business 
Improvement District (BID) levy arising from there being more businesses. 

 
9. Legal Implications 
 
9.1 There are no implications arising from the adoption of the City Centre Strategy & 

Investment Plan. Legal implications may arise from the projects included within 
this Plan, which if delivered by the Council and of sufficient scale will be subject to 
their own Cabinet decisions and legal considerations. 

 
10. Equalities and diversity Implications   
 
10.1 Broadly speaking the improvements to the City Centre as set out in the Strategy 

& Investment Plan will have a positive equality and diversity impact.  The 
Strategy has been designed with young people, healthier lifestyles, and 
inclusivity as key themes.  It will also support those struggling with the cost-of-
living crisis by bringing activity and investment to the City to unlock employment 
and housing opportunities. 
 

10.2 There are several specific areas of the strategy that address improvements for 
young people including investment in education, leisure and cultural activities for 
example, improved play space, inclusive safe and learning spaces and the Kursaal 
Imaginarium. 
 

10.3 The Strategy aims to address health inequalities, for example, by promoting active 
travel, accessibility, reducing poor air quality, addressing healthy eating. It looks at 
promoting equality of opportunity for older people or those with mobility problems 
by ensuring that travel options and the public realm are very usable by these 
groups. 
 

10.4 The Strategy is firmly routed in supporting those with low socio-economic inclusion 
– it brings new businesses and therefore new jobs to the area, along with skills 
opportunities into the City Centre.  
 

10.5 Council-led projects or activities described in the Strategy & Investment Plan will 
be subject to their own equalities impact assessments when they are closer to 
delivery stage. 

 
 

18



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 9 of 10  

 

11. Other corporate implications  
 
11.1 Consultation 
 
11.1.1 The consultation and engagement process throughout the development of 

the Strategy & Investment Plan has been extensive.  428 people including 
representation from citizens (across demographics), businesses, schools, 
councillors and stakeholders have given their views about the future of the 
city centre through face-to-face discussions, targeted workshops, drop-ins, 
library exhibitions and also through an online survey. 

 
11.1.2 The key findings from this work include: 

• Communicate and market future plans; 
• Celebrate being different, doing something new; 
• Support and collaborate with growing creative sector; 
• Improve feeling of safety on the High Street; 
• Expand offer of healthy activities;  
• Take an environmentally pro-active approach;  
• Recognise the Kursaal is a well-loved historic asset; 
• Create an inclusive and accessible city where there is something for 

everyone; 
• Quick win visual improvements to enhance the High Street environment; 
• Focus on young residents and families. 

 

11.2 Risk  
 
11.2.1 The key risk in adopting the Strategy & Investment Plan is reputational if there 

are no quick wins or Day One activity evident to partners and residents. To 
mitigate this risk a strong communications campaign will be developed to 
ensure that the actions towards implementing the vision are clear to residents 
and stakeholders.  The Day One actions have been costed and are considered 
deliverable. 

 
11.2.2 There is a further risk that while the Strategy & Implementation Plan have 

been developed with the private sector, with the Engineroom leading this work, 
there will be an expectation that the Council makes significant investment 
delivering a majority of the projects and schemes identified.  In mitigation, the 
Strategy & Investment Plan makes clear that delivery will only be possible 
through a partnership approach in which the Council will play a part but will 
not, and cannot be responsible for all the delivery or investment. 

 
 
11.3 Green City/Environment/Climate Change 
 
11.3.1 Environmental sustainability is a cross cutting themes running throughout the 

Strategy & Investment Plan. There are a range of positive transport and greening 
projects which will have a positive impact on the immediate City Centre and on-air 
quality and other environmental indicators that will be felt City-wide, including the 
promotion of sustainable transport and EV charging. 

 
 
12. Background Papers 

19



City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan Page 10 of 10  

 

 
12.1 Culture-led Regeneration and the Town Centre - Cabinet 15 June 2021. 
 
 
13. Appendices 
 
13.1 Appendix 1 - Southend City Centre Strategy & Investment Plan 
 
 
 

20



City Centre Strategy 
and Investment Plan

SOUTHEND

21



Working with Working for

With special thanks to the following 
stakeholders and groups who helped us to 
shape the strategy and investment plan:

 – Councillors
 – Members
 – Southend City Council Corporate 

Management Team
 – Southend City Council  Officers
 – The Engine Room
 – South Essex College
 – University of Essex
 – YMCA
 – Adult Education College Southend
 – Southend High School for Girls
 – Get the Kids Out
 – St Chedds youth group
 – Youth Council
 – A Better Start Southend
 – Landowners, developers and property 

stakeholders including Swan Housing and 
SKarchitects

 – Southend Business Improvement District
 – Independent businesses and networks such as 

Thrive Collective,Yoga Factory, IndiRock and 
Show Up Southend

 – LCR
 – Southend Tourism Partnership
 – Southend Creative Culture Network
 – Concrete Culture representatives
 – TOMA
 – Southend Museum
 – Old Waterworks
 – Focal Point Gallery
 – METAL
 – Kiwi Productions

A full list can be found in the supplementary 
Engagement Report.

Revisions tracker

Revision Date Description

B 01-09-2022 Final document issue

A 24-06-22 Draft issue for client review

We Made That 2Southend City Centre Strategy22



Contents

1.0 A vision for Southend City Centre 4

– Executive summary
– The vision 

2.0 How to be a good city 8

– Characteristics of a good city
– Statement of intent
– Evidence base summary
– Engagement process summary
– Key themes to guide future goals  

3.0 How to behave like a city 22

 – The Council’s Role: city Leaders
 – Evolving behaviours for city management
 – Practical principles

4.0 Projects to deliver the vision 30

– 4.1 A welcoming place for all  
– 4.2 A culture for education and learning
– 4.3 A green and sustainable city centre
– 4.4 A great work-life balance       
– 4.5 The most family friendly city centre

5.0 Next steps 86

6.0 Appendices 

– Evidence base 
– Engagement report 

We Made That 3 Southend City Centre Strategy23



A vision for 
Southend City 
Centre

1.0

Executive summary
Vision

24



In the future, the strategy will be read in conjunction 
with the Levelling Up Fund application, Local Transport 
Plan 4 and Local Plan once published.

About the investment plan

Whilst the vision sets the trajectory for longer term 
15-20 year thinking, the focus in the shorter term 5-10 
year period is to establish a place which is investment 
and development friendly allowing for more market 
opportunity-led approaches. Less emphasis can be 
placed on the public sector needing to financially 
support projects to get off the ground. This investment 
plan lays the groundwork for this to happen.

This document sets out all the great things are already 
underway in Southend City Centre, to demonstrate 
why it is an exciting time to invest in Southend.

Document structure

This document contains the following chapters:

 – A vision for Southend City Centre
 – How to be a good city
 – How to behave like a City
 – Projects to deliver the vision
 – Next steps

Accompanying documents

A background evidence base document has been 
published as a separate document and supplemented 
by a separate engagement report to demonstrate how 
the strategy and investment plan has been guided by 
the views of those that live, work, visit, do business and 
study in Southend City.

1.  City Centre strategy and vision

Executive summary

This strategy, informed by a 
period of in-depth research and 
engagement, sets out a clear 
vision and series of actions to 
guide the future development 
and direction of the city centre 
for years to come.

About this document

Southend City Council has appointed a team of 
specialist consultants led by We Made That to 
produce a Strategy and Investment Plan for Southend 
city centre.

The strategy is grounded in the Southend 2050 
ambition for the future and recognises concurrent 
work such as the developing Local Plan, Local 
Transport Plan Four and existing strategies such as 
the SCAAP and Green City Action Plan.

The strategy emphasises the role of arts, culture 
and the creative industries in the renewal and 
transformation of city centres. It is therefore 
positioned to maximise partnership and investment 
opportunities at a sub-regional level via the Thames 
Estuary Cultural Production Corridor and at a national 
level, aligned with the investment principles of Arts 
Council England’s Let’s Create Strategy. 

Let’s Create has four investment principles:

Ambition and quality – supporting ambitious cultural 
organisations and artists to develop their talent and 
deliver impact to communities across the country. 

Dynamism – driving innovation through collaboration, 
connecting different sectors through arts and 
creativity, and nurturing dynamic creative places.

Environmental responsibility - with arts and culture 
leading the way in sustainable practice.

Inclusivity and relevance – a commitment to 
equality and fairness and embracing the full diverse 
talent base to build distinctive communities and 
places. 

We Made That 5Southend City Centre Strategy25



1.  City Centre strategy and vision

The Vision 

What if Southend’s 
independent spirit was used to 
shape a different kind of city? 

Southend has always done 
things differently. It is a city filled 
with creative people and bold 
ideas about the future. This 
independent Estuary spirit will be 
the key to paving a path forward 
for bright future for the City 
Centre.  

In looking towards the future, this 
document will help Southend 
direct its creative energy towards 
shaping a City Centre that 
promotes health and well being 
that is supportive and inspiring 
for young people and families. 

The golden thread which will 
underpin the future development 
of the City Centre is a 
commitment to inclusivity and 
sustainability, with creativity 
central to the area’s renewal and 
future dynamism.

The vision has been shaped by 
those that live, work, visit, do 
business and study in Southend 
City. We hope you can join us in 
working to change perceptions 
and build Southend’s reputation.

We Made That 6Southend City Centre Strategy 26



27



How to be a
good city

2.0

Characteristics of a 
good city
What is already 
happening?
Evidence base 
summary
Engagement 
summary
Key themes to guide 
future goals

28



29



To understand the opportunity 
available to Southend in 
becoming a city, we have 
considered why the best small 
cities in the world perform so well. 
We have learned from a number 
of places, identifying what makes 
them special and competitive.

Looking at cities of similar size 
to Southend, we have identified 
how Leuven in Belgium attracts 
and retains talented students; 
how Wiesbaden celebrates its 
relationship with neighbouring 
Frankfurt; how Bergamo in 
Italy benefits from strong 
consistent public leadership; how 
Groningen in the Netherlands 
has differentiated itself through 
greening and pedestrianizing 
spaces; and how Victoria in 
Canada has become noted for its 
focus on quality of life. 

This has led to us identifying the 
following outcomes that we feel 
will help make Southend a good 
city: 

…people will be healthy and well

...a carbon negative future is 
embraced

...people will feel safe on the 
high street

...populations are open and 
diverse

…provides access to nationally 
significant culture

… has distinctive physical 
environments

£ … is attractive to talent and 
investment

… can demonstrate innovation 
and specialisation

...creativity and culture 
will provide the foundations 
for a dynamic, distinctive and 
collaborative city

2.  How to be a good city

Characteristics of a 
good city

We Made That 10Southend City Centre Strategy 30



Putting forward the city’s relationship with water and nature in Victoria, Canada.
Image: www.ontheluce.com/victoria-british-columbia/

Retention of students and young people by focusing on their needs  in the university city of Leuven, 
Belgium
Image: Visit Flanders

Rapid transition away from cars towards 
pedestrian and cylce-friendly streets in 
Groningen, Netherlands
Image: Andreas Lindinger

Thriving City as a result of a mutually 
beneficial relationship with a larger 
neighbour, Brighton 
Image: www.propertylistings.ft.com

Creating an attractive alternative to big-city 
life by offering a high quality of life  to young 
families in Wiesbaden, Germany
Image: Martin Kraft

Development of historical tourism with 
a clear climate-focused objectives in 
Bergamo, Italy.
Image: www.lovingbergamo.it

We Made That 11 Southend City Centre Strategy31



X.  Section title

Page titleWhat is already 
happening?

BETTER 
QUEENSWAY

somewhere to feel at hom e

Consultation 
for Phase 1 RMA

November 2020  

Southend City Council have undertaken recent public 
realm improvements along London Road, Victoria 
Plaza and The Forum is underway. 
Image: Southend City Council

The Victoria Shopping Centre has been purchased by 
Southend City Council and new leisure uses are being 
introduced, such as the IndiRock climbing centre. 
Image: www.indirock.co.uk 

The Seaway Leisure project is the proposed 
redevelopment of the Seaway car park with a new 
cinema, hotel, restaurants and leisure space. 
Image: www.turnstoneestates.com

Programmes to address vacancy on the high street 
include Empty Unit Grants, shopfront loans, No Use 
Empty scheme and supporting No90 The Ironworks. 
Image: © Film Free Photography

Southend City Council are working to bring new 
residents to the city. The Better Queensway 
development will bring up to 1,760 new homes. 
Image: www.betterqueensway.co.uk

New groups and networks have been forming. Most 
recently this includes Southend Creative Culture 
Network, business group Thrive Collective and new 
arts co-operative Concrete Culture. Image: WMT

Recent success stories and projects underway

We Made That 12Southend City Centre Strategy 32



This page is left intentionally blank

We Made That 13Southend City Centre Strategy33



2.  How to be a good city

Evidence base 
summary  

The borough’s economy is shrinking which is 
being exacerbated by an under-performing 
city centre.

Improve access to green infrastructure, 
particularly through new developments and 
projects.

Creative sector growing but not highly visible 
in the built fabric.

This chapter of the report 
presents a summary of the 
key findings and messages 
coming out of the initial research 
phase of the work; both from an 
extensive evidence base report 
and an engagement process 
summarised on the next page.

The full evidence base and 
engagement reports can be 
downloaded as supplementary 
appendices.

05 
 

Growing creative sector 
 
 

04 
 

Access to green space 
 
 

01 
 

Shrinking economy 
 
 £

We Made That 14Southend City Centre Strategy 34



Heritage assets could be working harder to 
support a sense of pride.

Borough-wide averages mask significant 
localised health challenges which are being 
influenced by the built environment.

Community and social infrastructure could 
be more visibly prominent in the central high 
street area.

Services in the city centre are close to each 
other and can be accessed within short 
walking distances. 

07 
 

Closely connected 
services 

 
 

06 
 

Community facilities 
 
 

02 
 

Health challenges 
 
 

03 
 

Unique heritage assets 
 
 

We Made That 15Southend City Centre Strategy35



2.  How to be a good city

Engagement summary

Stakeholder 
conversations 

and public 
engagement

Evidence base 
report

Engagement 
report

Strategy and 
investment plan 

report

Public and stakeholder engagement was integral 
to the development of the Southend City Centre 
Strategy and Investment Plan. Over the course of four 
months, We Made That held workshops, focus groups, 
one-to-one conversations, a public event and an 
online survey. Outreach was directed towards youth 
groups, the creative and cultural sector, community 
groups, and the business and development sector, as 
well as the wider public, residents and visitors. 

The engagement process was designed to offer 
multiple opportunities for concerned parties to voice 
their priorities for the future of Southend City Centre, 
at different stages of the plan’s development. This 
ensures the development of a vision that all the people 
of Southend can feel confident in. 

All of the projects have been developed from 
feedback and conversations during the strategy 
process. Comments following the public exhibition 
have been fed into the projects and summarised in the 
‘what you said’ sections.

A creative city depends on a collaborative process. 
Engagement for this Plan has kickstarted an era of 
collaboration and dialogue. It is just the beginning.

Developing the City Centre vision, strategy and 
investment plan - process diagram

Over 438 people engaged 
during the process:

33  One-to-one 
conversations with 
stakeholders

80+  Conversations at 
public event

272 Online survey 
responses

4  Engine Room 
(independent stakeholder 
group) meetings

6  Themed workshops (CCI, 
property and development, 
business and tourism, 
University COG, Thrive 
Collective, BID)

124+  Young people 
engaged through workshops 
and survey 
 
4  Workshops with Steering 
Group officers

56+  Engaged during 
Working Party and Summit 
Event

We Made That 16Southend City Centre Strategy 36



Focus on young residents 
and families

Quick win visual 
improvements to high street 
environment

Communication of future 
plans and marketing for 
creative and independent 
offer

Celebrate being different, 
doing something new 

Support and collaborate with 
growing creative sector

Improve feeling of safety on 
the high street

Expand offer of healthy 
activities

Take an environmentally pro-
active approach

The Kursaal is a well loved 
historic asset

Create an inclusive and 
accessible city where there 
is something for everyone

Key messages from 
engagement process:

We Made That 17Southend City Centre Strategy37



What if Southend’s 
independent spirit was used 
to shape a different kind of 
city centre?

What if Southend had a boldly green 
and sustainable city centre? 

What if Southend’s centre welcomed 
all communities from near and far?

 
What if Southend shouted about 
its great education and businesses 
culture for young people? 

 
What if Southend was know for 
having the best work-life balance in 
the South East? 

We Made That 18Southend City Centre Strategy 38



What if Southend had a boldly green 
and sustainable city centre? 

What if Southend had the most 
family-friendly city centre the 
country? 

We Made That 19Southend City Centre Strategy39



2.  How to be a good city

Key themes to guide 
future goals

Themes to guide the vision for 
Southend’s future

To deliver the vision, the following 
themes have been developed 
in response to conversations 
about the City Centre and the 
need to look long term. The 
Council will provide targeted long 
term support to programmes of 
activity to build and evolve the 
investments and ideas we set out 
in the report.

We Made That 20Southend City Centre Strategy 40



 
A different kind of city centre 

 
Southend is now a city and is ready to do things differently. 
Southend will use its relationship with London, Essex and 

Kent and its independent Estuary spirit to shape a bold, brave 
and proud future for its city centre. that is not afraid to try 

something new. 

Sustainability and inclusion will drive each and every action.

Healthier Lives 
 

Southend will judge the 
success of investment 
and change in the City 
Centre by its impact on 

the well-being and quality 
of life of its communities, 

and its contribution to 
climate action.

Inspiring Young Residents 
 

Young people and families 
will be empowered and 
attracted to Southend 

as an inspiring and 
supportive place to be. 

This will drive a dynamic 
local economy and 
vibrant City Centre.

Su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
in

cl
us

io
n

Su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
in

cl
us

io
n

Delivering the future vision for Southend City Centre 
What if Southend’s independent spirit was used to shape a 

different kind of city centre?

We Made That 21Southend City Centre Strategy41



How to behave like 
a city

3.0

42



43



The one thing all good small cities 
have is strong leadership. 

The City Council needs to set 
an optimistic and strategic tone. 
Living, working and investing in 
Southend needs to be seen as a 
privilege, associated with quality 
and fairness. The city needs to 
be seen as a big opportunity, 
and this opportunity needs to be 
acknowledged outside of the city.

To achieve the outcomes we set 
out above, Southend will need 
strong central management, 
but also devolution of ideas and 
challenges to local groups and 
communities. The City Council 
will need to balance top-down 
intervention, with the nurturing of 
local ideas and enthusiasm. 

Centrally, planning powers can be used to create 
innovative and progressive policies that are 
responsive to the ambitions of this strategy and the 
city’s economic, social and environmental context. 
This could include: 

 – Promoting/enforcing Net Zero in new development
 – Expediting appropriate change of use from retail to 

community, culture or workspace
 – Implementing design review processes to ensure 

quality
 – Supporting the wider transformation of the city 

where development can be linked and consolidated

Land and property assets should also be used as part 
of this to deliver positive change. In some cases, the 
Council will need to take a broader view on the value 
of sites than just their income and economic impact. 

Spaces such as the Victoria Centre can become hubs 
for public good as well as rental income.

At the project level, the Council can directly deliver 
many of the interventions set out in this document but 
should seek to work in partnership wherever possible.  
Project managers need to work with collaborators to 
scope out and define projects, generate wider interest, 
leverage funding and bring them to fruition. The 
Council should use its influence to bring key decision 
makers and influencers to the table to help unlock 
opportunities and overcome barriers. Groups like the 
Engine Room are an important step in establishing a 
dialogue between stakeholders and the City Council. 

City Council resources will also be used to support 
relevant initiatives being led by other organisations. 
This may be through project management support, 
revenue funding, capital funding, political support or 
advice. Officers should help stakeholders understand 
the different funding and resources available to deliver 
projects.

3.  How to behave like a city

The Council’s role: city 
leaders

We Made That 24Southend City Centre Strategy 44



The Royals. Image credit: Southend BID

We Made That 25Southend City Centre Strategy45



This strategy should mark a shift 
in thinking about Southend’s 
economy and a step-change in 
the City Council’s approach to 
place and economy. 

Turning Southend into an opportunity-driven 
market can only be built on the foundations of small, 
incremental changes that nurture, improve and 
establish what Southend’s identity is to be as a City.
As time progresses, investment and development 
activity will be intrinsically more sustainable and 
also less marginal from a viability perspective, 
meaning meaning that tricky stalled sites or long-
term programmes with multiple phases of activity 
will be easier to commence, and they will be able to 
exhibit high quality design, sustainable performance, 
liveability and integration with their surroundings.  

Given this complexity, the City Council and its 
partners will need to be innovative in approaching 
delivery. Once again learning from the best small cities 
in Europe, the following principles have been identified 
to support a new approach to the City Centre:

 – Commitment - A shared and long-term 
commitment that responds to the challenges and 
opportunities identified in this strategy 

 – Collaboration - Making the most of the capacity 
and resource that exists across the city by building 
on the work of partners, brokering new relationships 
and working across new areas 

 – Participation - Embedding participatory principles 
within delivery to ensure that Southend’s residents 
are actively involved in idea development, decision 
making and delivery 

 – Innovation - Delivering innovative projects and 
taking innovative approaches to leverage funding 
and realising ambitions

 – Agility - Continuously reviewing delivery 
mechanisms, project priorities and ways of working 
to ensure the city remains agile in responding to 
changing needs 

 – Pace- Working rapidly to deliver projects that 
deliver positive economic, social and environmental 
impacts

3.  How to behave like a city

Evolving behaviours for 
city management

We Made That 26Southend City Centre Strategy 46



Southend High Street. Image credit: Paul Tait

We Made That 27Southend City Centre Strategy47



The proof of Southend’s ability 
to adopt the behaviours of good 
city management, will be in the 
delivery. We have therefore set 
out six practical principles for 
consideration amongst partners 
as they begin to take the existing 
town centre and turn it into a 
thriving city centre.

Embed Response to Inequality

As Southend grows and becomes more popular, 
partners will need to organise to respond to the 
challenge of inequality. The city is already susceptible 
to challenges in cost of living with house prices which 
are amongst the fastest growing in the southeast.  
Unchecked, with embedded poverty which impacts 
around 1 in 5 residents, potential gentrification impact 
could compromise the success of this strategy. 

Without public sector intervention and a focus on the 
wellbeing of local people, the experience of living in 
the city centre could become harder for a significant 
proportion of the local population. It is, therefore, 
vital that the plan is honest about the challenge and 
ambitious in its response. 

Transition to Net Zero

A great city of the future, Southend needs to be a 
leader in responding to climate crisis, with the public 
sector being a leader. This will mean finding ways to 
support delivery of retrofit at scale, reducing transport 
emissions, supporting circular economy, and providing 
more resilient urban infrastructure. This is a challenge 
for all areas of the country, but one which can be 
expedited in Southend and become part of its future 
urban identity. 

Think Big and Think Long Term

If Southend is to become a growing, diverse and 
competitive city, it will need to grow and will need to 
secure new investment to support this. The city must 
think long term about how it does this and identify 
opportunities of scale. Sites to accommodate the 
city centre’s expansion can be isolated by timing 
geography; as an effective steward, the council, must 
start to form links between these sites to enable them 
to be seen as a whole. 

The area from Tylers Avenue to the Royals, to Seaway 
Car Park, to Marine Plaza, to the Kursaal represent an 
arc of opportunity for the city centre’s future growth. 
Whilst these are at various stages of their evolution 
in allocation, planning and delivery, considering them 
as a conceptual whole would be a positive practical 
example of thinking like a city. 

Embrace London

Southend’s relationship with London can be 
problematic, but also defines the city (whether in 
opposition of celebration). Embracing London should 
be an important part of Southend’s evolution as a 
city and its approach to the city centre; many small 
cities (Brighton, Bath, Bergamo, Wiesbaden) we have 
considered thrive as a result of a mutually beneficial 
relationship with a larger neighbour. This is not about 
being subservient to London but recognising that 
London will benefit from a stronger more competitive 
Southend and by being active in an exchange of ideas 
on economy and culture will add value to the city 
centre offer.

Rethink the Value of the High Street

For the last 30 years’ we have defined the success 
of high streets predominantly on commercial terms, 
aspiring to increased spending, land values and private 
investment. The High Street in Southend represents 
a significant amount of space for interaction and 
social connection, but is not always appreciated for 
this function. By seeking balance between social, 
environmental and commercial value, Southend’s city 
centre can become a more rounded contributor to the 
city. Great liveable cities do this well an many cases, 
yield commercial benefit as a result. 

3.  How to behave like a city

Practical principles

We Made That 28Southend City Centre Strategy 48



Devolve Responsibility for Ideas and Inspiration

Southend is diversifying and thanks to an active 
creative and cultural conversation is a city of ideas 
and civic action. This needs to be embraced in the 
city centre’s evolution, with spaces and forums for 
these ideas (and in some cases challenge) to be 
promoted. The city needs to think about how it can 
embed systems which encourage civic action and 
give local people space to explore their ideas and the 
confidence to scale these in Southend. This can be 
formal and informal but should cut across everything 
within this plan.

Bologna’s Civic 
Imagination Office

Bologna noted that the city’s 
evolution was being hindered 
by distrust of city government 
amongst local residents and 
businesses so have prioritised 
resident participation and 
need by focusing on ‘the 
urban commons’. A new 
Office for Civic Imagination 
has enhanced collaboration 
between the city, business, 
university and local residents. 
This provides a progressive 
basis upon which a 
conversation on the future of 
the city can take place. More 
funding and decision making 
has been devolved to local 
areas, enabling people to 
focus on the districts of the 
city that are most important 
to them. 

 

Image credit: www.sustainablecities.eu

We Made That 29Southend City Centre Strategy49



Projects to deliver 
the vision

4.0

50



51



4.1 A welcoming place for all

Chinese New Year celebrations 
Image credit: Gaz de Vere

52



53



X.  Section title

Page title

4.1.  A welcoming place for all

What if Southend’s centre 
welcomed all communities from 
near and far? 

A different kind of city

1. Victoria Centre retail and community health hub 
gateway: combining retail uses with a hub for civic, 
community, cultural and commercial uses (see 
anchor projects)

2. Integrated programme of interactive, playful and 
artist-led interventions, such as a new art work 
on the bridge, to showcase Southend’s creative 
talent and city branding

3. Test and trial different uses in multistorey car 
park; such as a bike park, leisure uses or events. 
Potential to trial EV parking

4. Programme of events and activities that 
showcase new leisure uses

5. Remove New Look extension to open up route 
from the station; re-use materials, high quality 
soft landscaping and accessible public realm 
coordinated with Focal Point Gallery public art 
commission

Healthier lives

6. A liveable city centre: strategy to improve walking/
cycling connections and accessibility along 
North South corridor and to Chichester Road, 
integrated with improvements coming forward to 
the Queensway (see anchor project)

7. Victoria Centre greening: trees, Sustainable 
Drainage Systems, planting, opportunities for 
grow spaces on roofs

8. New and green public transport options: 
possibility of light rapid transit links from Victoria 
station to the seafront. Coordinate improvements 
in access to public transport with the new Local 
Transport Plan 4

Inspiring young residents

9. Open up public access and attract younger 
audiences to the Southend Museum collection. 
Link with the Beecroft gallery

10. Bring more people to the city centre through the 
day and night to improve feeling of safety: events 
programme such as a night market at the Victoria 
Centre precinct and along London Road (see 
section 4.2)

11. Better Queensway: ground floor creative 
workspace

Victoria Station gateway area 

The area at the top of the high 
street, including Victoria station 
and the Victoria Centre has 
been identified as a key area to 
accelerate access to services 
and facilitate transportation 
throughout the City Centre. 
Projects explore how a transport 
hub can be re-imagined as a 
centre for social interaction. All 
projects identified have been 
developed through research and 
engagement.

We Made That 34Southend City Centre Strategy 54



Key projects

7

1

9

5

8

11

2

2

6

6

4

3

10

“Increase accessibility to public 
transportation”

“Friendlier, more welcoming centre-
activities and people”

Public event: what you said...

– Trialing an Electronic Vehicle car park and artwork 
on the Victoria bridge were low priority projects

– Children’s exhibit about Southend history
– Tourist information in the centre of the high street
– Affordable indoor youth leisure and sports offer; 

pool tables, roller city, ice rink, mini golf, soft play
– Access to public transport (eg free bus travel for 

under 18s) and safe cycle routes were the key 
concerns when thinking about all transport modes 
(however accessible parking spaces requested)

– Activate Victoria Plaza with cafes, terraces, pubs
– Victoria Centre; free work spaces, outside painting, 

temporary accommodation, community drop-ins
– Southend must become a cycle friendly city; join up 

routes along Victoria Avenue and the seafront

Key

 A different kind of city

 Healthier lives

 Inspiring young residents

 In progress

We Made That 35Southend City Centre Strategy55



X.  Section title

Page title

Vertical urban village in a former 
department store, Crosstown Crossroads, 
Memphis, USA
Image: Tom Vander Ark

Transport interchange and public realm 
with shared identity, Federation Square, 
Melbourne, Australia
Image: © Steven Wright

A project to revitalise and restore 
the Brixton Recreation building and 
surrounding quarter, Brixton, Lambeth
Image: © Historic England Archive

Vertical public spaces in The Commons, a 
retail centre in Bangkok, Thailand
Image: © Ketsiree Wongwan

4.1.  A welcoming place for all

Anchor project 
The Victoria Centre

 
The recent purchase of the 
Victoria centre by the City 
Council is an opportunity to 
do something new with retail 
spaces. Large spaces create 
a unique opportunity to bring 
indoor facilities and services 
right into the heart of the City 
Centre, building diversification 
around a core retail offer, 
providing customer convenience 
and driving additional footfall. 
Showcasing the Council’s 
presence will be a key part of 
the future of the city centre, and 
will demonstrate the Council’s 
ambition to see change happen. 
Interventions should be delivered 
ahead of Better Queensway, for 
maximum impact.

1. Improve connection to 
Victoria Station mobility hub

2. A centre for health services 
(already underway)

3. Improve visual experience 
for visitors and showcase 
Southend’s creative talent

4. Relocate Council services 
and offices for convenience 
and increased footfall

5. Provide accessible sports 
facilities and leisure uses, 
particularly for young people

6. Open up and illuminate 
frontage: use windows to 
promote Southend

7. Test new uses for the car 
park such as a rooftop 
cinema or Electric Vehicle 
services

8. Showcase new leisure uses 
with activities and events 
through the day and night

A creative, commercial 
and community health 
hub in the Victoria 
Centre, in addition to 
retail core

2

51

3 4

6

7

We Made That 36 Southend City Centre Strategy56



Anchor project 
A liveable city centre

A joined up approach 
to public transport and 
active travel could make 
Southend the easiest 
city to get around. The 
city is already compact, 
walkable and with 
good public transport 
connections. A modal 
shift towards more 
sustainable transport 
will help to acheive net-
zero carbon.

 
Around the city centre

 – Transformation of the two 
stations and the Travel centre 
into mobility hubs; integrated 
buses, local rail services, car 
clubs, electric vehicles, shared 
bikes with local services

 – Enhance pedestrian links to 
the high street and seafront; 
public realm, wayfinding, 
improved access for mobility 
scooters and wheelchair users

 – Light rapid travel links from 
high street to seafront

 – Enhancement of Pier Hill as a 
walking and cycling route

 – Freight consolidation: transfer 
of goods at sites outside the 
city centre to low carbon 
modes such as e-cargo bikes

Cross-city/wider connectivity

 – Increased parking capacity 
through Park and Ride

 – High quality integrated bus 
services with more cross city 
services, high quality waiting 
infrastructure and information

 – Safer and more coherent 
network of East-West cycle 
routes, as well as North-South, 
linking to residential areas

 – Potential future rapid transit to 
connect city to wider areas

Safe bicycle routes on St Bride’s Street, 
Farringdon, London
Image: Steer

Cambridge park and ride system
Image: Steer

Increasing urban tree canopy on 
Sauchiehall Street, Glasgow
Image: Green Blue Urban

Enhanced pedestrian high street in 
Manchester
Image: Steer

Key

 Bicycle Routes

 Mobility hubs and improved 

connections

 Seafront connections

 Enhanced pedestrian high street

 Core bus network and increased 

parking capacity through Park and Rides

 Freight consolidation

 Attractive green streets

We Made That 37 Southend City Centre Strategy57



4.1.  A welcoming place for all

A welcoming place for all 
Making it happen

   TOP PRIORITY 1. Victoria Centre community health hub Public sector lead

Intervention Rationale Outputs Action/governance

An asset management 
schedule to shape 
the Victoria Centre 
into a local services, 
leisure and community 
hub alongside a retail 
core; a better visual 
experience for visitors 
arriving via Victoria 
Station, Better 
Queensway and the 
city centre

Recognising that there 
is an over-supply of 
retail in Southend and 
that the retail sector is 
declining

Maximising the 
opportunity presented 
under Council 
ownership to offer an 
alternative offer within 
a shopping centre 
environment

Future proofing the 
Council’s asset

Increased footfall 
and dwell times in this 
part of the city and 
surrounding area that 
benefits the city centre 
economy

A multi-option local 
service, health and 
community hub that 
offers convenience for 
local residents

Visual improvements 
to the façade and 
public realm, and 
better links to the 
Better Queensway 
development

A Council-owned and 
Council-led initiative in 
conjunction with their 
asset management 
advisors

Outcomes Funding/partners Timeframes £

A better tie-in with 
Better Queensway 
that serves to improve 
the attractiveness of 
this development and 
accelerate its delivery

Improved resident 
satisfaction in having a 
number of community 
services under one 
roof

A better arrival 
experience for city 
centre visitors

Council funded

Working with the 
Better Queensway 
developers to tie-in the 
projects; Swan Housing 
Association and Porters 
Place Southend LLP

Ongoing, with changes 
seen already and many 
more interventions 
in the planning and 
proposal stages

Short Term:
 – General external 

improvements: 
£325,000

 – Artwork: £266,500
 – Opening up eastern 

façade: £1,845,000
 – Illuminations on 

eastern façade 
£300,000

 – Internal 
improvements 
£348,880

Medium Term:
 – Removal of New 

Look building: 
£79,000

Total:  £3 ,164,380

Day 1 Action:  Communicate more widely the future proposals for the Centre so that investors and 
developers can better understand the direct actions that SCC are taking to improve the city centre 
experience.

Anchor project

We Made That 38Southend City Centre Strategy58



  TOP PRIORITY 6. A liveable city centre; 8. New and green public transport Public sector lead

Intervention Rationale Outcomes Action/governance

New non-vehicular 
transport routes 
from North to South 
that overcome the 
perceived challenges 
and inconvenience 
of traversing the full 
length of the High 
Street and beyond, 
increasing the potential 
footfall for all retailers 
and improving links 
with the High Street

Rapid transit link could 
provide significantly 
enhanced public 
transport service, 
enabling and attracting 
more city centre users 
and visitors to access 
the centre by public 
transport

Enhances visitor 
experience, allows 
sustainable growth of 
the city centre

The long length of 
the High Street often 
creates a situation 
where visitors either 
frequent the northern 
half or the southern half, 
and less often traverse 
the full length

New modes of easily 
accessible transport 
are required to make 
the journeys more 
convenient 
Modal shift towards 
more sustainable 
transport to help deliver 
on net zero objectives

– Non-vehicular transport 
hubs around the key 
interchanges such as rail 
stations, car parks and 
main pedestrian routes

– Options might include 
bikes or a light rapid 
transit system

– Location could include 
Chichester Road, 
incorporated into any 
future changes at 
Queensway, Tyler’s 
Avenue car park, travel 
centre, The Royals and 
other key sites to the east 
of the High St

– Regular connections back 
into the High St to ensure 
easy permeability and 
ensure the High Street 
remains a predominantly 
pedestrianised area

Council-led role 
in facilitating 
the opportunity 
through planning 
control in 
redevelopment 
scenarios to 
ensure the route 
is embedded into 
designs 
Council-led role in 
changing the road 
system to ensure 
reduced car flow 
along any route 
of the new travel 
routes 
Transport 
operations run 
by external 
operators under 
licence from the 
Council

Outcomes Funding/partners Timeframes £

Increased footfall as 
more visitors have 
wider access to 
extended parts of the 
city centre. Improved 
visitor experience; 
businesses are 
attracted and thrive 
More demand for retail 
and leisure facilities 
at both the north and 
south of the High 
Street 
Improved connections 
from the High Street to 
The Kursaal and sites 
in between, increasing 
the economic success 
of sites in these 
locations 
Increased use public 
transport and range 
of sustainable travel 
options provided

– Early-stage planning 
and transport 
changes initiated by 
the Council

– New non-vehicular 
transport routes 
could be brought 
forward alongside 
new development

– In-fill routes could be 
funded by the public 
sector/planning gain 
contribution eg S106

– Operators could fund 
the provision of bike/
scooter hire

– Potential partnership 
with BID/businesses

– Light rapid transit 
in partnership 
with neighbouring 
South Essex Local 
Authorities

– National govt funding

3 years to deliver a large 
portion of the infrastructure 

3-5 years for full completion

Medium Term:
 – New cycle 

routes                
£1 ,755,000 

 – Improved 
walking 
routes              
£5 ,742,000

 – Mobility hubs 
located at 
Victoria 
Station, 
Central 
Station              
£1 ,175,000

Total: £8 ,672,000

Day 1 Action: Explore external funding to trial new transport modes such as rental bikes and ensure that 
wider planned strategic and operational transport investment addresses these ambitions.

Anchor project

We Made That 39Southend City Centre Strategy59



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   HIGH PRIORITY 9. Public access to Southend Museum collection Public sector lead

Overcrowding 
of the museum’s 
collections 
is preventing 
public access 
which in turn is 
limiting potential 
income streams 
from visitors, 
researchers 
and learning 
programmes

Addition of a 
new storage 
facility 
(net zero 
emissions 
on delivery) 
to free-up 
space in 
Central 
Museum and 
Beecroft Art 
Gallery

Enhanced income 
generating 
opportunities 
Allowing residents 
to have greater 
access to their 
cultural heritage 
More 
opportunities 
for educational 
programmes

Government 
grant funding

Public sector 
funding 
 
Southend 
Museum

2-4 years to 
develop the 
new storage 
facility and 
open-up 
the existing 
space

£££

Day 1 Action: Seek funding opportunities for design development and capital investment

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 3. Test and trial different uses in multistorey car park Public sector lead

Make better use 
of underused 
elements of the 
car park, and to 
provide affordable, 
lateral meanwhile 
space for new 
business ventures

The 
temporary 
closure of 
underused 
elements 
of the car 
park and the 
introduction 
of alternative 
uses

A diversified and 
increased income 
stream for the 
Council. The 
trialling of new 
business ventures 
on a temporary 
basis that could 
find alternative, 
permanent space 
in the city if 
successful

Council-led 
opportunity, 
potentially run 
and funded 
by external 
operators 
depending on 
the viability of 
any proposals

12 months to 
mobilise

£

Day 1 Action: Communicating the opportunity and inviting ideas for potential uses

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 5.  Remove New Look to open up route from Station Public sector lead

The New Look 
extension 
provides relatively 
little additional 
accommodation 
to the shopping 
centre, but has 
a far greater 
negative impact 
on the visibility 
and pedestrian 
experience of 
going to and from 
Victoria Station 
and the High Street

Demolition 
of the 
New Look 
extension 
building and 
expansion 
of the public 
realm to 
better link 
Victoria 
station to the 
High Street. 
Circular 
re-use of 
materials

A more attractive 
visitor experience 
to Victoria station 
and a long term 
increase in the 
numbers of 
visitors to this 
part of the High 
Street (as part 
of the wider 
recommended 
changes made 
within this 
document)

Council-led 
initiative as 
freeholder of 
the shopping 
centre, subject 
to vacant 
possession of 
this extension 
building

Subject 
to lease 
expiry for 
this element 
of the 
shopping 
centre

6 months to 
complete 
the works

££

Projects have been ranked according to priorities indicated at the public event.

We Made That 40Southend City Centre Strategy60



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

Day 1 Action: Asset management plan to ensure that vacant possession is available at the earliest opportunity

2. Integrated programme of interactive, playful and artist-led interventions 

Use of colour and 
integration of art 
and environment 
to showcase 
Southend’s 
creative talent and 
city branding and 
create a welcoming 
arrival to the City 
Centre 

Including creative 
wayfinding 
solutions to 
improve legible 
routes

Southend 
has a 
positive 
external 
reputation 
 
Use of 
colour and 
integration 
of art and 
environment 
to give visual 
uplift and 
attractive 
environment

Creating moments 
of interest through 
the area and 
a celebration 
of local and 
international talent

SCCN and  
other creative 
partners 
such as Focal 
Point Gallery/ 
SECC/ 
Landowners 
and tenants

Dependent 
on 
proposals

Quick wins 
following 
strategy 
within 12 
months

£

4. Programme of events that showcase new leisure uses

Showcasing new 
leisure uses coming 
forward at the 
Victoria Centre. 
Late night or launch 
events to test 
different target 
audiences

Social 
functions 
provided day 
and night 
will help 
drive inward 
investment

A city that is 
resilient to change 
 
Bringing more 
people to the city 
centre through the 
day and night to 
improve feelings 
of safety

Council 
support 
 
BID/Visit 
Southend/
Southend 
Business 
Partnership/
Private 
landlords and 
enterprises

6 months to 
instigate 

Ongoing 
programme

£

We Made That 41Southend City Centre Strategy61



4.2 A culture of education and 
learning

Summer Film Screenings on Big Screen, Focal Point Gallery, Southend 
Image credit: Niki Cornish

62



63



4.2.  A culture of education and learning

What if Southend shouted about 
its great education and improved 
business opportunities for young 
people? 

A different kind of city

1. Reinventing large lateral commercial spaces 
such as Central House as a creative sector/
business hub with a particular focus on supporting 
young talent and green skills programmes (see 
anchor project) Forum public realm and screen: 
programme of events that put forward existing 
organizations and skills to support the 24 hour 
offer (underway)

2. Trialing mutlicultural food markets or a Teenage 
Market in connection to the Forum public realm 

3. Potential development of site adjance to station to 
introduce new housing and spaces for cultural and 
creative production, enterprise and exhibition

4. Celebrate and support new business networks 
such as Thrive Collective and support 
independent business offer, for example through 
marketing

Healthier lives

5. Improve permeability through to Elmer Square; 
potential to remove Elmer Approach for circular 
material re-use and open up the junction to the 
high street

6. Mobility hub at station: bus, bike and e-bike hire
7. Public space enhancements outside the Station: 

lighting and artwork to support a welcoming 
sense of arrival to north and south, improved and 
accessible links across the railway

Inspiring young residents

8. Strategy for filling vacant units on the high street: 
programs could include expansion of the Focal 
Point Gallery, extension of educational and 
creative spaces for The Forum

9. Advice shop: showcasing education institutions 
on the high street such as the Southend Adult 
Community College and student-run cafe

10. Marketing and signposting to improve visibility of 
institutions; The Forum, The University of Essex 
and South Essex College

Forum and Central Station 
Area  

Southend’s City Centre is 
home to significant educational 
institutions, yet these institutions 
and the work they do with the 
community could be more 
visibly present in the City 
Centre. Building on the work 
that educational institutions are 
already doing will be pivotal for 
creating an inspiring place for 
young people.

We Made That 44Southend City Centre Strategy 64



2

3

6

1

8

4

7

7

5

Key projects

“Youth Centres: give young people 
something to do” 
“Activities and places open after work 
hours”

“Local talent and start up businesses 
should be supported”

“The library and the Forum should be better 
publicsed! There are no signs leading to it.”

Public event: what you said...

 – More welcoming spaces for different cultures and 
ethnicities such as multicultural food areas

 – Open up the Forum to the high street
 – Cycle hire hub
 – School gardening project
 – Connections between businesses and colleges
 – Digital signage for event promotion
 – High quality public realm materials and 

maintenance
 – Cheaper travel options for students
 – Green public square linking both sides of the station 

and allow cafes and restaurants to have outdoor 
seating

 – Work with South Essex hospitality and catering 
department to develop Southend restaurant culture

Key

 A different kind of city

 Healthier lives

 Inspiring young residents

 In progress

We Made That 45Southend City Centre Strategy65



X.  Section title

Page titleAnchor project 
Creative business hub

A hub for creative 
businesses should be 
brought forward in the 
city centre to inspire 
young talent and provide 
pathways for business 
growth. 

 
A place for exchange, making 
and experimentation, large 
lateral spaces, such as Central 
House, could be re-programmed 
to support the expansion of 
The Forum; provide affordable 
workspace; and to become a 
meeting place for creatives and 
communities central to the city’s 
renewal.

1. Studio space, flexible 
performance space and 
programmable project space  
for micro creative businesses

2. Ground floor gallery, student 
restaurant and cafe

3. First floor digital workspace, 
teaching space, common 
areas

4. Productive and collaborative 
workspace to attract 
businesses in growing 
sectors

5. Healthy, affordable and 
digitally connected spaces 
for remote working

6. Reconfiguration of the 
station forecourt, with a 
bridge link to improved public 
spaces to the north

7. Transport hub
8. Using empty High Street 

spaces for performance 
space, studios, music 
rehearsal, e-sports and 
gaming facilities 

9. Increase visibility through 
wayfinding and art murals

10. Green roof and grow space, 
green skills training

Flexible performance space, The Garage in 
Norwhich.
Image: The Garage

Reinvention of existing building for offices, 
co-working and social space, International 
House, Brixton.
Image: International House 

Hub that nurtures young talent, studio and 
project space, Creative Factory, Rotterdam.
Image: Creative Factory

Celebration Square is an outdoor civic 
centre, park and amphitheatre located on 
City Centre Drive,  Mississauga.
Image: Mississauga Culture

234
5

1

9

8

6

10

7

We Made That 46 Southend City Centre Strategy66



This page is left intentionally blank

We Made That 47 Southend City Centre Strategy67



  TOP PRIORITY 1. A creative business hub Public Private JV

Intervention Rationale Outcomes Action/governance

Providing prominent, 
affordable, public-
facing employment 
space of circa 
10-15,000 sqft that 
serves as a hub 
for start-ups and 
SMEs within the 
creative sector and 
creates a transitional 
platform for young 
people leaving 
further education 
in Southend to 
pursue their career 
ambitions

Current lack of dedicated 
creative workspace

The local economic need 
to move away from low-
wage job and support for 
replacement higher-wage 
sectors

Harnessing the current 
success of the creative 
sector in Southend and 
ensuring that it remains

To stop the outflow of 
young workers to other 
regional towns and cities

To take advantage of the 
excellent educational 
provision

The provision of a 
prominently located, 
affordable, creative 
workspace that acts 
as a hub for the sector

The creation of an 
eco-system that 
empowers the existing 
creative sector within 
Southend

A space that works 
together with the 
local educational 
institutions and 
facilitates business 
start-up ideas from 
post-educational 
young workers

Council to make case for 
supporting this initiative 
via measurement of 
long-term economic 
benefits versus ‘do 
nothing’

Council and workspace 
operators to identify city 
centre opportunities for 
circa 10-15,000 sqft of 
low rent space

Identifying level of public 
sector intervention 
required to progress the 
opportunity, whether 
capital or facilitation

Self-sustaining business 
model in the long term 

Outcomes Funding/partners Timescale £

Higher-wage jobs to 
replace the existing, 
declining low-wage 
sectors such as 
retail

Contributing towards 
long term business 
and economic 
growth within the city

Increasing retention 
of young workers

Increase demand for 
grow-on space as 
companies out-grow 
the creative hub

Potential public sector 
grant or Council 
funding to activate the 
opportunity

Potential educational 
funding if workspace 
provision ties with their 
model

Operator funding in 
the long term under a 
self-sustaining business 
model

South Essex College 
and local creative 
practitioners

6-12 months to identify 
and secure the space

Medium Term:
 – Ground floor 

gallery, student 
restaurant and café:    
£7,490,000

 – Access 
improvements: 
£90,000

 – First floor digital 
workspace, teaching 
space, common 
areas: £3,370,500

 – First floor 
performance and 
rehersal spaces, 
e-sports, gaming: 
£3,431,000

Total:  £1 4,381,500 

Day 1 Action:   Identify affordable space opportunities of circa 10,000-15,000 sqft in high footfall 
locations that have the potential to become workspace hubs for target sectors

Anchor project

4.2.  A culture of education and learning

A culture of education, learning and business 
Making it happen

We Made That 48Southend City Centre Strategy68



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 7. Public space enhancements outside Central 
Station

Public sector led

The space 
around the 
station is 
underutilised 
and is an 
opportunity 
to provide 
additional 
services and 
an improved 
first impression 
at the station.  
A pedestrian 
link across the 
station would 
also provide 
better footfall for 
non-High Street 
throughfares 
such as Elmer 
Square

High quality 
public realm and 
public squares 
north and south 
of the Southend 
Central   
 
Improved 
linkage between 
the north 
and south of 
the station, 
potentially via a 
new bridge link

To provide a 
better welcome 
experience at 
the station

To provide 
more green 
space in the 
city centre

To allow better 
permeability 
through the 
station which 
in turn will 
increase footfall 
via non-High 
Street routes 
e.g. through 
Elmer Square

Potentially 
funded via 
Network Rail 
and as part of 
any planning 
permission 
for car park 
development 
into residential

Central House 
planning gain 
could also 
incorporate 
station 
improvements

2-4 years to 
allow time for 
Network Rail 
to mobilise 
and develop 
their wider 
proposals for 
the station 
surrounds

££

Day 1 Action:   Work with Network Rail and surrounding land owners to identify any quick wins, 
recognising that the larger projects will take longer to come forward and the need to provide a more 
welcoming environment is immediate

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 5. Improve permeability to Elmer square

The Forum and 
Elmer Square 
are key city 
centre assets, 
yet they are 
enclosed by 
surrounding 
development 
and hidden from 
the majority of 
footfall along the 
High Street

Demolition 
is unlikely, 
so another 
option will be 
to increase the 
permeability 
through the 
existing retail 
along the High St

Allowing outdoor 
seating on 
Elmer Approach 
and Elmer 
Square would 
encourage 
retailers to 
open-up the rear 
of their buildings 
and have dual 
frontages

More visibility 
and easier 
permeability 
from the High 
Street through 
to Elmer 
Square 

Increased 
activity and 
levels of footfall 
for the square

A more 
enjoyable retail 
experience with 
green space 
to escape 
the busy High 
Street

Council-led 
initiative to 
masterplan 
the square 
and approach 
road, and 
encourage 
/ facilitate 
landowners to 
open up the 
retail to face 
Elmer Square

Landowners 
to pay for any 
works

6-9 months 
for a feasibility 
study and 
masterplan, 
incorporating 
other Elmer 
Square 
initiatives 
Further 2 
years to see 
noticeable 
change in the 
retail accom-
modation

£

Projects have been ranked according to priorities indicated at the public event.

We Made That 49Southend City Centre Strategy69



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

Day 1 Action: Commission a study to identify how retail units could access and use the green space to 
the rear of their premises, to understand the feasibility of this proposal

   HIGH PRIORITY 3. Development in connection to Central House Private sector lead

Recognising 
the importance 
of this building 
as a gateway 
between the 
High Street and 
Central Station

Planning study 
and guidance 
to demonstrate 
how any future 
redevelopment 
of this building 
could fit-in with 
the wider vision 
for the city and 
incorporate 
elements 
Ensuring net 
zero emissions 
on delivery

To maximise 
the benefits 
from any future 
development 
for both the 
city and the 
developer

Council-led 
initiative to 
demonstrate 
what the 
preferred 
redevelop-
ment would 
be from a city 
perspective, 
working with 
the owner

Privately 
funded works

12-18 months 
to engage with 
developer and 
pusue pre-
application 
process 

5-10 year 
redevel-
opment 
window

£ - 
£££ 

Day 1 Action:   Council to engage the developer to understand future priorities and timelines

   HIGH PRIORITY 8. Strategy for filling vacant units on the high street Public sector lead

The local 
economy has 
an over-reliance 
on retail, and a 
new strategy of 
bold new uses 
needs to be 
showcased to 
demonstrate 
what else is 
possible

Rather than 
a race to the 
bottom to fill 
High Street 
units, alternative 
user groups 
should be 
promoted 
recognising 
that many in the 
creative industry, 
in particular, 
benefit from 
public facing 
premises

An economy 
less reliant 
on retail and 
an expansion 
of alternative 
employment 
sectors

A healthier 
high street 
with greater 
levels of footfall 
and resident 
satisfaction

Council-led 
initiative, 
working with 
retail owners 
to understand 
the pathways 
and barriers 
to introducing 
alternative 
user groups 
to the High 
Street

12-month 
study and 
facilitation 
exercise

£

Day 1 Action: Engage with the BID and landlords to understand the issues and how the public sector can 
help find solutions to the challenges

We Made That 50Southend City Centre Strategy70



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 10. Advice shop showcasing education institutions Public sector lead

Showcasing 
education 
institutions on 
the high street 
such as the 
Southend Adult 
Community 
College and 
student-run cafe 

Residents have 
the opportunity 
to participate 

Young people 
see the benefits 
of living and 
working in 
Southend and 
want to stay in 
the City 

Greater 
aspiration 
within all 
parts of the 
community

Educational 
institutions 
to fund and 
deliver the 
initiatives 
Council to 
facilitate the 
opportunities 
and work with 
the institutions 
to help secure 
appropriate 
premises

6-18 months 
to find 
premises and 
mobilise the 
service

£

Day 1 Action: Identify a suitable space and engage with education partners for delivery

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 2. Trialling multicultural food markets

Taking 
advantage 
of currently 
undesignated 
open areas 
within the city to 
introduce new 
services such 
as food markets 
to test local 
appetite and 
see if long-term 
accommodation 
should be 
found for more 
permanent 
inclusion within 
the city fabric

Facilitating the 
location for the 
markets; for 
example, Elmer 
Square or wider 
parts of the High 
Street

Providing the 
infrastructure for 
the markets to 
function

Securing an 
operator, if not 
managed by the 
Council

A diversification  
in the retail 
offer that could 
increase the 
attractiveness 
of the city 
centre to 
visitors but one 
that has less 
of a demand 
impact on the 
traditional High 
Street units

Grant funding 
such as LUF 
capital could 
be used to 
initiate the 
opportunity

Self-funding if 
successful

Operator 
could manage 
the day-to-day 
operation

9-12 months 
to mobilise 
post-funding

££

Day 1 Action: Secure the grant funding that will facilitate the opportunity

4. Celebrate and support new business networks

We Made That 51Southend City Centre Strategy71



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

Celebrate 
and support 
new business 
networks 
such as Thrive 
Collective 
and support 
independent 
business offer

Marketing.  
Use website 
to consolidate 
information and 
show what’s 
going on, for 
example Show 
Up Southend

Maximising 
opportunities 
for independent 
businesses in 
Southend

Council-led in 
conjunction 
with local 
businesses/
networks 
eg Thrive 
Collective, 
BID,Business 
Partnership, 
Show Up 
Southend

6-12 to 
mobilise

Ongoing

£

Day 1 Action: Engage with business networks such as Thrive Collective to understand their needs

7. Mobility hubs at key transport nodes

Integration of 
mobility options 
to enhance user 
experience

Key places are 
connected by 
active travel

Increased use 
of sustainable 
modes for 
access to the 
city centre; 
improved user 
experience

Residents have 
good physical 
and mental 
health

Provision for 
sustainable 
transport 
and mobility 
options station 
transport hub.
Air quality 
is improved 
through using 
active travel 
rather than 
private cars . 
Integrating city 
centre travel 
and access 
options

Council-led 
initiatives 
Council-led 
and delivered 
in partnership 
with rail 
operators, 
bus operators 
and operators 
of shared 
mobility 
services

Possible 
national govt 
funding

1-1.5 years 
for scheme 
design, 
around 1 year 
to implement

££

Day 1 Action: Engage with transport partners to pursue mobility hub feasibility work

We Made That 52Southend City Centre Strategy72



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   HIGH PRIORITY 11. Marketing and signposting to improve visibility of 
institutions

Public sector lead

To ensure that 
less visible 
institutions 
within the 
city are easily 
found and 
also promoted 
via signage 
to encourage 
additional 
footfall

A considered 
wayfinding 
strategy and 
implementation 
that provides 
guidance 
and natural 
marketing to 
some of the 
city’s assets 
that aren’t easily 
identifiable 
from the main 
thoroughfares 
such as the High 
Street

A more 
positive visitor 
experience that 
encourages 
repeat visits

Increased 
awareness 
of all the key 
institutions and 
attractions with 
the city centre, 
and increased 
footfall

Council-led, 
in conjunction 
with the BID 
to benefit 
from their 
day-to-day 
experience 
in speaking 
to local 
businesses 
and 
institutions

12-18 months 
to devise the 
strategy and 
implement

£

Day 1 Action:  Commission a study to understand the potential solutions and investment required

We Made That 53Southend City Centre Strategy73



4.3 A green and sustainable 
city centre

Southend High Street 
Image credit: Southend BID

74



75



4.3.  A green and sustainable city centre

What if Southend had a boldly 
green and sustainable city centre? 

High Street and Market Place 
area

There is a great opportunity to 
make Southend’s High Street into 
a bold and vibrant environment. 
Retail is no longer the sole focus 
for high streets across the 
country, and this offers a key 
moment for the City Centre to try 
something different. Through the 
imaginative and extensive use 
of planting and the integration of 
art, creativity and play, the high 
street can be a pioneer for green, 
inclusive and innovative renewal.

A different kind of city

1. Transforming the High Street into a space of 
green growth and urban play (see anchor project)

2. Support a thriving 24 hour economy to reduce 
crime and improving safety. Include creation of 
safe spaces for young people (see anchor project)

3. Regenerative Food Production and Growing at 
Scale

4. Quick-win physical improvements to the high 
street as part of an integrated strategy; artwork, 
murals, frontage improvements, signage and way-
finding,

5. Interactive light art to enhance 24hour experience 
6. Improved connections through the Market Place 

area to encourage discovery from the Central 
Station through to the Clifftown conservation area

Healthier lives

7. Warrior Square carpark: potential for new housing 
or student accommodation to increase footfall to 
the central area whilst retaining leisure uses

8. Public realm, artwork and green pockets at 
Eastern and Western connections from High 
Street. Pop up uses to activate spaces

9. Investments to make streets comfortable and 
attractive to pedestrians particularly in the east 
west direction; easy to access and navigate for 
those with accessibility issues or visually impaired

10. Vacant unit activation, supporting new uses such 
as co-working, dedicated artwork/project space

11. Combined with project 1:  Chichester Road active 
travel corridor: exemplar transformation in to a 
green street for active travel such as dedicated 
bike/e-scooter lane whilst retaining accessible 
vehicle /service access (see anchor project)

Inspiring young residents

12. Free and accessible activities and festivals
13. Support markets on the high street to showcase 

Southend’s talent and independent businesses, 
such as the High Street Makers Market (already 
underway)

14. Reinvention of former Empire Theatre site on 
Alexandra Road

15. The Ironworks, dedicated space for creativity and  
community (underway)

16. Improving digital inclusivity: extension of public 
wifi in connection with City Fibre programme

We Made That 56Southend City Centre Strategy 76



Key projects

“Tree lined streets on the High Street! More 
plants and shrubs”

“Walking + cycling to cut down on 
congestion and improve health”

Public event: what you said...

– More free outside activities; basketball, football
– More places to sit outside, especially in the summer
– More colour and greenery on the high street
– Warrior Square skatepark is an important space 

for young people; better lighting is needed and 
something that supports public participation

– Youth spaces are needed in the city centre
– Use vacant buildings as homeless shelters
– Meeting and social spaces for older residents
– Evening entertainment, rooftop bars, outdoor 

music, jazz club, independent cinema
– Outdoor games and painted onto the floor
– Improve cleaning and maintenance
– Live/work and co-working spaces
– Design guides for high street and heritage frontages

1

4

4

4

1

1

3

6
14

15

7

6

11

2

8
9

10

11

Key

 A different kind of city

 Healthier lives

 Inspiring young residents

 In progress

We Made That 57Southend City Centre Strategy77



X.  Section title

Page title

Radically green 
corridors as a 
destination for health, 
leisure and wellbeing.

The High Street and Chichester 
Road can become exemplary 
healthy streets through greening, 
integrated play opportunities, 
exemplary walking and cycling 
environments. Engagement has 
shown strong and consistent 
support for high street greening.

1. Attractive green streets: 
opportunities for an 
innovative and holistic 
approach to greening 
include community planting 
projects, Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems, improving 
biodiversity, community 
planting and orchards, soft 
landscaping

2. Public realm pockets: 
enhance pedestrian and 
cycle environment on east-
west through routes, linking 
with recent dwell space 
improvements

3. Chichester Road active 
travel corridor: rebalance 
the road to prioritise and 
ecourage safe pedestrian, 
mobility scooter and cycle 
movement  (see next page)

4. Grow spaces: regenerative 
ideas for healthy and local 
food production, such as 
using rooftops

5. Integrate play, fun, exercise 
and joy into everyday 
structures and the street 
scene: remodel the high 
street with young people, 
artists and innovators: 
creative expression are 
digital technology can 
be integrated for a more 
interactive experience

4.3.  A green and sustainable city centre

Anchor project      
Green and playable High Street

The Hell’s Kitchen Farm Project, hub of 
urban agriculture, education on nutrition 
and environmental sustainability, New York
Image: Huffpost

Urban boulevard rethinking the balance 
between cars, bicycles and pedestrians, 
Lyon, France
Image: © Fabian Da Costa

Superkilen public park in one of the most 
socially-challenged communities in 
Copenhagen, Denmark
Image: © Iwan Baan

The Goods Line; a park and green space 
running from Railway Square to Darling 
Harbour, Sydney, Australia
Image: Florian Groehn

1

4

4

5

3
2

We Made That 58 Southend City Centre Strategy78



Activate the streets to 
address crime, improve 
feeling of safety and 
support a thriving 24 
hour economy.

 
The evidence base shows that 
crime and perceptions of safety 
are major concerns in the City 
Centre, particularly for young 
residents. Increasing safety on 
the High Street and Chichester 
Road will be a critical factor in 
achieving a thriving City Centre. 

1. Activate the streets: 
improving safety and 
accessibility during the day 
and night can start with 
better night time illumination, 
outdoor events and activities, 
longer opening hours, a 
greater mix of uses and 
active ground floors

2. Safe spaces: for young 
people eg previous YMCA 
SOS bus, or High Street unit

3. Increase residents: provide 
more affordable family 
housing will increase passive 
surveillance by bringing new 
residents into the centre. 
New modes of living and 
working can support a 
greater diversity of residents

4. Activating backs of 
units: improving passive 
surveillance onto streets

5. Community support 
infrastructures: care for 
vulnerable residents is an 
increasingly important 
need . The Southend Adult 
Community College and 
Youth Council leadership 
initiatives are crucial 
community support systems 
and help to encourage 
activate participation to help 
address social issues

Anchor project 
Supporting a thriving 24 hour 
economy

Community violence prevention using 
educational and mental health resources, 
Safe Streets program in Baltimore, USA
Image: Safe Streets

Emergency accommodation for homeless 
and housing-insecure people, Deptford 999 
Club in Lewisham
Image: 999 Club 

Improving access to adult education 
and learning, The Learning Shop in 
Littlehampton
Image: The Learning Shop

Drop-in mental health support space open 
during evenings, Crisis Cafe in Bexley
Image: Mind In Bexley

1 3

4

2

We Made That 59 Southend City Centre Strategy79



   TOP PRIORITY 1. Transforming the High Street and Chichester Road into 
a space of green growth and urban play

Public Private JV

Intervention Rationale Outputs Action/governance

Identify space where green 
and wellbeing activity 
can be supported on 
the high street, and how 
they will impact energy 
infrastructure. Where leases 
are within partner control 
and tenants can provide a 
commitment to measurable 
outcomes, landlords could 
provide reduced rent to 
support positive activities 
on the high street. 

The High Street and 
Chichester Road can 
become exemplary healthy 
streets through greening, 
play opportunities, walking 
and cycling environments

Increased observed 
vacancy rates and 
feeling of a declining 
centre

Structural decline 
in retail investment 
and demand limiting 
the potential for 
high street renewal 
via new external 
investment

Emergence of new 
uses (e.g. The Yoga 
Studio) on the high 
street

Increased footfall and 
use of the high street

Growth in green and 
circular activities 
(business, local 
growing, green 
innovation) 

Improved health and 
wellbeing

Decrease in vacancy

Greenery softens and 
brings visual interest 
as well as providing 
sustainable drainage 
to reduce flooding

Identify a wellbeing 
portfolio mixing 
public and private 
spaces capable of 
accommodating new 
these spaces. 

Establish a community 
of interest to identify 
potential activities 
which can be 
accommodated within 
spaces which would 
otherwise be empty

Develop monitoring 
framework to justify 
‘subsidy’

Outcomes Funding/partners Time £

 – A more diverse and 
welcoming high street

 – New identities for 
Southend; improved 
reputation

 – Great local engagement 
in the development of 
local project

 – Greater use of the city 
centre from the wider 
Southend population

 – Showcase Southend’s 
Green City Action 
Plan and providing a 
welcoming arrival space

Southend City 
Council

Landlords

Civil society partners 
and operators

Potential for 
community partners 
or local schools 
to take ownership 
of planting and 
maintenance

6-9 months to 
map properties 
and establish 
partnership/delivery 
arrangements. 

12 months to sign 
first Wellbeing/Green 
leases

Short and Medium 
Term:

 – Public realm 
improvements:      
£5 ,808,000

 – Roof space for 
food growing: 
£1,000,000

 – Improved public 
realm pockets:       
£2 58,750

 – Chichester 
Road active 
travel corridor:                    
£6 ,971,250

Total:  £1 4,038,000

Day 1 Action:   Informal scoping of empty properties and underused spaces to identify pilot sites. Seek 
external funding for greening projects with the potential to include businesses grants to create green 
roofs, improved public realm with appropriate planting and creation of pocket parks.

Anchor project

4.3 A green and sustainable city centre

A boldy green and sustainable city 
centre 
Making it happen

We Made That 60Southend City Centre Strategy80



  TOP PRIORITY 2. Support a thriving 24 hour economy Public Private JV

Intervention Rationale Outputs Action/governance

Increasing the number 
of businesses and 
residents active 
in the evening and 
nightime economy will 
be beneficial for the 
local economy but 
also improve safety 
conditions in the city 
centre

Resident safety in the 
evening and nightime 
in the city centre is 
a concern and high 
priority for remediation

A city should have 
a thriving 24-hour 
economy and Southend 
is underperforming in 
this element

An increase in the 
numbers of businesses 
operating in the nightime 
economy

More city centre living 
that provides increased 
footfall and surveillance 
throughout the 24-hour 
period

A Council-led 
initiative to identity 
areas of the city 
where the 24-hour 
economy could 
initially cluster and 
ensuring that the 
planning structure 
improves ease of 
access for new 
businesses

Improving the 
planning structure 
to bring forward 
more city centre 
residential, in mixed-
use development 
alongside 
commercial and 
affordable housing

Outcomes Funding/partners Time £

A growing, more 
diversified local 
economy

Improved feelings of 
safety

Increases in the 
number of visitors and 
longer dwell times and 
overnight stays by 
visitors

Council working with 
local businesses and 
landlords; new business 
ventures funded by the 
private sector

Consult with the 
police, the Community 
College and Project 
Southchurch to 
understand their 
experience of dealing 
with anti-social 
behaviour

Ongoing, but 6 months 
to consult and plan, and 
12+ months to mobilise

£

Day 1 Action:  A planning and feasibility study to identify potential locational clusters that can be 
harnessed and expanded

Anchor project

We Made That 61Southend City Centre Strategy81



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 4. Integration of light art into the 24 hour experience Public sector lead

To capitalise 
on the success 
of LuminoCity 
and introduce 
new forms of 
temporary and 
permanent 
light art that 
promote longer 
periods of 
footfall and 
improve the 
attractiveness 
of the city to 
visitors and 
residents

Introduction 
of light art 
in strategic 
locations that 
increases 
footfall and 
benefits 
the 24-hour 
economy

Increased footfall 
and benefits 
to the 24-hour 
economy 
 
Establishment 
of new business 
operations based 
on the increased 
footfall

Improved city 
centre experience 
and increased 
feeling of safety

Council-led, 
working with the 
BID to identify 
local funding 
solutions and 
additional light 
art locations

12-18 months 
to mobilise 
and start 
introducing 
the 
installations

£

Day 1 Action:  Commission a study to understand how previous successes can be replicated and 
embedded into the city fabric

  HIGH PRIORITY 9. Vacant unit activation Public Private JV

Ensuring that 
vacant units 
do not detract 
from the user 
experience 
in the city, 
and ensuring 
that private 
landlords 
understand the 
wider demand 
opportunities 
that may be 
emerging within 
the economy

An umbrella 
strategy of 
bold new uses 
that identifies 
alternative, 
long-term 
users for 
vacant units

A healthier looking 
High Street and 
surrounds

Emerging, 
alternative public-
facing service 
groups such 
as those in the 
creative sector 
 
A lively town 
centre with 
diverse activities

Council-led, 
working with 
landlords to 
encourage 
alternative users 
and additional 
investment

BID involvement 
to communicate 
opportunities 
and promote 
a collective 
approach

Ongoing £

Day 1 Action:   Engaging with the BID and landlords to understand the main challenges and how the 
public sector can play a role in finding solutions

Projects have been ranked according to priorities indicated at the public event.

We Made That 62Southend City Centre Strategy82



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

15. Improving digital inclusivity: extension of public wifi

Improving 
digital 
inclusivity and 
visitor offer

Residents 
and visitors 
have the 
opportunity to 
participate in 
the economy

Southend’s 
outward 
reputation 
improves as a 
place to live, 
work,do business

Potential to 
deliver in 
connection 
with City Fibre 
programme

6-12 months 
to mobilise 
and start 
introducing 
installations

£

Day 1 Action: Engage with potential providers

  HIGH PRIORITY 10. Chichester Road as an active travel corridor Public Private JV

Addresses 
poor North to 
South walking 
and cycling 
connectivity 
in the centre; 
facilitates use 
of sustainable 
modes to 
access and 
circulate within 
the city centre; 
improves 
access to bus 
and rail stations

A safe, 
reduced traffic 
pathway that 
promotes 
active travel by 
cycle, scooter 
and other 
means, running 
parallel to the 
High Street 
and linking with 
the seafront 
and Victoria 
Station at a 
minimum 
 
Increased use 
of sustainable 
modes for 
access to the 
city centre

An easier, visitor 
experience to 
Southend for 
those capable 
of more active 
travel 

Increase levels 
of footfall and 
visitor / resident 
satisfaction 

More tenant 
demand for 
accommodation 
around the travel 
corridor

Early-stage 
planning and 
transport 
changes initiated 
by the Council

Developments 
such as Better 
Queensway to 
introduce parts 
of the scheme

Planning gain 
and/or operator 
licence funding 
Council-led and 
implemented  

Possible national 
govt funding e.g. 
Active Travel 
Fund

3 years to 
deliver a 
large portion 
of the infra-
structure

3-5 years for 
full comp-
letion

£££

Day 1 Action:  Council to commission a feasibility study considering potential traffic-free routes so that 
future planning strategy can factor this into the decision making.  Potential trial of new transport modes 
such as rental bikes.

We Made That 63Southend City Centre Strategy83



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   HIGH PRIORITY 2. Regenerative Food Production and Growing at Scale Public, Private and 
Civil Society JV

Using under 
used spaces 
including 
rooftops/
carparks as 
well as empty 
shop units 
(hydroponic 
and fungi 
growth) to 
make growing 
and food part 
of Southend’s 
new food 
identity

Availability 
of space 
within the 
city centre to 
accommodate 
growing at 
scale 
Food poverty 
and the 
opportunity 
to promote 
a positive 
discussion 
about food 
and nutrition. 
Differentiator 
in a crowded 
market

Space given 
over to 
productive 
growing 
activity

Local people 
engaged in 
civic activity

Increased in 
healthy food 
made available 
to Southend 
family

Number of 
young people 
engaged in 
positive activity

A decrease 
in the amount 
of vacant 
unproductive 
space in 

New 
cooperative 
structures to 
accompany 
growing

A new identity 
for Southend, 
with associated 
branding 
opportunities

More people 
having access to 
healthy food

Commercial 
offshoots in 
restaurants and 
general sales

Improved, more 
dynamic physical 
environment

Philanthropic 
investment/
sponsorship

Civil society 
sector (RHS, 
Power to 
Change)

Need to occupy 
spaces and 
source sees, 
plants and 
equipment

Potential to 
secure medium 
term use of 
private spaces 
and longer-term 
use of rooftop 
spaces

Need to 
develop strong 
civil society 
ownership 
alongside a 
commitment 
to fully funded 
management at 
a scale which is 
appropriate to 
the ambition of 
the project

12 months 
to develop 
initial plans

Project 
delivered in 
perpetuity 
within an 
evolution 
of spaces 
across the 
city centre

££

Day 1 Action:  Mapping spaces capable of accommodating food production

We Made That 64Southend City Centre Strategy84



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

12. Supporting high street makers markets on the high street to showcase Southend’s talent and 
independent businesses

Support 
to have 
sustainable 
market model 
and directory 
for markets

A thriving High 
Street with a 
busy market 
that supports 
other uses, 
an active 
pedestrian 
space and 
support for the 
the creative 
sector

Footfall and 
spend at markets 
increases, 
benefiting 
business and 
activating the 
town centre. High 
quality market 
offer will attract 
traders to city

Council support 
such as working 
with licensing 
team for smooth 
permissions 
process

High Street 
Makers Market 
and Showup 
Southend

Trialling  
already 
underway

Marketing 
programme 
ongoing

£

Day 1 Action:  Trialling already underway, with a view to making more permanent decisions in the near 
future

We Made That 65Southend City Centre Strategy85



Fantasias by Elizabeth Wild, 2018 
Image credit: Anna Lukala

4.4 A great work-life balance 
for a great city

86



87



4.4.  A great work-life balance

What if Southend was know for 
having the best work-life balance 
in the South East?

The Royals and seafront 
connection

The southern end of the High 
Street down to Marine Parade 
is characterized by dramatic 
topography and sweeping views 
onto the estuary. The seafront 
is a hub for entertainment and 
escapism, rooted in the heritage 
of the seaside town. The Royals 
and surrounding strategic 
sites provide the opportunity 
to connect the seafront to the 
new beginnings of a creative 
and interactive city centre in 
combination with new and 
interesting places to live and 
work by the sea. 

A different kind of city

1. The Royals and surrounding sites: work with 
the landowners to shape the future city 
accommodation towards a better Southend. 
Add new and green pedestrian links to Tylers site 
through to the coast (see anchor project)

2. Development of a Supplementary Planning 
Document to set the brief for future development 
(see anchor project)

3. Royals precint; open up the ground floor facing the 
seafront and enhance the public realm

4. Park Inn vacant unit activation
5. Integrated approach to bold and distinctive 

artworks that animate the city centre and 
showcase Southend’s creative talent

Healthier lives

6. Active connection between the seafront and 
inland via green, accessible public spaces, with 
interactive wayfinding tools and connected art 
commissions

7. Legible cycle routes and other interventions to 
address level differences to improve accessibility

8. Travel Centre: potential relocation to support new 
Local Transport Plan 

Inspiring young residents

9. Redevelop the Tylers Avenue car park to increase 
city centre family and affordable housing 
provision, new green spaces and leisure uses

10. Seaways leisure development (in progress)
11. Seafront illuminations and light festivals supporting 

local talent, building on success of LuminoCity

We Made That 68Southend City Centre Strategy 88



Key projects

6

2

10

3

7

9

8

1

“Cycling from Southend Central to the 
seaside would be fab!”

“Free activities for children - make sure this 
is accessible”

Public event: what you said...

– Co working spaces
– Redevelopment of Royals for commercial/leisure/

community/resturants/cafes/indoor market at 
ground floor with good quality residential above

– Move travel centre to Victoria Station
– More provision along the seafront for families, more 

playgrounds and eating areas
– Use Tylers Avenue Carpark for new pool, gym and 

activities
– Green travel from each end of the high street, small 

tram or extension to the pier tram
– Shops and cultural events open after work to 

encourage people to get outside
– Outdoor theatre on the cliffs
– East of the high street should be a landscaped park

Key

 A different kind of city

 Healthier lives

 Inspiring young residents

 In progress

We Made That 69Southend City Centre Strategy89



X.  Section title

Page title

Repurposing The 
Royals to provide 
accommodation that 
serves Southend’s 
ambitions to be a 
successful city.

The Royals is a gateway site 
in Southend, at a key moment 
where the seafront links to the 
High Street. Working with the 
developer to repurpose the 
building could provide a new 
anchor of activity for this key 
strategic connection.

1. Potential for reimagined 
retail and leisure uses on the 
ground floor

2. Modern lateral workspace 
and residential on the 
upper floors. Consider 
affordable hostel or hotel 
accommodation.

3. Testing new uses on The 
Royals carpark such as 
public grow space to create 
green links through to 
Chichester Road

4. Opening up the ground floor 
facade facing the seafront to 
allow uses to spill outdoors 
and activate the plaza

5. Integrated artwork 
opportunities, improved 
walking and cycling 
infrastructure at the Royals 
precinct

6. Spanish style steps down to 
the seafront

4.4.  A great work-life balance

Anchor project 
The Royals

Civic Imagination Office; permanent 
community hub for collaboration and 
innovation, Bologna, Italy
Images: Comune di Bologna Rete Civica 
Iperbole

Nordhavn seafront public realm in 
Copenhagen, Denmark
Image: Ana Santini

A network of pavilion structures supporting 
functions such as retail and ticket kiosks, 
bus interchange and cycle storage, 
Norreport Station, Copenhagen.
Image: Leif Jørgensen

Public artwork transforming the 
streetscape of Cambridge, Massachusetts, 
USA
Image: Yeju & Chat

1

2

4

3

5

6

We Made That 70 Southend City Centre Strategy90



Regeneration of inner harbour and Port 
Promenade in Baltimore, USA
Image: The Cultural Landscape Foundation

Port Noblessner, Tallin, Estonia
Image: Visit Estonia

Wapping Warf, Bristol
Image: Jon Craig

Ipswich waterfront and leisure facilities 
delivered via SPD
Image: allaboutipswich.com

REPORT NAME (EDIT IN SLIDE MASTER) l prdweb.co.uk

The Royals and wider SPD–
Precedent 2

BALTIMORE WATERFRONT  

Regeneration of the Inner Harbour 

gave a new face to Baltimore. There 

was a decrease in population in the 

years prior to the harbour's 
revitalisation and this new face helped 

increase its citizens. 

Even today the harbour continues to 

change with the changing times. The 
harbour ticks all the boxes for 

generation of recreational spaces, 

tourism and commercial hubs. 

The promenade acts as a main 

pedestrian pathway and connects the 

entire harbour. The Inner Harbour has 

been successful at assimilating with 
the surrounding city, particularly its 

surrounding neighbourhoods and the 

downtown.

3

Work with local 
landowners to set a 
vision  for delivering 
future development at 
key sites from Tyler’s 
Avenue car park down to 
The Royals and multiple 
sites across to The 
Kursaal.

For Southend to grow as a 
city, it will need to shape new 
development opportunities so that 
what is best for the city is captured 
within key development sites.  

There is an ‘L’ shape of potential 
sites sweeping down from Tyler’s 
Avenue all the way to The Kursaal 
that offer the best opportunity for 
large-scale change. Linking the 
opportunities for the High Street 
with the seafront (Marine Parade), 
the Kursaal, and all sites in between 
(Marine Plaza, Tyler’s Avenue Car 
Park, Seaways) will activate this 
area currently characterised by 
service entrances and underused 
sites.

With limited public sector 
ownership, the Council can enact 
control through their role as 
planning authority. Through this 
role, they can also communicate 
what is likely to be permissible, 
which in turn should increase 
demand from developers and 
investors.

Encouraging developers to work 
together using the Engine Room 
as a catalyst for conversation 
and action can develop a more 
detailed, shared vision for this area 
of the City.

Anchor project 
Developing a shared vision for the 
sea front

We Made That 71 Southend City Centre Strategy91



  TOP PRIORITY 1. The Royals reinvention Private sector lead

Intervention Rationale Outputs Action/governance

With new ambitious owners, 
facilitating the reinvention of 
The Royals shopping centre 
to become the leading link 
between the High Street and 
the seafront, and a showcase 
development for all the target 
sectors that define a city such 
as indoor and outdoor leisure 
/ dining, entertainment on the 
plaza, innovative retail, city 
centre residential and flexible, 
affordable workspace on 
upper floors

Too much retail in 
Southend

Few buildings with this 
footprint that could 
showcase and deliver 
a key city gateway 
building

Current design of the 
building faces away 
from the seafront and 
doesn’t present a 
pleasant welcome to 
and from the seafront

Economic 
diversification is 
required away from 
retail 

A masterplan that 
retains parts of the 
building that can be 
repurposed, facilitates 
alterations in the 
building fabric towards 
the seafront, allows 
redevelopment on 
retail areas, and makes 
full use of the plaza. 
A scheme that 
connects to the wider 
vision for this area. 
A repurposing made 
deliverable via the 
ability to introduce 
more viable uses such 
as residential and hotel 
to parts of the site 
Setting precedents and 
activating other sites 
around the seafront 
Ensuring net zero 
emissions on delivery

Planning uncertainty 
around a change of 
use from retail and 
viability issues are 
the main factors 
deterring investors. 
The Council should 
recognise the 
importance of this 
development to the 
city’s future vision 
and promote a vision 
for the site through 
planning channels. 
The Council should 
work with the owners 
of the site to allow 
all parties to benefit 
from the wider vision 
for this area. 
A strategy to 
reduce planning 
risk and encourage 
repurposing 

Outcomes Funding/partners Time £

Gateway building that sets a 
statement about Southend’s 
ambitions 
Setting precedents for and linking 
with surrounding development 
opportunities 
Introducing more city centre 
residential to increase 24-hour 
footfall, demand for services and 
natural surveillance 
Opportunity for lateral, attractive 
and affordable workspace that 
provides start-up/grow-on space 
for creative sectors, promotes 
economic growth

Council to fund a 
masterplan / SPD/ 
LDO for this site and 
the wider area 
Private sector led 
development 
Council signposting 
opportunities through 
their control of 
planning 
Council and partners 
supporting the 
provision of affordable 
workspace where 
possible

12-24 months 
to pursue pre-
application 
discussions

A further 2-5 years to 
complete the works

Short Term:
 – Trialling new uses 

on car park: 
£200,000

 – Improved public 
realm towards 
seafront: 
£786,250

 – Reconfiguring 
royals for 
new uses: 
£31,350,000

Total:  £32,336,250

Day 1 Action:  Work with the landowners to progress proposals that respond to the Vision ambitions for 
this key site.

Anchor project

4.4.  A great work-life balance

A great work-life balance for a great city 
Making it happen

We Made That 72Southend City Centre Strategy92



  TOP PRIORITY 2. Developing a shared vision for the sea front Private sector 
lead

Intervention Rationale Outputs Action/governance

Facilitating land owners to 
work together teo develop 
a clear vision for this part 
of the city that sets-out 
the key infrastructure and 
regeneration strategy that 
will best serve Southend as 
it grows into its city status, 
identifying what is currently 
missing, what is required and 
where it is best positioned

Southend will require 
new infrastructure and 
new services as its city 
ambitions grow, and 
this part of the city is 
one of key areas with 
developable sites in an 
attractive location

Linking the 
opportunities for 
the High Street with 
the seafront (Marine 
Parade), the Kursaal, 
and all sites in between 
(Marine Plaza, Tyler’s 
Avenue Car Park, 
Seaways etc) to activate 
this area for ambitious 
city-minded ideas

Work with private 
landowners to set the 
parameters for future 
development from 
the Royals and along 
the seafront linking 
the opportunities 
for the High Street 
with the seafront, the 
Kursaal, and all sites in 
between 
Ensure net zero 
emissions for delivery 
and set standards for 
good quality design

Engine Room 
as a focus for 
conversation and 
action

Outcomes Funding/partners Time £

– Greater investor appetite 
to redevelop in Southend

– A more coherent and 
considered regeneration 
strategy that maximises 
the benefits to the city as 
well as the developers / 
investors

– New economic 
opportunities through the 
introduction of new uses

– Increasing the chances 
of long-term success 
at The Kursaal, as new 
development creates 
better interconnection 
between The Kursaal 
and the High Street /city 
centre

Planning structure 
funded by the Council 
in consultation with 
the city, landowners, 
developers and 
investors

Brought forward will 
external consultancy 
support

Development delivered 
by the private sector

18-24 months to 
facilitate landowner 
discussions

10-15 years to mobilise 
the opportunities 
and see significant 
development in this 
area albeit certain 
sites will be brought 
forward before then

£

Day 1 Action:   Encourage developers to work together using the Engine Room as a catalyst for 
conversation and action to develop a more detailed shared vision for this area of the City.

Anchor project

We Made That 73Southend City Centre Strategy93



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/partners Time £

   MEDIUM PRIORITY  3. Park Inn vacant unit activation Public sector lead

Alongside The 
Royals, the Park 
Inn vacant units 
are a key link 
between the High 
Street and the 
seafront

Activating 
the plaza with 
more footfall-
generating 
activities 
and uses 
will create 
additional 
demand

Sufficient 
footfall and 
an attractive 
setting in the 
plaza should 
improve tenant 
demand 
and see new 
occupation of 
the vacant units

An improve 
visitor 
experience of 
transitioning 
between the 
High Street and 
the seafront

Council-led 
initiative to 
improve the 
plaza, as part 
of The Royals 
planning review

12-24 
months 
month, 
in-line with 
The Royals 
proposals

£

Day 1 Action:  Engage with the owners to understand the key challenges and how the public sector can 
play a part in findings potential solutions, such as activating the Royals Plaza

   HIGH PRIORITY 8. Travel Centre potential relocation Public Private JV

Given the 
Travel Centre’s 
positioning 
between 
key future 
regeneration 
sites The 
Royals and 
Tyler’s Avenue 
Car Park, it is 
suggested that 
incorporating the 
Travel Centre 
site into future 
plans would be 
beneficial to the 
city

A reprovision 
of the Travel 
Centre either 
as part of the 
masterplan 
works or in 
an alternative 
location

A more 
coherent and 
conjoined 
masterplan that 
maximises the 
available land 
and creates the 
most effective 
redevelopment 
outcomes for 
the city 
 
Reduced 
vehicular 
routes along 
the proposed 
active travel 
corridor

A Council-led 
initiative, working 
alongside 
developers of 
privately owned 
land to the east 
of the High 
Street

3-5 years to 
mobilise and 
understand 
the 
relocation 
options

£££

Day 1 Action: Feasibility study to understand the relocation options

Projects have been ranked according to priorities indicated at the public event.

We Made That 74Southend City Centre Strategy94



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/partners Time £

  HIGH PRIORITY  9. Redevelop the Tylers Avenue car park Public Private JV

One of the key 
public sector 
owned sites in 
the city centre, 
providing 
leverage to 
promote joint 
development 
proposals with 
surround land 
owners

The potential 
for a 
flagship new 
mixed-use 
development 
to potentially 
include 
residential, 
leisure and 
workspace. 
Ensuring 
net zero 
emissions on 
delivery

An opportunity 
for the Council 
to lead by 
example and 
showcase new 
development 
in the city 
Activation to 
encourage 
surrounding 
sites to come 
forward as part 
of the wider 
vision

A Council-
led initiative, 
potentially as 
part of a JV with 
neighbouring 
landowners

2-3 years to 
mobilise the 
idea

A further 
2-3 years to 
develop

£££

Day 1 Action: Feasibility study to understand the relocation options

We Made That 75Southend City Centre Strategy95



4.5 The most family-friendly 
city centre

The Kursaal 
Image credit: Paul Tait

96



97



4.5.  The most family friendly city centre

What if Southend had the most 
family-friendly learning and 
creative programmes in the 
country? 
The Kursaal area

The Kursaal is a well loved 
heritage icon with strong 
community support for its 
reinvention. There is potential for 
it to become a long term home 
for cultural events and creative 
industries in Southend as well as 
providing support programmes 
for children and young people in 
connection with the residential 
areas it serves.

A different kind of city

1. The Kursaal imaginarium: a hub for learning, 
creativity and city-orientated entertainment for all 
(see anchor project) 

2. Improved public realm and connections between 
Kursaal and Marine Plaza

3. Bold and dinstinctive coastal public art park: 
collaborate with Southend’s creative sector and 
SCCN (Southend Creative and Culture Network) 
to introduce public art, connecting the Kursaal to 
the Royals, the Creative Coast programme and 
South Essex Estuary Park

4. Supplementary Planning Document for key 
strategic sites along and sitting behind the 
seafront (see anchor project under section 4.4)

Healthier lives

5. Improved walking and cycling routes along the 
Queensway to the Kursaal and Esplanade, 
connecting in to Queensway improvements

6. Marine Plaza: potential to provide quality family and 
affordable housing, hotel accommodation and 
ground floor leisure uses

7. Providing sheltered accommodation, for example 
retaining provision at Norman Harris House

8. City beach project extension: improve climate 
change resilience and public realm (in progress)

Inspiring young residents

9. Beach and water sports leisure activity offer, 
including basketball and volleyball

10. Golden Mile Parade: potential mixed use 
redevelopment

We Made That 78Southend City Centre Strategy 98



Key projects

10

9

7

8

6

5

1

2

3

“Further pedestrianise seafront”

“Outdoor sports: basketball and volleyball 
courts along seafront”

Public event: what you said...

– Leisure and sports activities around the seafront 
area, such as basketball, pool tables, volleyball

– Water sports and affordable activities such as 
pedaloes, paddle boards, canoes

– Riverboat service from London to Southend
– More hotels for visitors
– Wayfinding to Shoeburyness
– Marine Activities Centre and integrate it into the 

local school curriculum
– To make it a truly family-friendly city everything 

should be playful. Public seating should double as 
play equipment

– A free splash type park along the front to let 
children cool down similar to the fountains but more 
colourful and for all ages and disabilities 

– A resident-planted forest

Key

 A different kind of city

 Healthier lives

 Inspiring young residents

 In progress

We Made That 79Southend City Centre Strategy99



X.  Section title

Page title

Reinvention of 
the Kursaal as an 
imaginarium and home 
for arts and culture for 
all ages.

The Kursaal is a well-loved 
heritage icon, with strong 
community support for its 
reinvention. A new vision to 
re-invent this iconic building as 
an imaginarium will inspire and 
support children and young 
people through creative and 
cultural uses and create a strong 
sense of civic pride.

An inspirational space for all 
ages

1. Flexible space for large 
events, exhibitions and 
entertainment 

2. Smaller, more permanent 
occupants could include 
creative production and  
community facilities

3. Early years services on 
upper floors

4. A dream factory for young 
people; hybrid centre for 
stories, centre for play, 
gaming, performance and 
entertainment

5. Public meeting spaces
6. Integration with Marine Plaza 

public realm and coastal art 
park

7. Joint masterplan that 
provides complimentary 
uses and services within 
Marine Plaza

4.5.  The most family friendly city centre

Anchor Project 
The Kursaal

Converting a historic market space into an 
event and exhibit sapce, Halles St Gery, 
Brussels, Belgium
Image: travelsignposts.com

Coastal public park with large site-specific 
artworks at Beau Fort, Ostend, Belgium

Re-imagining a Grade II* listed building, the 
Winter Gardens in Blackpool
Image: Michael D Beckwith

Massive boardwalk artwork at the Crystal 
Ship arts festival in Ostend, Belgium
Image: streetartnews.net

1

2 3 4

5

7

6

We Made That 80 Southend City Centre Strategy100



This page is left intentionally blank

We Made That 81 Southend City Centre Strategy101



   TOP PRIORITY  1. The Kursaal: hub for learning, creativity and city-
orientated entertainment for all

Public Private JV

Intervention Rationale Outputs Action/governance

To reinvent The Kursaal 
as a regional and national 
cultural icon that serves the 
city residents through an 
ever-changing programme 
of events alongside a range 
of ever-present services that 
inspire younger residents of 
all ages

A city requires an 
iconic venue that 
attracts showpiece 
events, and The 
Kursaal has the 
most potential to 
fulfil this role

The building should 
also have ever-
present services 
that activate the 
venue throughout 
the week, and 
these should 
be community-
focussed, aimed at 
inspiring younger 
residents and 
young workers

Increase in space for 
civil society spaces

Increase in the 
number of cultural 
performances 
delivered each year

Young people engaged 
in regular positive 
activities

A Council-led role 
in activating the 
opportunity, as there 
are opportunities for 
new ownership and a 
new direction

A council-led role in 
identifying the viability 
challenges that exist

Securing The Kursaal’s 
place in the wider city 
vision and facilitating 
the introduction of 
the opportunity to 
operators developers 
and investors

Outcomes Funding/partners Time £

Creating an iconic venue 
that brings events to 
Southend that other cities 
also see, in addition to 
being a building for the local 
community, inspiring young 
residents and young workers

Providing services the retain 
the younger population 
through leisure and 
employment opportunities

Providing additional and 
alternative visitor attractions 
within the city centre to help 
with economic growth

Initial public sector 
funding to activate 
the opportunities 
and identify 
potential long-term 
uses

Private sector 
funding to deliver 
the proposals and 
create an iconic 
space

A Better Start 
Southend 
interested in taking 
first floor space

12 months to secure 
new ownership

Further 2 years to 
partially activate the 
building

Further 2 years to 
see the building fully 
operational

Short term:
Refurbish for new uses: 

£24,972,000
Total: £2 4,972,000

Day 1 Action:  Continue to seek external investment with the aim of gaining control and mobilising the Kursaal 
Imaginarium project, in addition to funding already secured through the Creative Estuary programme.

Anchor project

4.5.  The most family friendly city centre

The most family-friendly city centre 
Making it happen

We Made That 82Southend City Centre Strategy102



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 9. Beach and water sports leisure activity offer Public sector lead

Wellbeing and 
sports activities 
supported 
along the 
coast such as 
water sports, 
kayaking  or 
paddlebording

Community 
involvement in 
choosing/testing 
ideas 
Residents feel 
more positive and 
optimistic about 
their city 
Residents, 
especially those 
in deprived areas, 
are better able to 
connect with the 
coast to support 
physical and 
mental health

The Kursaal 
area becomes a 
focus for water 
sports and 
activities relating 
to the sea, with a 
particular focus 
on young people 
 
Potential for 
‘summer jobs’ 
for young people 
alongside 
recreational 
offer; new 
opportunities to 
experience work 
and training

Council-led 12 months 
to mobilise 
the idea

£

Day 1 Action: Soft market testing for additional watersports offer

   HIGH PRIORITY 5. Improved public realm and connections between 
Kursaal and Esplanade

Public private JV

The Kursaal 
is a unique 
opportunity 
to provide 
large-scale 
event space 
alongside more 
permanent 
community and 
employment 
facilities, and 
its success will 
be aided by 
surrounding 
developments 
such as 
Marine Plaza 
complementing 
the offer and 
sharing the 
collective 
benefits

A drive to ensure 
that ground floor 
accommodation 
at any future 
Marine Plaza 
development 
(assuming the 
majority of the 
site is residential 
/ affordable 
housing) is 
designed to 
compliment the 
future ambitions 
for the Kursaal

Improving the 
Kursaal area 
and ensuring 
a sufficient 
quantum of 
potential accom-
modation in the 
area to maximise 
the chances 
of securing 
investment 
and long-term 
success

Not losing the 
opportunity 
to provide 
additional 
commercial 
accommodation 
at Marine Plaza

Council-led 
via planning 
control

Accom-
modation 
funded and 
delivered by 
the future 
developer of 
Marine Plaza

Dependent 
on the 
proposals 
by the 
landowner 
implemen-
tation

£

Day 1 Action:  Engage with the landowner at Marine Plaza to understand the key challenges and how the 
public sector can play a part in bringing the scheme forward in a way that can compliment the future 
ambitions for The Kursaal

Projects have been ranked according to priorities indicated at the public event.

We Made That 83Southend City Centre Strategy103



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 10. Golden Mile Parade: potential mixed use 
redevelopment

Private sector lead

Recognising 
the long-term 
development 
potential of 
Marine Parade, 
benefitting 
from common 
ownership 
in parts, the 
potential for 
greater height 
and linking 
better with 
The Kursaal, 
Seaways, High 
Street and all 
sites in between

Providing 
confidence to 
landowners, 
developers and 
investors

Recognising 
that Southend 
as a city will 
need room 
to grow and 
introduce new 
and expanded 
user groups and 
accommodation 
typologies

Creating a better 
experience of 
traversing the 
seafront and 
city centre 
accommodation 
typologies

Council-
facilitated 
discussion 
between 
landowners 

Private sector 
to fund and 
deliver the 
works

12-24 
months to 
facilitate 
landowner 
discussions

3-10 years 
to see wide-
spread 
change 
along the 
seafront

£££

Day 1 Action:   To understand how future development in this part of the city can provide key 
accommodation that benefits the city as well as the landowners 

We Made That 84Southend City Centre Strategy104



Rationale Outputs Outcomes Funding/
partners

Time £

   MEDIUM PRIORITY 3. Bold and distinctive coastal public art park Public sector lead

Creation of a 
single green 
park/route 
plan from 
Cliffs Pavilion 
to Gasworks 
Car Park. This 
should aspire 
to include 
consistent 
planning and 
rewilding as 
well as aspects 
of eco-system 
services which 
provide for the 
functioning of 
the city as well 
as the wellbeing 
of uses

A new plan for 
a higher quality, 
more ecologically 
generous 
environment

More ecologically 
diverse 
environment 
Improvements to 
habitats

Southend has a 
positive external 
reputation

Positive 
challenges to 
perceptions of 
Southend

Greater 
ecological 
diversity 
within the local 
environment

An improved 
visitor 
experience 
across the 
coastline

Celebration 
of local and 
international 
talent

Southend CC

Ecosystem 
Services 
payments 
(pilot)

SCCN and  
other creative 
partners such 
as Focal Point 
Gallery/ SECC/ 
Landowners 
and tenants

ASELA 
SEEPark 
commitment

3 months 
engagement

9-12 months 
planning

3 years to 
deliver the 
project in 
full

£££

Day 1 Action:    Further engage with residents to understand their vision for the park so that the project 
can be explored in more detail

We Made That 85Southend City Centre Strategy105



Next steps5.0

106



107



5.  Next steps

Steps to 
success

The strategy 
and investment 
plan has set out 
the vision for 
the future of the 
city centre and 
recommended a 
number of projects 
to deliver in order 
to achieve this.

Delivering the 
anchor projects 
will require a 
collaborative 
approach 
between the 
Council, private 
sector investors, 
businesses, 
landowners, 
stakeholders 
and Southend’s 
creative, cultural 
and community 
groups.

This document 
should be reviewed 
and updated every 
few years

Focus on driving anchor 
projects forward:

 – Victoria Centre reinvention
 – A liveable city centre strategy
 – Lateral, affordable, creative 

business space
 – Green and playable high street
 – Supporting a thriving 24 hour 

economy
 – Reshaping the future of The 

Royals and key strategic 
surrounding sites

 – Setting the brief for future 
development

 – The Kursaal imaginarium

Potential projects are not 
limited to just those shown 
in the strategy and project 
area sections. Further ideas 
that support the missions are 
welcomed.

However, to deliver a different 
kind of city centre for the future, 
it will be crucial to unlock the 
anchor projects. The anchor 
projects are co-supportive of the 
council’s current work and will 
fill the gaps between future aims 
for the city and what is already 
coming forward.

The tables in the City Centre 
projects section set out how to 
make these projects happen; we 
hope you can recognise your part 
in helping to drive these projects 
forward.

A phased approach

Necessarily, the project 
proposals are currently 
presented as high level concepts. 
Definition will need be added 
through a number of onwards 
steps and further studies, in order 
to deliver the projects.

The tables in the City Centre 
projects section set out 
timescales, indicating short to 
long term project ideas.

Funding

This phasing will be dependent 
on factors such as funding. 
Public sector resources are 
limited and therefore funding 
will need to come from a variety 
of sources; private developers, 
local businesses and charities 
as well as development related 
funding such as Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Section 
106. Other central government 
funds, cultural grants, heritage 
and conservation funds, 
biodiversity and community 
funding, and other crowdfunding 
initiatives may also be applicable.

There is the potential to tie in with 
funding from the Levelling Up 
Fund application, if successful 
(unknown at the time of writing).

Prioritise 
anchor 
projects

Phased 
approach and 
funding

We Made That 88 Southend City Centre Strategy108



Local stewardship

The Engine Room are an 
independent stakeholder group 
who have been instrumental 
to the strategy’s development. 
Representatives include a 
diverse range of third sector 
organisations, businesses, health 
representatives and developers. 

The steps to enabling change 
will require good governance; 
the Engine Room have the 
independent structure rooted 
in local stewardship to drive 
forward decision making and 
forming partnerships to deliver 
the strategy moving forward. 

Ownership of the strategy from 
the Engine Room group will help 
to ensure that projects deliver on 
the sustainability and inclusivity 
principles woven into the actions, 
making sure that it delivers for 
Southend’s residents.

Supporting younger voices to 
come forward

Engaging young voices has been 
a vital part of the strategy’s 
development. Groups such as 
the Youth Council should be 
encouraged to become a part of 
the Engine Room.

Southend City Council Task 
Force

To steer delivery of the strategy 
internally and guide the Engine 
Room for the first few years.

Anchor project partnerships

The strategy aims to empower 
local people to take ownership of 
delivering change by producing 
a plan that the public, private 
stakeholders and the Council can 
work towards together.

Forming partnerships for 
collaborative working with the 
Council, private partners and the 
local community will be critical 
to deliver on the projects and 
attract inward investment. 

Community partnerships

Working with local community 
organisations and groups will 
ensure long term participation 
and build community ownership. 

Options for alternative forms of 
ownership for publically owned 
sites could be explored such as 
Community Asset Transfers. 
There are many groups already 
working hard in Southend to 
drive projects forward, but a 
collaborative approach between 
different sectors will be needed 
to bring projects forward 
successfully.

Potential to develop a new 
Culture Board to  establish 
culture-led renewal.

Set up a community forum

The vision and strategy has been 
shaped collectively by many 
conversations that have revealed 
great ideas and great initiative. 

Working towards a collective 
vision requires a broad range of 
people to get involved together to 
take ownerships for the ongoing 
delivery, programming and legacy 
of the actions identified. 

Ongoing communication

It will be really important to 
keep  Southend’s communities 
involved. Delivering projects 
and actions in Southend city 
centre successfully will rely on 
continuing this success and 
building on processes already 
established. 

Setting up a community forum or 
Citizen Panel will help to continue 
the discussion. This group could 
also act as a design review 
panel to guide high quality and 
sustainable project outcomes.

A creative city depends on 
a collaborative process. 
Engagement for this strategy 
has kickstarted an era of 
collaboration and dialogue. It is 
just the beginning.

Support the 
Engine Room 
to steer

Commit to 
onwards 
dialogue

Form 
partnerships 
for delivery

We Made That 89 Southend City Centre Strategy109



London

Unit 21 Tower Workshops 
58 Riley Road 
London SE1 3DG

+44 (0)20 7252 3400

 
Manchester

Jactin House 
24 Hood Street  
Ancoats 
Manchester M4 6WX

+44 (0)161 9743206 

studio@wemadethat.co.uk 
wemadethat.co.uk

We Made That LLP is registered 
in England and Wales.  
Reg no. OC367789110

mailto:studio%40wemadethat.co.uk%20?subject=
http://wemadethat.co.uk


Report Title: City Council corporate branding refresh 
(engagement) 

 Report Number 

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 
 

Report of Executive Director (Strategy, Change & 
Governance) 

 
To 

Cabinet  
On 

13 September 2022 
Report prepared by: Stephen Meah-Sims, Executive Director 

(Strategy, Change and Governance) and Adam Keating, 
Strategic Communications Manager 

 

City Council Corporate Branding Refresh 

Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Stephen George 

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item) 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 The new City designation for Southend has provided an opportunity for the 

Council to consider options connected to the Council’s existing corporate 
branding and updating it to reflect the new name of the Council.  

 
1.2 This report follows on from 1st July 2022 Cabinet report and recommendations, 

and subsequent 4-week engagement exercise. 
 
1.2  This report sets out the final option for Cabinet to agree on. 
 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1  The results and comments from the public engagement exercise are noted 

and that the favoured concept (‘Shell’ concept) is developed and 
implemented as the Council’s new corporate logo and branding; and 

 
2.2  Officers are delegated to carry out the development and implementation 

work required, along with the creation of full branding guidelines  
 
3 Background 
 
3.1  Following the tragic death of Sir David Amess MP in October 2021, Southend-

on-Sea, the Place, was granted the privilege of being granted City Status; a long-
standing ambition which Sir David Amess fought for on behalf of Southend. 

 
3.2 Southend, the Place, officially became a City at a Civic Commemoration Event 

on the 1st of March 2022, where His Royal Highness, The Prince of Wales and 

Agenda
Item No.

111

7



Report Title: City Council corporate branding refresh 
(engagement) 

 Report Number 

 

Her Royal Highness, The Duchess of Cornwall bestowed City Status, through the 
handing of the Letters Patent to our serving Mayor at a Full Council meeting, as 
part of the Commemoration Event.  

 
3.3  The current branding, known as the Council’s Corporate Brand, should enable 

users of Council services to instantly recognise the Council. Corporate branding 
aims to identify the Council and the range of services that the Council is 
connected to across the City.  Branding also raises awareness of Council services 
and makes the Council publicly accountable.  Our branding also conveys our 
authenticity as a local authority, whether that is in council communication, 
policies, and strategies, to official correspondence from the Council.  

 
3.4 The change of Southend to a City, includes the Council changing its name to 

Southend-on-Sea City Council to reflect its new status, within a new City. Looking 
forward as a strong, ambitious, and cohesive City; the Council needs to embrace 
the change of status by updating the corporate branding, which reflects where 
the Council sees itself in the City and how it wants to be perceived going forward.  
Whilst digital social media accounts and references in content have been 
changed to Southend-on-Sea City Council, the Council’s current logo naturally 
refers to Southend-on-Sea Borough Council. 

 
3.5 Developing a new corporate brand for any organisation comes with challenges 

as brands can mean different things to different audiences.  It is important to 
emphasise that the Corporate Branding for the Council is not the same as the 
Place Branding that was developed for Southend as a whole, in 2021.  The 
Corporate Branding for the Council is focused on the Council. 

 
3.6 Drawing in ideas and preferences from across the Political spectrum was 

essential in working up the design brief.  A Cross-Party Working Group, Chaired 
by the Leader of the Council, came together in January 2022 to start the 
conversation about a new corporate brand for Southend-on-Sea City Council. 
This engagement and other conversations with political group leaders outside of 
the Working Group informed the four options set out in the Cabinet reports of 14th 
March and 1st July 2022, and the four concepts that underwent a public 
engagement exercise in July 2022 and early August 2022 (see Section 4). 

 
3.7 The issue of copyright was raised at the Policy and Resources Scrutiny 

Committee on 16th March 2022.  Initial Legal advice was sought regarding this 
and as reported to Cabinet on 1st July 2022, “the Council and Formara will enter 
into an appropriate deed of assignment once the final logo is decided upon”. 
Following entry into the deed of assignment, the Council would be able to rely on 
the warranties and associated indemnities contained therein which would 
significantly reduce risk exposure in this matter, although in any case, that risk is 
deemed very low. 

 
 
4.  Engagement 
 
4.1  Following Cabinet on 14th March 2022 and subsequent Scrutiny Committee on 

16th March 2022, Cabinet considered the matter again on 1st July 2022, agreeing 
that a four-week engagement would take place.  An online poll with a free text 
box for comments was conducted over a four-week period from 6th July to 5th 

112



Report Title: City Council corporate branding refresh 
(engagement) 

 Report Number 

 

August 2022 on the ‘Your Say Southend’ engagement platform.  In addition, local 
schools were sent a basic activity sheet to give their views (Appendix 3), with over 
50 local schoolchildren taking part, along with the Children in Care Council and 
Southend Youth Council. 

 
4.2  The opportunity to participate more generally was promoted through social media 

and e-newsletters.  Across 11 posts, over 4,000 people viewed the short 
promotional video, with 353 clicks through to the survey. 

 
4.3  Results from the public engagement exercise can be found in Appendix 1 and 

will be available on the Your Say Southend platform, but in summary: 
 

• Over 630 people responded, with 575 comments made; 
• The favoured option (41%) was the ‘Shell’ concept, followed by the ‘S and 

Pier’ concept (29%).  The seaside windmill was third with 22% and the 
modern coat of arms concept was the least favourite, with 46% placing it 
fourth. 

• There was a free text box with comments generally reflecting the outcome 
of the poll. These qualitative comments will be considered as the favoured 
concept is refined and implemented. 

 
4.4 The Design Team that have worked up the concept options are the Council’s 

contracted bespoke Design and Print Company.  They are a local company that 
have worked with the Council since a procurement exercise in 2017, with a track 
record of high-quality design work across council services.   

 
 
5.  Implementation of Southend-on-Sea City Council New Brand 
 
5.1 This report recommends taking the favoured Shell concept forward as the 

Council’s refreshed corporate identity.  Once agreed, officers will be able to 
undertake further work to refine and develop the concept based on the results 
and qualitative feedback from the public engagement and produce detailed 
branding guidelines that will ensure the new branding and logo are used correctly 
and consistently. These guidelines will cover more than just the logo itself 
(colours/design style/look and feel), ensure flexibility for a digital world, but also 
ensure the branding is clear, consistent, and recognisable. 

 
5.2 In terms of implementation, given the scale and range of services provided by the 

Council, it is not advised to change the logo/branding across all areas at the same 
time.  The costs associated with this approach would be expensive and will not 
represent Best Value.  

 
5.3 The Council will prioritise areas to be updated with the new corporate logo and 

branding.  Focussing on ‘quick-wins’ such as digital channels, stationery, and key 
signage in the first instance and take an ‘as and when’ approach to longer-term 
renewals.  Taking opportunities to replace branding across service areas where 
it would be needed.  This is a common approach across local government and 
other sectors. This will enable the Council to focus updated branding where it has 
the most impact and value for money.  
 

113



Report Title: City Council corporate branding refresh 
(engagement) 

 Report Number 

 

5.4 This pragmatic approach to updating the Council’s branding over time, is 
sensitive to budget challenges and demonstrates value for money.  

 
 
 
6. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
6.1 Not deciding at this stage will mean that the Council will continue to operate with 

an outdated logo and branding that does not reflect the areas new City Status or 
the Council’s new name.  It is important reputationally that the Council responds 
to its new City Status and has an up-to-date brand and logo that reflects the 
Council’s new name, showcases a new visual identity for the Council, and 
demonstrates that we are a confident and bold new City Council delivering for its 
local community. 

 
6.2 Significant and professional advice, support and work from Council Members, 

officers and a local company have been invested into this project, along with the 
view of local residents and stakeholders. 

 
7. Corporate Implications 
 
7.1 Contribution to the Southend 2050 Road Map  
 
7.1.1 The Council is a major delivery partner of Southend 2050 and though the updated 

Corporate Branding will not affect the agreed outcomes in Southend 2050, the 
Council being perceived as a pro-active, engaging, and a forward-looking 
organisation is essential in successful leadership of Southend 2050. 

 
 
7.2 Financial Implications  
 
7.2.1 Financial implications up to this point total £4,338.75 and is based on 111.25 

hours of work. This will increase following agreement of the recommendations, 
with final development, design, and implementation work to take place. There will 
also be costs to implement this digitally such as on the Council website which will 
require our external provider to change the logo and carry out user access testing 
(UAT) once complete, and other Council platforms. This is within the budget 
identified for Council rebranding, which was established to support the Council 
with its City Status programme of work.  A further budget of c.£2,500 has also 
been allocated for advice provided on copyright on intellectual property and 
trademarking, following comments made at the March Scrutiny Committee, and 
as set out in 3.7 of this report. 

 
 
7.3 Legal Implications 
 
7.3.1 Legal advice and actions are set out in 3.5 of the main report. 
 
 
7.4 People Implications  
 
7.4.1 There are no People implications associated with this report.  

114



Report Title: City Council corporate branding refresh 
(engagement) 

 Report Number 

 

 
7.5 Property Implications  
 
7.5.1 Updated signage to electronic property, buildings, signs and vehicles will be 

required in due course. 
 
7.6 Co-design/Production/Consultation 
 
7.6.1 The results of market testing connected to perception of brand options is set out 

in section 4 of this report. 
 
 
7.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
7.7.1 It is essential to ensure that a new Corporate Brand is accessible and also 

contains no reference that could cause offence.  The initial testing has been 
Equality Impact assessed. 
 

7.7.2 An Equality Impact Assessment was carried out on the proposed logo and brand 
identity options. Initial assessment was that there would be a positive impact for 
the disability protected characteristic, particularly those with visual impairments 
who find certain colours inaccessible.  The new logo and brand identity will follow 
accessibility best practice in terms of colour contrast and alt text will be used 
when using images and infographics.  The potential impact for other groups with 
protected characteristics was anticipated to be low.  
 

7.7.3 We consulted with groups representing the nine protected characteristics.  A 
survey was run on ‘Your Say Southend’, between 6th July to 5th August 2022, 
inviting groups representing all nine protected characteristics to check the 
proposed logo options for any issues and vote on their preferred logo.  In total, 
the survey was sent to 18 groups and organisations. Reponses were received 
from the Council’s BAME Staff Forum and Disability and Carers Staff Forum; 
Southend-on-Sea’s Youth Council, and two external organisations representing 
age and disability characteristics.  Analysis of the feedback did not identify any 
equality issues with the proposed logo options. 
 

7.7.4 We will continue to monitor and review the equality impact of the logo and brand 
identity.  

 
 
7.8 Risk Assessment 
 
7.8.1 Legal advice has been sought regarding copyright and is covered in 3.7 of this 

report. 
 
 
7.9 Value for Money 
 
7.8.1 Please see 5.3 of this report. 
 
 
 

115



Report Title: City Council corporate branding refresh 
(engagement) 

 Report Number 

 

7.10 Environmental Impact 
 
7.10.1 There are no Environmental impacts associated with this report. 
 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 Cabinet Report, 14th March 2022 (item 780): Agenda for Cabinet on Monday, 

14th March, 2022 
 
8.2 Cabinet Report, 1st July 2022 (item 66): Agenda for Cabinet on Friday, 1st July, 

2022 
 

 
9. Appendices  
 
9.1 Appendix 1 – Summary of engagement exercise. 
 
9.2 Appendix 2 - Recommended concept. 
 
9.3 Appendix 3 – Activity sheet sent to schools. 
 
 
 

116

https://democracy.southend.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=4156&Ver=4
https://democracy.southend.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=4156&Ver=4
https://democracy.southend.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=4282&Ver=4
https://democracy.southend.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=4282&Ver=4


Appendix 1 

The Logo Consultation Analysis. – draft 
Report prepared by Debee Skinner 
 
Summary  
A total of 1,600 people accessed the campaign which ran from 6th July to 5th August 2022 of 
that 636 responded online, the rest were aware, informed but chose not to comment or rank 
the logos, at the peak of the consultation it got over 500 visits per day.  A few people did 
duplicate entries these were identified and removed. The consultation include a survey with a 
question to rank your favourite from four of the chosen logos below. 
 

 
   
 
 
 

The Seaside Pinwheel     The Modern Coat of Arms 
 

 
 
 
 

The S with Pier and Pavilion    The Shell 
 
 
There was a free text box asking for the reason of choice or for further comments.  
 
The consultation was promoted across social media and was available on the Councils 
interactive consultation portal https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/  it was also made available in a 
hardcopy format if requested. We also engaged with schools in the areas and Heycroft 
Primary School sent in responses. 
 
The overall consensus from those responding is that they there was a clear favourite from the 
four logos. Some of the individual comments received identified that the Pier represents 
Southend and the city’s heritage and should be included in the logo. The City logo needs to 
reflect Southend’s uniqueness, viability and its links to the sea, the Councils new logo should 
also be modern, simple and effective with a strong sense of brand identity. 
 
 
 
  

117

https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/


Full Breakdown of questions 

1. Please rank your preference - 1 being your first choice etc.

This was a question that requested you rank the logo choices in your preferred order, 665
people ranked them.

The majority of those responding 41% chose The Shell as their first preference with The S
with Pier and Pavilion coming second at 29%.  The schools also chose The Shell as their
favourite but The S with Pier and Pavilion came in 2nd with a smaller margin. It was felt that
The Shell was simple, modern and effective implying a strong brand identity and easy to
reproduce.

The S with the Pier and Pavilion had 32% put this as their second choice, the responses 
included it represented Southend the best with the Pier. Many commented that the Pier is 
iconic and has strong links the Southend and should be present in the logo.  

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

The S with Pier/ pavilion

The Modern Coat of Arms

The Shell

The Seaside Windmill

Ranking 1st

0 50 100 150 200 250

The S with Pier/ pavilion

The Modern Coat of Arms

The Shell

The Seaside Windmill

Ranking  2nd

118



The chart below shows all the results in comparison with each other and the order of 
preference is 

1. The Shell
2. The S with Pier and Pavilion
3. The Seaside Windmill
4. The Modern Coat of Arms

The Modern Coat of Arms was identified as least favourite, with 46% placing it in last place, 
the children mainly commented that they did not understand what the symbols meant.  The 
online survey highlighted that the symbols were not clear or distinguishable  

• The iron grate looks like a Christmas present.
• The trefoil looks like St Patrick's Day.
• Fussy with no clear message
• Dated imagery

Only 9% made it their first choice giving the reasons of preserving the links to our historical 
past, traditional emblems. 

The Seaside Windmill only 22% made this their first choice, with many commenting on the 
colours, its seaside feeling and its link to diversity and inclusion.  Comments also identified 
that it looked rather childlike and was too generic and could identify or reflect many other 
cities and towns. 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

The S with Pier/ pavilion

The Modern Coat of Arms

The Shell

The Seaside Windmill

All Ranking Comparison 

1st 2nd 3rd 4th

119



2. Please give your reasons for your choice*

This was an open text response following on from the ranking above with 575 individuals
responding, the comments were linked together by themes and most people commented 
that the logos needed to be ‘simple, memorable and modern, closing followed by it being 
synonymous with Southend with many quoting that we are famous for the Pier and it 
should be included in the logo somewhere. 

General comments – included responses that included 
• Southend was more that just a seaside town
• I think none of the options reflect the diversity of the city and are a little too 'kiss me

quick' for my taste. However, if I was forced to pick one I believe the shell has the
better appearance.

• The windmill has no relevance and the coat of arms is not distinctive.

*The full comments received  from the online element of the consultation can be found in 
Appendix 1a, the responses from the school children can be found in Appendix 1b both at 
the end of this document.

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Un-inspriring/ Do not like any of the choices

Waste of Money/How much cost

Keep current logo

Synonymous with Southend (landmarks etc.)

Strong Brand Identity

Simple/ Effective/ Memorable/ Modern

Inclusivity/ Diversity

Historical links to the past

General

Feeling of Seaside

Bright & Colourful

Comments grouped together by themes 

120



121

APPENDIX 2



122



Help us choose our new logo!
We are desiging a new logo for Southend-on-Sea City Council and we want to 
know what you think.

A logo is an important badge for businesses or companies (like the one in the 
corner of this work sheet). It helps people know who they are just from one little 
picture, like Lego or Walt Disney.

In the boxes below, tell us what you think about each of the designs and which 
one is your favourite.

Write number 1 next to your favourite, 2 for your second best, 3 for your third best 
and 4 for the one you like the least.

Thank you for helping! ☺123



Thank you for helping the council choose its new logo and branding. 
 
Please print these worksheets and ask pupils to fill them in as per the instructions 
on the front of this sheet. 

Once completed, please either scan and email them to media@southend.gov.uk

If this is not possible, please email media@southend.gov.uk and request that they 
are collected. Please tell us your school name and a relevant contact and best 
time for pick up. 

Further information can be found here under item 7: https://bit.ly/3P54oe1  

If you have any questions, please call Adam Keating on 07818 580319. 

Get Involved! 

We also want your view – please complete the short survey at:
yoursay.southend.gov.uk/potential-logo

Guidance for schools

124



 

The Community Safety Partnership Strategy Page 1 of 8 Report No 20/011 

 

 
Southend-on-Sea City Council 

 
Report of Executive Director of Neighbourhoods and 

Environment 
To 

Cabinet 

On 
13th September 2022 

 
Report prepared by: Joanne Stowell Director of Public 

Protection 
 

Adoption of the Community Safety Partnership Strategy 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 

 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Martin Terry- Cabinet Member for Public Protection 
 

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item) 
 

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report sets out the priorities, high level ambitions and intentions of the 

partnership over the next 3 years as outlined in the Community Safety Partnership 
Strategy (2022 – 25) for formal approval.  
 

1.2 The strategy seeks to set out a direction of travel and key functions of the 
Community Safety Partnership. Upon approval of the strategy, the annual strategic 
assessment will be compiled and reviewed by the partnership to allow focused 
action and resource deployment for the forthcoming year. 

 
2. Recommendation 
 
That Cabinet: 

2.1 Agree the priorities within the Community Safety Partnership Strategy (the   
Strategy) 2022 – 2025 as attached at Appendix 1; 

2.2 Present the Strategy to full Council on the 8th of December 2022 for formal 
adoption;  

2.3 Agree that the Executive Director of Neighbourhoods and Environment 
together with the Chair of the Southend Community Safety Partnership 
Board, approve any minor changes required to the Strategy arising from 
emerging local crime priorities identified in the crime needs assessment.  

 
 
 

Agenda
Item No.

125

8



 

The Community Safety Partnership Strategy Page 2 of 8 Report No 20/011 

 

3. Background 
 

3.1 The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is a statutory partnership set up under 
Section 57 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998; the overarching aim of the 
partnership is to ensure that Southend-on-Sea City Council (SCC) continues its 
journey to achieve reductions in crime and disorder and improve the safety of 
those who live and work in the City. 

3.2 There is a statutory requirement to prepare and implement a local Crime and 
Disorder Reduction Strategy every 3 years, known locally as the Community 
Safety Partnership Strategy (the Strategy). In addition, there is also a 
requirement to complete an annual Strategic Impact Assessment (SIA).  

3.3 The Southend Community Safety Partnership Board (CSPB) undertakes a 
statutory duty of completing a Strategic Intelligence Assessment (SIA) annually. 
The purpose of the assessment is to evidence insights on emerging trends, 
prioritising crime and disorder themes into high level strategy. However, on 
reviewing the current arrangements, the Director of Public Protection noted that 
the Strategy has not previously been published.  
 

3.4 Notwithstanding the above, the requirements to reduce crime and disorder in 
the City were still delivered by the CSPB, successes include: 
 

• Utilising gang injunctions to disrupt county lines and the behaviours of 
young people; 

• Expanding the “See The Signs” media campaign, resulting in 9,900 views 
on social media and 25,110 views online; 

• Introducing a Public Space Protection Order in Leigh-on-Sea and 
increased a uniformed presence within the area; 

• Maintaining the Purple Flag status; 
• Delivering Operation Heatwave; 
• Delivering Operation Union; 
• Increasing the number of Hate Crime Ambassadors and number of Hate 

Incident Reporting Centres (HIRCs) available to Southend citizens, and 
• Introducing a specific Southend Domestic Abuse Strategy. 

 
CSPB Arrangements 

.3.5 The CSPB has a joint Chair arrangement between Essex Police Leadership and 
the Director of Public Protection. It meets on a quarterly basis, and has the 
responsibility for developing a Strategy that delivers the priorities determined by 
Essex Police, the results of a SIA, as well as those that are important to our 
residents. 

 
3.6 The CSPB comprises of statutory and non-statutory partners; it brings the 

member organisations together so that they can cooperate at a strategic and 
operational level to improve community safety outcomes for the residents of 
Southend. Board Members include: 

 
• Southend-on Sea City Council 

126



 

The Community Safety Partnership Strategy Page 3 of 8 Report No 20/011 

 

• The Cabinet Member for Public Protection 
• South Essex Homes 
• Essex Police 
• Essex Ambulance Service 
• Essex County Fire & Rescue 
• Southend Clinical Commissioning Group  
• National Probation Service 
• Dept of Work and Pensions 
• Southend Association for Voluntary Services 

 
Preparation of the Strategy 
  

3.7 In preparing the Strategy there must be regard to:  
 

• The priorities within the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFFC) for 
Essex’s ‘Police and Crime Plan 2021 -24 (PACP 21-24); 

• The results from the annual SIA; 
• The results of the completed risk matrix with CSP Stakeholders to 

understand threat, risk and harm. Providing a score against community 
safety issues, considering the following; Impact against victim, community, 
public expectations and the environment, Likelihood of a community safety 
issue occurring, examining frequency, volume and trends, organisational 
position, considering the impact of the issue on organisations, and if it is a 
national issue, the economic cost of issue, if the CSP has the capacity and 
capability to respond to the issue, identifying any gaps, 

• The concerns of residents, through analysis of the results of the 
Residential Survey, discussions held at Independent Advisory Groups 
(IAGs) and Local Community Meetings (LCMs), which highlighted issues 
that impact on a communities’ quality of life; 

• Southend 2050 objectives and 
• CSP stakeholder’s strategies (outlined in Appendix 1, page 17). 

 
The Priorities 

3.8 Broad strategic themes have been identified within the Strategy this enables 
flexibility in responding to changing crime trends and any emerging local issues. 
Delivery will be reviewed annually in line with Southend's annual SIA and local 
trends, this will ensure that delivery reflects local need, whilst also maximising 
opportunities for joint working across the City. 

3.9 The agreed priority themes within the Strategy are: 
 

• Priority One: Safe and Confident Communities 
• Priority Two: Reducing Violence Against Women and Girls 
• Priority Three: Reducing & Tackling Hate Crime 
• Priority Four: Reducing Knife Enabled Serious Violence 

 
3.10 Priorities are not ranked in any order.  Each priority has associated delivery 

mechanisms to drive them forward and will be reviewed annually to ensure that 

127



 

The Community Safety Partnership Strategy Page 4 of 8 Report No 20/011 

 

they are relevant and monitored periodically to determine progress. If priorities 
are changed in the future this document will be updated to reflect them. 

Priority One: Safe and Confident Communities 

3.11 This priority will tackle high volume crime and anti-social issues across the City 
that concern our residents and businesses the most, as well as targeting 
resources on those areas that are highlighted as hot spots through either the 
highest levels of crimes reported, or through noted increases. Our aim will be to 
reduce crime, reduce ASB and improve the confidence of residents and provide 
reassurance.  

 
3.12 The specific high-volume crimes that will be focused on are: 
 

• ASB 
• Street based robberies 
• Crimes associated with the Public Space Protection Order 

 
Although not a high-volume crime, the final focus in this area is mitigation from 
the threat of hostile vehicle attacks. 

 
3.13 The specific high-volume crimes will be tackled, and resources will be targeted 

on those areas that are highlighted as hot spots, through either the highest levels 
of crimes reported, or through noted increases. The aim within this priority is to 
reduce crime, reduce ASB, improve the confidence of residents and provide 
reassurance.  

3.14 Data analytical tools and partnership tasking groups will be used to track and 
respond to local crime trends in real time, and to provide local input to develop 
appropriate responses to City concerns.  

Priority Two: Reducing Violence Against Women & Girls  

3.15 In addition to high volume crimes, the Strategy also has a strong focus on high 
harm crimes that have been identified as priority issues within the PACP 21-24, 
and they reinforce the commitment to tackle violence, vulnerability and 
exploitation in the City.    

3.16 This priority looks at protecting women and girls from violence, as too many 
women and girls suffer harassment, abuse and violence on a daily basis, whether 
at the hands of partners, family members or strangers, and this is always 
unacceptable. This priority supports the PFFC in its stance of taking a zero-
tolerance approach wherever this violence and abuse takes place. This does not 
mean that the suffering experienced by men and boys is diminished, and the 
services commissioned will support victims and survivors whatever their gender.  

Priority Three: Reducing and Tackling Hate Crime 

3.17 This priority focuses on work to tackle those crimes that are motivated by malice 
or ill will towards a social group based on race, religion, sexual orientation, 
disability or gender identity. Communities that are divided and fearful are more 

128



 

The Community Safety Partnership Strategy Page 5 of 8 Report No 20/011 

 

susceptible to intolerance, hatred and targeting. In addition to the targeted 
groups. 

Priority Four: Reducing Knife Enable Crime 

3.18 This priority is aimed to work with Southend CSP stakeholders in establishing a 
Knife Crime Matrix to help prevent and deter individuals and groups from 
committing acts of serious violence and carrying/using knives. Knife crime is 
defined as an offence where a knife/blade is used or threatened. 

Delivery of the Strategy 

3.19 Delivering on the priorities outlined in the Strategy requires a range of partner 
organisations working together, to share the skills, powers and resources that are 
available to them.  Such an approach is essential to improving community safety, 
as the drivers of crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) are often multiple and 
complex, cutting across a range of different agencies and services. As a 
framework strategy, the intention is not to provide comprehensive, prescriptive 
detail on partner actions. Instead, it provides a broad outline of actions that will 
be taken by Partners in supporting the overall ambitions, and further signposts 
the partner strategies, policies and plans that contain the detailed actions. 
(Appendix 1 page 17).  

Endorsement of the Strategy 

3.20 The Strategy was endorsed by the Chairs of the CSPB and the Cabinet Member 
for Public Protection in June 2022; and scrutinised by CMT on the 3rd of August 
2022. However, as per the Constitution of SCC, it must be presented to Full 
Council prior to formal adoption. 

4. Other Options  

4.1 It is a statutory requirement to produce the Strategy, as such, there are no 
alternative options to consider. 

5.  Reasons for Recommendation  
 
5.1 Southend City Council is a responsible authority of the Community Safety 

Partnership under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. The Act places a 
statutory duty on the local authority to work with other responsible 
authorities to develop and implement a strategy for reducing crime and 
disorder.   

 
6. Corporate Implications 
 
6.1 Southend 2050 is the City’s shared ambition for the future, it includes six themes,  
  each with associated outcomes, the themes are: 
 

1. Pride and Joy 
2. Safe and Well 
3. Active and Involved 
4. Opportunity and Prosperity 

129



 

The Community Safety Partnership Strategy Page 6 of 8 Report No 20/011 

 

5. Connected and Smart and 
6. Future Ways of Working 

 
6.2 The Strategy seeks to deliver outcomes that impact positively on our residential and 

business communities by: reducing crime and the fear of crime, increasing safety, 
protecting the environment, engaging with our residents and partners, using the 
latest technology to aid enforcement, and annually reviewing the ways in which we 
work. A by-product of achieving the above aims, is that the prosperity of the City is 
improved, as such, the Strategy is pivotal to achieving the corporate vision and 
contributes to all six high level strategic priorities set out in Southend 2050. 
However, given the broad context in which community safety exists, the strategy 
makes a particular specific contribution to themes 1,2 and 4. 

 
6.3 Financial Implications 
 
6.4 SCC CSP does not receive funding, however Partners’ plans and strategies clarify 

where they will focus their time and effort and their broad activity to meet priorities. 
 

6.5 From time to time, central government makes available one-off funding opportunities 
to support community safety work such as from UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF), and when possible, partners apply for such funds. Having said that, it is 
important to note that whilst funding is available, it is not awarded equally and quite 
often has to be shared across other priorities. 
 

6.6 Legal Implications 
 
6.7 In line with the statutory duty under Section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

the Southend Community Safety Partnership must formulate and implement a 
strategy for reducing crime and disorder in the area (including anti-social and other 
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment).  

 
6.8 By producing the strategy and by completing an annual SIA, which informs the 

following years’ operational actions, SCC is fulfilling its statutory requirement.  
 

6.9 The Director of Legal Services has cleared this report. 
   
6.10 People Implications 

 
6.11 This paper’s recommended approach has no specific People implications; the 

priorities within the Strategy crosscut across the agencies that make up the CSP. 
Delivery against the priorities will be via mainstream activity and any grant funding 
that the City is able to secure, including this year’s £27,713.84 PFCC allocation. 
 

6.12 It should be noted that should resourcing be reduced, the ability to deliver against 
the objectives within the Strategy will be compromised. 
 

6.13 Property Implications 
 
6.14 This report’s recommended approach has no specific property implications. 
 
 
 

130



 

The Community Safety Partnership Strategy Page 7 of 8 Report No 20/011 

 

6.15 Consultation 
 
6.16 In developing the Strategy and its priorities, consultation and engagement was 

undertaken with partners, stakeholders and relevant services within the Council. 
The first draft of the Strategy was sent to partners and the Chair of the CSPB in 
April 2022 for comment, and subsequent feedback was included; the updated draft 
was agreed by the Chairs of the CSPB in June 2022.  All comments were 
addressed, minor amendments to the Strategy made, and the Cabinet Member for 
Public Protection agreed the recommendations. 

 
6.17   The opinions of residents were sought via the Residential Survey undertaken in 

2021; 1206 residents responded to a variety of questions, including feelings of 
safety and concerns about crime and ASB in the City. With regards to the 
perception of crime and particularly in relation to feelings of safety, 81% of 
residents reported feeling safe when in their local area during the day, 54% felt 
safe when out alone after dark, and 53% felt safe on public transport, and 68% felt 
that crime and ASB was a priority. 

 
6.18 It should be noted that the resident’s perceptions are not necessarily borne out of 

personal experience, but often influenced by the media or anecdotal experiences 
of others.  

 
6.19 Equalities and Diversity Implications   
 
6.20 SCC wants to ensure that it provides services and strategies which address the 

needs of all members of the community. As such the Council conducts Equality 
Impact Assessments as strategies, policies and services are developed to:  

 
• Consider issues relating to age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, race, 

religion & belief and sexual orientation;  
• Obtain a clearer understanding of how distinct groups may be affected;  
• Identify changes which may need to be built into an initiative as it is developed;  
• Comply with legislative requirements & identify good practice. 

 
6.21 By working on the four priority areas identified, there will not be unlawful 

discrimination or contradictions under the European Convention of Human Rights. 
Statistics and data have been used and analysed to highlight the high-risk areas 
to the Community Safety Partnership and our communities.  All members of our 
communities have been considered, and there have been no groups omitted from 
the process. The impact of working on the proposed priority areas will not 
discriminate against individuals or groups. In fact, the proposed priorities are 
expected to have a positive impact on vulnerable groups. 
 

6.22 Risk Assessment 
 
6.23 There is a legal requirement to produce the Strategy, and undertake an annual 

SIA, as such, there are reputational, environmental, economical and legal risks to 
the Council for not pro-actively pursuing an improvement in crime and disorder 
levels.  
 

131



 

The Community Safety Partnership Strategy Page 8 of 8 Report No 20/011 

 

6.24 The recommendations in this report recognise the importance of constructive 
dialogue with the partner organisations within the CSP, and the importance of 
coordinated and collaborative working. With that in mind, there is also a risk to the 
Councils’ reputation for working in partnership, should it not support the priorities 
identified through a partnership strategic assessment process.  

 
 

6.25 Value for Money 
 

6.26 Physical health, mental wellbeing and life satisfaction are all enhanced through 
improvements in public safety, and the reduction of crime and disorder.  The social 
return on investment from improvements in these areas is well documented within 
the Public Health arena, and the fiscal benefits are thought to be more than three 
times greater than any cost assigned. 
 

6.27 Community Safety Implications 
 

6.28 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the Council to do all that 
it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder.  Support for this Plan will ensure 
that the Council proactively contributes to addressing the identified community 
safety priorities for the City. The detrimental impact of crime, and anti-social 
behaviour is a high priority for local residents, and the work to be undertaken in 
addressing the identified priorities, will improve the quality of life for our 
communities; help reduce crime, the fear of crime and anti-social behaviour itself 
and promote public confidence in our services and those offered by our partners. 

 
6.29 Environmental Impact 

 
6.30 The enforcement and prevention work that will be undertaken to support the 

Strategy will make a significant contribution to the quality of the physical 
environment, tackle those responsible for crime, disorder and anti-social 
behaviour, and prevent some offences in SCC.  
 

6.31 With the above in mind, Priority One in particular (Safe and Confident 
Communities), takes envoi-crime into account. This will include fly-tipping, and the 
priority addresses the ‘Broken Windows’ metaphor, of how crime and disorder 
tends to flourish in environments where small problems (such as broken windows) 
go unaddressed.  Essentially, the theory is that as the environment falls into 
neglect and disrepair, people responsible for crime and disorder interpret the lack 
of care for the environment as permission to use and abuse it without 
repercussions.  The Strategy, seeks to address these issues, and aims to being 
about environmentally improvements, as well as reductions in crime. 

 
7. Background Papers 
 
7.1 There are no relevant background papers. 
 
8.  Appendices 
 
8.1 Appendix 1 - The Community Safety Partnership Strategy 
 
 

132



Southend-on-Sea
Community Safety 
Partnership Strategy
2022 to 2025

133



Contents

2

3 4 5

6 7 8

10 12 14

16 17

Forward
The Southend

Community Safety
Patrnership Board

What did our
community say?

Essex Police Data Our four priorities

Priority 1:
Safe and

Confident
Communities

Priority 2:
Reducing Violence

Against Women
and Girls

Priority 3:
Reducing Hate

Crime

Priority 4:
Reducing Knife
Enabled Serious

Violence

How will we know
we are on track?

Supporting
Strategies and

Plans

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

134



Foreword
The   Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is pleased to present our Community Safety Partnership

Strategy (CSPS)  for 2022-2025. It sets out our priorities for reducing crime and disorder and

protecting vulnerable people across Southend over the coming three years.

Through working together, the CSP has achieved many successes in reducing crime and disorder,

protecting those who are vulnerable and making Southend safe and secure for residents, businesses

and visitors. This has been done under the difficult circumstances of the coronavirus pandemic,

which has had significant and wide-ranging impacts across the  City. We are proud of these

achievements, but know that more needs to be done to make Southend safer.

As a CSP, we recognise that the challenges facing our children, young adults, families and businesses 

have evolved, and that they continue to do so; the strategy  sets out the priorities and aims for

keeping Southend City safe. It brings together statutory and non-statutory partners, with the aim of

building safe and secure communities, thereby promoting public confidence in the CSP, and ensuring

that victims are satisfied with the service and support they receive.

The commitments set out in the strategy build on existing partnerships and seek to develop them in

new and ambitious ways, and include greater collaboration between the partnership as a whole.

Through enhanced collegiate working, we will  maximise benefits, and achieve progress on our

priorities during the lifetime of this strategy, all of which will bring about real change for residents

and visitors to the city of Southend.

Finally, it is important to reflect upon the tragic circumstances that led to Southend being granted city

status; indeed,  the tragic murder of   Sir David Amess, and the equally abhorrent murders of Sarah

Everard, Balvinder Gahir, Bibaa Henry, Julia James, Khloemae Loy, Nicole Smallman and Libby Squire,

have forced government and CSPs alike to assign priorities committed to reduce knife enabled

serious violence, violence against women and girls, as well as hate crimes. 

With the above in mind, we will focus our efforts and resources on four strategic priorities, and

these are based upon national and regional priorities, an assessment of crime and disorder issues

across the City, a reflection of community views and insights, as well as the six high level ambitions

set out in Southend 2050 which  is the city’s shared ambition for the future. The CSPS makes a

particular specific contribution to themes: 1 (Pride and Joy), 2 (Safe and Well)  and 4 (Opportunity and

Prosperity) within Southend 2050, and  the strategic priorities are as follows:

Priority One - Safe and Confident Communities;   Priority Two - Reducing Violence Against Women

and Girls; Priority Three - Reducing Hate Crime and Priority Four - Reducing Knife Enabled Serious

Violence.

Chief Superintendent Waheed Khan and Director of Public Protection Joanne Stowell

Co - Chairs of the Community Safety Partnership Board

3

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

135



The Southend Community Safety
Partnership Board

Undertaking a Strategic Intelligence Assessment (SIA), taking into consideration Essex Police Fire

and Crime Commissioner's Police and Crime Plan priorities, Southend 2050 and CSP stakeholders

strategies (outlined on page 17);

Completing a risk matrix with CSP Stakeholders, to understand threat, risk and harm, so providing

a score against community safety issues which considered the following: *Impact against victim,

community, public expectations and the environment.   *Likelihood of a community safety issue

occurring, examining frequency, volume and trends. *Organisational position, considering the
impact of the issue on organisations and, if it is a national issue, *the economic cost of an issue, 

*whether the CSP has the capacity and capability to respond to the issue, and *identifying any

gaps;

Taking the concerns of residents into account through analysis of the results of the Residential
Survey, discussions held at Independent Advisory Groups (IAGs) and Local Community Meetings

(LCMs) which highlighted issues that impact on communities quality of life. 

4

The Southend Community Safety Partnership Board (CSPB), comprises of
statutory and non-statutory  partners. It brings the organisations
together so that they can cooperate at a  strategic level, to improve
community safety outcomes for the residents of Southend.

The Board has the responsibility for developing a strategy that delivers the priorities determined by
the Essex Police, the results of a Strategic Impact Assessment, as well as those that are important to
our residents.

Our Partners

Southend City Council
Southend City Council Cabinet
Member for Public Protection

Essex Police
Essex County

Fire and Rescue

National Probation 

Southend Clinical
Commissioning Group

South Essex Homes

Southend Association Voluntary
Services (SAVS)

Department of Work and Pensions

Essex Ambulance Service

We chose our priorities by:

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

136



What did our residents say?

Percentage of residents that felt:

Percentage of our residents that thought that the following was a serious problem 

5

81%

43%

68%

53%

Feel safe in their local area during the day

Feel safe in their local area after dark

Feel addressing crime and anti-social behaviour
is a priority

Of residents are confident using public
transport 

In 2021 residents provided insights of their local area, community
interactions and resident behaviours

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

137



Essex Police Reported Crime Data
Showed us that between February 2021 and January 2022

6

All Crime Types

20440
(up 11%)

Anti-social Behaviour

5173
(down 33%)

Criminal Damage

1660
(up 0.7%)

Theft of a Vehicle 

250
(down 21%)

Personal Robbery 

311
(up  41%)

Possession of Drugs 

570
(down 6%)

Possession of Weapons

188
(down 5%)

Public Order
Offences

2303
(up 13%)

Hate Crime

654
(up 41%)

Residential Burglary Violence Against The
Person

Domestic Abuse

681 9551 3832
(down 9%) (up 16%) (up 12%)

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

138



Our four priorities

Priorities are not ranked in any order.  Each priority has associated

delivery mechanisms with partnership strategies and plans to drive them

forward. The priorities will be reviewed annually, to ensure that they are

relevant, and will  monitored periodically to determine progress. If

priorities are changed in the future this document will be updated to

reflect them.

Priority one: Safe and 
Confident Communities

Priority Two: Reducing 
Violence Against
Women and Girls

Priority Three: Reducing 
Hate Crime

Priority Four: Reducing 
Knife Enabled Serious
Violence

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

7

139



Priority One 
Safe and Confident Communities

This priority  will tackle high volume  crimes & anti-social issues across the City, as well as

targeting resources on those areas that are highlighted as hot-spots, either through the

highest levels of crimes reported, or through noted increases. Our aim will be to reduce

crime, reduce ASB and improve the confidence of residents and provide reassurance.

Our Aim
To achieve reductions in the following high volume crimes that are deemed by CSP
Stakeholders, district data and Southend residents to be local priorities:

Anti-social Behaviour
Street based Personal Robbery

In addition, we will concentrate on enforcement of the Southend-on Sea and Leigh-on
Sea Public Space Protection orders, and Hostile Vehicle Mitigation measures.

Anti-social Behaviour
Managing high volume ASB associated crimes within problematic areas
across the City. Utilising established operation models
where appropriate, including Operation Union, Heatwave & Jorvik.

Street Based Personal Robbery
Reducing theft of property accomplished through force or threat in
public spaces

Southend-on-Sea and Leigh-on-Sea Public Space Protection Orders
(PSPO)
Enforcing against reoccurrence of prohibited activities

Hostile Vehicle Measures
Implementing a series of security measures to mitigate against the
ability of vehicles to cause threat or harm within town centre and
seafront area and provide safer pedestrian areas

8

What we will tackle
We will take a joint problem solving approach in respect of those crimes that affect our
residents and businesses the most including:

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

140



How we will do it 

Through ensuring the effective use of public space CCTV on targeted areas
as determined by intelligence, and the investment in a CCTV upgrade.

CCTV
 

Legislation
 

By using and applying the various  Acts available  to deal with crime,
disorder and ASB, and by ensuring all available remedies are considered;
Ensuring that all enforcement will be  subject to a balanced approach
involving support and treatment from partner services and enforcement
where necessary.

Intelligence led action
 

Use data, analytical tools and partnership tasking groups such as: TTCG,
CAG, STAG and COG to identify crime trends and hotspots.
Use this intelligence to track and respond to local crime and ASB trends
in real time, and provide local input to develop appropriate responses to
City concerns.
Development intelligence packages to assist with targeting of resources
appropriately and to evaluate the success of initiatives.

ASB Case Reviews (Community Triggers)
 Develop guidance on the Community Trigger and  and display via

stakeholders media outlets and the CSP web page. 
Encourage partners  to inform  victims of ASB of the right to initiate
the community trigger;
Provide full case reviews for all cases highlighted by the Community
Trigger.

Work in partnership
 

Work collaboratively with stakeholders to identify, assess and tackle high
volume crime issues,  through a coordinated problem solving approach;
Direct crime  prevention activities towards the people and places that
experience highest volumes of ASB, or to the issues that contribute most
to the problems.
Coordinate approaches and referrals  through the Strategic Tasking
Allocation Group (STAG), Community Operational Group (COG) and
Tactical Tasking Coordination Group (TTCG);
Provide victims with  clear ways to report, keep them informed of their
case progression, signpost access to  support, give the opportunity to
choose restorative approaches to tackling ASB where appropriate.
Develop clear referral pathways, and publish these  on the Southend CSP
website and partners media outlets.

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

Priority 1: Safe and Confident Communities

141



Priority Two 
Reducing  Violence Against Women
and Girls

Violence against women and girls is a high harm crime.  Southend CSP is committed to

preventing all forms of gender-based violence and addressing it wherever and however it

occurs. However, the  CSP  recognises that a significant number of men and boys also

experience violent and abusive crimes, and these are captured within the cross-government

Violence Against Women and Girls strategy.

Our Aim

Increase public safety including night time economy
Improve service provision for those affected
Target perpetrators

10

What we will tackle

We will take a joint problem solving approach to better protect those experiencing violent
and abusive crimes, taking the Prepare, Prevent, Pursue and Protect approach:

Prepare
Ensure that  Intelligence between agencies is shared appropriately and
effectively

Prevent
Raise awareness through partnership campaigns, provide education to
children and young people, and provide subject matter training to statutory
and non-statutory partners.

Pursue
Use all  tools and powers as provided by anti-social behaviour legislation, to
keep women safe in public spaces, provide perpetrator interventions and
produce robust files to support  successful prosecutions.

Protect
Work to ensure that  Southend residents have access to the right support,
helping them to be safe, feel safe and become free from violence and abuse.

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

142



How we will do it 

11

Prevention
 Increasing knowledge and understanding  across communities and

stakeholders through: training, events, and communication campaigns;
Complete a full needs assessment to understand the local picture;
Promote Street Safe to Southend residents.
Use evidence based education and interventions that promote healthy
relationships.

Support Victims/Survivors
 

Developing a joined up approach with all domestic abuse services
working together, aware of what each service can offer, and providing
a clear referral pathway;
Supporting victims through Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference
(MARAC), judiciary processes and implement any learning points from
Domestic Homicide Reviews.

Legislation

Working to  ensure that perpetrators of violence against women and
girls/domestic abuse are held accountable according to the law, and are
provided with assistance to change their abusive behaviour, in order to
prevent them from causing harm or violence to their current, past or
future partners;
Reduce re-offending rates of High Harm offenders by working with High
Operation Shield (run by the Domestic Abuse Investigation Team), to
ensure that  the highest risk domestic offenders are proactively
targeted, with applied problem solving to prevent their offending.

Night Time Economy (NTE)
Working  collaboratively with partners to prevent and reduce sexual
harm on the NTE (Operation Gerberra), including understanding the
specific needs of women who sell sex on the street, and
further  recognise that  street prostitution can be used as a means
of adult sexual exploitation and a form of violence against women and
girls.
Retaining Purple Flag  status, this  status rewards vibrant, diverse and
safe night time economy city centres. The quality mark is the equivalent
of Blue Flags for beaches and Green Flags for parks.

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

Priority 2: Reducing Violence Against Women and Girls 

143



Priority Three 
Reducing Hate Crime

This priority will tackle Hate Crime across the City. Hate crime is a high harm crime and is

historically underreported; our aim is to improve our  residents knowledge of what a hate

crime is, increase access to reporting centres/ambassadors, and to provide confidence and

reassurance to victims and communities.

To improve reporting of hate crime and to reduce repeat victimisation of hate crime:

Increase the reporting of hate crime where it occurs to gain a true picture;
Reduce repeat victimisation
Improve service delivery

12

Our Aim

What we will tackle

We will take a joint problem solving approach to protect residents and visitors from hate
crime, make sure victims receive better support and strengthen the work to prevent
people from being targeted.

Increase Reporting of Hate Crime Where it Occurs 

Ensure victims and communities are aware of what hate crime is, how and
where it can be reported.

Reduce repeat victimisation

By understanding offenders behaviours and supporting victims

Improve service delivery

Ensure the robustness of all cases going to prosecutions, using these cases
as best practice examples.

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

144



How we will do it 

13

Intelligence and Evidence
 
 Understanding the profile of hate crime offenders, what works to

address causes and the impacts on victims and communities;
Using   data to develop approaches of working with offenders,  offering
appropriate interventions, and using metrics to monitor service delivery;
Working with Safer Essex and Essex Strategic Hate Crime Board to
identify any learning and areas of development.

Education and Communication
 

Engaging with primary and secondary schools, offering hate crime
educational resources through Fire and Rescue Services;
Engage with faith centres and local community groups regarding hate
crime;
Developing and promoting partnership hate crime awareness materials
and campaigns;
Ensuring community groups are aware of funding opportunities, and
of best practice in applying, to maximise funding;
Promoting hate crime referrals to Restorative Justice within Essex;
Having Hate Crime as a standing agenda Item at Prevent Board

Training and Support
 

Developing and continuously working with and supporting Hate Crime
Ambassadors, and Hate Incident Reporting Centres;
Ensuring Hate Crime Ambassador training is available to statutory and
non-statutory partners including those that work in the NTE

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

Priority 3: Reducing Hate Crime 

145



Priority Four 
Reducing Knife Enabled Serious
Violence

This priority is aimed to work with Southend CSP  stakeholders to help prevent and deter

individuals and groups from committing acts of serious violence, and of   carrying/using

knives. Knife crime is a high harm crime, and is defined as an offence where a knife/blade is

used or threatened.

Decrease the number of knife crime assaults and weapons carried across
Southend
Reduce non-domestic knife crime with injury affecting 15-34 year olds as recorded
in NHS admission data
Prevent children & young person’s becoming involved in serious violence

14

Our Aim

What we will tackle
We will take a joint problem solving approach in respect of tackling knife crime and
serious violence across the city. 

Provide support and opportunities
Ensuring children and young people are supported and safeguarded
through the  provision of varied education,  training and diversion
programmes.

Stakeholder engagement and collaboration
Building upon current relationships with stakeholders and communities to
ensure a coordinated approach to knife crime

High harm public spaces
Creating feeling of safety within high harm outdoor public spaces
by improving local environment.

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

146



How we will do it 

15

Partnership
 

Developing a Southend multi-agency Knife Crime Reduction  Action
Matrix (KCRAM), outlining and tracking the actions stakeholders take
to address knife crime across the City.

Intelligence led approach
 

Developing performance, tactical and strategic data intelligence products
using: ISTV, wider public health data, social media intelligence, local drug
market use, county line analysis, ASB and any other relevant data from
stakeholders relating to knife crime and serious violence;
Delivering the  the  new Serious Violence Duty by working in
collaboration with stakeholders to prevent and reduce serious violence,
via a violence strategy and needs assessment;
Use all available  resources and tools to target problematic areas, and
address high risk offenders, including using  a targeted approach to
tackle misuse of substance and alcohol;
Enforcing the Public Space Protection Order effectively.

Placing communities and young people at heart of change,  developing 
immediate and long term solutions, ensuring a multi-agency response to
those at risk of or involved in violence;
Ensuring that young people feel supported and motivated through the
provision of varied education,  training, and inclusive  employment
opportunities;
Providing alternative education provision that  seeks to reduce school
exclusions, create links with local arts and culture groups, and improve
signposting to diversionary activities;
Raising awareness of the various support and intervention services that
are available to those in need, in particular for individuals who have been
identified as being at risk of offending or re-offending, or those who may
be vulnerable to criminal exploitation (such as county lines);
Aligning and connecting workstreams pertaining to looked after children,
missing persons, children in need and public health/mental health plans
and campaigns;
Developing targeted community engagement programmes that will
include detached youth work and street-based sessions with an aim to
encourage people away from crime.

Young Persons
 

Communication
 Continuing to develop the 'See The Signs' Campaign to address the

awareness and disruption of gang activity.

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

Priority 4: Reducing Knife Enabled Serious Violence

147



How will we know we are on track?

16

Priority Four: Reducing Knife Enabled Serious Violence
 

Priority one: Safe and Confident Communities
 Discussion of theme and updates will occur at quarterly Southend

Community Safety Partnership Board Meetings and at 6 weekly Community
Action Group meetings;
The Community Operational Group (COG) will lead on effective monitoring
and scrutiny of ASB service delivery, working in partnership to resolve on-
going issues and report exceptions through to Community Action group and
Southend Community Safety Partnership;
Community Safety will attend Tactical Tasking coordination group every
fortnight to provide input and will chair Southend Tasking Action Group
(STAG) coordinating partnership approaches to on-going issues;
This theme will be added to the Southend Community Safety Partnership
performance framework.
Data will be monitored to identify trends, emerging themes and
effectiveness of initiatives;
Overall reduction in the high volume crimes and ASB.

Priority Two: Reducing Violence Against Women and Girls
 Discussion of theme and updates will occur at quarterly Southend

Community Safety Partnership Board Meetings and at quarterly Southend
Domestic Abuse Steering Group meetings;
The Southend Domestic Abuse Steering Group will lead on effective
monitoring and scrutiny of partner agencies in their service delivery, present
findings and report exceptions to Southend Community Safety Partnership.
Update the Southend Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment and Strategy.
This theme will be added to the Southend Community Safety Partnership
performance framework. Data will be monitored to identify trends, emerging
themes and effectiveness of initiatives.
Overall reduction in violence against women and girls

Priority Three: Reducing Hate Crime
 

Hate Crime Data Package will be used to monitor increase in reporting, and
data will be shared with partners through the Community Action Group (CAG)
and Independent Advisory Groups (IAG);
Discussion of theme and updates will occur at quarterly Southend Community
Safety Partnership Board Meetings and at 6 weekly Community Action Group
Meetings;
Referral data from Hate Crime Incident Reporting Centres, Victim Support and
Restorative Justice will be monitored;
This theme will be added to the Southend Community Safety Partnership
performance framework;
Data will be monitored to identify trends, emerging themes and effectiveness
of initiatives.;
Discussion of theme and updates will form part of Southend 2050 quarterly
Outcome Success Measure Report.;
Monitor Essex Police Victim Survey to satisfaction.

Discussion of theme and updates will occur at quarterly Southend Community
Safety Partnership Board Meetings;
This theme will be added to the Southend Community Safety Partnership
performance framework, and data will be monitored to identify trends,
emerging themes and effectiveness of initiatives;
Tracking partner outcomes once the matrix is produced;
Overall reduction in knife enabled serious violence

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

148



Supporting Strategies and Action
Plans
 

17

Strategies

Essex Fire & Rescue Prevention Strategy 2020-2024

Essex Police Crime Prevention Strategy 2021-2025

Essex Police VAWG Strategy & Delivery Plan 

Essex Strategic Hate Crime Prevention Partnership 
Strategy & Delivery Plan 2022-2025

Essex Violence & Vulnerability Partnership Priorities

Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2024

SET Domestic Abuse Strategy

SET Reducing Reoffending Strategy 2020-2024

Southend 2050

Southend Domestic Abuse Strategy

Southend Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2018-2028

Southend Street Prostitution Strategy 2022-2023

Youth Justice Strategic Plan Southend Youth Offending 
Service 

Priority 1 Priority 2 Priority 3 Priority 4

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

Helping to deliver this strategy

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

149



Southend Community Safety
Partnership Structure
 

18

The chart below sets out Southend CSP Structure and priority
groups

Southend Community Safety Partnership  Strategy 2022-2025

150



For more information contact:
Community Safety Unit
Southend-on-Sea City Council
Civic Centre, Victoria Avenue,
Southend-on-Sea SS2 6LR

This product was developed by Community Safety Unit, 2022 

151



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 
 

Report of Executive Director Neighbourhoods & 
Environment John Burr 

To 
Cabinet 

On 
13th September 2022 

Report prepared by: Joanne Stowell Director of Public 
Protection 

Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee – Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Ian Gilbert – Economic Recovery, Regeneration and 
Housing 

 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Martin Terry- Cabinet Member for Public Protection 

 
 

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item) 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To present the Council’s draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 

2022 (PRSHEP 22) for public consultation.  
 
1.2 The Council has legal duties to ensure that accommodation in the private rented 

sector meets minimum housing management, health and safety standards, and 
further to deal with landlords and letting agents that fail to meet those standards. 

 
1.3 In 2021, Neighbourhoods and Environment refreshed their overarching 

enforcement policy, and this is the parent policy that sets out the principles that 
Officers within Public Protection apply when undertaking regulation enforcement 
activities. However, given the range of enforcement options relating to the private 
rented housing sector, and the pressures within that area, a supplementary 
enforcement policy is warranted.  

 
1.4  With the above in mind, this draft PRSHEP 2022 provides: 
 

• A transparent rationale as to how Regulatory Services provides the service to 
different tenures (Appendix 1 section 3); 

• The circumstances it considers should a service be withdrawn (Appendix 1 
section 4); 

• The discretion that will be used when considering formal enforcement action 
against Category 2 Hazards pertaining to (amongst other issues) uncontrolled 
fire and smoke (Appendix 1 section 5.12 and 3.9 below); 

• The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 (‘the Electrical Safety Standards Regulations’) (Appendix 1 
Page 35); 

Agenda
Item No.

153

9



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

• A statement of principles, so that the penalties under the Smoke and Carbon 
Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015) can be applied. (Appendix 1 
page 36). 

 
2. Recommendations 
 

That Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Agree that the draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 

2022 attached to this report (Appendix 1), be approved for 6-week public 
consultation (14th September to 27th October 22). 

 
2.2  Agree that delegated authority be given to the Executive Director of 

Neighbourhoods and Environment, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Members for Economic Recovery, Regeneration and Housing and Public 
Protection to make amendments to the Policy, following the consultation 
should it be required.  

 
2.3  Agree that the finalised Enforcement Policy (post consultation) be 

presented to Cabinet in November 2022. 
 
3. Background 

 
3.1 Southend-on-Sea City Council (‘The Council’) is responsible for enforcing a wide 

range of statutory provisions relating to private sector housing and environmental 
conditions affecting health, wellbeing, and safety, these include:  

 
 • Reducing the number of properties with serious risks to health and safety;  
 • Improving energy efficiency, warmth of homes and help reduce fuel poverty;  
 • Improving standards in Private Sector (PS) and Private Rented Sector (PRS) 

accommodation;  
 • Improving the standards in HMOs (houses in multiple occupation). 
 
3.2 The Private Rented Sector (PRS) in Southend, is growing steadily and plays an 

important part in the housing provision within the Council. This sector often 
accommodates the most vulnerable of our residents, and whilst it is recognised 
that the majority of this housing is in good condition and well managed, there are 
landlords who allow their properties to fall below acceptable standards, and it is 
within this sector that the majority of enforcement takes place. 

 
3.3 The draft PRSHEP 22 is specific to the investigation of housing conditions and 

enforcement action taken by Regulatory Services for this sector.  Notwithstanding 
this, it is intended to be read in conjunction with the overarching Enforcement 
Policy 2021 (EP 2021), that was developed with regard to the Regulators’ 
Compliance Code (RCC). The RCC requires a risk-based approach and 
proportionality to regulatory enforcement, together with relevant policy and 
guidance, and these principles also apply within this Policy. As such, the initial 
approach will still be to secure and encourage compliance through assistance 
education where possible and appropriate. 

 
3.4 The purpose of the draft PRSHEP 22 is set out in para 1.4 above. 
 

154



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

 
 
 Service Offer to Tenure Groups  
 
3.5  The enforcement of housing legislation is tenure neutral, however, the Council 

considers that owner-occupiers are usually in a position to take informed 
decisions concerning maintenance and improvement issues that might affect their 
welfare and are then able to set their financial priorities accordingly; tenants 
however, are not always able to do so.  For this reason, the Council proposes 
that it is appropriate for its powers to be used according to tenure, as clearly set 
out in the draft PRSEP 22 (Appendix 1 Section 3).  

 
3.6 In brief, save for exceptional circumstances that pertain to the vulnerability of the 

occupier/tenant, or imminent life and limb issues, the following enforcement 
response will be applied to the following tenure groups:  

 
• Owner Occupiers: The Council will not generally take enforcement against 

this tenure (Appendix 1 section 3.2);  
• Private Tenants: Enforcement for this tenure group will only commence once 

tenants have notified their landlords of the problem, and given them an 
opportunity to rectify the problem, in accordance with legislation (Appendix 1 
section 3.3);  

• Registered Social Landlords (“RSL”): This service will not normally take action 
against an RSL, unless the problem in question has been properly reported 
to the RSL, and they have failed to take the appropriate action and the tenant 
has been to the Housing Ombudsman without a satisfactory result (Appendix 
1 Section 3.4); 

• Leaseholders: Other than in exceptional cases (on a case-by-case basis), the 
Council expects long leaseholders to invoke the terms of their lease to remedy 
problems of disrepair or nuisance themselves.  

 
Situations Where the Service May Not be Provided  
 

3.7 There may be occasions where an investigating officer cannot substantiate the 
complaint. When this arises, the person who has raised the issue will be informed 
that Council will not take any further action.  
 

3.8 There are other circumstances that may result in the cessation of an investigation, 
or the withdrawal of service, these are listed in Appendix 1 section 4 and include 
(but are not limited to) situations where there is evidence to show:  

 
• The landlord of the property has initiated legitimate eviction proceedings 

where there has been a breach of tenancy agreement; 
• The tenant(s) unreasonably refuse access to the landlord, managing agent or 

landlord’s builder, for works to be carried out; 
• The tenant(s) have, in the opinion of the Council, clearly caused the damage 

to the property they are complaining about, and there are no other items of 
disrepair; 

• A tenant does not want their present accommodation to be brought up to 
standard, and the only reason for contacting Regulatory Services is to secure 
rehousing;  

155



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

• The tenant(s) have been aggressive, threatening, verbally or physically 
abusive or shown racist behaviour towards officers, or has made spurious 
and/or unsubstantiated allegations ; 

• The tenant(s) make repetitive complaints and allegations which disregards the 
responses the Council has supplied in previous correspondence to the 
complainant or their representative(s)  

 
 HOUSING, HEALTH AND SAFETY RATING SYSTEM (HHSRS)  
 
3.9 HHSRS is set out in Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 , and the Council will base 

enforcement decisions in respect of residential premises on assessments made 
under that system. It is a risk-based approach consisting of 29 hazards.  In 
undertaking an inspection of a dwelling, an Environmental Health Officer (or other 
suitably qualified Officer), undertakes an assessment of the potential risks to 
health and safety from any deficiencies identified in a dwelling. The officer will 
then determine whether any enforcement action is required depending upon the 
severity of the hazard, or whether there is a duty or discretion to act.  

 
3.10 In the case of hazards determined under the HHSRS, the Council has a statutory 

duty to act in the case of Category 1 hazards, and a power to act in the case of 
Category 2 hazards (Appendix 1 Section 5).  

 
3.11 This draft PRSHEP 22 proposes that the Council will exercise its power to deal 

with Category 2 hazards formally for those hazards that it considers to be 
significant. Whilst it is not possible to be prescriptive, factors that may be 
considered to assist in the determination of which hazards are deemed to be 
significant include one or more of the following:  

 
• Whether the hazard pertains to threats from uncontrolled fire (and smoke);  
• Whether there are multiple hazards within the property;  
• Whether there is a vulnerable individual or group in occupation or likely to be 

in occupation; 
• Whether or not it is reasonable to assume the conditions are likely to 

deteriorate in the next 12 months. 
 
 Civil Penalties Under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
 
3.12 The Government announced the introduction of civil penalties (under the Housing 

and Planning Act 2016) for certain housing offences with a press release entitled: 
“Tougher measures to target rogue landlords – New rules will help crackdown on 
rogue landlords that flout the rules and improve safety and affordability for 
renters”. The aim is for more enforcement action to be taken against the small 
minority of landlords and letting agents who neglect their responsibilities and do 
not comply with the legislation.  

 
3.13 These new powers were introduced to help local authorities take more 

enforcement action against rogue landlords; the civil penalties can be applied as 
an alternative to prosecution for certain housing offences, and these give the 
option to impose a penalty of up to £30,000 depending on the offence.  

 
3.14  Local authorities are entitled to retain any monies collected, provided they are 

used to fund private sector housing enforcement functions. However, before any 

156



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

financial penalties can be issued, statutory guidance requires the Council to 
develop and document a policy which sets out when it should prosecute and when 
it should impose a financial penalty, and the level of financial penalty it should 
impose in each case.  

 
3.15 In order that the Council can impose these penalties, it is necessary to publish 

the decision-making process in determining them. The Civil Penalties Policy for 
Housing Enforcement was adopted by Cabinet in February 2022, and this set out 
how financial penalties would be imposed under the Housing Act 2004 and the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016. However, the contents of this policy have now 
been incorporated within the PRSHEP 22, so as to have all enforcement 
elements contained in one policy document. (See Appendix 1 page 26).  
However, as this element has already been adopted, it will be made clear that 
this particular element will not be reconsulted on. 

 
 The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 

Regulations 2020  
 
3.16 The Electrical Safety Standards Regulations 2020 made under the Housing and 

Planning Act 2016 requires electrical installations to be safe and periodically 
inspected. The Council can impose a financial penalty of up to £30,000 for failing 
to do so. This Policy will be used to determine the financial penalty. 
 

3.17 As mentioned in para 3.15 above, it is necessary to publish the decision-making 
process in determining this type of penalty, and the Council published the Civil 
Penalties policy in February 22. (See Appendix 1 page 35) 

 
 Statement of Principles Under the Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 

Regulations 2015 
 
3.18 The Council is required under the Smoke & Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 

Regulations 2015 to prepare and publish a statement of principles which it 
proposes to follow when deciding on the penalty charge amount for failing to 
comply with a remedial notice served under these regulations. 

 
3,19 This statement sets out the principles that the Council will apply in exercising 

powers to impose a financial penalty for failing to meet certain legislative 
requirements. The Council will impose a penalty charge where it is satisfied, on 
the balance of probabilities, that the landlord has not complied with the action 
specified in a remedial notice within the required timescale. (Appendix 1 page 36) 

 
4. Other Options  
 
4.1 Option 1 – To adopt the Policy in part rather than in full. The Policy is written in 

such a way that it targets the Council’s resources to the areas of greatest demand 
whilst ensuring that statutory responsibilities are still met with respect to other 
tenure groups. In addition, it clearly sets out how the Council will exercise its 
power to deal with significant Category 2 hazards, which includes threats from 
uncontrolled fire (and smoke), which seeks to protect tenants. 

 

157



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

4.2  There is a risk that part adoption of the Policy will dilute the full effects and have 
an impact on Regulatory Service’s ability to deliver, and ultimately protect those 
in greatest need. 

 
4.3 Option 2 – To reject the Policy and fail to adopt it.  
 
4.4 The risks are as above in para 4.3, with the addition of not providing a transparent 

and informative approach on enforcement.  
 
5. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
5.1 To ensure that all landlords and managing agents renting out 

accommodation in the private rented sector are dealt with in a fair, 
transparent and consistent manner. 

 
5.2 To target the Council’s resources to the areas of greatest demand whilst 

ensuring that statutory responsibilities are still met with respect to other 
tenure groups.  

 
5.3 To strengthen the enforcement response by formally enforcing against 

substantial Category 2 hazards. 
 
5.4 To set out how the Council intends to apply penalties under the Electrical 

Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020  
 
5.4  To publish a statement of principle, so as to apply the financial penalties 

under the Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 
 
6. Corporate Implications 
 
6.1 Southend 2050 is the City’s shared ambition for the future, it includes six themes,  
  each with associated outcomes, the themes are: 
 

1. Pride and Joy 
2. Safe and Well 
3. Active and Involved 
4. Opportunity and Prosperity 
5. Connected and Smart and 
6. Future Ways of Working 

 
6.2 The PRSHEP 22 seeks to deliver outcomes that impact positively on our residents 

who live within the sector, through improvements in housing conditions, which in 
turn impact positively on health and wellbeing, as well as the amenity as a whole.  
As such, the Policy assists the Council in achieving the corporate vision set out in 
Southend 2050 and makes a particular specific contribution to themes 1 and 2. 
 

6.3 Additionally, a by-product of achieving the above aims, is that the prosperity of the 
city is improved (details of this is provided in paras 6.24-6.27). 

 
 

 
6.4 Financial Implications  

158



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

 
6.5 It is not envisaged that the current level of enforcement activity is likely to increase 

because of the creation of this Policy. The existing staff within Regulatory 
Services will be responsible for applying the Policy in the course of their day-to-
day work. and therefore, no additional costs are anticipated.  

 
6.6 The introduction of Civil Penalty Notices will generate a means of recovering the 

Council’s costs regarding this work stream as well as a deterrent for rogue 
landlords. Therefore, although potential penalties for non-compliance are 
significant, service managers anticipate that landlords are unlikely to remain non-
compliant and this is not anticipated to result in a significant new source of 
revenue income. Any penalties that are levied would be retained by the Council 
and this activity will be kept under review as part of the budget monitoring process 

 
6.7 Legal Implications 
 
6.8 The PRSHEP 22 is intended to support the enforcement activities of the 

Regulatory Services Team. 
 
6.9 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015  also 

provide the ability for Officers to serve a notice should the required duties within 
these Regulations be contravened.  

 
6.10 The draft PRSHEP 22 will be subject to public consultation and officers and 

members will carefully consider representations made. 
 
6.10 People Implications  
 
6.11 This paper’s recommended approach has no specific People implications. 
 
6.12 Property Implications 
 
6.13  This paper’s recommended approach has no specific Property implications. 
 
6.14 Consultation 
 
6.15 As required by the Regulators’ Code, Regulators should have mechanisms in 

place to consult those they regulate in relation to the guidance they produce, as 
such; it is proposed that a public consultation exercise be undertaken through 
publishing the draft PRSHEP 22 and associated appendices on the Council’s 
website and inviting comments.  

 
6.16 Details of any representations and the result of the consultation will be considered 

within the final policy. 
 
6.17 The proposed timetable for consultation is below: 
 

Public Consultation September 14th to 27th October 22  
Considered by Cabinet 8th November 22 

 
6.18 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 

159



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

6.19 The Council wants to ensure that it provides services and strategies which 
address the needs of all members of the community. As such, the Council 
conducts Equality Impact Assessments as strategies, policies and services are 
developed to:  

 
• Consider issues relating to age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, race, 

religion & belief and sexual orientation; 
• Obtain a clearer understanding of how distinct groups may be affected;  
• Identify changes which may need to be built into an initiative as it is developed;  
• Comply with legislative requirements & identify good practice.  

 
6.20 By working on the four priority areas identified, there will not be unlawful 

discrimination or contradictions under the European Convention of Human 
Rights; moreover, the overall impact of the Policy is to improve the housing 
standard for residents within this sector. Properties are inspected against 
statutory requirements and in conjunction with enforcement standards to ensure 
equal and fair treatment for all. There is no evidence to suggest that the Policy 
would have a negative impact on any vulnerable group. 

 
6.21 Risk Assessment 
 
6.22  A lack of enforcement is damaging to the reputation of the Council, and risks 

giving the perception that it is acceptable to rent substandard and unsafe 
accommodation, moreover, failure to deal with management, health and safety 
breaches in the private rented sector could leave the council exposed to legal 
action. 

 
6.23 In addition to the above, there is a risk of legal challenge if the processes within 

the proposed Policy are not followed correctly, which could result in First Tier 
Property Tribunals overturning notices and penalty fines. These legal, 
reputational and financial risks will be mitigated through officers receiving training 
and updates and working closely with the legal services team.  

 
6.24 Value for Money 

6.25 Improvements in housing conditions supports the wider determinants of health, 
which in turn affords psychological and fiscal benefits to tenants, health services, 
society and the economy.  

6.26  The infographic in figure 1 below, demonstrates the Return on Investment (ROI) 
achieved from investment in housing quality, and unsuitable homes. 

Figure 1 Return on Investment 

 

160



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

 

6.27 In addition to the ROI realised in partner services, the structural (internally or 
externally) improvements achieved from the service on Enforcement Notices, has 
the potential to boost the local economy, through the primary use of local 
contractors and traders. Moreover, reinvestment by the landlord into their asset, 
will likely lead to an increase of its inherent value, and further improves the amenity 
of an area. 

6.28 Community Safety Implications 
 
6.29 Offences covered by this Policy include criminal offences and the investigation 

and enforcement of legislation. This Policy will assist with reducing crime and 
disorder. 

 
6.30 Environmental Impact 
 
6.31 Whilst the Electrical Safety Standards Regulations are primarily focused on the 

electrical safety of rented properties, the energy efficiency is likely to be indirectly 
improved if the electrical installations are modern and effectively optimised from 
a safety perspective. It is, therefore, reasonable to conclude that where 
enforcement powers are used to ensure compliance with the Electrical Safety 
Standards Regulations, there will be a positive climate outcome, particularly in 
relation to fuel consumption. There is a strong likelihood of significant 
improvements for tenants on low incomes, with associated co-benefits such as 
improved physical health and mental wellbeing. Having said this, it is 
acknowledged that enforcement of the Electrical Safety Standards Regulations 
will not generate any potential opportunities for carbon offsetting or specific 
measures to improve resilience to climate related extreme weather events. 

 
7. Background Papers 
 

The Civil Penalties Policy for Housing Enforcement was adopted by Cabinet in 
February 2022 
Environment and Regulatory Enforcement Policy 2021 (ERP 2021.) 
 

161



Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  Report Number 

 

 
8. Appendices  

 
8.1 Appendix 1 Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

162



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Issued Date:   Review Date:  

163



 

 

Page 2 of 39

 
 
 

Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 
 
 

Table of Contents 
Section  Page no 
1 Introduction 2 
2 Purpose and Scope 4 
3 Tenure Groups 5 
4 Reporting Poor Housing Conditions 7 
4 Situations where a Service May Not Be Provided 8 

5 Enforcement Responsibilities and Options 9 

5 Housing, Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 8 

5 Legislation, Action and Powers 10 
5 Enforcement Considerations 13 
5 Powers of Entry 14 
6 Charges for Notices 15 
6 Civil Penalties 16 
7 Options Regarding Licensing of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation (HMO) 
18 

7 HMO Licensing 19 
8 Selective Licensing 19 

9 Related policies and Supporting 
Documents 

20 

10 Complaints 21 
Appendices Appendix 1 Demolition Orders and Clearance Areas 22 

 Appendix 2 Charges For Notices 24 
 Appendix 3 Civil Penalties Policy under the Housing Act 

2004 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
26 

 Appendix 4 Penalties under the Electrical Safety 
Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 (‘the Electrical Safety Standards 
Regulations. 

35 

164



 

 

Page 3 of 39

 Appendix 5 Statement of Principles for the determining of 
financial penalties – The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide 
Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 

36 

 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 Southend-on-Sea City Council (‘The Council’) is responsible for enforcing a wide range 

of statutory provisions relating to private sector housing and environmental conditions 

affecting health, wellbeing, and safety, these include: 

 

• reducing the number of properties with serious risks to health and safety. 

• improving energy efficiency, warmth of homes and help reduce fuel poverty. 

• improving standards in private rented sector (PRS) accommodation. 

• improving the standards in HMOs (houses in multiple occupation). 

• Improving the standards of rented properties within the designated selective 

licensing area. 

 

1.2 This draft policy is specific to the investigation of housing conditions and enforcement 

action taken by Regulatory Services; but is intended to be read in conjunction with the 

overarching Environment and Regulatory Enforcement Policy 2021 (ERP 2021). The 

policy cannot be absolutely prescriptive because the circumstances of each individual 

case and the evidence available must be taken into account. However, this policy should 

leave most readers in little doubt as to what they can expect by way of enforcement. 

 

1.3 In determining this draft policy, stakeholders have been consulted and current 

government guidance and relevant codes of practices have also been considered. In 

particular the requirements of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 (the 

“2006 Act”), the Enforcement Sanctions Act 2008 and the Regulators’ Code (2014) 

made under that Act have been taken into account. In doing so, this draft policy seeks 

to ensure that the application of any enforcement is founded around the principles of: 

 

• Raising awareness; 

• Proportionality and accountability; 

• Consistency in approach; 

• Transparency and 

• Targeted. 

 

165



 

 

Page 4 of 39

1.4 The methodology and reasoning behind investigations, information requirements, 

Cautions, Prosecutions, Evidential Test, and the Public Interest Test are the same as 

stated within the ERP 2021. 

 

2.0 Purpose and Scope 
 

2.1 This draft policy contributes to the Council’s 2050 Safe and Well key priority of ensuring that 

everyone has a home that meets their needs. 

 

2.2 The Council will utilise a range of delegated powers to deal with statutory nuisance 

from property, hazards and amenity standards in the home which affect the health, 

safety, comfort and convenience of occupiers, visitors, and the public. 

 

2.3 The purpose of this draft policy is to outline the areas of legislation used and to set out 

the Council’s policy where the legislation permits discretion. It sets out the:  

• investigative pathway associated with different tenures (section 3); 

• how the team will respond to service requests in relation to enforcing housing 

standards, and the situations where a service may not be provided (Section 

4); 

• the enforcement actions that will be considered to secure housing 

improvements (Section 5); 

• the range of proactive and statutory actions to improve housing standards that 

are available (Section 6); 

• The Charges for Notices, and the use of Civil Penalties (Section 7); 

• The complaints process (Section 9). 

 

2.4 The extent of enforcement will be related to the risk posed by the condition or situation 

and the likely benefits achieved by compliance. In accordance with requirements, a policy 

and statement of intent on how Civil Penalties and smoke and carbon monoxide alarm 

requirements will be applied are set out in Appendix 3 (Civil Penalties Policy under the 

Housing Act 2004 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016), Appendix 4 (The Electrical 

Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020) and Appendix 

5 (Statement of Principles for the determining of financial penalties – The Smoke and 

Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015) respectively. The Civil Policy 2022 
(Appendix 3) has already been adopted by the Council in February 2022, as such, 
the details within this appendix do not form part of the consultation of the draft 
policy. 

 

166



 

 

Page 5 of 39

3. Tenure Groups 
 

3.1 The Council has investigative and enforcement powers relating to all housing tenure. 

All enforcement options are available to the Council regardless of whether the premises 

in question are owner-occupied, privately rented or belong to a Registered Social 

Landlord (RSL).  South Essex Homes (SEH) is not subject to enforcement by the 

Council as it is an Arm’s Length Management Organisation of the Council.  Complaints 

regarding SEH properties are subject to a separate complaints process.   

 

3.2 Generally, the Council considers that owner-occupiers are usually in a position to take 

informed decisions concerning maintenance and improvement issues that might affect 

their welfare and are then able to set their financial priorities accordingly; tenants 

however, are not always able to do so. For this reason, the Council proposes that it is 

appropriate for its use of powers to be prioritised according to tenure, as follows: 

 

3.3 Owner Occupiers 
 

As owner occupiers are ordinarily able to make informed decisions about maintenance 

or safety issues in their homes, formal enforcement action against this tenure group is 

ordinarily limited, however, there may be exceptions including: 

 

• Vulnerable individuals who require the intervention of the Council to ensure their 

welfare is best protected. 

• Hazards that might reasonably affect persons other than the occupants. 

• Serious risk of life-threatening harm such as electrocution or fire. 

 

Unless an identified hazard is judged to pose an imminent risk of serious harm, the 

Council will contact the owner to confirm its involvement, explain the nature of the 

hazard and confirm the action it is intending to take. The Council will take account of 

any proposals or representations made by, or on behalf of the owner. The Council will 

solicit and take account of the opinion of the relevant Welfare Authority in considering 

both the vulnerability and capability of such persons as well as in determining what 

action it will then take. 

 

 

3.4 Private Tenants 
 

Legislation covering landlord and tenant issues requires that tenants notify their 

167



 

 

Page 6 of 39

landlords of any problems with the property. This reasonably affords landlords an 

opportunity to carry out their obligations under the legislation. Where the matter 

appears to present an imminent risk to the health and safety of the occupants, it is 

expected that tenants will continue to try to contact their landlord, even if this is after they 

have contacted the Private Sector Housing Team. Copies of correspondence between 

the landlord and tenant should be provided for Officers. In certain situations, tenants 

will not be required to write to their landlord first, for example: 

 

• where the matter appears to present an imminent risk to the health and 

safety of the occupants. 

• Where there is a demonstrable history of harassment/threatened eviction/poor 

management practice. 

• where the tenant could not for some other reason be expected to contact their 

landlord/managing agent. 

 

For private tenants who rent through a Lettings Agency or Property Management 

company, there is a requirement for those agencies to belong to a Government 

approved redress scheme in accordance with the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform 

Act 2013. These tenants therefore have the right to complain to an independent person 

about the service they receive which should assist in settling disputes. 

 

3.5 Registered Social Landlords (“RSL”) 
 

These are usually housing associations, being a private, non-profit making organisation 

that provides low cost “social housing” for people in need. Their performance is 

scrutinised by the Regulator for Social Housing and the Housing Ombudsman. RSL’s 

have written arrangements for reporting problems and clear response times for 

addressing these issues, in addition to having systems for registering any complaints 

about service failure. This service will not normally take action against an RSL, unless 

the problem in question has been properly reported to the RSL, they have failed to take 

the appropriate action and the tenant has been to the Housing Ombudsman without a 

satisfactory result. The Council will consider enforcement action against an RSL where 

there are significant risks to the health and safety of tenants and/or the wider public. 

 

 

 

3.6 Leaseholders 
 

168



 

 

Page 7 of 39

Other than in exceptional cases (on a case-by-case basis), the Council expects long 

leaseholders to invoke the terms of their lease to remedy problems of disrepair or 

nuisance themselves. Leaseholders may be able to get advice about how to settle a 

dispute about repair problems from the: 

 

Leasehold Advisory Service – 

31 Worship Street, London 

E2CA 2DX, Telephone 020 

7374 5380 info@lease-

advice.org.uk 

 

Leaseholders may need to consult a solicitor specialising in leasehold law. 

 

3.7 Caravan Sites 
 

The use of land as a caravan site usually requires a caravan site licence under the 

Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 and the Council may impose site 

licence conditions. The Council can take enforcement action should a site be operating 

without a licence or where site licence conditions are not being met. 

 

4. Reporting Poor Housing Conditions 

 
4.1 The online reporting form can be used to report housing complaints through the 

MySouthend portal  https://ww.w.southend.gov.uk  

 

 

You can also contact Southend City Council , by telephone on 01702 215000, by email 

to privatesectorhousing@southend.gov.uk or by letter to the following address: 

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 

Civic Centre 

Victoria Avenue 

Southend-on-Sea 

Essex SS2 6ER 

 

When reporting an issue, it is useful for the Council to have as much information as 

possible, such as: 

 

169

mailto:info@lease-advice.org.uk
mailto:info@lease-advice.org.uk
https://ww.w.southend.gov.uk/
mailto:privatesectorhousing@southend.gov.uk


 

 

Page 8 of 39

• Description and photographs of the disrepair issue and affected room. 

• How long the item of disrepair has been present. 

• When the responsible party (i.e. landlord or management agent) for the 

property was notified of the problem, and copies of the correspondence. 

• Following notification, the response (if any) from the responsible party. 

• Address of property concerned. 

• Name/address/telephone number of owner/landlord/managing agent 

• Name/address/telephone number of complainants. 

• If rented when they started tenancy & type of tenancy agreement held. 

 

Unless there is an imminent risk or danger, anonymous complaints will not be 

investigated; on receipt of the above the Council will contact the person responsible, 

allowing them 14 days to make representations and providing them an opportunity to 

carry out the works. 

 

4.2 Situations Where a Service May Not be Provided 
 

There may be occasions where an investigating officer cannot substantiate the 

complaint. When this arises, the person who has raised the issue will be informed that 

Council will not take any further action. 

 

There are other circumstances that may result in the cessation of an investigation, or 

the withdrawal of service, these include (but are not limited to): 

 

• the complaint has been withdrawn and does not warrant further investigation. 

• the tenant(s) are, shortly to move out of the property by their own choice. 

• the complaint relates to minor disrepair only. 

• the landlord of the property has initiated eviction proceedings where there has 

been a breach of tenancy agreement. 

• the tenant(s) unreasonably refuse access to the landlord, managing agent 

 or landlord’s builder, for works to be carried out. 

•  the tenant(s) have, in the opinion of the Council, clearly caused the damage to 

the property they are complaining about, and there are no other items of 

disrepair. 

• a tenant does not want their present accommodation to be brought up to 

standard, and the only reason for contacting the Private Sector Housing 

Enforcement Team is to secure rehousing. 

170



 

 

Page 9 of 39

• the tenant(s) has failed to follow the appropriate process. 

•  the tenant(s) have failed to keep an appointment and not responded to a follow 

up letter or appointment card. 

• the tenant(s) unreasonably refuses to provide the Council with relevant 

documentation, e.g. a tenancy agreement or notice seeking possession. 

• the Complainant has continually submitted additional complaints related in 

whole or in part to an initial complaint already submitted and under investigation 

or which has been fully investigated and the Council’s duty discharged. 

• the tenant(s) have been aggressive, threatening, verbally or physically abusive 

or shown racist behaviour towards officers, or has made spurious and/or 

unsubstantiated allegations. 

• make repetitive complaints and allegations which disregards the responses the 

Council has supplied in previous correspondence to the complainant or their 

representative(s). 

 

5. Enforcement Responsibilities and Options 
 

5.1 In circumstances where enforcement responsibility is shared between or rests fully with 

external organisations, officers will have regard to protocols agreed with other 

enforcement agencies. Where appropriate, officers will ensure that referrals are passed 

to the appropriate enforcing authority promptly and in accordance with any agreed 

procedure. 
 

5.2 The Council will minimise the costs of compliance for residents and landlords by 

ensuring that any action required is proportionate to the risks involved or seriousness 

of any breach. As far as the law allows, the circumstances of the case and the attitude 

of the owner or agent will be considered when determining what action to take. Regard 

to various courses of remedial action and consideration will be given to what is 

‘reasonably practicable’. 
 

5.3 Housing, Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 
 

5.4 HHSRS is set out in Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 (the Act), and the Council will base 

enforcement decisions in respect of residential premises on assessments made under 

that system. It is a risk-based approach consisting of 29 hazards. In undertaking an 

inspection of a dwelling, an Environmental Health Officer (or other suitably qualified 

Officer), will undertake an assessment of the potential risks to health and safety from 

any deficiencies identified in a dwelling. The officer will then determine whether any 

171



 

 

Page 10 of 39

enforcement action is required depending upon the severity of the hazard, or whether 

there is a duty or discretion to act. 

 

5.5 Where a Category 1 hazard exists, The Council has a duty to act, however, with regards 

to Category 2 hazards, the power to act is discretionary, and there is an option to take 

informal action with a landlord where there is a low risk to health and safety and where 

there is no history of non-compliance from the landlord. 

 

5.6 Action by the Council will be based on a three-stage consideration: 

 

• The hazard rating determined under HHSRS; 

• Whether the authority has a duty or power to act, determined by the presence 

of a hazard above or below a threshold prescribed by Regulations (Category 1 

and Category 2 hazards); and 

• The authority’s judgement as to the most appropriate course of action to deal 

with the hazard. 

 

5.7 The Act contains enforcement options, and the choice of the most appropriate course 

of action is decided having regard to statutory enforcement guidance. 

 

5.8 Legislation, Action and Powers 
 

5.9 In addition to HHSRS, there are other legislation and regulations under which the 

team’s responsibilities as a Housing Authority will be considered, these include (but are 

not limited to): 

 

• The Public Health Act 1936 and 1961; 

• The Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949; 

• Caravan Sites Act 1968 (as amended by the Mobile Homes Act 2013); 

• The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and 1982; 

• Protection from Eviction Act 1977; 

• The Building Act 1984; 

• The Housing Act 1985; 

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990; 

• The Housing Act 2004; 

• The Regulatory Reform Order 2005; 

• The Management of HMOs (England) Regulations 2006 and 2007; 

172



 

 

Page 11 of 39

• Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013; 

• Deregulation Act 2015; 

• The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England & Wales) 

Regulation 2015; 

• Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015; 

• The Housing and Planning Act 2016; 

• The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 

Regulations 2020. 

 

5.10 Authorised officers can inspect and survey the entire premises, take samples, and use 

equipment to take measurements and photographs where appropriate. 

 

There are several actions officers may take and these will depend on the circumstances 

of the case: 

 

• Take no action – Where premises are found to be satisfactory. 

• Take informal action – Informal action will be taken where insignificant 

Category 2 hazards are found and recommendations are being made. 

• Take formal enforcement action – This action will normally be the first course 

of action following the inspection where a Category 1 hazard, or where a 

significant category 2 hazard is identified. 

 

Where an officer identifies an imminent risk of serious harm the officer will make every 

effort to contact the owner to give them the opportunity to remedy the situation within 

a short timescale. 

 

5.11 Informal Action 
 

This may include: 

 

• Offering advice. 

• Making recommendations verbally or by letter. 

• Making written requests for action. These will include letter, schedule or a pro- 

forma requesting timescales for the start and completion of any works. 

• Discussing options with owners. 

 

5.12 Formal Action 

173



 

 

Page 12 of 39

 
In the case of hazards determined under the HHSRS the Council has a statutory duty to 

act in the case of Category 1 hazards and a power to act in the case of Category 2 

hazards. 

 

The Council will exercise its power to deal with Category 2 hazards formally for those 

hazards that it considers to be significant. Whilst it is not possible to be prescriptive in 

describing all hazards which the Council would deem to be 

significant, factors that may be considered to assist in the determination of which 

hazards are deemed to be significant include one or more of the following: 

 

• Whether the hazard pertains to threats from uncontrolled fire (and smoke). 

• Whether there are multiple hazards within the property. 

• Whether there is a vulnerable individual or group in occupation or likely to be 

in occupation. 

• Whether or not it is reasonable to assume the conditions are likely to deteriorate 

in the next 12 months. 

 

Informal action is still an option to the Council where the Category 2 hazard is deemed to 

be insignificant by the Officer. 

 

5.13 In relation to the above enforcement options for hazards, the following 
enforcement notices will be considered, depending on the severity and or number 
of the hazards identified: 

 

• Serve a Hazard Awareness Notice. 

• Serve an Improvement Notice requiring remedial works. 

• Make a Prohibition Order, which closes the whole or part of a dwelling or 

restricts the number or class of permitted occupants or restricts its use. 

• Serve an Emergency Prohibition Order; * 

• Suspend any of the above, until a date or time specified. 

• Take Emergency Remedial Action; * 

• Make a Demolition Order; ** 

• Declare a Clearance Area** 

 

* Only in respect of Category 1 hazards 

**Circumstances for these Notices are stated in Appendix 1 (Demolition Orders 

174



 

 

Page 13 of 39

and Clearance Areas) 

 

5.14 In addition to the above, alternative or additional Notices may be considered under the 

legislation listed in 5.9 depending on the circumstances. This includes all legislation that 

pertains to gathering information as part of a PSH enforcement investigation, these 

include (but are not limited to) 

 

• Section 16 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 

(Requisition for Information Notice); 

• Section 235 Housing Act 2004 - (Requisition for Documents Notice). 

 

Failure to respond to either of the above notices within the specified time frame is an 

offence and may lead to prosecution. These notices do not register as a Land Charge 

and are not included on the Council’s Enforcement Register. 

 

5.15 Enforcement Considerations 
 

5.16 In determining which of the above courses of action to take, the Council may take the 

following factors into consideration: 

• The current occupiers, if any, and their views as to what should happen. 

• Likely regular visitors and any vulnerabilities. 

• The turnover of tenancies. 

• The risk of excluding vulnerable groups of people from the private rented sector. 

• The size, type, and location of the property. 

• The sustainability of an area – if it has been identified for potential demolition 

within an Area Action Plan. 

• The views of the owner(s). 

• In the case of demolition or clearance, the views of residents, businesses and 

Councillors will also be considered. 

 

5.17 In the event that a Notice is Suspended, these will be reviewed at least annually, and The 

Council will consider requests to vary or revoke an improvement notice or a prohibition 

order. In doing so they will have consideration to some or all of the following factors: 

 

• The views of the Fire Authority, where appropriate. 

• The risk presented by the hazard and the potential effect of any variation. 

• The level of confidence in the recipient to respond and their history 

175



 

 

Page 14 of 39

of compliance or otherwise. 

• The progress made with any other work specified in the Notice or Order. 

• The costs of any works in relation to the benefit to be derived from them. 

• Any additional unforeseen works which become apparent during the course of 

remedial works. 

 

If the Council considers that there are special circumstances in relation to a Prohibition 

Order or an Improvement Notice, it may revoke the order or notice. 

 

5.18 Entering A Property and Powers of Entry 
 

5.19 Where practicable, landlords and/or agents will be given 24 hours’ notice of the Council’s 

intention to carry out an inspection of the property as per the requirements of section 

239 Housing Act 2004. 

 

5.20 If the landlord/agent or representative wishes to attend the inspection, they must also 

provide the tenant with the necessary notice. After the inspection, whilst onsite, the 

Council will discuss the findings of the inspection and the possible options to reduce or 

remove the hazards, if requested to do so by the landlord/agent or representative and 

it is practicable to do so. This is only available when the landlord/agent or representative 

attends the property for the inspection. The Council will rate the hazards using the 

HHSRS and serve any relevant notices as soon as is practicable. It should be noted, 

however, that any works discussed with the landlord/agent or their representative will 

be before the deficiencies have been scored using the HHSRS and this could impact 

upon the assessment. 

 

5.21 In the case of a HMO, an authorised officer has a right of entry at any reasonable time, 

and without giving any prior notice  

 

5.22 There may be times where Officers need to enter a premises without notification to the 

owner or occupier, in these cases, a warrant will be sought under the appropriate Act 

being used, this can include powers of entry under: 

 

• The Housing Act 2004 section 239; 

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 – Schedule 3, para. 2; 

• Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 – Section 22; 

• The Public Health Act 1936 – Section 287; 

• The Building Act 1984 – Section 95, and 

176



 

 

Page 15 of 39

• The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 – Section 97. 

 

5.23 The power of entry is to enter the land or premises at any reasonable hour for the 

purpose of carrying out an inspection and/or investigation either required by the 

legislation or in order to ascertain if any part of the relevant legislation should apply. When 

using a power of entry, the associated advanced notice as required by the various Acts 

will be provided to the owner/landlord/responsible party. 

 

5.24 If officers are refused entry, the Council has the right to apply to the Magistrates Court 

for a warrant to enter the land/property. This course of action will only be taken in cases 

where it is considered both necessary and proportionate to the matter under 

investigation. Any person who willfully obstructs an authorised officer acting in exercise 

of a right of entry commits an offence and may be liable on summary conviction to a fine, 

the level of which is specified by the respective legislation: 

 

6.0 Charges for Notices and Financial and Civil Penalties 
 

6.1 Charges for Notices 
6.2 Enforcement means an action carried out in exercise of or against the background of 

enforcement powers. This is not limited to formal enforcement action such as 

prosecution, service of legal notices, and application for a rent repayment order or the 

issue of civil penalty notices. It includes inspections or investigations related to property 

or land and any relevant person where the purpose is checking compliance with 

legislation or to give advice to help comply with the law. 

 

6.3 Having regard to the relevant statutory power, and where the law allows, a financial 

charge will be made for the service of all Housing Act notices and the making of 

Prohibition Orders. There is no maximum charges, and the final charge will be based 

on the full cost to the Council of taking the action including inspection, preparation, and 

service of the notices. Any action to recover costs and expenses will be in accordance 

with the requirements of the relevant Acts. (See Appendix 2 Charges for Notices). 

 

6.4 In respect of formal notices served in relation to significant Category 2 hazards, this 

charge may be waived at the Council’s discretion when required works as specified 

within the Notice are completed to the satisfaction of the Officer within the specified 

timeframe (See Appendix 2 Charges for Notices). 

 

6.5 Costs incurred carrying out Work in Default or Remedial Action will be charged 

177



 

 

Page 16 of 39

separately. When the charge demand becomes operative, the sum recoverable will be 

a local land charge. Costs will be charged at an hourly rate for the enforcement officer, 

administration and management costs. For more information see the Council’s 

Works in Default Procedure. (See Appendix 2 Charges for Notices) 

 

6.6 Civil Penalties 
 

 The Government has introduced legislation that gives the Council the option to impose 

a financial penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to prosecution for certain housing 

offences. These powers were introduced to help local authorities take more 

enforcement action against rogue landlords. The Council adopted a policy for applying 

Civil Penalties for Housing Offences in February 22. 

 

6.7 Specifically, the Housing and Planning Act 2016 Act gives the Council the power to issue 

Civil Penalty notices of up to £30,000 as an alternative to prosecution, where there is 

evidence beyond reasonable doubt of certain offences i.e. failure to: 

 

• Comply with an improvement notice; 

• License a property which requires a licence; 

• Comply with licence conditions or occupancy requirements; 

• Comply with an overcrowding notice; 

• Comply with HMO management regulations requirements; 

• Failing to licence a house in multiple occupation (“HMO”); 

• Knowingly permitting the over-occupation of a licensed HMO; 

• Failing to comply with the condition of an HMO licence; 

• Failing to comply with an overcrowding notice in respect of a non-licensable 

HMO; 

• Failing to comply with HMO management regulations; and 

• Breaching a banning order. 

 

6.8 Local authorities are entitled to retain any monies collected, provided they are used to 

fund private sector housing enforcement functions. However, before any financial 

penalties can be issued, statutory guidance requires the Council to develop and 

document a policy which sets out when it should prosecute and when it should impose 

a financial penalty, and the level of financial penalty it should impose in each case. 

 

6.9 Civil Penalties can be used where a breach is serious and the Council may determine 

178



 

 

Page 17 of 39

that a significant financial penalty (or penalties if there have been several breaches), 

rather than prosecution, is the most appropriate and effective sanction in a particular 

case. The government have issued statutory guidance to Councils on the use of Civil 

Penalty notices under the 2016 Act. The Council has published its own policy on how 

it will decide on the level of financial penalty which is in accordance with the 

government guidance. This policy has already been adopted by the Council in February 

22, and is included in this policy at Appendix 3 (Civil Penalties Policy for imposing 

financial penalties under the Housing Act 2004 and the Housing and Planning Act 

2016). However, as it has already been adopted, this element will not be 
considered again in the consultation for this draft policy. 

 

The decision when to prosecute, agree a simple caution or when to issue a civil penalty 

will made on a case-by-case basis in line with this adopted policy and current guidance. 

 

6.10 The upper limit for fines in the magistrates’ court has been removed; this means if found 

guilty of an offence, there is no maximum fine. In some cases, the Council can apply to 

court to recover rent from a landlord if a property has been let illegally. Officers will 

provide Legal Services with all the relevant information to enable the recovery of costs 

to be sought at court. Any costs application made is likely to include the time officers have 

spent investigating a case and the legal costs involved. 

 

6.11 Verdicts and sentences in criminal cases are given in open court and are a matter of 

public record. The Council will decide whether to publicise sentences following 

prosecution on a case-by-case basis. Publicising guidance has a presumption in 

favour of publicising outcomes of criminal cases and basic personal information about 

convicted offenders. 

 

6.12 In addition to charges for Notices served under the Housing Act 2004 other Notices 

served under other legislation or regulations have penalties attached, usually where 

the Notice served has been contravened. These include (but are not limited to): 

 

• The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 

Regulations 2020 (£30,000 maximum) (See Appendix 4); 

• The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 (£5000 

maximum) (See Appendix 5 Statement of Intent); 

• The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2015 (£5000 maximum). 

 

179



 

 

Page 18 of 39

6.13 Each case will be considered on its own merits and the relevant statutory appeal rights are 

provided with any notice served. 

 

7.0 Options Regarding Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
 

7.1 Southend-on-Sea City Council currently operates the Mandatory HMO Licensing 

scheme. From 1st October 2018 HMO licences are required for all HMOs of any storey 

height that are occupied by five or more persons, who form two or more households and 

share facilities (such as kitchens, living rooms and bathrooms), unless they are exempt. 

OR Purpose-built flats where there are up to two flats in the block and one or both flats 

are occupied by 5 or more persons in 2 or more separate households. This will apply 

regardless of whether the block is above or below commercial premises. 

 

7.2 The HMO licensing regime includes arrangements for assessing the suitability of the 

premises for the number of occupants, including the adequacy of the amenities. It also 

provides for the assessment of the fitness of a person to be the licence holder and the 

potential management arrangements of the premises. 

 

7.3 Licensable HMOs operating without a licence 
 

7.4 It is a criminal offence if a person controlling or managing a licensable HMO does not 

have the required licence. Failure to comply with any condition attached to a licence is 

also an offence. The Council will consider all available enforcement options when 

dealing with unlicensed HMOs and breaches of the licence conditions. 

 

7.5 The Council has an intelligence-led, targeted approach to housing enforcement and the 

identification of licensable HMOs that are operating without a licence. It will vigorously 

pursue anyone who is controlling or managing a licensable HMO without a licence and, 

where appropriate, it will prosecute them or impose a civil penalty. 

 

7.6 Consideration will be given to any representations that are received from landlords in 

relation to exceptional circumstances that may have resulted in a ‘duly made’ HMO 

licence application not being submitted on time. 

 

7.7 If a landlord responds quickly to the Council’s notification that an HMO requires an HMO 

licence and they co-operate fully with the Council to ensure that the HMO is licensed 

as soon as practicable, the Council may decide (at its sole discretion) not to prosecute 

the landlord or impose a civil penalty. Each case will be determined on its individual 

180



 

 

Page 19 of 39

merits and circumstances. 

 

7.8 As mentioned above, it is an offence to operate a HMO without a licence and penalties 

are set out in Appendix 3 (Civil Penalties Policy for imposing financial penalties under 

the Housing Act 2004 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016). 

 

7.9 All decisions in respect of HMO licensing will be taken in accordance with the 

Council’s published policy and the appropriate legislation and guidance. 

 

  8.0      Options Regarding Selective Licensing (SL) 
 

8.1 Southend-on-Sea City Council has adopted a selective licensing scheme. From 1st 

December 2021 SLs licences are required for all rented properties within the 

designated area.  Where a property is an HMO, the mandatory licensing of HMO regime 

will apply (see Section 7.0).   

 

8.2 The SL regime includes arrangements for assessing the suitability of the premises for 

the number of occupants, including the adequacy of the amenities. It also provides for 

the assessment of the fitness of a person to be the licence holder and the potential 

management arrangements of the premises. 

 

8.3 Licensable properties with the adopted area operating without a licence 
 

8.4 It is a criminal offence if a person controlling or managing a property within a selective 

licensable area does not have the required licence. Failure to comply with any condition 

attached to a licence is also an offence. The Council will consider all available 

enforcement options when dealing with unlicensed SL property and breaches of the 

licence conditions. 

 

8.5 The Council has an intelligence-led, targeted approach to housing enforcement and the 

identification of properties within the selective licensing area that are operating without a 

licence. It will vigorously pursue anyone who is controlling or managing a licensable 

property without a licence and, where appropriate, it will prosecute them or impose a civil 

penalty. 

 

8.6 Consideration will be given to any representations that are received from landlords in 

relation to exceptional circumstances that may have resulted in a ‘duly made’ licence 

application not being submitted on time. 

181



 

 

Page 20 of 39

 

8.7 If a landlord responds quickly to the Council’s notification that a property requires a 

licence and they co-operate fully with the Council to ensure that the property is licensed 

as soon as practicable, the Council may decide (at its sole discretion) not to prosecute 

the landlord or impose a civil penalty. Each case will be determined on its individual 

merits and circumstances. 

 

8.8 As mentioned above, it is an offence to rent a property within a selective licensing areas 

without a licence and penalties are set out in Appendix 3 (Civil Penalties Policy for 

imposing financial penalties under the Housing Act 2004 and the Housing and Planning 

Act 2016). 

 

8.9 All decisions in respect of selective licensing will be taken in accordance with the 

Council’s published policy and the appropriate legislation and guidance. 

 

9. Related policies and Supporting Documents 
 
9.1 A copy of the guidance on civil penalties can be accessed via: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-penalties-under-the- housing-
andplanning-act-2016 

 

A copy of the Guidance on rent repayment orders can be accessed via: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rent-repayment-orders-under- the-

housingand-planning-act-2016 

 

A copy of the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015: Q&A 

booklet for the private rented sector – landlords and tenants can be downloaded from: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/smoke-and-carbon-monoxide- alarms-

explanatory-booklet-for-landlords/the-smoke-and-carbon-monoxide- alarm-england-

regulations-2015-qa-booklet-for-the-private-rented-sector- landlords-and-tenants 

 

A copy of the Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 

Regulations 2020 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934 

 

A copy of the Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2015 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111128350/contents 

 

A copy of the Regulators Compliance code can be downloaded from: 

182

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-penalties-under-the-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-penalties-under-the-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rent-repayment-orders-under-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rent-repayment-orders-under-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/smoke-and-carbon-monoxide-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/smoke-and-carbon-monoxide-
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111128350/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111128350/contents


 

 

Page 21 of 39

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code 

 

A copy of the Enforcement Concordat: Good Practice Guide can be 

downloaded from 

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.berr.gov.uk/files/file101 50.pdf 

 

 

10.0 Complaints Relating to this Draft Policy 
 

10.1 Should you feel that your request for service or that undertakings in relation to  
 housing enforcement from the Council has not been adequately considered, you may 

make a formal service complaint by contacting our Corporate Complaints Team. 

 

 Prior to doing, the Council must have received your complaint directly and you are 

encouraged to discuss the matter initially with your case Officer first and where 

necessary the Service Manager or Head of Service. 

 

Corporate complaints may be contacted via: 

 

Corporate Complaints 

GH-NE-Complaints@southend.gov.uk  

Southend-on-Sea City Council 

Victoria Avenue 

Southend-on-Sea 

Essex SS2 6ER  

Tel: 01702 215000 

 

183

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file101
http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file101
http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file101
mailto:GH-NE-Complaints@southend.gov.uk


 

 

Page 22 of 39

Appendix 1 Demolition Orders and Clearance Areas 
 

Making a Demolition Order under section 265 (Housing Act 1985 as amended by section 
46 Housing Act 2004) 

 
This action will be taken when it is considered to be the most appropriate course of action, 

usually when there are one or more serious category 1 hazards, the property is usually 

detached or there is a building line separating it from other properties, the adjacent properties 

will be stable and weatherproof or can readily be made so, it is in a potentially unsustainable 

area or it is causing severe problems to the amenity of the neighbourhood and repair would be 

very costly, it is not listed or of other historical interest. 

 

Declaring a Clearance Area under section 289 (Housing Act 1985 as amended by section 
47 Housing Act 2004) 

 
This action will be considered where similar circumstances to those for determining if a 

demolition order exist but where it is necessary for the Council to acquire the land either for its 

own purposes or to sell on for either new build or other purposes favoured by the majority of 

persons affected. Area committee views will be relevant to any decision to declare a clearance 

area. This action will be followed by seeking a compulsory purchase order or voluntary 

acquisition. 

184



 

 

Page 23 of 39

Appendix 2 Charges for Notices 
 

Section 1: Enforcement Fees 
 

Section 49 of the Housing Act 2004 provides the Council with a power to make such 

reasonable charge as it considers appropriate as a means of recovering certain administrative 

and other expenses incurred in connection with its enforcement activities under the Act. Other 

legislation, detailed within this Draft policy, also imposes fees and penalties: 

 

Service of Statutory Notices – Housing Act 
2004* In respect of formal notices served in 
relation to significant Category 2 hazards, 
this charge may be waived at the Council’s 
discretion when required works as specified 
within the Notice are completed to the 
satisfaction of the Officer within the 
specified timeframe 

PRICE OF NOTICE 

 

Charges contained on Fees and Charges 

published on Council’s webpage.   

Works in Default and Remedial Action Based on cost - charged at an hourly rate for 

the enforcement officer, administration and 

management costs, in addition to the cost of 

the works. For more information see the 

Council’s Works in Default Procedure 

HMO Management Order including Interim 
Order  

Based on cost- charged at an hourly rate for 

the enforcement officer, administration and 

management costs, 

Variation Notices No charge unless there are additional units. 

Revocation Notice No charge 

Energy Efficiency Contravention Penalties See Part 7 and regulation 38 of the 

Regulations  

Housing Offences subject to a Civil Penalty 
Notice 

 

Section 30 – Failure to comply with an 
Improvement Notice. 

 

Section 72 – Licensing of HMOs (House in 
Multiple Occupation). 

 

See Appendix 3 Civil Penalties Policy for 

imposing financial penalties under the 

Housing Act 2004 and the Housing and 

Planning Act 2016 

185



 

 

Page 24 of 39

Section 95 – Licensing of houses under Part 
3. 

 

Section 139(7) – .Failure to comply with 
overcrowding notice. 

 

Section 234 – Management regulations in 
respect of HMOs. 

Maximum fine if convicted in court for these 
offences 

If the offender was to be prosecuted and 

convicted of the same offence for which, the 

financial penalty could be imposed as an 

alternative, the maximum fine the court could 

consider is unlimited. 

186



 

 

Page 25 of 39

 

 

Appendix 3 Civil Penalties Policy for imposing financial penalties under the Housing Act 
2004 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Adopted February 2022) 
 

Civil Penalties Policy for Housing Offences 
 

1. Introduction and Overview 
The Council’s Regulatory Services team regulates the private rented sector for Southend-

on-Sea City Council.  Landlords of privately rented properties are required to comply with 

the law, to ensure the health, safety and welfare of occupiers are protected and their 

properties, and activities at their properties, are not having a negative effect on the 

neighbouring population.    

 

Landlords will be assisted by Regulatory Services to comply with the law through the 

provision of advice, guidance, and signposting.  Where landlords are not complying with 

the law, or proactively managing their properties, Regulatory Services can use 

enforcement powers to require landlords to take the necessary action to do so.  The main 

legislation that Regulatory Services have available to use is the Housing Act 2004.  

Amendments to this Act were introduced by Section 126 and Schedule 9 of the Housing 

and Planning Act 2016.  This amendment enabled Councils to impose a Civil Penalty, as 

an alternative to prosecution, for specific offences. These offences are detailed in section 

3 on specific offences below.    

 

The process that the Council must follow for Civil Penalties to be applied is detailed in 

statutory guidance (April 2018). This outlines the factors that must be considered when 

determining the level of Civil Penalty to be imposed, which can be up to £30,000.  A Civil 

Penalty (or Penalties if there have been several breaches), can be used if the Council 

considers their use the most appropriate and effective sanction in a particular case.  

The purpose of this policy is to set out the framework within which decisions will be made 

by the Council regarding issuing Civil Penalties for these specific cases.  The Civil Penalties 

Policy is a supplement of the Council’s Environment and Regulatory Services Policy.   

This  policy may be departed from where the circumstances so justify and each case 
will be dealt with on its own merits, having regard to those circumstances. 
 

2. Aim of the Use of Civil Penalties  
The aim of the service is to develop landlords to become more professional and 

knowledgeable in their role of protecting the health, safety, and welfare of their tenants. 

187



 

 

Page 26 of 39

Where Civil Penalties are used as enforcement action the aim will be to protect the health 

of occupiers and improve housing standards by: 

• Promoting professionalism and resilience with the private rented sector. 

• Providing transparent and consistent regulation within a private market. 

• Providing a ‘light touch’ for compliant landlords and create a level playing field by 

tackling non-compliant landlords within the sector.  

• Changing behaviours, by seeking legal punishment of those who flout the law. 

• Eliminating financial gain or benefit from non-compliance. 

 

The statutory guidance is clear that the intention of a Civil Penalty is to act as a deterrent.  

The Council will apply Civil Penalties to ensure that landlords (as defined by the Housing 

Act 2004 as the owner, person having control or the licence holder) and HMO managers do 

not benefit from their failure to comply with the relevant legislation. 

 

3. Specific offences where a Civil Penalty can be used 
Civil Penalties can only be used as alternative to prosecution for the following specific 

offences: 

  

• Section 30 - failure to comply with an improvement notice 

• Section 72 – mandatory licensing of houses in multiple occupation (HMO) 

• Section 95 – licensing under Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 (Selective Licensing) 

• Section 139 – failure to comply with an overcrowding notice 

• Section 234 – breach of management regulations in respect of HMO.  

 

4. Determination of Level of Civil Penalty to be applied. 
The statutory guidance details the factors that       must be considered when determining the 

level of Civil Penalty to be applied.  The Council has developed a matrix (Appendix 1) from 

this guidance having considered the following: 

  

• Level of culpability 

• Level of harm 

• Severity of the offence 

• Aggravating factors 

• Mitigating factors 

• Penalty to be fair and reasonable 

• Penalty to be a deterrent and remove the gain derived through the failure to      

comply 

• Landlord’s income (as appropriate) 

188



 

 

Page 27 of 39

• Financial gain from failure to comply. 

 

Determination of the level of Civil Penalty to be applied will be on a case-by-case basis 

and have regard to the Environment and Regulatory Services Enforcement Policy, local 

circumstances, and the relevant statutory guidance.  

 

Each of the rows in the matrix considers the factors set out in the guidance.  At the end of 

every row the officer will have to justify the most appropriate score chosen based on 

evidence in each case.  The final total of the scores from each of the 4 rows determines 

the actual fee to be applied. 

 

Score Range 
across all 4 
dimensions  

Fee 

1 – 5 £1,000 
6 – 10 £1,500 
11 – 20    £2,500 
21 – 30  £3,500 
31 – 40  £5,000 
41 – 50  £8,000 
51 – 60  £12,000 
61 – 70  £16,000 
71 – 80  £20,000 
81 – 90  £25,000 
91 – 100  £30,000 

 

 

Officers using the matrix will at no point be setting the Penalty amount themselves as it is 

calculated by the matrix, dependent on their assessment and scores in each of the 4 rows.  

 

The fee to be applied from the total calculated in the matrix is detailed in the table below.    

 
For example, a matrix total of 17 would result in a Penalty of £2,500, a score of 55 would 

result in a Penalty of £12,000 etc. 

 
5. When to use a Civil Penalty  

 

When determining the appropriate sanction, the Council will satisfy itself that if the case 

were to be prosecuted there would be a realistic prospect of a conviction.  This is 

determined by adhering to the Code for Crown Prosecutors.  The Code requires two tests 

189



 

 

Page 28 of 39

to be applied:   

 

• the evidential test; and  

• the public interest test.   

 

Regulatory Services will use the attached flow diagram (Appendix 2) to assist with the 

decision making on whether to apply a Civil Penalty or to proceed with to prosecution.  

 

6. Burden of Proof for Prosecution  
 

The same criminal standard of proof is required for a Civil Penalty as for a criminal 

prosecution. This means that before a Civil Penalty can be imposed, the Council will have 

satisfied itself beyond reasonable doubt that the landlord or manager committed the 

offence(s) and that if the matter were to be prosecuted in the Magistrates’ Court, there 

would be a realistic prospect of conviction. 

In doing this the Council will satisfy itself that:  

 

• Enforcement is in accordance with the Environment and Regulatory Services 

Enforcement Policy  

• There is sufficient evidence to prove beyond reasonable doubt that the offence 

was committed by the landlord in question 

• The public interest is properly served by imposing a Civil Penalty 

• Evidence has been reviewed by a senior manager and where required legal 

services. 

 

7. The Totality Principle 
 

Where a landlord has committed multiple offences, and a Civil Penalty could be imposed 

for each one, consideration will be given to whether it is just and proportionate to impose 

a Penalty for each offence.  Where there are multiple similar offences, or offences which 

arose from the same incident consideration will be given to whether it would be more 

appropriate only to impose Penalties for the more serious offences being considered and 

to prevent any double-counting.  Only one Penalty can be imposed in respect of the same 

offence. 

Having regard to the above considerations, a decision will be made about whether a Civil 

Penalty should be imposed for each offence and, if not, which offences should be pursued.  

 

8 Notice of Intent  

190



 

 

Page 29 of 39

 

Before imposing a Civil Penalty, the Council will give notice of intention of the authority’s 

proposal to do so. 

The notice of intent will set out: 

• The amount of the proposed financial Penalty 

• The reasons for proposing to impose the Penalty  

• Information about the right of the landlord to make representations. 

 

9. Representations 
 

Any landlord who is in receipt of a notice of intent has the right to make representations 

against that notice within 28 days of the date on which the notice was given.  

Representations can be against any part of the proposed course of action.  All 

representations from landlords will be considered by the local authority and responded to.   

 

Where a landlord challenges the amount of the Civil Penalty, it will be for the landlord to 

provide documentary evidence (e.g., tenancy agreements, rental income, etc) to show 

that the calculation of the Penalty amount is incorrect. Where there is no such supporting 

evidence provided, the representation against the amount will not be accepted.  

 

Written responses will be provided to all representations made by the recipients of a notice 

of intent.  No other parties have an automatic right to make representations but if any are 

received, they will be considered on a case-by-case basis and responded to where the 

Council considers it necessary.  

 

10. Final Notice 
 

Once the representation period has ended, the Council must decide, taking into 

consideration any representations that were made, whether to impose a Civil Penalty and 

the final Penalty fee.  This can be a lower amount that was proposed in the notice of intent, 

but it cannot be a greater amount. 

 

The imposing of a Civil Penalty requires the service of a final notice, which must contain 

the following information:  

 

• The amount of the financial Penalty 

• The reasons for imposing the Penalty 

• Information about how to pay the Penalty 

191



 

 

Page 30 of 39

• The period for payment of the Penalty (28 days)  

• Information about the rights of appeal, and 

• the consequences of failure to comply with the notice.  

 

The period of payment for the Civil Penalty must be 28 days beginning with the day after 

that on which the final notice was given.  

 

11. Withdrawing or Amending Notices  
 

The Council may withdraw the notice of intent or a final notice or reduce the amount of 

Civil Penalty at any time.  This is done by giving notice in writing to the person on whom 

the notice was served.  

 

Where a Civil Penalty has been withdrawn, and there is a public interest in doing so, the 

Council can still pursue a prosecution against the landlord for the conduct for which the 

Penalty was originally imposed.  Each case will be considered on a case-by-case basis.  

 

12. Appeals to the Tribunal 
 

If a Civil Penalty is imposed on a landlord or manager, that person can appeal to the First-

tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) against the decision to impose a Penalty or the amount 

of the Penalty.  The Tribunal has the power to confirm vary (increase or reduce) the size 

of the Penalty imposed by the Council, or to cancel the Civil Penalty.  The Penalty can 

only be increased to the maximum of £30,000. 

 

The appeal must be made to the First-tier Tribunal within 28 days of the date the final 

notice was issued.  Where an appeal has been made, this suspends the Civil Penalty until 

the appeal is determined or withdrawn. 

 

13. Consequence of having a Civil Penalty imposed. 
 

Where two or more Civil Penalties are given to a person over a 12-month period the 

Council may include the person’s details in the database of rogue landlords and property 

agents.   The rogue landlord’s database is viewable by local housing authorities to help 

them to target their enforcement activities.  The person will be advised where this is the 

case as this may be used to determine whether they are a fit and proper person to be a 

licence holder.  

 

192



 

 

Page 31 of 39

Where a landlord or manager receives a Civil Penalty, this action can be considered when 

assessing whether they are a fit and proper person to be the licence holder for a House 

in Multiple Occupation or property within a Selective Licensing area. 

 

14. Recovering an unpaid Civil Penalty  
 

The Council has a Debt Collection and Recovery Policy.  Through this Policy all legal 

options available for the collection of unpaid Civil Penalties will be considered.  Unpaid 

Penalties will be pursued through the County Courts.  Some of the orders available to the 

Council through the County Courts are as follows: 

 

• A warrant of control for amounts up to £5,000 

• A third-party debt order 

• A charging order 

• Bankruptcy or insolvency. 

 

A certificate, signed by the Chief Finance Officer for the Council and stating that the 

amount due has not been received by the date of the certificate, will be accepted by the 

Court as conclusive evidence of the payment due. 

 

Where a Civil Penalty is appealed and the Council has a tribunal decision, confirming or 

varying the Penalty, the decision will be automatically registered on the Register of 

Judgements, Orders and Fines, once accepted by the County Court.  Inclusion on this 

Register may make it more difficult for the Landlord to obtain financial credit. 

 

15. Income from Civil Penalties 
Any income from the Civil Penalties will be retained by the Council’s Regulatory Services 

team.  The Council will spend any income from Civil Penalties on its enforcement function 

in relation to the private rented sector.  

  

193



 

 

Page 32 of 39

 
Factors Score = 1 Score = 5 Score = 10 Score = 15 Score = 20 
1. Deterrence 
and 
Prevention 

High 

confidence - 

that financial 

penalty will 

deter repeat 

offending.  Info

rmal publicity 

not required as 

a deterrence 

Medium 

confidence 

that a financial 

penalty will 

deter repeat 

offending.  Min

or informal 

publicity 

required for 

mild 

deterrence in 

the landlord 

community 

Low 

confidence 

that a low 

financial 

penalty will 

deter repeat 

offending 

(e.g., no 

contact from 

offender) 

Some 

informal 

publicity will 

be required to 

prevent simila

r offending in 

the landlord 

community 

Little confidence 

that a low 

financial penalty 

will deter repeat 

offending.  Likel

y informal 

publicity will be 

required to 

prevent similar 

offending in the 

landlord 

community 

Very little 

confidence that 

a low financial 

penalty will 

deter repeat 

offending.  Info

rmal publicity 

will be required 

to prevent 

similar 

offending in 

the landlord 

community 

2. Removal of 
Financial 
Incentive 

No significant 

assets.  No or 

very low 

financial profit 

made by 

offender 

Little asset 

value.  Little 

profit made by 

offender 

Small 

portfolio 

landlord 

(between 2-3 

properties). 

Low asset 

value.  Low 

profit made 

by offender 

Medium 

portfolio 

landlord 

(between 4-5 

properties) or a 

small Managing 

Agent.   

Medium asset 

value.   

Large portfolio 

landlord (over 

5 properties) or 

a medium to 

large 

Managing 

Agent.  Large 

asset 

value.  Large 

profit made by 

offender. 

3. Offence 
and History 

No previous 

enforcement 

history. Single 

low-level 

offence. 

Minor previous 

enforcement 

Single offence 

Recent 

second time 

offender. 

Offence has 

moderate 

severity or 

small but 

Multiple 

offender.  Ongoi

ng offences of 

moderate to 

large severity or 

a single 

instance of a 

Serial 

offender.  Multi

ple offences 

over recent 

times.  Continu

ing serious 

offence 

194



 

 

Page 33 of 39

frequent 

impact(s) 

very severe 

offence 

4. Harm to 
Tenant(s)  
(Score is 
doubled on 
this section in 
line with 
Statutory 
guidance) 

Very little or no 

harm 

caused.  No 

vulnerable 

occupants.  Te

nant provides 

no information 

on impact 

Likely some 

low-level harm 

/ health risk(s) 

to 

occupant.  No 

vulnerable 

occupants.  Te

nant provides 

poor quality 

information on 

impact 

Likely 

moderate 

level health / 

harm risk(s) 

to occupants 

potentially 

exposed.  Te

nant provides 

some 

information 

on impact but 

with no 

primary or 

secondary 

evidence.   

High level of 

health / harm 

risk(s) to 

occupant.  Tena

nt(s) will be 

affected 

frequently or by 

occasional high 

impact 

occurrences. 

Vulnerable 

occupants more 

than likely 

exposed.  Small 

house of 

multiple 

occupancy  (HM

O) (3-4 

occupants), 

multiple 

occupants 

exposed.  Tena

nt provides 

good 

information on 

impact with 

primary 

evidence (e.g., 

prescription 

drugs present, 

clear signs of 

poor health 

witnessed) but 

no secondary 

evidence 

Obvious high-

level health / 

harm risk(s) 

and evidence 

that tenant(s) 

are badly and / 

or continually 

affected.  Multi

ple vulnerable 

occupants 

exposed.  Larg

e HMO (5+ 

occupants), 

multiple 

occupants 

exposed. 

Tenant 

provides 

excellent 

information on 

impact with 

primary and 

secondary 

evidence 

provided (e.g., 

medical, social 

services 

reports). 

 

 
195



 

 

Page 34 of 39

Appendix 4 The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 
 

1.0  The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 

apply to private landlords in respect of any specified tenancy and require all private 

landlords to: 

• ensure that the electrical safety standards (currently the 18th edition of the Wiring 

Regulations, published by the Institution of Engineering and Technology and the British 

Standards Institution as BS 7671: 2018) are met during any period when their property is 

occupied by a tenant as their main or only home; 

• ensure every electrical installation in the property is inspected and tested at least every 5 

years by a qualified person who will provide a written report; 

• ensure the first inspection and testing is carried out before the tenancy and provide the 

inspection/testing report to tenants; and to the local authority within 7 days of receiving a 

written request for the report.; 

•  carry out any further or investigative work recommended by the report within 28 days or 

any lesser period specified in the report and obtain written confirmation that the work has 

been done to the correct standard. 

 

1.1 Electrical Safety Enforcement 

 

1.2 Southend on Sea City Council is responsible for enforcing the Regulations. Where the 

Council has reasonable grounds to believe that a private landlord is in breach of the 

regulations, it may, within 21 days of arriving at this belief, serve a remedial notice on the 

landlord setting out the breaches and action required to remedy them. That action must 

then be taken within 28 days of the notice being served. The landlord may make written 

representations in respect of the notice, in which case the notice will be suspended until 

the Council has considered those representations and informed the landlord of the 

outcome. If a landlord fails to carry out the required works, the Council may, with the 

tenant’s consent, carry them out itself and charge the cost back to the landlord, to be paid 

within 21 days. 

 

1.3 The landlord has a right of appeal against the authority to the First Tier Tribunal and there 

is dispensation for landlords who are prevented by tenants from gaining entry to the 

property to carry out works. The Council may impose a civil penalty, up to a maximum of 

£30,000 if satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that a landlord has breached the 

Regulations. These penalties may be appealed to the First Tier Tribunal,  

196



 

 

Page 35 of 39

Appendix 5 Statement of Principles – The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations 2015 

 

1.0 Introduction 

 

1.1 This statement sets out the principles that the Southend-on-Sea City Council will apply 

in exercising its powers under the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 

Regulations 2015 (“the Regulations”). 

 

2.0 Purpose 
 

2.1 The Council is required under the Regulations to prepare and publish a Statement of 

Principles which it must follow when determining the amount of a penalty charge for 

failure to comply with a Notice. 

 

3.0 Duties 
 

3.1 The Regulations impose the following duties on certain landlords (Residential Social 

Landlords, HMO’s, long leaseholders, student halls, healthcare residences, hostels and 

live in landlords by agreement are excluded) of a residential property of a specified 

tenancy (defined in Section 2 of the Regulations), namely, to ensure that: 

 

• a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the premises where there is 

living accommodation (for these purposes living accommodation includes 

bathrooms and lavatories) 

• a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room of the premises which is 

used wholly or partly as living accommodation and which contains a solid 

fuel burning combustion appliance. 

• that at the start of any new tenancy, checks are made by the landlord, or 

someone acting on his behalf, that the alarm(s) serving the premises 

is/are in proper working order 

 

3.2 Properties subject to Part 2 or Part 3 licensing under the Housing Act 2004 (i.e. as 

licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation or Selective Licensing) are exempt from the 

Regulations. 

 

 

 

197



 

 

Page 36 of 39

4.0 The Legal Framework 
 

4.1 Where the Council has reasonable grounds for believing that a landlord is in breach of 

one or more of the above duties, we have a duty to serve that person with a Remedial 

Notice within 21 days detailing the actions that must be taken to comply with the 

Regulations. 

 

4.2 For the purposes of this provision, ‘reasonable grounds’ may include being informed 

by a tenant, letting agent or Officer that the required alarms are not installed. The 

Regulations do not require that the Council enter the property or prove non-compliance 

in order to issue a remedial notice, however, the Council will aim to visit such properties 

to confirm that the required works have not been undertaken. Where the Council is 

satisfied on the balance of probabilities that a landlord has not taken the remedial action 

specified in the Notice, within the timescale stipulated in that document, the Council 

will: 

 

• Arrange (where the occupier consents) to undertake the remedial action 

specified in the Notice within 28 days; and 

Require the landlord to pay a penalty cha charge of such amount as the 

Authority may determines, not exceeding £5,000. 

 

5.0 The purpose of imposing a financial penalty 
 

5.1 The primary purpose of the Council exercising its regulatory power is to promote and 

protect the public interest. The primary aims of financial penalties are to: - 

 

• lower the risk to tenant’s health and safety by ensuring that the property 

has a safe means of escape in the event of a fire 

• eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance 

• reimburse the costs incurred by the Council in enforcing the regulations 

• change the behaviour of the landlord and deter future non-compliance 

• penalise the landlord for not installing alarms in line with the Regulations 

and after being required to do so, under notice 

• proportionately address potential harm outcomes and the nature of the 

breach. 

 

6.0 Principles to be followed in determining the amount of a Penalty Charge 
 

198



 

 

Page 37 of 39

6.1 Any penalty charge imposed should be proportionate to the risk posed by non- 

compliance, the nature of the breach in the individual case and set at such a level as 

to sufficiently deter the offender and others. It should also cover the costs incurred by 

the Council in administering and implementing the legislation. 

 

6.2 Fire and Carbon Monoxide poisoning are two of the 29 hazards prescribed by the 

Housing Health and Safety Rating System. These risks are real and substantial: A 

bulletin issued by the Home Office in 2017 (Fire Statistics: England April 2015 to March 

2016) reports that: “Fires where a smoke alarm was not present accounted for 28 per 

cent of all dwelling fires and 33 per cent 

(76) of all dwelling fire-related fatalities in 2015/16” and that, “Fires where a smoke 

alarm was present but either did not operate or did not raise the alarm, accounted for 

31 per cent of all dwelling fires….” Moreover, according to the Office for National 

Statistics, there were 53 deaths from accidental carbon monoxide poisoning in England 

and Wales in 2015. 

 

6.3 The Department of Communities and Local Government conducted an impact 

assessment prior to the introduction of the Regulations. That assessment suggested 

that the cost of the requirements imposed on landlords (i.e. the purchase of smoke 

detectors and carbon monoxide alarms) was £25 and estimated that the provision of 

smoke alarms would, over ten years, prevent 231 deaths and 5860 injuries, accruing a 

saving of almost £607.7 million, and that the provision of Carbon Monoxide Alarms 

would, over the same period, prevent 

a total of six to nine deaths and 306 to 460 injuries, accruing a saving of almost 

£6.8 million. 

 

6.4 The Council considers that compliance with the Regulations do not place an excessive 

or unreasonable burden on a landlord. The cost of the alarms is low and, in many cases, 

can be self-installed without the need for a professional contractor. The risk and impact 

on occupiers resulting from a fire or carbon monoxide poisoning event far out-weighs 

the cost of compliance. While the imposition of the maximum potential fixed penalty 

charge of £5,000 may present an excessive financial burden on some landlords, this 

has to be balanced against the risk, the low cost of compliance, the fact that the 

offender will have been given all reasonable opportunity to comply prior to any penalty 

charge being levied and the offenders statutory rights of appeal. 

 

6.5 For all of the above reasons, and so as to ensure that there is an effective incentive for 

landlord’s to comply with the Regulations, the Council proposes to impose a penalty 

199



 

 

Page 38 of 39

charge of £5,000 for non-compliance with a Remedial Notice, with a reduction of 50% 

where payment is received within 14 days of service of the penalty charge notice. 

 

6.6 Notwithstanding the above, the Council may, following a representation made by the 

landlord, exercise discretion and reduce the penalty charge further if it considers there 

to be extenuating circumstances. 

 

This discretion will not however apply when: 

 

1. The person served has obstructed the Council in the carrying out of its duties; and/or 

2. The person served has previously received a penalty charge under this 

legislation. 

 

7.0 Review and Appeals in relation to a penalty charge notice 
 

7.1 If a landlord disputes the issue of a penalty charge notice, they can make a request to 

the Council for it to be reviewed. This request must be in writing and within the time 

specified in the penalty charge notice. Any representation received will be considered 

on its individual merit. Any extenuating circumstances will be considered by the Council 

in deciding whether to reduce the level of the penalty charge levied. 

 

7.2 Potential mitigating factors – 

 

• No previous convictions / charges 

• Self-reporting, high level of co-operation with the investigation – where this 

goes beyond what would normally be expected 

• The age health and other vulnerabilities of the offender 

• Voluntary steps taken to address issue – submission of license application.

200



 

 

7.3 A landlord will not be in breach of their duty to comply with the remedial notice, if he 

can demonstrate that he has taken all reasonable steps to comply with the requirements 

of the remedial notice. 

 

7.4 The Council may, on consideration of any representation and evidence, chose to 

confirm, vary, or withdraw a penalty charge notice and we are required to communicate 

that determination by issuing a decision notice on the landlord. If varied or confirmed, 

the decision notice must state that a further appeal can be made to a First Tier Tribunal 

on the following grounds: 

 

1) the decision to confirm or vary the penalty charge notice was based on an error of 

fact. 

2) the decision was wrong in law. 

3) the amount of penalty charge is unreasonable; or 

4) the decision was unreasonable for any other reason 

 

7.5 Where a landlord raises an appeal to the Tribunal, the operation of the penalty charge 

notice is suspended pending its determination or its withdrawal. The Tribunal may 

quash, confirm or vary the penalty charge notice, but may not increase the amount of 

the penalty charge. 

 

8.0 Recovery of Penalty Charge 
 

8.1 The Council may recover the penalty charge on the order of a court, as if payable under 

a court order however such proceedings may not be started before the end of the period 

by which a landlord may give written notice for the Council to review the penalty charge 

notice and where a landlord subsequently appeals to the Tribunal, not before the end of 

the period of 28 days beginning with the  day on which the appeal is finally determined 

or withdrawn. 

Page 38 of 39201



This page is intentionally left blank



Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  Report Number 

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 
 

Report of Executive Director Neighbourhoods & 
Environment 

 
To 

Cabinet  
On 13 September 2022 

 
Report prepared by: Karen Gearing Principal Engineer – 

Strategy 

Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Place Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Steven Wakefield - Cabinet Member for Highways, 

Transport and Parking  
Part 1 (Public Agenda Item)  

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 Transport East is a Sub-National Transport Body comprising Norfolk, Suffolk, 

Essex, Southend-on-Sea and Thurrock and was set up to provide a single voice 
for the future of transport in the Eastern Region.  Department for Transport 
(DfT) requested Transport East to prepare a Transport Strategy to set the 
direction for transport in the region to 2050 and identify the transport investment 
needed.   

1.2 The Transport Strategy underwent an 8 week consultation period and was 
provided approval from the 11 July 2022 Transport East Forum to seek 
endorsement of the Transport Strategy from the Local Transport Authority 
members.   

1.3 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to endorse the 
Transport East Transport Strategy. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet take note of the Transport Strategy and 

agree that Southend-on-Sea City Council, in its capacity as Local 
Transport Authority endorse the Transport East Transport Strategy 
appended to this report.   

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 Transport East is the non-statutory Sub-National Transport Body for the east 

region and is one of seven sub-national transport bodies that cover all of 
England outside of London.   Transport East was formed in 2018 and comprises 
Norfolk, Suffolk, Essex, Southend and Thurrock.  It is an informal body and has 

Agenda
Item No.

203

10



Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  Report Number 

 

been tasked by the Department for Transport to produce a non-statutory 
regional Transport Strategy.  

 
3.2 Government have made it clear that, whilst not a statutory document, Transport 

East’s Transport Strategy (the Strategy) is vital to act as a framework for future 
strategic transport investment in the East, and the Transport East partnership, 
using the strategy as a guide, will be responsible for providing advice on future 
priorities to the Secretary of State for Transport.   

 
3.3 The Strategy for the region aims to fully support its members shared ambitions 

for economic growth, quality of life and prosperity.  The Strategy is appended to 
this report (Appendix 1). 

 
3.4 Transport East is governed by the Transport East Forum and is led by 

Councillors from Local Transport Authorities (including Southend), District 
Planning Authorities, Local Enterprise Partnerships, the Chamber of Commerce 
and delivery partners National Highways, Department for Transport and 
Network Rail.  Only political representatives on the Forum are able to vote and 
Cllr Wakefield is Southend-on-Sea City Council’s representative at the Forum. 

 
3.5 Southend-on-Sea City Council (SCC) is closely involved in the operations of 

Transport East through the Senior Officers Group (TESOG) and have assisted 
with the development of the Strategy over the last 2 years with the Transport 
East team and their consultants.  TESOG provide technical and professional 
advice drawn from the Local Transport Authorities, Local Enterprise 
Partnerships, district authorities, infrastructure agencies and transport service 
providers. 

 
3.6 The Strategy’s Vision is ‘A thriving Eastern region with safe, efficient and net-

zero transport networks advancing a future of inclusive and sustainable growth 
for decades to come.’   The Strategy identifies four key priorities for the east that 
strongly reflect the views captured from across the region including Southend: 

 
1. Decarbonising transport to Net Zero 
2. Connecting growing towns and cities 
3. Energising coastal and rural communities 
4. Unlocking global gateways 

 
3.7 Decarbonising transport is identified as a key priority and its theme runs through 

each of the key priorities.  Each key priority has a number of goals to identify 
the pathway to achieve the Strategy’s vision. 

 
3.8 The Strategy’s priorities fully align with National Policy, the current Local 

Transport Plan 3 and emerging Local Transport Plan 4 (which is in its early 
stages) as shown in the table below.  The Strategy will inform the developing 
Local Plan which is currently being updated.  The Strategy also supports 
Southend’s 2050 Ambitions, Southend’s Green City Action Plan, Southend’s 
Bus Service Improvement Plan, our Net Zero Ambitions and Levelling Up 
Agenda through improved access to jobs, skills, training and services.   

 
 
 

204



Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  Report Number 

 

 
Table 3.8.1 Showing Alignment of Themes and Priorities 
 

 
 
3.9 The Strategy also identifies six core strategic transport corridors that connect 

the East of England and provide onward connectivity to key UK destinations.  
These corridors are key to our national economy, the economy of the east and 
to the economy of Southend: 

 
• Midlands – Kings Lynn – Norwich – Great Yarmouth 
• London – Chelmsford – Colchester – Ipswich – Norwich and Suffolk Coast 
• Norfolk and Suffolk – Cambridge – Midlands and Southwest 
• Kings Lynn – Cambridge – Harlow – London 
• Stansted – Braintree – Colchester – Harwich – Clacton 
• South Essex: London – Thurrock – Basildon – Southend 

 
3.10 Southend is located within the South Essex – London - Thurrock – Basildon – 

Southend corridor.  The Southend corridor not only extends to London but also 
connects to neighbouring areas south across the Thames to Kent and north 
towards Chelmsford and greater Essex.  The corridors reflect the Strategy’s 
place-based approach and linking key destinations such as Southend within, 
and beyond the Transport East region.  The corridors include roads, rail, ports 
and airports and the strategy recognises the strategic importance of Southend 
within the region for its destination and tourism.  The corridors will remain critical 
throughout the life of the Strategy which recognises further investment is 
needed on the corridors if Southend and the rest of the east region is to reach 
its potential as a thriving, connected, multi-centred economy, whilst reducing 
carbon emissions.   

 
LTP 3 

Themes 
 

 
TE – Transport Strategy 

Priorities 

 
LTP 4  

Emerging Themes 

 
1. A thriving and sustainable 
local economy in the City. 
 

 
2. Connecting growing towns 
and cities. 
3. Energising coastal and 
rural communities. 
 

 
1. A City of opportunity and 
prosperity for everyone. 
 

 
2. Minimise environmental 
impact, promote 
sustainability for a greener 
City. 
 
 

 
1. Decarbonising transport to 
Net Zero. 
 

 
2. A smart transport system 
that meets the needs of all 
users while supporting 
decarbonisation and a 
sustainable, green City. 
 

 
3. A safer City.  
 
 

  
3. A City where our residents 
are safe, well and active. 
 

 
4. Reduce inequalities in 
health and wellbeing and for 
a more accessible City.  
 
 

 
3. Energising coastal and 
rural communities. 
 
4. Unlocking global 
gateways. 

 
1. A City of opportunity and 
prosperity for everyone. 
 

205



Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  Report Number 

 

 
3.11 The Strategy supports the work of Opportunity South Essex and the Association 

of South Essex Local Authorities (ASELA) (comprising of Southend, Thurrock, 
Rochford, Castle Point, Brentwood and Basildon) to drive forward progress in 
this corridor and for UK prosperity.  The Strategy also supports ASELA’s vision 
to deliver a decarbonised, integrated public transport system, rebalance modal 
priorities in favour of active and sustainable modes.  With walking, cycling and 
greener public transport to become the more appealing and practical choice 
which will be supported by quality placemaking initiatives improving public realm 
regeneration and community initiatives.  Also reducing carbon emissions with 
the aim for South Essex to become carbon neutral ahead of national targets 

 
4. Other Options  
 
4.1 Transport East has no formal status and the Strategy is not a formal statutory 

document however, it’s purpose is to advise DfT of the priorities in the east 
region and the collective voice of Transport East.  Transport East propose to 
submit the Strategy to the Secretary of State for Transport later this year.  If 
Southend does not endorse the Strategy it could undermine the strategy (and 
the one voice of the region) and may make it even more difficult for Southend, 
and possibly the whole of the region, to attract DfT funding. This option is 
therefore not recommended. 

 
 
5. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
5.1 Cabinet is being asked to endorse the Strategy, not adopt it.  The Strategy fully 

aligns and supports our current Local Transport Plan 3, will inform and support 
the emerging Local Plan and Local Transport Plan 4.  The Strategy supports 
Southend’s 2050 ambitions, Southend’s Green City Action Plan, our Net Zero 
ambitions and levelling up agenda through improved access to jobs, skills, 
training and services.   

 
5.2 The Strategy supports the work of Opportunity South Essex and the Association 

of South Essex Local Authorities vision to deliver a decarbonised, integrated 
public transport system.  Rebalance modal priorities in favour of active and 
sustainable modes and reducing carbon emissions with the aim for South Essex 
to become carbon neutral ahead of national targets. 

 
5.3 Department for Transport tasked Transport East to develop a Transport 

Strategy to set a single voice for the future strategic transport investment in the 
East Region.  Endorsing the Strategy will strengthen Southend’s and the 
Region’s strategic case to government in future bids for funding. 

 
6. Corporate Implications 
 
6.1 Contribution to the Southend 2050 Road Map  
 
6.2 The Strategy has been developed independently by Transport East and reflects 

views of partners from across the East of England; however, SCC has had 
many opportunities to input into the strategy during its development and the 
Transport East Transport Strategy is closely aligned with the outcomes 

206



Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  Report Number 

 

identified Southend’s 2050 ambitions.  In particular, the Strategy is closely 
aligned with the delivery of the Connected and Smart outcomes. 

 
6.3 Transport East has also identified a number of wider outcomes the Transport 

Strategy will help: 
 

• Reducing transport carbon emissions to net zero by 2040; 
• Promoting active, healthy and safe lives for all; 
• Promoting and supporting a productive, sustainable and diverse economy; 
• Supporting access to education, training and employment opportunities for all; 
• Helping our growing areas to develop sustainably to create high quality, 
inclusive, distinctive and resilient places to live, work and visit; 
• Facilitating the sustainable energy sector; 
• Protecting and enhancing the built and natural environment. 
 
The Strategy does not conflict with the current Local Transport Plan and is 
aligned with the developing Local Transport Plan 4. 

 
6.2 Financial Implications  
 
6.2.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from endorsing the Strategy.  

Transport East is primarily funded by The Department for Transport (DfT) with 
contributions from local transport authorities and SCC’s annual contribution is 
currently £24.2k.  Being a member of Transport East provides a vehicle to: 

 
• Share technical expertise and resources across the partners to assist with the 

development of a coherent and integrated transport network which is better able 
to respond to the demands of growth and changing technology; 

• Provide a strong, loud and collective regional voice in the national planning, 
prioritisation and delivery of strategic transport improvements, helping to ensure 
investment decisions are locally supported, evidence-led, joined-up and take a 
strategic long-term approach; 

• Enable a ’single voice’ engagement with the Department for Transport, 
infrastructure agencies (such as Highways England and Network Rail) and 
service providers (such as bus and train operating companies), and the East of 
England’s major ports and airports; 

• Provide leadership and strategic oversight on strategic transport priorities which 
cross local authority or regional boundaries. 

 
6.3 Legal Implications 
 
6.3.1 The amended Local Transport Act 2008 provides for the creation of statutory 

sub-national transport bodies who exercise transport functions, including the 
production and adoption of a Transport Strategy.  Only Transport for the North 
has created a statutory body.  The remaining six sub-national bodies, including 
Transport East, are informal groups and have no statutory powers.  

 
6.3.2 Although Transport East does not have statutory powers, it is influential in terms 

of attracting and directing investment in the area and in co-ordinating the 
activities with local authorities. 

 

207



Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  Report Number 

 

6.3.3 The 4 key themes of LTP3 are: a thriving and sustainable local economy in the 
City; minimise environmental impact; promote sustainability for a greener City; a 
safer City; reduce inequalities in health and wellbeing and for a more accessible 
City which are aligned with the 4 key priorities of the Strategy which are: 
decarbonising transport to net zero; connecting growing towns and cities; 
energising coastal and rural communities; unlocking global gateways. 

 
 
6.4 People Implications  
 
6.4.1 There are no people implications associated with this report. 
 
6.5 Property Implications 
 
6.5.1 There are no property implications associated with this report. 
 
6.6 Consultation 
 
6.6.1 The final strategy takes account of the outcome of the region-wide public 

Consultation and the Transport East Consultation Report is attached at 
Appendix 2.  514 completed questionnaires and a further 76 emails were 
received in response to the Consultation.  Southend residents were advised of 
the Consultation via ‘Your say Southend’, Southend Echo, social media and 
was also promoted in the monthly newsletter.  Whilst the Strategy was broadly 
supported, some respondents expressed the view that there was a conflict 
between decarbonisation and road building.  As a result of the Consultation, 
several changes were made to the Consultation draft of the Strategy including: 

 
• A revised Vision that now references decarbonisation. “A thriving Eastern 
region with safe, efficient and net-zero transport networks advancing a future of 
inclusive and sustainable growth for decades to come.” 
 
• The order of the decarbonisation goals has been altered to better reflect the 
need to decarbonise all transport.  Consultation responses commented that the 
strategy was focussing on decarbonising transport related to growth.  The order 
of the four goals has changed to; reduce the need to travel, shift mode, change 
fuel, support zero carbon growth.  The Strategy also includes a commitment to 
improve carbon emission evidence and to develop a transport carbon budget for 
the region. 
 
• The previous Ports and Airports sections have been combined into a single 
“gateways” section resulting in reduced duplication and a clearer set of goals 
and activities. 
 
• Strengthened references to linkages between rural and urban areas.  Rural 
and urban issues were seen as unconnected in the draft strategy. 
 
• More emphasis on Levelling Up, in line with national government policy 
objectives, and how transport can support social inclusion agendas. 
 
• Strengthened reference to cross boundary relationships: London, England’s 
Economic Heartland region and Transport for the Southeast. 

208



Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  Report Number 

 

 
• Minor corrections and clarifications to address specific issues raised during 
Consultation. 

 
6.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
6.7.1 Transport East commissioned an independent Integrated Sustainability 

Appraisal (ISA) of the Transport Strategy to assess social, economic and 
environmental impacts and inform and improve the Transport Strategy.  The ISA 
is currently being updated following public consultation responses and includes 
an Equality Impact Assessment. 

 
6.7.2 The Equality Impact Assessment indicates that the proposals in the Strategy will 

not have a disproportionately adverse impact on any people with a particular 
characteristic. 

 
6.8 Risk Assessment 
 
6.8.1 Government have made it clear that the Strategy is vital to act as a framework 

for future strategic transport investment in the East, and the Transport East 
partnership, using the Strategy, will be responsible for providing advice on 
future priorities to the Secretary of State for Transport. 

 
6.9 Value for Money 
 
6.9.1 Endorsing the Strategy does not directly commit SCC to spend or allocate any 

funds. 
 
6.10 Community Safety Implications 
 
6.10.1 There are no Community Safety Implications associated with this report. 
 
6.11 Environmental Impact 
 
6.11.1 The Strategy supports decarbonising transport which is fully aligned to SCC’s 

Green Action Plan and 2050 Ambition.  An independent Integrated 
Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) of the Strategy was undertaken to assess social, 
economic and environmental impacts and inform and improve the Transport 
Strategy. The ISA is being updated following the public consultation responses 
and includes: 

 
• Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
• Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 
• Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
• Community Safety Assessment (CSA) 
• Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
• Natural Capital Assessment (NCA) 

 
7. Background Papers 
 
7.1 Local Transport Plan 3. 
 

209



Endorsement of Transport East Transport Strategy  Report Number 

 

8. Appendices  
 
8.1 Appendix 1 Transport East Transport Strategy. 
 
8.2 Appendix 2 Transport Strategy Consultation Report. 
 

210



Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector 
Infrastructure Contract 

Page 1 of 8 Report Number 

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 
 

Report of Executive Director, Adults & Communities 

to 
Cabinet 

on 
13 September 2022 

Report prepared by: Tracy Harris – Head of Communities, 
Adults & Communities 

Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector Infrastructure Contract  

Relevant Scrutiny Committee(s): People 
Executive Councillor: Councillor Kay Mitchell 

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item) 

 
1 Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The report covers the infrastructure contract – and options related to re-procurement. 

The purpose of the report is to detail the requirement for an ongoing infrastructure 
contract due to what it brings to the City and its residents. 
 

1.2 The City of Southend needs mutually supportive communities and a thriving community 
and voluntary sector to support its residents. One of our means of ensuring this is 
supporting the core infrastructure that enables people, communities, and voluntary 
organisations to deliver what is needed.  
 

1.3 This report recommends funding an infrastructure organisation for Southend that will 
deliver 

• communities within the city that are resilient and thriving; 
• a robust and thriving network of local voluntary and community organisations;  
• support for people to volunteer and contribute back to the community. 

 
1.4 An infrastructure organisation will have a role to be the voice of, support and grow the 

voluntary and community sector for the city at, a time when there are greater pressures 
on funding alongside an increased cost of living. It will enable the Council to build a good 
relationship with the voluntary and community who deliver services and support in 
Southend. 
 

1.5 The report seeks agreement to three main areas: 
• Outcomes for the voluntary sector infrastructure contract. 
• Financial envelope for the voluntary sector infrastructure contract. 
• The method of procurement for the voluntary sector infrastructure contract. 

 
2 Recommendations 

 
2.1 That Cabinet approve the outcomes (section 5), the financial envelope (£100,000) 

and the recommended procurement option (to go to tender for a Southend 
infrastructure service).  

Agenda
Item No.

211

11



Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector 
Infrastructure Contract 

Page 2 of 8 Report Number 

 

3 Background 
 

3.1 Local infrastructure services exist to give support to local voluntary, faith and 
community groups, foster contacts between them and provide them with a voice. 
Often these are known as councils of voluntary service, voluntary action or 
volunteer centres. When provided by a local charity the charitable purpose, local 
footprint, universal offer and accountability to their users give them a unique 
sense of place, local network connections, good will, understanding and 
expertise.  
 

3.2 In the age of austerity, as funding tightens and demand for services rise, the 
statutory and public sector needs more than ever to work in collaboration with the 
voluntary sector who can reduce demand on the public sector, saving money 
while delivering services.  To help this sector thrive and grow there is even more 
of a need for an infrastructure organisation to bring support, coordination and 
growth to this sector. 

 
3.3 Southend Association for Voluntary Services (SAVS) have been operating as the 

infrastructure organisation within the City, established in September 1980.  They 
have been funded through the Council’s community grants over reoccurring 3-
year periods. The current grant has been extended from October 2021 until March 
2023 to allow for the procurement process to be undertaken. SAVS, up until 
September 2019 held the volunteer bureau as part of their service, this was later 
given to South Essex Community Hubs (SECH) in the last grant round held by 
Southend City Council. There is now no volunteer bureau within the city as these 
grants ceased and there is a recognised need for this service in the City. 

 
3.4 The Council agreed at Cabinet on 3rd November 2021, to transfer the funding from 

the Community Grants to Community members themselves through the 
Community Investment Board.  This has been set up and facilitated through SAVS 
with Southend residents volunteering to be board members. In order to facilitate 
the Community Investment Fund SAVS were given additional funding of £37,000 
per annum. 

 
3.5 In addition to being the infrastructure body for the voluntary, community and faith 

sector, SAVS also have additional contracts as a service provider with several 
organisations such as “A Better Start Southend” and the National Lottery. The 
funding from the Council represents only 10% of their income.  
 

3.6 On behalf of the Council, SAVS facilitates a contract to build capacity in the 
community, in addition to the Community Investment Board and this is funded 
over two years at £100,000 per annum.  This is one-off funding that will cease in 
December 2023 and can therefore not be added into the new procurement 
contract sum. 

 
4 Reasons for Recommendations  

 
4.1 This paper recommends that we go to market for a new infrastructure service for 

Southend.  
 

4.2 We are recommending ongoing funding for an infrastructure service because they 
provide a value for money coordination, networking, growth and support service 

212



Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector 
Infrastructure Contract 

Page 3 of 8 Report Number 

 

to the valuable voluntary and community sector of the City of Southend. This 
support enables community resilience and support to residents. 

 
4.3 The recommendation to go out to the market for a Southend contract is so that it 

may attract different providers with new ideas and the City can benefit from 
economies of scale. It will also allow Southend City Council to clearly specify what 
they want from the new contract. 

 
4.4 In the event we did not have an infrastructure body some of the functions  

 would need to be replaced at additional cost to the authority. These include: 
 

• Coordination of all Council communications out to the voluntary and 
Community sector; 

• Organising representation for the voluntary and community sector at strategic 
Boards providing them with a voice and then coordination of feedback on key 
strategies affecting the City.  

• An Officer or team with the responsibility for building relationships with all 
voluntary and community sector organisations  

• We would need Officers to spend more time with voluntary and community 
organisations mapping gaps and building greater relationships with the 
community 

 
4.5 We are not recommending shared procurement with Essex County Council 

because Southend as a coastal city has its own unique challenges that vary 
greatly from the needs of Essex as a large county.  By partnering with Essex there 
is a risk we lose our unique identity within a larger service that is not in the heart 
of our community and does not support the needs of the City as its main priority. 

 
4.6 The recommendation to go out to the market for a Southend contract is so that it 

may attract different providers with new ideas and the city may benefit from 
economies of scale.  It will also allow Southend City Council to clearly specify 
what they want from the new contract. 

 
5 Outcomes included in the new contract 

 
5.1 The VCS infrastructure contract will deliver the following outcomes: 

 
5.1.1 Primary Outcomes 

• communities within the City that are resilient and thriving; 
• there is a robust and thriving network of local voluntary and community 

organisations  
• there is support for people to volunteer and contribute back to the community. 

 
5.1.2 Secondary Outcomes 

• The third sector (VCFSE) are actively engaged in decisions/policy/direction 
of the City and attend Council and key partner meetings to inform and 
influence; 

• There is increased income into Southend’s third sector (VCFSE) to support 
growth and sustainability; 

• There is a strong network amongst the third sector members (VCFSE) in the 
City with evidence of collaboration and asset sharing; 

213



Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector 
Infrastructure Contract 

Page 4 of 8 Report Number 

 

• The third sector (VCFSE) receive quality communication about Council, and 
other key partner activities in Southend; 

• There are clear and diverse volunteering opportunities across the City that 
residents are matched to and if needed supported in; 

• The third sector (VCFSE) has good governance in place; 
• There is evidence that funding invested through the Community Investment 

Fund improves the capacity and resilience of the City. 
 
6 Other Options  
 
6.1 There are three possible options that will enable this to go forward with a new 

contract for an infrastructure organisation these are: 
• To cease funding an infrastructure contract; 
• To go out to tender with Essex County Council as part of a larger contract; 
• To go out to tender for an infrastructure contract for Southend City 

(recommended option). 
 

A fourth option to direct award the contract to the existing provider Southend 
Action for Voluntary Services (SAVS) was discussed and ruled out as it doesn’t 
follow the public contract regulations and so there is a legal and reputational risk 
in doing so. 

 
6.2 Option One: To cease funding an infrastructure contract 

 
6.2.1 The advantage of ceasing to fund the contract for an infrastructure organisation 

would be a recognised saving to the Council’s budget. 
 

6.2.2 The disadvantages of ceasing to fund the contract are many.  Whilst only a small 
contract the infrastructure organisation provides representation, support and 
stability to the voluntary and community sector.  By ending this contract smaller 
organisations will lack support and representation which could lead to their 
closure. The Council will also lose contact and the sector and collaborative 
working will be lost. There will no organisation to facilitate the Community 
Investment Board and support its volunteers in their mission to provide funding to 
the sector.  There will also be no organisation to support residents to access 
opportunities to volunteer, this was highlighted as a need during recent 
coproduction for the Living Well Adult Social Care strategy and without this 
organisation and support residents will be less likely to volunteer to support their 
community and gain employment. 

 
6.3 Option Two: Go out to tender with Essex County Council who are also looking to 

procure an infrastructure model across the County. 
 

6.3.1 The advantages of this option is that we would gain from the economies of scale 
realised by one large contract. 

 
6.3.2 The disadvantages of this model would be the lack of time available to organise 

this for October 2022.  Essex have delayed going out to the market several times 
already and communication has been challenging. There is also the potential for 
such a large contract to lack localism with a substantial difference between 
Southend and other areas of Essex.  One larger contract/ contractor could risk 
Southend losing a local presence and knowledge. 

214



Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector 
Infrastructure Contract 

Page 5 of 8 Report Number 

 

 
6.4 Option Three: Go out to tender on the open market for a new infrastructure 

contract to include the above suggestions.  
 
6.4.1 The advantages of going out to the market is that it may attract different providers 

with new ideas and the city may benefit from economies of scale.  It will also allow 
SCC to clearly specify what they want from the new contract. 

 
6.4.2 The disadvantages of this are the time and cost involved with a tender exercise 

and the risk that it may not attract much interest.  These disadvantages are heavily 
outweighed by the advantages as a market testing event would take place in late 
September 2022. 

 
7 Consultation 

 
7.1 A workshop, advertised by SAVS to all their members, and attended by 36 people 

was undertaken with the voluntary and community sector to ascertain what they 
would want from infrastructure support. The following have been identified as the 
priorities: 

 
a) Roles, responsibilities and relationships  

• Representing the voluntary, community and faith sector at a strategic 
level. 

• Facilitate the Community investment fund for the City. 
• Embedding community development and spirit, strengthening spaces 

and opportunities for people to come together. 
• Building relationships and providing networking opportunities. 
• Cascading opportunities for funding and joint working. 

 
b) Coaching and Training 

• Free training and peer support to organisations to skill up and 
therefore strengthen the sector. 

• Providing one to one support to small organisations with running and 
meetings, this should be limited. 

• Support with bid writing and demonstrating impact. 
 

c) Volunteering 
• Relationship building and the development of a volunteer passport to 

allow volunteers to have required checks needed once and move 
between placements. 

• Developing and supporting volunteers in their placements, 
• Matching and brokerage service to build a thriving volunteering offer 

for the city which should be both face to face and digital. 
 

d) Digital 
• Supporting one clear database of information held across the City. 
• Development of ways organisations can come together digitally to 

show case and share their work. 
• Reducing digital poverty across the city. 

 
 

215



Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector 
Infrastructure Contract 

Page 6 of 8 Report Number 

 

 
 
 
 
8 Corporate Implications 
 
8.1  Contribution to Council’s Vision & Corporate Priorities.  
 
8.1.1 Connected and Smart 

Southend is a leading Smart City, using technology in smart ways to enable 
improved resident services, and ensure digital inclusion. Our connectivity, data 
and principles approach to digital enable us to facilitate better decision making, 
automated services and digital experiences for those across the City. 
 

8.1.2 Active and involved 
Enable inclusive community projects which provide opportunities for people of all 
ages to participate, grow skills, confidence and social connection and make a 
positive contribution to tackling inequalities. 
More Southender’s agree that people from different backgrounds are valued and 
get on well together. 
Residents know how to get involved to improve local services. 
 

8.2 Financial Implications  
 

8.2.1 Current contracts whose activities will be rolled into the new contract are listed 
below 

• Core Service    £84,667 
• Community Investment Board  £37,000 

 
8.2.2 This is a total value of £121,667.  We aim to go out to tender with a financial 

envelope of £100,000.  This will provide the authority with a saving of £21,667 
(20%). 
  

8.2.3 The saving of £21,667 may require the provider to cut back on officer time or 
restructure the way the service is delivered which may reduce some of the support 
that can be provided to the voluntary and community sector. 
 
 

8.3 Legal Implications 
 

8.3.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
8.4 People Implications  

 
8.4.1 There are no people implications associated with this report. 
 
8.5 Property Implications 

 
8.5.1 The current organisation, SAVS, who currently holds the contract for infrastructure 

support rent a property from the Council in Alexander Street Southend for a 
peppercorn rent, they have a lease until 2029 which does not cover the contract 
period should they be successful at tender, as this is potentially up to 2034. 

216



Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector 
Infrastructure Contract 

Page 7 of 8 Report Number 

 

Therefore, they would have to negotiate a new lease or find alternative 
accommodation in the City for the remainder of the contract period. 
 

8.5.2 If they were to lose the tender, they could continue to remain in this building to 
deliver their remaining contracts if they chose to and the new provider would have 
to source other accommodation within the City. 

 
 
 
8.6 Equalities and Diversity Implications 

 
8.6.1 Further to undertaking an equality impact assessment there are no Equalities and 

Diversity Implications associated with the recommendations made in this report. 
 
8.7 Risk Assessment 

 
8.7.1 Risks have been identified for all three procurement options as detailed above. 

 
8.7.2 The greatest risk remains that to end support and not to procure an infrastructure 

organisation would be detrimental to the stability of the voluntary and community 
sector, this would also pose as a political risk as well as a risk to the Council’s 
relationship with this sector at a time when collaboration is key. 

 
8.7.3 Other risks identified are a reduction in the contract sum leading to a loss of some 

service and a loss of local staff during the process leading to a loss of knowledge 
in the sector. 

 
8.8 Value for Money 

 
8.8.1 Value for money has been identified by delivering a 20% saving to the contract 

sum by reducing it from £121,667 to £100,000. 
 

8.8.2 There is evidence that by having an infrastructure organisation this supports 
stronger and more resilient organisations and communities.  This reduces 
demand for Social Care Services for Adults and Children. 

 
8.9 Community Safety Implications 

 
8.9.1 There is evidence that by having an infrastructure organisation this supports 

stronger and more resilient organisations and communities which significantly 
improves community safety. 

 
8.10 Environmental Impact 

 
8.10.1 There is evidence that by having an infrastructure organisation this supports 

stronger and more resilient organisations, and where those organisaitons are 
focused on improving the local environment this can have a beneficial 
environmental impact. 

 
9 Background Papers 

 
9.1 There are no background papers associated with this report. 

217



Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector 
Infrastructure Contract 

Page 8 of 8 Report Number 

 

 
10 Appendices  

 
10.1 None. 
 

218



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 
 

Report of Executive Director Neighbourhoods & 
Environment John Burr 

To 
Cabinet 

On 
13th September 2022 

Report prepared by: Joanne Stowell Director of Public 
Protection 

Title of Report: Procurement Options for The Stray Dog Service 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee – Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Martin Terry- Cabinet Member for Public Protection 
 
 

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item)  
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The stray dog service has 3 service elements, these being: 

 
• The Animal Warden (Council Service) 
• The Kennelling of Strays Until Re-united or Re-Homed (Contracted (Lot 1)) 
• The Acceptance Point Where Strays Are Held Out Of Hours Until Collected 

For Kennelling (Via an Agreement)(Lot 2)). 
 
1.2 The contract for the Kennelling element was awarded to the current kennelling 

provider on the 1st April 2009 to the 31s March 2010. The contact was awarded 
on a 1 year basis with no option to extend, and had a schedule of rates for various 
elements that was applied on a ‘per dog’ basis.   

 
1.3  There was no contract for the Acceptance Point, instead the provision of this 

element was secured via a written ‘Agreement’ with a separate provider on the 
1st April 2008. This agreement had a scheduled rate that was applied on a ‘per 
dog basis’. The Agreement did not have an end date. In February 2022 the 
provider informed the Council that they would cease furnishing this Agreement 
from July 2022. 

 
1.4 There have been 2 separate compliant attempts to procure a replacement to the 

original contract, however, these failed due to circumstances beyond the control 
of the Council.  Whilst the procurement exercise was not successful, it is 
important to note that due to arrangements with the current kennelling and 
acceptance point providers, the service never lapsed. Notwithstanding as the 
contract for the Kennelling has significantly lapsed, and as the Acceptance Point 
Agreement has now ceased, this report is necessary to determine the future 
extent of the Stray Dog Service and agree the options for the future procurement 
of the service. 

Agenda
Item No.

219

12



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

 
 
 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

That Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Note the contents of the report and;  
 
2.2 Agree to the proposed procurement of the Stray Dog Service, as outlined in 

Option five para 4.9 -10 of this report. 
 
3. Background 
 

Stray Dogs Legislative Framework 
 

3.1 The Council has a statutory duty under sections 149 and 150 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA 199) and the Environmental Protection 
(Stray Dogs) Regulations 1992 (the 1992 Regulations) to collect and detain stray 
dogs. Prior to April 2008, the Police also had a duty to accept and detain stray 
dogs and tended to facilitate this function out of hours.  

 
3.2  There is no statutory definition of a stray dog. Any dog found in a public place, or 

a private place where it should not be, which appears to be without its owner and 
not under the control of its owner or a person representing them, may be seized 
and detained as a stray dog by an appropriate person.  

 
3.3  On 6th April 2008, section 68 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 

2005 (CNEA 2005) came into force. This removed from the legislation any 
requirement for the Police to seize stray dogs or to accept any brought to them. 
As a result, Local Authority duties were extended, and they now have sole 
responsibility for discharging all stray dog functions.  

 
3.4  The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) produced 

comprehensive guidance on stray dogs for Local Authorities, within which it states 
that the minimum requirement of the Local Authority’s extended duty is, that 
where practicable, they provide a place to which dogs can be taken outside 
normal office hours (referred to in this guidance as an ‘acceptance point’). 
Authorities are not required to offer a night-time call-out service to seize and 
detain stray dogs seen or found by the public. However, contact numbers for out 
of hours cover should be widely publicised to enable ‘finders’ to take a dog to an 
acceptance point if one is provided in lieu of a warden service. Whilst there is no 
statutory requirement to provide an out of hours collection service for stray dogs, 
the provision of an Acceptance Point is expected (where practicable), and there  
is a risk to the reputation of the Council should the provision of an Acceptance 
Point be removed, as in declining to do so may result in dogs being left to roam 
the streets, and  relies on the goodwill of residents to capture and detain dogs 
overnight. 

 
  
 

220



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

Delegated Functions 
 
3.5 The Council has a legal duty under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 s149 

to appoint an officer for the purpose of discharging the functions imposed or 
conferred by the legislation for dealing with stray dogs found in the area of the 
authority. In Southend-On-Sea, the Executive Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Environment retains the overall responsibility for ensuring that the authority’s 
stray dog functions are discharged correctly. The authority for discharging 
functions can be delegated to third parties such as contractors, as is the case for 
Southend.   

 
 Procurement History  
 
3.6  The contract for the Kennelling element was awarded to the kennelling provider 

on the 1st April 2009 to the 31st March 2010, it was awarded on a 1 year basis 
with no option to extend, and contained a schedule of rates for various elements, 
and these were applied on a ‘per dog’ basis.  This contract has completely lapsed, 
however, the provider continues to provide the service.   

 
3.7  There was no contract for the Acceptance Point, instead the provision of this 

element was secured via a written ‘Agreement’ with a separate provider on the 
1st April 2008; however, in February 2022, the provider informed the Council that 
in July 2022 they would cease this provision. 

 
3.8 There have been 2 separate compliant attempts to procure a replacement to the 

original contract, however, these failed due to circumstances beyond the control 
of the Council.  In round one, 1 bid was received, but then retracted due to TUPE 
implications associate with the Animal Warden role. However, in connection to 
this a technical response and commercial response from the kennelling provider 
was received.  

 
3.9 A 2nd further procurement exercise was undertaken in 2020, whereby a shared 

service between Basildon, Castle Point, Rochford and Southend was explored. 
However, as Basildon Council eventually declined to continue, this arrangement 
did not proceed. 

 
3.10 Following advice from Procurement, it has been established that these service 

elements must be formally re-procured. In the interim period, the Council’s Legal 
Services have drafted an implied contract with the kennelling provider, and 
currently, they are also picking up stray dogs out of hours, as there is no 
acceptance point, and have agreed to continue for the immediate future. 

 
 Current Scope of the Stray Dog Service 
 
3.11  The stray dog service has 3 service elements, these being: 
 

• The Animal Warden (Council Service) 
• The Kennelling of Strays Until Re-united or Re-Homed (Contracted) 
• The Acceptance Point Where Strays Are Held Out Of Hours Until Collected 

For Kennelling (Via an Agreement)). 
 

 

221



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

The Animal Warden 
 
3.12 The Council has an in-house Animal Warden (1 FTE level 7) whose work covers 

animal welfare, licensing of animals, illegal imports of animals and nuisance 
complaints.  The Animal Warden operates weekdays from 8:30 to 5:30, and 
collects and delivers the dogs to the kennels, and picks them up from the 
acceptance point. The responsibilities in this area equate to .8FTE, and the 
remaining .2FTE delivers to the stray dogs’ service dog warden element.  In brief, 
if a stray is reported by the public during office hours, it will be seized and detained 
by the Animal Warden.  Checks are then undertaken to ascertain whether the dog 
can be identified and reunited with the owner.  If reunification is not possible, the 
Animal Warden transports the dog to the kennelling provider, and also picks up 
those dogs that have been delivered to the Acceptance Point over night on a 
weekday.  

 
 The Kennelling Provider  
 
 3.13 The kennelling provider provides the following service: 
 

• A collection service from the Acceptance Point (Monday to Friday daytimes) 
• A collection service from the Acceptance Point (weekends) 
• The provision of 6 reserved kennels 365 days a year 
• Reuniting strays with owners 
• Rehoming Strays 
• Microchipping 
• Statutory administration including the collection of statutory fees (kept by 

provider, and used to offset their cost) 
 
3.14 On arrival, the dog is health checked and fed, and staff also attempt to identify 

the dog’s owner by checking for a microchip or collar, if ownership is established, 
staff will attempt to reunite the dog with its owner. If the owner cannot be 
established, it is held for the statutory 7-day period.  From day 1 of the dog being 
seized, under statute an owner has 7 days to claim the dog, and on full payment 
of fees plus satisfactory documentation for proof of ownership, the dog would be 
released back into the owner’s care.  

 
3.15  From day 8, the dog automatically becomes the property of the Council, and can 

be put forward for re-homing at this point, or be passed on to a stray dog 
establishment, or be euthanised. To be clear, euthanasia is only applied to dogs 
which are either a banned breed (in accordance with the Dangerous Dogs Act 
1991) or unsuitable for re-homing due to behavioural or health issues, as 
determined by a vet.  

 
3.16 Under current arrangements, once the statutory 7-day period has been reached, 

the dog becomes the property of the kennelling provider, and is accepted into 
their re-homing programme, and the Council is no longer liable for any costs 
associated with the dog. 

 
3.17 The kennelling provider also covers the .2FTE functions of the Animal Warden 

on the weekends, bank holidays and during illness and annual leave. 
 
 

222



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

 The Acceptance Point  
 
3.18 This element is a facility which receives dogs out of hours from 17:30 to 22:00hrs, 

during which time staff: 
 

• Record a brief description of the dogs, when they were brought in and  
endeavouring to obtain information of where they were found together with 
details of the persons handing them in. 

• Provide overnight kennelling of the dogs and tend to their basic needs of water 
and bedding. 

• In the case of an emergency as determined by a vet, provide necessary 
medical and surgical treatment, to relieve pain, and render the dog as 
comfortable as reasonably possible.  

 
Fees – Stray Dogs  

 
3.19 Under Section 149(5) of the EPA 1990, the authority may charge the owner all 

expenses incurred during the dog’s detention plus a further £25 as prescribed by 
the 1992 Regulations. The expenses are calculated as the per-day kennel cost, 
plus any costs involved in detaining the dog. Any additional charges authorities 
incur resultant from necessary veterinary treatment of injured dogs are also 
added. The fees are:  

 
• Statutory fee - £25 which is payable in all cases. 
• Transportation and return fee - £57. 
• Daily kennelling charge - £17 per day.  

 
All payments are made to the kennelling provider directly, and the statutory fees 
are deducted from the Council’s monthly invoice. An authority is within its rights 
to detain a dog until the owner has paid the full amount, and as explained 
previously, the dog becomes the property of the Council after the statutory 7 days. 
 
Performance Kennelling  
 

3.20 The performance of the kennelling provider with regards to Lot 1 has been good, 
there have been no complaints made against the company.  Additionally, audit 
checks on the designated kennels confirmed that the welfare of the animals was 
high, the facilities were clean and tidy, and that staff appeared to dedicate a 
considerable amount of time with each dog, all of which were walked at least 
twice a day. 

 
Performance Acceptance Point  

 
3.21 As with Lot 1, there have been no performance issues with regards to this 

element, which is undertaken at a Veterinary Practice. 
 
 Service Statistics 

3.22 Using 3 years of statistics, on average, the service receives 120 stray dogs per 
annum  

• 41.7% are received during office hours;  

223



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

• 55% in the evening/weekends and  
• 3.3% after 22:00hrs.  

Current Contract Stray Dogs - Contract Term and Value – Kennelling  
 
3.23 The current contract commenced on the 1st April 2009, the contract term was for 

1 year, with no discretionary option to extend. The original contract contained a 
schedule of rates, pertaining to various elements specific to kennelling per day, 
standby call out charges, admin fees and microchipping etc. It also contained a 
fixed cost element of £3,024 for the reservation of 3 kennels of the summer period 
(July to September). 

 
3.24 As the contract lapsed in 2010, the pricing and provision element (including the 

reservation of kennels) has increased. The Council now reserves 6 kennels a day 
covering 365 days, and the fixed cost for this element is currently £10,950 
annually.  Other variable elements such as admin charges are still applied on a 
per dog basis annually.  

 
3.25 As the contract is lapsed, the current price has been determined by establishing 

an average annual cost (average over a 3-year period) which is a fixed cost of 
£10,950 and variable costs of £17,163.58, therefore totalling £28,113 per 
annum. On average, £2,105 of statutory fees are collected annually, and this 
amount is deducted from the final price.  As such, the average annual cost of this 
element (Lot 1) is £26,008. 

 
Current Contract Stray Dogs - Agreement Term and Value – Acceptance 
Point  

 
3.26 The Agreement in relation to this element was signed on the 1st April 2008, and 

has remained in place, as there was no fixed term. 
 
3.27 The extent of the agreement was to provide an acceptance point for stray dogs 

out of hours, up to 22:00hrs, 365 days a year, whereby members of the public 
could drop off strays to the agreed point.  A fixed cost of £100 per dog was agreed, 
and included the elements stated in para 3.18. 

 
3.28 With regards to the cost of carrying out any emergency treatment of dogs, this is 

subject to a maximum financial mandate of £100.00.  Any treatment costs that 
exceed, or are likely to exceed the mandate, are subject to prior authorisation by 
an officer of SCC. 

 
3.29 The annual cost for this element was established over a 3-year period, which 

gave an annual cost of £755. However, in February 2022, the provider for this 
element informed the Council that they would not continue with the arrangement 
from July 2022.  

 
3.30 From July 2022, interim arrangements have been put in place, and the kennelling 

provider has agreed to receive dogs after 17:30hrs until 22;00hrs, 7 days week 
at a cost of £350.00 +VAT / month plus an additional cost of £30.00 if they are 
required to collect the dog.  If this element remained in place the cost would be 
£4,200 + VAT per annum. 

 

224



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

4. Other Options  
 
4.1 Option One: Bring in house 
 
4.1.1 The option to bring the service in-house has been discounted, as the capital and 

ongoing revenue costs would exceed those of the current arrangements. 
Moreover, the demand of the service would not warrant the financial commitment, 
and there would be no return on investment. 

 
4.2 Option Two: Provide Collection and Kennelling Only – No Acceptance Point 

(One Lot) 

4.2.1 Scope the service on the same basis as it is now, e.g. retain the 
collection, kennelling and reunification of dogs arrangements as they are, on a 
3+2 year basis, but do not provide an acceptance point. 

Positives 

• No TUPE implications, as the Animal Welfare Officer is retained to undertake the 
.2FTE duties and is still available for the .8FTE additional licensing and 
welfare work; 

• The service arrangements ran well; 
• This arrangement would meet the need of the daytime, evening and weekend 

demand; 
• This would be the lowest cost option (but still higher than current spend). 

 
Risks 
 

• This Option does not provide for an Acceptance Point after 22:00hrs.  It could be 
argued that the low number of dogs accepted out of hours (3.3%) does not 
present a significant risk.  However, dogs (including dangerous breeds) may be 
left straying, and the Council's reputation could be adversely affected should this 
element be removed.  

• There is a risk that no bids will be received. 

4.3 Option Three: As Per Option Two but Include Acceptance Point (One Lot) 

4.3.1 Scope the service mainly as per option two, but include requirement to provide 
acceptance point, and tendered within one lot. 

 Positives 

• Mainly as per option two, plus;  
• Benefit of an out of hours acceptance point; 
• Only one contract to manage; 
• May offer Best Value.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

225



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

Risks 
 

• As the market is very narrow, a single supplier may not be able to provide both 
service elements. This was the Council’s experience previously, as no bids were 
received; 

• Higher costs than the previous arrangement. 

4.4 Option Four: As Per Option Three, But Tendered As Two Separate Lots (Lot 
1 Kennelling, Lot 2 Acceptance Point) 

4.4.1 Scope the service mainly as per option three, and tendered within two separate 
lots. 

 Positives: 

• Mainly as per option two, plus; 
• Increased likelihood of a bid for the Acceptance Point Element. 

 
Risks 
  

• As per Option three, plus; 
• Two Contracts to manage; 
• Potentially more expensive. 

4.5 Option Five: As Per Option Three but Offer the Acceptance Point Element 
as a Direct Award to South Essex Property Services (SEPS) 

4.5.1 South Essex Property Services (SEPS) is part of the South Essex Homes Group 
(SEH), which has been providing services to the buildings, open spaces and 
communities of South Essex since 2005.  SEPS is a stand-alone company, that is 
able to benefit from the Teckal exemption, which allows councils to run services 
without going through a procurement process. 

 Positives 

• A direct award will save on time and procurement costs. 

Risks 

• There may be a challenge from external interested parties.  This could however 
be negated if we can evidence best value. 

4.6 Option Six: Shared Service with Other Boroughs 
 
4.6.1 The option of exploring a shared service shared service has been discounted due 

to the previously failed exercise. However, this option can be explored further at 
a later date.  

 
4.7 Preferred Option 
 
4.7.1 All Options include keeping the Animal Warden in house, otherwise this would 

create a gap in service provision for animal welfare responsibilities and licensing, 

226



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

and would invoke TUPE rules, which previously led to a failed tender exercise 
(namely because an external supplier would need to become a member of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme which carries costs and risk for small 
suppliers).  

 
4.7.2 The preferred Option is 5, for the reasons 1-4 as set out in para 5.1 below.  
 
4.7.3 Should a direct award for Lot 2 not be acceptable, Option 4 would be preferred, 

for the reasons 1-2 & 4 as set out in para 5.1 below. 
 
4.8 Future Procurement Pathway Options 

 
4.8.1 Following any agreement, Officers would initiate a formal tender process, and 

would publicise and carry out an open tender process for the provision of 
kennelling (Lot 1). It would be intended that the term of the contract would be for 
three years, with a discretionary 2-year (1+1) extension option built in.  

 
4.8.2 With regards to Lot 2, Officers would make a direct award. However, should 

Option 5 be rejected, and Option 4 preferred, the formal tender process would 
include both Lot 1 (Kennelling) and Lot 2 (Acceptance Point). 

 
4.8.3 Should an alternative Option be preferred, Officers would determine the 

appropriate route once the decision has been made. 
 
5. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
5.1 Southend-on-Sea City Council has a statutory duty to deliver a service that 

provides for the collection and kennelling of stray dogs. Current arrangements 
have lapsed, and it is necessary to re-procure the service. Option 5 as outlined 
in paras 4.7 is the preferred option for the following reasons: 

 
• The current arrangements in term of service scope work well; 
• The provision of an Acceptance Point is deemed necessary, as to remove 

this element leaves the Council open to reputational risks arising from a 
decision that would potentially allow stray dogs to roam; 

• The ability to make a direct award for the Acceptance Point provides security 
and minimises procurement costs; 

• The anticipated cost of an Acceptance Point is lower than the risked posed 
of removing this element.  

 
6. Corporate Implications 
 
6.1 Southend 2050 is the City’s shared ambition for the future, it includes six themes,  
  each with associated outcomes, the themes are: 
 

1. Pride and Joy 
2. Safe and Well 
3. Active and Involved 
4. Opportunity and Prosperity 
5. Connected and Smart and 
6. Future Ways of Working 

 

227



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

6.2 As such, the provision of the stray dog service addresses nuisance issues 
potentially created by the presence of stray dogs and makes a particular specific 
contribution to themes 1 and 2. 
 

6.3 Additionally, as it is likely that bids will be received from local companies, a by-
product of procuring is that the prosperity of the City is enhanced. 

 
 
7. Financial Implications  
 
7.1 The Stray Dog Service is currently delivered on a fixed fee basis with an additional 

cost per dog. The variable element of this means that the cost of the service will 
flex in line with the number of strays collected (on average 120 per year).  

 
7.2 The current budget provision of £33,500 will be used as a benchmark for the new 

procurement which will be scored against both quality and price. 
 
8. Legal Implications 
 
8.1 The Council has a statutory duty to deliver a service that provides for stray dogs, 

which the Council currently discharges using an outside contractor. In providing 
a service, there is no legal requirement to offer a night-time call-out service to 
seize and detain stray dogs seen or found by the public.  Additionally, whilst there 
is no statutory obligation to provide an Acceptance Point, the minimum 
requirement of the Local Authority’s extended duty is, that where practicable, they 
provide a place to which dogs can be taken outside normal office hours.  

 
8.2 Should the provision of an Acceptance Point be removed, there is a risk to the 

reputation of the Council in not providing one, as residents may not be willing to 
accommodate dogs overnight, and strays may be left roaming. 

 
 
9. People Implications  
 
9.1 This paper’s recommended approach has no specific People implications. 
 
 
10. Property Implications 
 
10.1  This paper’s recommended approach has no specific Property implications. 
 
 
11. Consultation 
 
11.1 There is no requirement for consultation to take place ahead of procuring this 

contract. 
 
12. Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 SCC wants to ensure that it provides services and strategies which address the 

needs of all members of the community. As such, the Council conducts Equality 
Impact Assessments as strategies, policies and services are developed to:  

228



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

 
• Consider issues relating to age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, 

race, religion & belief and sexual orientation; 
• Obtain a clearer understanding of how distinct groups may be affected;  
• Identify changes which may need to be built into an initiative as it is 

developed; 
• Comply with legislative requirements and identify good practice.  

 
12.2 By working on the four priority areas identified, there will not be unlawful 

discrimination or contradictions under the European Convention of Human 
Rights.  

 
12.3 There is no evidence to suggest that the terms of the contract for either lot 1 or 

2, would have a negative impact on any vulnerable group. 
 
 
13. Risk Assessment 
 
13.1  Failure to maintain effective arrangements for the seizure and collection of stray 

dogs would place the Council in breach of its statutory obligations and potentially 
lead to an increase in stray dogs roaming in the City.  

 
 
14. Value for Money 

14.1 Should the procurement route via competitive tender, this will result in bids for both 
lots being scored for both quality and price. However, a direct award in respect of 
Lot 2 will provide efficiencies in costs and time. 

 
15. Community Safety Implications 
 
15.1 The preferred option provides a service both inside, and outside of office  hours, 

and this level of provision has worked well to date. Should a reduced service be 
preferred, nuisance from stray dogs (including aggression and dog fouling), may 
increase. 

 
 
16. Environmental Impact 
 
16.1 There are no immediate sustainability or climate change concerns associated 

with this report, however, local environmental quality is improved through the 
control of stray dogs. 

 
 
17. Background Papers 
 
17.1 There are no background papers associated with this report.  
 
 
 
 

229



Procurement Options for the Stray Dog Service  Report Number 

 

18. Appendices  
 
18.1 There are no appendices with this report.   
 

 
 

230



Report Title  Report Number 

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 
 

Report of Executive Director (Adults and Communities) 
To 

Cabinet 
On 

13 September 2022 
Report prepared by: Scott Dolling, Director of Culture and 

Tourism 

Public Space Protection Order – Jet Skis and Beach Barbecues 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee Place 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Carole Mulroney 

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item) 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on the outcomes of a recent Consultation required to provide 

evidence for a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) to be introduced for 
Personal Water Craft (PWC), such as jet skis and barbecues and bonfires on 
beaches. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Cabinet agree to the introduction of a ban on barbecues under PSPO 

legislation on designated beaches. 
 
2.2 That Cabinet agree to adopt a PWC code of conduct under PSPO 

legislation. 
 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 PSPOs are intended to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a 

designated area that has a detrimental effect to the local community’s quality of 
life, by imposing conditions on the use of that area which apply to everyone. 
They are designed to ensure the law-abiding majority can use and enjoy public 
spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour. 

 
3.2 Due to the increasing number of complaints received about the irresponsible 

use of both barbecues and PWC’s and, in particular, because of the danger that 
the behaviour exhibited by an increasing number of barbeque and PWC users 
poses to public safety, it is appropriate to assess the need to introduce a PSPO 
covering that behaviour. 

 
3.3 A Consultation has taken place to obtain responses to the questions provided to 

help inform these final recommendations to Cabinet. 

Agenda
Item No.

231

13



Report Title  Report Number 

 

 
3.4 The complaints and concerns received from residents regarding these anti-

social behaviours, reference conducts which pose a significant danger to public 
safety and can cause harassment, alarm and/or distress 

 
3.5 Such antisocial behaviour has generated an increasing number of complaints, it 

has caused risk to public health and safety and has caused harassment to 
users of the public spaces within the Restricted Areas (as shown on the draft 
PSPO map) as well as serious damage to Council property and wildlife. 

 
3.6 The Restricted Areas 
 
3.6.1 Locations and maps of areas in which we are considering, introducing the 

restrictions listed above, are contained in the following maps; PWC Restricted 
Area and BBQ Restricted Area. 

 
 3.6.2 Both Restricted Areas include: Southend Seafront, beach and foreshore 

 
• Western Esplanade 
• Marine Parade 
• Eastern Esplanade 
• Southend Seafront 
• Thorpe Esplanade 
• Thorpe Bay 
• Shoebury Common Road 
• East Beach 
• Southend Pier (foreshore to pier head) 
• The Southend-on-Sea foreshore and from the foreshore into the Leigh 

Channel 
• Ness Road, Shoeburyness 
• Bell Wharf, Leigh-on-Sea 
• Leigh Creek. 

 
3.6.3 The restrictions include the area 400m from the shore in common with the 

arrangements managed by the PLA. 
 

3.6.4 The Barbecue Restricted area additionally includes the green areas at: 
 
• East Beach 
• Shoebury Common 
• Thorpe Bay Gardens. 

 
3.7 Enforcement  
 
3.7.1 There are no new resources allocated to support this PSPO. However, it will 

provide existing staff in Foreshore and Community Safety Teams the support of 
legislation and the ability to issue Fixed Penalty Notice rather than the current 
ambiguous arrangements.  

 
3.7.2 The proposals are as follows: 
 

232

https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/17740/widgets/50430/documents/29841
https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/17740/widgets/50430/documents/29841
https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/17740/widgets/50430/documents/29841
https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/17740/widgets/50430/documents/29843


Report Title  Report Number 

 

• The use of PWC in the ‘PWC Restricted Area’ to be made subject to a 
Southend-on-Sea City Beach and Coastal Waters Code of Practice (COP). 
This would bring the same restrictions that apply in the surrounding area 
managed by the Port of London Authority (PLA). 

 
• Prohibiting the launch and recovery of PWC in the PWC Restricted Area 

other than from designated launch sites, in accordance with the COP. 
 
• A complete ban on barbecues.  
 
• A complete ban on bonfires.  

 
 
4. Other Options  
 
4.1 The existing arrangements are not appropriate and do not reflect the need for 

change. 
 
4.2 Alternative options for barbecues to be banned for specific times and / or 

conditions such as droughts were considered but would not resolve the 
problem. 

 
 
5. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
5.1 The Consultation results provide an evidence base with 82% supporting the 

PWC issue and 85% in favour of adopting the Code of Conduct. For the 
barbecue issue 75% support the proposal for restrictions. 

 
6. Corporate Implications 
 
6.1 Contribution to the Southend 2050 Road Map  
 
6.1.1 Contributes to keeping our residents and visitors safe and well. 
 
 
6.2 Financial Implications  
 
6.2.1 There are no Financial Implications associated with this report.  Existing 

resources will be used to manage the implementation.  However, the saving in 
expense regarding damage to Council property over time will be of financial 
benefit to the Council and residents. 

 
 
6.3     Environmental Impacts  
 
6.3.1 Smoke and associated chemicals from barbecues will be reduced improving the 

environment. 
 
 
 
 

233



Report Title  Report Number 

 

 
6.4 Legal Implications 
 
6.4.1 The introduction, varying or amending of a PSPO must be undertaken in 

accordance with the 2014 Act and the Statutory Guidance. Failure to do so 
could result in a legal challenge.  

 
6.4.2 Under Section 59 of the 2014 Act, local authorities must be satisfied that the 

follow two conditions are met to make a PSPO: 
 
(a) The first condition is that on reasonable grounds that the activity subject to a 

PSPO has a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality (or 
it is likely that activities will take place and have such an effect).  
 

(b) If so, then the second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the 
activities: 

 
• is (or is likely to be) persistent or continuing in nature;  

 
• is (or is likely to be) unreasonable; 

 
• justifies the restrictions being imposed. 

 
 

6.4.3 Section 72 of the 2014 Act provides that the Council must carry out necessary 
 consultation before making a PSPO. Similarly, under Section 72, councils are 
 required to have particular regard to articles 10 and 11 of the Human Rights Act 
 1998. 

 
6.4.4 Before making, amending or varying a PSPO, the Council must consider 

comments and representations received that have now been received following 
the Consultation. 

 
 
6.5 People Implications  
 
6.5.1 Enforcement and other Council officers will be involved in support of the PSPO. 

Staff in the Foreshore Team will be able to provide advice and guidance under 
their current terms of employment which may be amended to include some 
enforcement capability. The Community Support Unit already have powers to 
issue fixed penalty notices and can be called to support the implementation of 
the PSPO. There are no additional resources included in this proposal. 

 
 
6.6 Property Implications 
 
6.6.1 PWC’s can be launched from the slipway at Shoebury Common. The route in 

and out from here is marked with buoys which are maintained by the Council’s 
Foreshore Team. 

 
 
 

234



Report Title  Report Number 

 

6.7 Consultation 
 
6.7.1 The Consultation took place during summer 2022 and concluded on 26 August 

2022. 3200 people accessed the consultation with 414 responding. 
 
6.8 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
6.8.1 An equality analysis is attached as Appendix (X) 
 
 
6.8 Risk Assessment 
 
6.8.1 There are no Risk Assessments associated with this report. 
 
 
6.9 Value for Money 
 
6.9.1 The PSPO represents a more responsive, proactive manner in which to deal 

with anti-social behaviour as described in the report and therefore performs a 
function of ensuring that residents see the benefits of the Order, as reducing the 
amount of officer time and expense in dealing with the anti-social behaviours in 
a reactive manner. 

 
 
6.10 Community Safety Implications 
 
6.10.1 The PSPO will support community safety with specific order to tackle the 

associated Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) that has been reported by the public 
and Councillors. 

 
 
7. Background Papers 
 
7.1 There are no background papers associated with this report. 
 
8. Appendices  
 
8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Order. 
 
8.2 Appendix 2 - The Code of Practice for PWCs. 
 
8.3 Appendix 3 - Equality Analysis. 
 

235



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

www.southend.gov.uk           EA July 2018_v4

 
 

 Southend on Sea Borough Council -  

Equality Analysis  

 
1.  Background Information 

 

1.1  Name of policy, service function or restructure requiring an Equality Analysis: 

Public Space Protection order for beach barbecues and Personal watercraft.  

1.2  Department: 

Adult and Community services 

1.3  Service Area:  

Culture and Tourism 

1.4  Date Equality Analysis undertaken: 

26/8/22 

1.5  Names and roles of staff carrying out the Equality Analysis:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name Role Service Area 
Scott Dolling 

 

 

Service Director Culture and Tourism 

237



 

 

www.southend.gov.uk           EA July 2018_v4

1.6  What are the aims or purpose of the policy, service function or restructure that is subject to the 

EA?  

To provide a safe environment for beach users.  Preventing burnt feet and consequential first aid. 

Also, to protect the bathing water area from dangerous ASB generated by personal watercraft by 

introducing an agreed code of conduct. 

1.7  What are the main activities relating to the policy, service function or restructure? 

Restricting the use of barbecues and bringing the use of personal watercraft into same regulations 

as other areas in Southend proximity. 

 

2.    Evidence Base    

2.1  Please list sources of information, data, results of consultation exercises that could or will inform 

the EA.   

 

Observation of visitor behaviour by staff located on the foreshore.  Complaints and issues raised 

by the public with supplied video footage. 

 Source of information Reason for using (eg. likely impact on a 

particular group).  

Staff observation 

 

Personal watercraft users representative of affluent socio 

groups many launching from out of area, 

Barbecue users tending to be families. 

Complaints / film footage 

 

Personal watercraft users tending to be male 

Please Note: reports/data/evidence can be added as appendices to the EA.   

2.2  Identify any gaps in the information and understanding of the impact of your policy, service function 

or restructure.  Indicate in your action plan (section 5) whether you have identified ways of filling 

these gaps.  

 

 

 

238



 

 

www.southend.gov.uk           EA July 2018_v4

3.  Analysis  

 

3.1 An analysis and interpretation of the impact of the policy, service function or restructure should be 

undertaken, with the impact for each of the groups with ‘protected characteristics’ and the source 

of that evidence also set out against those findings.   

In addition, the Council has identified the need to assess the impact of a policy, service function or 

restructure on carers, looked after children (as part of the age characteristic) as well as the 

socioeconomic impact of different groups, such as employment classifications.     

Initial assessment of a perceived impact of the policy, service function or restructure.  The impact 

can be positive or negative (or in some circumstances both), none or unclear: 

  

Impact - Please tick 
Yes 

 
 

Positive  Negative Neutral 
No 

 
Unclear 

Age (including looked 
after children) 

 

 

  x  

Disability  

 

  x  

Gender  
Reassignment 

   x  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

 

 

  x  

Pregnancy and maternity  

 

  x  

Race 

 
 

 

  x  

Religion or belief  

 

  x  

Sex 

 
   x  

Sexual orientation  

 

  x  

239



 

 

www.southend.gov.uk           EA July 2018_v4

Carers 
 

   x  

Socio-economic  

 

x    

 

Descriptions of the protected characteristics are available in the guidance or from: EHRC - protected 

characteristics  

 

3.2    Where an impact has been identified above, outline what the impact of the  

 policy, service function or restructure on members of the groups with protected characteristics 

below: 

 

 Potential Impact 
 

Age 
 

X 

Disability 
 

X 

Gender reassignment 
 

X 

Marriage and civil partnership X 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

X 

Race 
 

X 

Religion or belief  
 

X 

Sex  
 

X 

Sexual orientation  
 

X 

Carers  X 

240

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/further-and-higher-education-providers-guidance/protected-characteristics
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/further-and-higher-education-providers-guidance/protected-characteristics


 

 

www.southend.gov.uk           EA July 2018_v4

 
Socio-economic  
 

Beach barbecues are a low cost means for families 

on low income to enjoy the seaside offer. There 

could be a negative impact on banning beach 

barbecues. 

 

4.  Community Impact    

4.1 You may also need to undertake an analysis of the potential direct or indirect impact on the wider 

community when introducing a new/revised policy, service function or restructure. 

 

4.2 You can use the Community Cohesion Impact Assessment as a guide, outlining a summary of your 

findings below:  

 

5.  Equality Analysis Action Plan  

 

5.1 Use the below table to set out what action will be taken to: 

 

- Ensure a full analysis of the impact of the policy, service function or restructure is undertaken. 
- Mitigate/address identified negative impacts or unlawful prohibited conduct. 
- To promoted improved equality of opportunity and to foster good relations. 
- How the action plan will be monitored and at what intervals. 

 

 

Planned 
action  

 

Objective Who  When  How will this be 
monitored (e.g. via 
team/service plans) 

Promoting 
healthier 
eating 
options  

Minimise impact to low-

income families with 

beach barbecue ban 

SCC 

comms 

Spring 

2023 

Evidence of press 
release. Uneconomic 
to track resulting 
consumer behaviour 

241

http://seattle/Pages/Equality-Analysis-formerly-Equality-Impact-Assessment.aspx


 

 

www.southend.gov.uk           EA July 2018_v4

 

 

 

Signed (lead officer):  .................................................................................................................. 

 

 

Signed (Director):  ....................................................................................................................... 

 

Once signed, please send a copy of the completed EA (and, if applicable, CCIA)  

to Sarah Brown Sarahbrown@southend.gov.uk. 

 

242

mailto:Sarahbrown@southend.gov.uk


 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 1 of 9 Report No  

 

 
Southend-on-Sea City Council 

 
Report of Executive Director Neighbourhoods & 

Environment 
 

To 
Cabinet 

On  
 

13 September 2022 
 

Report prepared by: Elizabeth Georgeou, Head of Regulatory 
Services 

The Official Feed and Food Control Service Plan 2022-23 
 

 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Place Scrutiny Committee 

 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Martin Terry- Cabinet Member for Public Protection 

 
Part 1 Public Agenda item 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
1.1  The Council is the Food Safety Authority under the Food Safety Act 1990 and 

has a duty to enforce food safety, food standards and feed requirements. The 
Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires the Council to publish an annual Food 
Service Plan, requires that this plan be submitted to the Corporate Leadership 
Team and/or Members for approval, to demonstrate transparency and 
commitment. 

1.2 This report sets out the ambitions within the Council’s annual Official Feed and 
Food Control Service Plan 2022-23, the objective of the plan is to satisfy the 
FSA that the intended inspection regime, ensures that food, in the City, is 
produced and sold under hygienic conditions, is without risk to health and is of 
the quality expected by consumers. 

1.3  The report also highlights the achievements of the Team against the previous 
year’s plan. 

 
2. Recommendation 

That Cabinet is asked to: 
2.1 Note the achievements against the previous plan 2021-22. 
2.2 Approve the Official Feed and Food Control Service Plan 2022-23 ‘The Plan’ 

(Appendix 1), and recommend its adoption by Full Council.  
2.3 Note that the ability to achieve targets is reliant on: 

 The ability to maintain staffing levels and; 

Agenda
Item No.

243

14



 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 2 of 9 Report No  

 

 The ability of recruit to vacant posts. 
 

3. Background 
3.1 Service Delivery Plans are recognised by central government as important 

expressions of a local authority’s commitment to the development of their 
various services. They serve as a quality framework against which a service 
may be audited and provide a focus on resourcing and delivering aims and 
objectives. They also establish mechanisms for managing performance. 

3.2 In January 2001 the FSA produced the Framework Agreement on Local 
Authority Food Law Enforcement.   It included the requirement to prepare a 
Food Service Plan and prescribed in detail which areas of the service should be 
covered by the plan.  

3.3 The Official Feed and Food Control Service Plan (The Plan) is attached at 
Appendix 1. It provides a framework upon which a scrutinising body, such as 
the FSA can conduct an official audit. It also sets out, within an overall 
commitment to quality and continual improvement, the general aims and 
objectives of the service, the scope and levels of the service and the means by 
which it is delivered.  To this end, it also contains a breakdown of the financial 
and staffing resources available to deliver the service. 

3.4 The Plan describes how the service is discharged and details the numbers, 
types and priority ratings of the City’s food premises, the frequencies of planned 
interventions, sampling programmes, reactive work, including responding to 
food complaints, food hazard warnings and investigating cases of infectious 
disease. 

3.5 The Plan also incorporates the national enforcement priorities for animal feed, 
with inspections being co-ordinated through the National Trading Standards 
Board (NTSB) and the FSA.  This approach is to ensure that regionally animal 
feed enforcement is effective, and that there are risk-based controls in place 
across the Region. 

 The Impact of Covid-19 
3.6  From the outset of the pandemic, this service was severely impacted in its 

ability to deliver the usual obligations in relation to food safety. The cohort of 
officers allocated to this work were immediately identified and delegated by 
Government to provide the frontline response within the majority of Local 
Authority Coronavirus Regulations. 

 
3.7 In addition to the above, they also provided support across the City to assist 

businesses comply with Covid-19 regulations and controls. This included 
providing additional help to businesses when they had positive Covid-19 cases 
in the workplace. 

 
3.8 The FSA recognised that the ability to achieve traditional targets would be 

compromised by the pandemic. As a result, it developed a Recovery Plan (RP) 
to assist local authorities in prioritising and aligning resources in line with risk, 
and so bring the food hygiene and standards inspection programme back into 
alignment with the Food Law Code of Practice (FLCoP). 
 
 

244



 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 3 of 9 Report No  

 

The Recovery Plan (RP) 
 
3.9 The RP comprises of 2 phases, and sets out the FSA’s guidance and advice to 

local authorities for the period from 1 July 2021 to 2023/24.  This superseded 
the previous guidance and advice on the response to Covid-19, which applied 
until 30 June 2021.  

 
3.10 The RP provides a framework for re-starting the delivery system of the 

inspection programme in line with the FLCoP for new food establishments, and 
for high-risk and/or non-compliant establishments, while providing flexibility for 
lower risk establishments.  The diagram below highlights the phases and 
actions expected: 

 

 
 
3.11 From July to September 2021, Phase 1 of the RP prioritised new businesses for 

interventions based on risk and developed an intervention programme from 
September 2023 onwards.  

 
3.12 Phase 2 of the RP started in October 21 and runs to 2024.  This phase includes 

a continuation of Phase 1 and implements the planned food premises inspection 
programmes for high-risk category and non-compliant establishments. It also 
implements an intelligence-based approach for low-risk category establishments 
and addresses the backlog of inspections. (See Appendix 1, section 3, Table 2 
(hygiene) and Table 3 (standards). 

 
3.13 Phase 2 of the RP will continue until the new food standards delivery model and 

a revised food hygiene intervention rating scheme are implemented.  The new 
delivery model for food standards was piloted in England and Northern Ireland 
(December 2021), and it is anticipated that the new model will be rolled out 
nationally from April 2023. Work to review and revise the food hygiene 
intervention rating scheme is planned to commence shortly, with a view to 
implementation in 2023/24. 

 
 

245



 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 4 of 9 Report No  

 

 
 

Achievements against the  2021-22 Plan  
3.14 The Food Team within Regulatory Services played an integral role in 

responding to the Covid-19 pandemic and maintaining the provision of the food 
service during the period.  Officers from within the service achieved a significant 
amount in 2021, some of the key achievements were: 

 Achieving the Food Standards Agency’s ‘Recovery Plan’ requirements for 
2021/2022 for food hygiene and standards; 

 Undertaking additional inspections, which were due in accordance with the 
Food Law Code of Practice, but not required by the recovery plan in year; 

 Fully supported all premises which were exporting to the EU, this included 
the additional responsibility of registering and inspecting fishing vessels 
registered to the Council; 

 Implemented ‘Natasha’s Law’ ensuring officers were competent and 
communicated with businesses affected by the changes, including access to 
the FSA toolkit.   

 130 Covid-19 enquiries dealt with. 
The Plan 2022-23 

3.15 In accordance with requirements within the FSA Framework Agreement, the 
services provided by the Food Team comprise of a mix of enforcement, 
intelligence-based work, investigation, advice, and education. 

3.16 The Plan for 2022-2023 is attached as Appendix 1 and has been written in 
accordance with the FSA RP phase 2; it continues to focus enforcement action 
on poorer performing and high-risk businesses.  

3.17 The Service continues to inspect fishing vessels and approved premises, which 
assists local businesses to export product to the EU, in addition, it has the 
required competency to assist Southend businesses to trade with the EU, 
through the development of an export certification service.  

3.18 Progress through the Service Plan will be monitored on a monthly basis, and 
resources re-directed to additional contracted inspections where required.  
Demands on Officer Time 

3.19 The service also undertakes reactive work, including: complaint enforcement (in 
the case of non-compliance), managing food incidents, food hazards, food 
poisoning and infectious disease outbreaks. This work is in addition to the 
inspection regime.  
Overdue Inspections  

3.20 Service delivery was seriously affected by the pandemic. In 2019/20 893 
programmed food hygiene inspections took place, this number reduced by 46% 
in 2020/2021 (482 inspections), and the 665 inspections achieved in 2021/22 
(although improving), still represent a 25.5% reduction on the figures achieved 
in 2019.  Having said that, it is important to note that differences between years 
cannot be viewed as a straight-line correlation, as each category of premises 
(A-E) has an associated inspection frequency, ranging from every 6 months to 

246



 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 5 of 9 Report No  

 

every 3 years (see Appendix 1 Table 2).  Notwithstanding the varying inspection 
frequency, it remains a fact that Covid-19 impacted on the inspection regime 
and has resulted in a backlog of 393 food hygiene inspections.  These are being 
targeted to bring the inspection programme in line with the Food Law Code of 
Practice, as detailed in in Section 4.4 of Annex 1.   
Inspections Due this Year  

3.22 In addition to the 333 category A-E due this year, 181 new or existing premises 
remain unrated, and these will require an inspection or assessment (see 
Appendix 1 section 3.14 Table 2).  

3.22 The total number of inspections (backlog and due) is 512, however, as 
mentioned in paras 3.8-13, the RP gives Local Authorities until 2024 to address 
the backlog created by the pandemic, and further achieve the normal inspection 
targets set by the FSA.  

3.23  The proposed work programme for 2022-23 is detailed in table 1 below (see 
Appendix 1  section 2 Table 2): 
Table 1 Proposed Inspection Regime 

Inspection Programme 2022-23 
Workstream Category or 

Type of 
Inspection 

Number 

1 Category A 4 
2 Category B 55 
3 Category C 242 
4 Category D 32 
5 Category E 0 
6 Awaiting 

inspection  
181 

7 Overdue 
inspections in line 
with FLCOP 

393 

Total Inspections due from 1st April 
2022 in line with FSA recovery plan  

512 

Total Inspection due 905 
 
3.24 The work programme above meets the requirements within the FSA RP, 

however, the above work programme is undertaken in addition to the routine 
work of the team.  Work streams 1-7 will require a minimum of 5.3 FTE Food 
Safety Officers to deliver.  

3.25 It is important to note, that ability to deliver the proposed work programme will 
also be compromised if the level of enforcement work (as experienced pre-
pandemic in 2019-20) returns. As such, the regime will be reviewed and 
adjusted accordingly in year, and throughout the 3-year grace period to track 
progress and respond to risks. 

247



 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 6 of 9 Report No  

 

 
 
Resources 

3.26  The Food Team is run and managed in-house and has 5.1 equivalent FTEs to 
deliver the programme. Staffing resources are covered in full in Appendix 1 
section 5.3-5.9.  However, it’s important to note that this figure fluctuates in year 
in response to the pandemic control activities, sickness absence, staff leaving.  

3.27 Table 7 and 8 in Appendix 1 demonstrate that there is a .69 FTE deficit between 
current resources and the number required to deliver the programme. This 
deficit is covered by utilising underspend in salaries across Regulatory Services 
to bring in additional contractors, to meet the inspection programme.  

4. Other Options 
4.1 Option 1 not produce the Statutory Service Plan. This would be in breach of the 

requirement as set out in the Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food 
Law Enforcement, and the work undertaken by the Service would not be 
endorsed by Members. 

4.2 Option 2 approve the Plan as attached in Appendix 1. This Plan sets out the 
work of the Service, it would be endorsed by Members, and so fully compliant 
with the requirements set out by the Food Standards Agency. This is the 
preferred option. 
 

5. Reasons for Recommendation  
5.1 The Official Feed and Food Control Service Plan is a Statutory document that is 

required by the FSA Framework Agreement to be produced annually, and to 
have senior management and/or Member approval.  The Plan is in line with the 
FSA audit findings, agreed by Cabinet on the 18th June 2013, and it sets out the 
priorities for the Service and is available for members of the public to view so that 
they are aware of what the authority is doing to help ensure that the food they eat 
is safe. 

6. Corporate Implications 
6.1 Contribution to the Southend 2050 Road Map 
6.1.1 The Service Plan contributes to Pride and Joy, Safe and Well and Opportunity 

and Prosperity.  The contribution is through:  

 a risk based proactive inspection programme for food businesses which 
ensures they are providing safe food for residents and for those visiting the 
City; and 

 a risk based proactive inspection programme for feed businesses which 
ensures the safe provision of animal feed; and 

 assisting businesses to comply and thrive through the provision of business 
advice; and 

 supporting events across the City which encourages visitors and residents to 
enjoy safe foods  

 enforcing against the least compliant businesses to improve the offering of 
the town; and  

 supporting Public Health in encouraging businesses to offer healthy eating 
options. 

248



 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 7 of 9 Report No  

 

 
6.2 Financial Implications 
6.2.1 This Plan will be delivered within the approved 2022/2023 revenue budget 

Regulatory Services, which is monitored as part of the Council’s routine quarterly 
monitoring. 

6.2.2 It should be recognised that a wide range of other non-food related services are 
within the Regulatory Services team budget which include health and safety, 
licensing, investigation and control of infectious disease, nuisance investigation, 
private rented sector housing regulation, and pollution control. 

6.2.3 The Service Plan for 2022-2023 identifies resources allocated to the Statutory 
Food and Feed Programme and the budget is set within the Regulatory Services’ 
overall budget. The Plan recognises that resource may be diverted in response 
to incidents of infectious disease where required, and the Service Plan may be 
altered in response to that demand.  

6.2.4 Where funding is available the service will apply for funds to undertake 
surveillance sampling, in line with FSA and DEFRA priorities.  

6.3 Legal Implications 
6.3.1 Powers to enable the FSA to monitor and audit local authorities’ enforcement 

action are contained in the Food Standards Act 1999. This was the statutory 
basis for the development of the Framework Agreement that was initially 
established in 2001 and which has been subsequently amended.  The statutory 
requirement for local authorities to develop and maintain annual Food Service 
Plans is an important part of the process to ensure national priorities and 
standards are addressed and delivered locally.  

6.3.2 The Council’s Constitution requires the adoption of the official Feed and Food 
Control Service Plan be reserved to Full Council and is funded from within the 
existing budget of the service. 

6.4 People Implications 
6.4.1 The report identifies the staffing resource available to the service and how they 

are deployed in order to meet the Council’s statutory responsibilities (see para 
3.24). 

6.4.2 Whilst there are no current vacancies within the Food Team, Paras 3.23 and 6.81 
outline that the ability to deliver this plan is reliant on recruiting and retaining 
suitably qualified officers.   

6.4.3 Additional resources may be required to support infectious disease outbreaks as 
with the Covid-19 pandemic. Should this arise, the priorities of the service will be 
reassessed to meet the statutory inspection programme by securing contracted 
inspections. 

6.5 Property Implications 
6.5.1 There are no Property implications arising within this report.  
6.6 Consultation 
6.6.1 There are no Consultation implications within this report. 
 
 

249



 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 8 of 9 Report No  

 

 
6.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications   
6.7.1 Implementation of the Food Service Plan will have no adverse equality 

implications, as the same levels of advice and support are provided to all food 
business proprietors from all sections of the community. 

6.7.2 Certain sectors of the food trade are predominantly owned by one or other ethnic 
groups. In order to ensure a consistent and proportionate approach, all decisions 
are based solely on considerations of risk, public safety, evidence and public 
interest. All enforcement policies reflect this approach. 

6.8 Risk Assessment 
6.8.1 Regulatory Services has qualified Environmental Health Officers, who hold 

specific competencies as required by the FSA. There is a national shortage of 
qualified Officers, and should the service experience staffing issues resultant of 
Officers leaving, and then ongoing issues in recruitment, there is a risk that the 
inspection regime within the Plan will not be delivered.  

6.8.2 With any shortfall such as this there may be the perception of public health being 
put at risk, and a risk of the loss of public confidence in the Council. 

6.8.3 In addition, should there be a continued failure to inspect premises, there is a risk 
that the Council will be served with a Ministerial Direction, but this is rare and 
considered unlikely at this stage. 

6.8.4 Regulatory Services will monitor progress against the plan on a monthly basis, 
and will report back to Members should concerns arise. 

6.9 Value for Money 
6.9.1 Regulatory Services deliver an increasingly efficient and effective public health 

service which strives to promote and sustain a safe, prosperous community for 
businesses, residents and visitors.  Moreover, the Officers within the service food 
work to create a positive food safety culture which can: 

 protect customers from health risks like food poisoning; 

 effectively manage food allergen risks in businesses; 

 protect brand and reputation from complaints, negative online reviews or 
media scandal; 

 provide businesses with confidence that they are compliant with legislational 
requirements, and so avoid enforcement and closures; 

 help businesses save money from unnecessary food waste from improper 
storage ; 

6.10 Community Safety Implications 
6.11 The Regulatory services continues to work collaboratively with partners, these 

include: the Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority; the Inshore Fisheries 
and Conservation Authorities; the City Centre and marine units of Essex Police, 
and the charity Justice and Care. The Team contributed to Operation Gull, 
which was a three-week operation to tackle illegal harvesting of shellfish. The 
operation was a success and intercepted harvesting groups, individuals and the 
vehicles used.  

250



 

The Official Feed & Food Control Service Plan 
2022-23 

Page 9 of 9 Report No  

 

6.12 In addition to the above, the team is currently working with the National Fraud 
Team and other agencies. The Team provides intelligence to the Intelligence 
Database (IDB) and directly to the Food Crime Unit. 

6.13 Environmental Impact 
 Food related inspections and investigations place controls on commercial food 

waste which impact on the natural environment, and in line with the Council’s 
Enforcement Policy this work area seeks to ensure that other agencies are 
engaged where necessary to address specific concerns. 

7. Background Papers 
 Food Standards Agency Framework Agreement (amendment Five, April 

2010). 
 Food Law Code of Practice (England) 2017. 
 Feed Law Code of Practice (England) (Issued April 2018). 
 Environment and Regulatory Enforcement Policy 2021.  
 Food Standards Agency Audit and Action Plan - Cabinet Report Dated 

18/06/13. 
8. Appendices 
8.1 Appendix 1: Official Feed and Food Control Service Plan 2022-23.  

251



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Southend on Sea City Council 

Department for Neighbourhoods and Environment 

Regulatory Services 

 

Official Feed and Food Control Service Plan 2022-23 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Elizabeth Georgeou 

Head of Regulatory Services 

June 2022 

 

 

253



2 
 

1.0 Introduction 
1.1 The Service Plan has been prepared by the Regulatory Services team of Southend-on-Sea 

City Council, linking into the Council’s 2050 ambition for the future. 
1.2 The Service Plan is structured in accordance with the service planning guidance contained 

in the Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement. Powers to enable 
the Food Standards Agency (FSA) to monitor and audit local authorities are contained in the 
Food Standards Act 1999. In accordance with this guidance the plan will be submitted to the 
relevant Member or senior officer forum for approval to ensure local transparency and 
accountability.  

1.3 The purpose of the Service Plan is to ensure that national priorities and standards are 
addressed and delivered locally in accordance with the relevant codes of practice and 
guidance. It details the contribution that Regulatory Services makes to the ambition for the 
Council. 

1.4 Last year’s Service Plan 2021-22 allowed for the redirection of resource from the inspection 
programme to pandemic control, supporting those businesses still operating and enabling 
those that changed their activities through this period. The FSA have issued a recovery plan 
for the delivery of official controls and related activities, and this guidance has been taken 
into account in the development of this plan. 

2.0 Service Aims and Objectives 
2.1 Aims and Objectives 

The delivery of this plan aims to: 

• Ensure that the highest achievable levels of feed and food control (food safety, standards 
and feeding stuffs). 
The objectives are to: 

• Ensure hygienic conditions in the sale, preparation, manufacture, and storage of foodstuffs 
and feeding stuffs; 

• Ensure the wholesomeness and appropriate labelling/composition of foodstuffs and feeding 
stuffs; 

• Focus on a risk-based approach to inspections and enforcement activity in accordance with 
the Council’s Environment and Regulatory Enforcement Policy; 

• Administer the legislation in compliance with the approved codes of practice and related 
official guidance; 

• Continue participation in the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS); 
• Focus on the local enforcement of illegal harvesting of shellfish and linking to the FSA Food 

Crime Unit and the Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority objectives; 
• Provide guidance and assistance to local businesses on regulatory compliance and on new 

arrangements now the UK has left the European Union (EU); 
• Provide guidance and assist local businesses with respect to infectious disease controls.  
 

2.2 The Aim of the Service is to support the Council’s Aims and Outcomes Pertaining to 
Southend 2050 

2.3 The Council achieved city status in 2021, and the Council’s 2050 ambitions have been built 
on conversations that have taken place with those living, working, and visiting the city. The 
activities that Regulatory Services undertakes contributes to the aims and outcomes of the 
2050 themes for Pride and Joy, Safe and Well, Opportunity and Prosperity and Active and 
Involved.  

254



3 
 

2.4 The Service Plan shows how the team contributes to a Southend in which people can be 
proud of the services supporting the safety and wellbeing of those who work, live, and visit 
the town. To support the economic development team by helping businesses grow though 
assisting and supporting these businesses so that they bring prosperity to the town. 2050 
objectives are reviewed at staff conversations and assists in integrating the service across 
the organisation. 

2.5 Public Health (PH) are clear that substantial changes are required to diets over the next 10 
years, to meet existing government targets of reducing high fat, salt, and sugar consumption. 
An integrated approach, to improving health is required in order to achieve better health 
outcomes, and will incorporate tackling the current fast-food environment whilst providing 
support to people to make healthier choices. With this in mind, this plan also delivers to the 
Council’s objectives on the healthy eating strategy, and the improved health outcomes for 
residents, visitors and those working in Southend.  

3.0 Background 
3.1 Profile of the Area 
3.2 Southend-on-Sea City Council is a unitary authority. It is a seaside town which is a tourist 

destination with local shopping areas covering 6,785 hectares, and is the closest seaside 
resort to London. It is located within the Thames Gateway region, and visitor numbers may 
reach the pre-pandemic levels of 7.5 million. There are seasonal businesses within the City, 
and the Council actively promotes events to support business prosperity across the Council 
area.  

3.3 The total population estimate for 2020 was 182,800, and the Essex Employment and Skills 
Board undertook an Evidence Base District Profile for Southend in 2019, and showed the 
employees by industry sector. This is presented below 

 

 
 

 
3.4 It can be seen that the wholesale and retail trade (which will include food business) had 

decreased between 2014 and 2018, whilst those offering accommodation and food services 
has increased between the same time period. 

 

255



4 
 

3.5 There has been no update to this profile since the pandemic and it is possible that the 
pandemic may have changed the profile within the City. Feedback from businesses is that it 
would like bite-size pamphlets of information to be available to them.  

 
3.6 Organisational Structure 
3.7 The Council structure with respect to delivery of the feed and food services together with 

details of individual responsibilities is presented in Annex 1 page 18. 
3.8  Microbiological Examination and Public Analyst 
3.9 The Council sends food for microbiological examination to the UK Health Security Agency 

(UKHSA) Laboratory at Colindale via a collection service. 
 

UKHSA 
Food Water and 
Environmental Microbiology 
Lab  
61 Colindale Avenue 
London NW9 5EQ 
0208 327 6548 /6550 
Fax: 020 8327 6542 
fwem@phe.gov.uk 

Consultant of Communicable 
Disease Control (CCDC),   
PHE East of England, Health 
Protection Team, Second 
Floor, Goodman House, 
Station Approach, Harlow 
CM20 2ET 
Tel : 0300 303 8537 
Fax : 01223 724499 
Email : 
EastofEnglandHPT@phe.gov.
uk 
Secure email 
mailto:phe.eoehpt@nhs.net 
 

Stool Samples 
 
Pathology First Helpdesk 
Tel 01268-968300 
 
Reports provide by 
David Marquez 
Information Manager at Pathology 
First 
david.marquez@pathologyfirst.co.
uk 
non-secure emails to 
david.marquez@synlab.co.uk 
 
Specimen Reception 
Southend University Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust  
Prittlewell Chase,  
Westcliff-on-Sea,  
Essex SS0 0RY 
Tel 01702-385564/ 385411 
 

 
3.10 The appointed Public Analysts for feed and foods are located at: 

Feed 
Agricultural Analyst – Mr Jonathon David Griffin 
Kent Scientific Services 
8 Abbey Wood Road 
Kings Hill 
West Malling 
ME19 4YT 
 
Tel: 03000 41 51 00 
kss@kent.gov.uk 

Food 
Public Analyst – Duncan Arthur 
Public Analyst Scientific Services Limited 
154 Business Park 
Valiant Way 
Wolverhampton 
WV9 5GB 
Tel: +44 (0) 7734 383707 (Direct) 
+44 (0) 1902 627238 (General) 
 

256

mailto:fwem@phe.gov.uk
mailto:EastofEnglandHPT@phe.gov.uk
mailto:EastofEnglandHPT@phe.gov.uk
mailto:phe.eoehpt@nhs.net
mailto:david.marquez@pathologyfirst.co.uk
mailto:david.marquez@pathologyfirst.co.uk
mailto:david.marquez@synlab.co.uk
mailto:kss@kent.gov.uk


5 
 

3.11 Scope of Regulatory Services  
3.12 Regulatory Services is part of Public Protection which sits within Neighbourhoods and 

Environment. The team aligns the delivery of its services to the Council’s 2050 objectives. 
This is achieved through supporting those living, working, and visiting the city to stay safe 
and well when using the services of businesses throughout the city. They also assist 
businesses to prosper by supporting compliant businesses and targeting resources to the 
less compliant businesses.  

3.13 With respect to feed and food the responsibilities of Regulatory Services are to: 

• Undertake proactive food safety and standards inspections; 
• Undertake proactive feed inspections; 
• Deal with imported food and feed matters; 
• Investigate complaints about food and feed; 
• Investigate complaints about food and feed premises; 
• Investigate food poisoning and infectious disease referrals/complaints; 
• Deal with health and safety and PH matters at food premises related to drainage, industrial 

noise, /and rubbish; 
• Trading standards issues; 
• Animal health; 
• Respond to emerging PH issues; 
• Respond to reports of illegal shellfish harvesting; 
• Provide consultation recommendations on planning, licensing, and event applications; 
• Regulate businesses to ensure that those who are purchasing foods based on price alone 

are not adversely affected by poor quality foods.  
• Advice to be given to those providing Community fridges and Food Banks.  
• Participate with the delivery of the PH agenda regarding the healthy eating obesity 

strategy; and 
• Provide business advice. 

3.14 Demands on the Regulatory Services Team  
3.15 The Service uses the Uniform database, which is an ICT supported application, linked to the 

property gazetteer. Table 1 below highlights the food premises profile as of 31st March 2022.  
3.16 Table 2 highlights the intended inspection regime in line with the FSA Recovery Plan. 

Table 1: Food Premises profile as of 31st March 2022*.  
FSA category  Number 
A 2 
B 55 
C- broadly compliant 296 
C- less than broadly compliant 43 
D - broadly compliant  655 
D - less than broadly compliant 32 
E 512 
Not yet rated 181 
Outside the programme 109 
Total 1885 

*Of the above premises, 1% are manufacturers.  

  

257



6 
 

Table 2: Food Hygiene Inspections Due in line with FSA Recovery Plan:  
 

 
FS

A
 

C
at

eg
or

y 

N
o.

 o
f 

Pr
em

is
es

 

 Fr
eq

ue
nc

y 
R

eq
ui

re
d 

D
ue

 2
02

2 
– 

20
23

e 

A 2 Every 6 months 4 
B 55 Every 12 months 55 
C 339 Every 18 months 242 
D 687 Every 24 months 32 
E 512 Alternative enforcement 

or every three years  
0 

Awaiting Inspection, 
includes overdue* 

181 181 

Not in programme+ 109  0 
Total Inspections due 
as at 01/04/22 

514 

 
*Fluctuation in year as new premises register and are inspected which will affect the number of premises due 
for inspection in year compared to the start of the year. Last year there were 207 new food registrations 
throughout the year. The awaiting inspection figure includes those inspections where risk-based assessments 
were conducted.  

 +Includes premises undertaking very low risk activities e.g., selling pre-packed bars and providing teas and 
coffees. 

3.17 With regards to business’ included on the database, child-minders are excluded as they are 
registered with the Council’s Early Years team. However, there continues to be an 
arrangement in place for the dissemination of information to Childminders and for the Early 
Years Team to work with Regulatory Services to undertake interventions where required.  

3.18 The awaiting inspection figure includes home-caterers, where the team have undertaken 
information gathering to identify low risk premises and prioritises high-risk interventions.  

3.19 The Food Law Code of Practice (FLCoP) requires that Category A - B food hygiene, Category 
A food standards and non-compliant C premises be subject to an inspection, partial 
inspection, or audit at the required interval. Broadly compliant C risk food hygiene premises 
and broadly compliant B risk food standards can alternate between inspection, partial 
inspection audit and other Official Controls. 

3.20  Category D risk premises can only alternate between an intervention which is an Official 
Control, and an intervention that is not an Official Control, if the potential hazard element at 
risk assessment is less than 30. 

3.21 Premises rated E for food hygiene and C for food standards can be subject to an alternative 
enforcement strategy.  

3.22 Table 2 above  shows the number of food hygiene inspections required in line with the FSA 
recovery plan; however, the recovery plan does suggest that if an Authority is able to inspect 
more premises to bring the programme of inspections in line with the FLCoP interventions 
then this should be done. Additional inspections will also be prioritised in response to 
intelligence.  

  

258



7 
 

 
3.23 Table 3 on page 7 below the required number of food standard inspections required in line 

with the FSA recovery plan. 
 Table 3 Food Standards Inspections in line with FSA Recovery Plan 

FS
A

 
C

at
eg

or
y 

N
o.

 o
f 

Pr
em

is
es

 

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y 
R

eq
ui

re
d 

D
ue

 2
02

2-
23

  

A  0 Every 12 months 0 

B  224 Every 24 months 0 

C 1356 Alternative intervention or 
every 5 years 

0 

Awaiting Inspection* 
includes overdue 

198  198 

Not in programme+ 107  0 

Total Inspections due as 
at 01/04/22 

198 

*As for FH above there is fluctuation in year as new premises register and are inspected which will affect the number of premises due for 
inspection in year compared to the start of the year. Last year there were 207 new food registrations throughout the year.  

+Includes premises undertaking very low risk activities e.g., selling pre-packed bars and providing teas and coffees.  

3.24 There are no high-risk food standards inspections due in year. In line with the FSA Recovery 
Plan food standards inspections will done when a food hygiene inspection is due to bring the 
intervention programme in line with the FLCoP. 

3.25 Interventions outside the inspection programme for Food Hygiene and Food Standards are 
intelligence led. This includes responding to the public and feedback from businesses and 
officers.  

3.26 There is data available on the ethnicity of those living in Southend, this does not however 
reflect the number of people whose first language is not English. There is no information held 
on business owners, whose first language is not English. There is a translation service 
available which is available to inspectors to assist where business have difficulties in 
communicating in English.  

3.27 Table 4 below details the number of approved food premises within the City. 
Table 4: Approved Food Premises: 

Types No. of each Type 
Cockle Processing 4 
Fishery Products 1 
Meat Products 1 
Cold Stores 4 

 
3.28 There are no registered feed importers in Southend. The food importers in Southend are 

mostly registered offices, operating as brokers, with limited low risk foods stored in the area. 
Southend has responsibilities as an inland authority as there are no border inspection posts 
in Southend, or inland transit sheds subject to customs controls.  

  

259



8 
 

 
3.29 Seasonal Activities 
3.30 Being a seaside location the service: 

• Assists cockle and whelk producers during the harvesting season, which includes advisory 
visits and sampling and contributes to intelligence into the classification of production beds 
monitoring system; 

• Monitors and disrupts the illegal harvesting of shellfish and supports legal harvesting; 
• Supports the increased demand from higher visitor numbers from day trippers and those 

taking city breaks; 
• Supports the City with reviewing and advising on food activities associated with events 

organised across the City. Of the 620 events last year 74 had a significant food element; 
• Provides of an export health certification process for local shellfish producers to enable local 

businesses to export into the EU. 
3.31 Feed Premises Inspections: 
3.32 There are national enforcement priorities for animal feed, with the inspections being co-

ordinated through the National Trading Standards Board (NTSB) and the FSA. This approach 
is to ensure that regionally animal feed enforcement is effective, and there are risk-based 
controls in place across the Region. 

3.33 From 1 April 2019, delivery of the NTSB Feed inspection programme, including the role of 
the lead Feed Officer role is contracted out to Essex Trading Standards to deliver the current 
NTSB funded programme. 

3.34 The Council had 20 businesses registered under the Feed (Hygiene and Enforcement) 
Regulations 2005, for feed inspections as of the 1st of April 2022. These are retail premises, 
which distribute food on for feed purposes, and one manufacturer of animal feedstuffs. Table 
5 below highlights the Feed Premises Profile for 2021/22. 
Table 5: Feed Premises Profile for 2021/22. 

Category of Premises No. 

Pet Food Manufacturers R06 1 

Supplier of Surplus Food R07 19 

Total 20 

 
3.35 A Desktop Exercise for 2022-23 identified that there are three feed inspections to be 

completed this year (1R06 and 2 R07’s).  
3.36 Whilst there is now more certainty regarding EU Exit arrangements, there is still a need for 

the food and feed service to support businesses. Training and arrangements are in place to 
provide health certificates for businesses exporting to the EU. Fishing vessels have been 
inspected for compliance, and advice has been provided for businesses who were distributors 
and now have importer responsibilities. 

3.37 There are still concerns regarding the harvesting of shellfish from the foreshore, therefore, 
the team have regulated the commercial harvesting of a number of legal pickers. The 
quantities being taken indicate commercial activity, and a risk with shellfish entering the food 
chain without the required controls in place.  

3.38 Regulatory Services continues to respond to incidents of illegal shellfish harvesting, food 
fraud, with respect to counterfeit products, and to emerging PH issues.  

3.39 Regulatory Services undertake sampling around the National Priorities identified in the FSA’s 
Guidance on the food sampling programme. The programme also considers the sampling 

260



9 
 

priorities for the Council and for the priorities identified through the Regional Strategic 
Assessment and the East of England Trading Standards Association (EETSA). There is no 
funding available for imported foods and no identified sampling programmes for feed this 
year. Where grants are available Regulatory Services will bid for relevant funding.  

3.40 Service Requests: 
3.41 Regulatory Services will continue to respond to requests for service, including business 

advice, investigation and management of complaints, management of food incidents and 
hazards, including outbreaks of foodborne illness. The service will also prioritise requests 
from businesses to assist them with export requirements for food and feed. 

3.42  Officers are located both in the main Civic Centre, Victoria Avenue, and also undertake 
remote working. The service responds to inspections and incidents outside of normal hours, 
and the 24-hour contact centre receives emergency calls. 

3.43 Demand on the service can vary according to both the season, and the weather, with high 
seasons or hot weather usually resulting in increased service requests. 

3.44 Enforcement Policy 
3.45 The Council’s Environment and Regulatory Enforcement Policy was adopted by the Council 

in 2021. This policy was developed and consulted on meeting the requirements of the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 and the Regulator’s Code.  

4.0 Service Delivery 
4.1 Interventions by Regulatory Services Officers for Food and Feeding stuffs 
4.2 Details of inspections due in each category are in 3.16. Regulatory Services Officers will 

prioritise premises for inspection in line with the FSA Covid-19 Local Authority Enforcement 
document which outlines how Southend-on-Sea City Council is to respond to the impacts of 
Covid-19 on the delivery of official food and feed controls:   
 
For this Authority they are: 
 

• Visits to Approved food premises for conditional and full approval; 
• Inspection of fishing vessels; 
• All approved food premises that have been risk rated; 
• All premises processing shellfish will be inspected annually at the start of the season, and 

other approved premises when due; 
• All registered establishments but awaiting initial inspection / intervention; 
• Risk assessment of all new food business registering to determine intervention; 
• Feed interventions identified through the national enforcement priorities and co-ordinated 

by NTSB.  
 

4.3 High priority food activities are as follows: 
 

• Proactive surveillance of open / closed / recently reopened premises / new businesses / 
change of operation through registration and intelligence; 

• Establishments subject to ongoing formal enforcement action; 
• Inspections in accordance with the FSA Recovery plan; 
• Establishments overdue / due an enforcement visit in line with the FSA recovery plan; 
• No numerical target is attached to the number of revisits to be conducted; revisits will be 

undertaken where issues that seriously affect food safety are identified.  
4.4 As specified by the FSA recovery plan, and where resources allow, premises inspections 

should be aligned with the inspections required by the FLCoP.  

261



10 
 

4.5 A food sampling programme Annex 2 will be delivered to supplement and inform the service. 
Delivery of the sampling programme will be reviewed in line with the priorities detailed above. 

4.6  Regulatory Services Officers for food and feed are authorised in line with qualification and 
competency requirements detailed in the respective Codes of Practice. Co-ordination of food 
and feed is through the Lead Food and Feed Officers and the Regulatory Services Officer for 
Trading Standards. 

4.7 Officers have access to expertise and peer support through attending local liaison group 
meetings, detailed in section 4.41, and suitably qualified and competent Enforcement Officers 
will support the service where possible. 

4.9 As detailed above, all high-risk food standards are prioritised for inspection each year. Whilst 
there is no requirement to undertake food standards inspections at those rated B or C this 
year, these will usually be completed, where they are due or overdue, at the same time the 
food hygiene inspection is undertaken. 

4.10 The FSA is requiring that all new premises be inspected in year, however, where this is not 
possible those undertaking high risk activities will be prioritised over low risk inspections. 

4.11  With regards to home caterers, questionnaires continue to be used to determine the activities 
being undertaken, and subsequent inspections are prioritised where high risk activities are 
being undertaken. Many of this category of caterer register to enable them to benefit from the 
use the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS), rather than a legal requirement to do so. 
Inspections at premises undertaking lower risk activities will carried out where resource is 
available. 

4.12 Enforcement Officers will assist for any alternative interventions and sampling.  
4.13 To assist Southend fishery businesses the service provides export health certificates, 

specifically to assist our businesses and for other food export certificates. There are six 
officers who have the necessary accreditation training to deliver this service.  

4.14 Regulatory Services supports the Safety Advisory Group process for events to ensure that 
compliant caterers operate at these events. Caterers at these events will normally be those 
rated 3, 4 and 5 under the FHRS. 

4.15 Where mobile traders are inspected at events or markets, the outcomes will be reported to 
their registered local authority in line with the FLCoP. Similarly reports from other local 
authorities regarding mobile traders registered with Southend-on-Sea City Council will be 
used to inform SCC ratings and interventions. 

4.16 Regulatory Services Officers for food safety, standards and health and safety, will determine 
whether additional pro-active inspections need to be carried out at events based on 
intelligence. 

4.17 The Council will continue to participate in the FHRS to promote transparency and enable 
individuals to make informed choices about where they eat, and will continue to use and 
develop the Uniform database to improve reporting capability. 

4.18 Regulatory Services Group Food and Feed Complaints 
4.19 Details of the demand on the service for 2021-22 is in Section 9.1.  It is anticipated that the 

number of complaints received in 2022-23 will be similar to those received in previous years. 
4.20  All food complaints will be allocated to officers with appropriate feed and food competencies. 

Investigations of service requests/complaints will be based on intelligence and will be 
proportionate to the risk. 

 
 

262



11 
 

4.21 Primary Authority Partnership and Home Authority Scheme 
4.22 The Council does not have any formal arrangements in place for food hygiene, standards or 

feeding stuffs. The Regulatory and Environment Enforcement Policy requires all Officers to 
consider any partnerships and formal intervention strategies prior to taking enforcement 
action. As part of an informal Home Authority arrangement this authority will continue to 
undertake sampling for examination of the cockle processing establishments in liaison with 
the City of London Corporation Port Health Authority. 

4.23 All Officers have access to the Primary Authority Scheme website and will adhere to 
inspection plans or priorities identified through this scheme, and .the team will explore 
Primary Authority opportunities and training on how the scheme can be delivered has been 
completed by officers.  

4.24 Advice to Business 
4.25 The level of demand from businesses last year is included in section 6.1 but does not take 

account of advice given during inspection. Advice to businesses will be available to 
businesses, particularly in respect of EU Exit issues, and to our obligations under both the 
FHRS and the Regulators’ Code to assist businesses to grow, and for those within the FHRS 
to achieve a higher rating. 

4.26 Ad-hoc advice will be given on request and where necessary businesses will be advised of 
specialist support that they can obtain for themselves. Businesses have identified that 
information were to be produced in bite-size pamphlets, and how the service provides this 
information will be reviewed this year.  

4.27 Regulatory Services continues to support the Economic Development team (EDT) and 
Culture and Tourism by providing advice at events. The team will continue to support 
businesses through bringing attention to grants that are available for business development 
and energy efficiency. 

4.28 Details of what to expect during an inspection are included on the reverse of the inspection 
report, which is left on site following an inspection, together with the officer’s contact details. 
Advice is given to businesses on how to improve their food hygiene rating is also given on 
any further correspondence and also includes the officer’s contact details.  

4.29 Feed and Food Sampling 
4.30 The food sampling policy prioritisation is detailed in Section 3.39 and the food sampling 

programme for this year attached as Annex 2. Regulatory Services will continue to participate 
in the Essex Food Group programme as well as take samples to support local work. It is 
planned that sampling will be undertaken in accordance with the sampling plan (Annex 2). 
Enforcement Officers support this work.  

4.31 Whilst there is no funding available for sampling of animal feed, or funding available this year 
from the FSA to support imported foods, (which is a national priority), the team has usually 
been successful when bidding for funding, where it is available.  The UK Health Security 
Agency (UKHSA) continues to provide a free allocation for microbiological sampling. Where 
resources allow, the team will participate in the East of England Trading Standards 
Association (EETSA) programme undertaking compositional food sampling and standards as 
well as taking samples in support of local work. 

4.32 Samples for food examination, will be submitted to UKHSA Laboratory at Colindale; samples 
for food will be submitted to the Public Analyst Scientific Services Limited. The nominated 
Agricultural Analyst for feed is the same as Essex Trading Standards (ETS).  This is to reduce 
the cost of transport of samples to the laboratory. The details for the returns of any sampling 
information will provided to the Food Standards Agency where required. 

 

263



12 
 

4.33 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease 
4.34 The team continue to respond to demand with respect to coronavirus, including the proposal 

of utilising trained officers for contact tracing and vaccine hesitancy. If necessary, resource 
will be diverted to assist in pandemic coronavirus activities and backfilled by contracted 
inspections where possible, and where underspends facilitate this. Having said this, the FSA 
aims to bring diverted resources back to the official controls. Progress through the 
programme will be reviewed on a monthly basis.  

4.35  Investigations of non-covid related outbreaks and other incidents of suspected food poisoning 
will be responded to if and when they occur. The demand for last year is detailed in 9.0 and 
this level of outbreak is considered average for a year. There are working instructions that 
detail the responses to be made, and the Council has signed up to the Memorandum of 
Understanding Outbreak Control Plan. 

4.36  SARS-COVID-2 is a notifiable disease and Regulatory Services will need to understand what 
the requirements from UKHSA will be with respect to collation of information and actions to 
be taken.  

4.37  Incidents  
4.38 The team will review all food alerts and will respond where relevant or directed by the FSA 

or DEFRA. The demand for responses will usually be included within the resource allocated 
to the food service, but dependent on the demand may result in a reduction in the pro-active 
service. 

4.39 Resource may be necessary to support the Council’s emergency control plan. All additional 
resource requirements will be requested through the relevant Gold and Silver Command 
Groups.  

4.40 Regulatory Services continues to respond to incidents of illegal harvesting of shellfish from 
the foreshore. These products are removed from the food chain where commercial harvesters 
have been unable to demonstrate that the shellfish will be subject to the correct controls. The 
team is currently working with the National Fraud Team and other agencies.  

4.41 Liaison with Other Organisations 
4.42 The Council will continue to participate locally in liaison arrangements with: 

• The Essex Food Liaison Group (including microbiological sampling); 
• EETSA Food Group; 
• EETSA Feed Group; 
• South East Shellfish Liaison Group;  
• Food Hygiene Focus Group; 
• Essex Environmental Health Managers Group; 
• EETSA Heads of Service; 
• UKHSA; 
• NTSB; 
• Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority; 
• City of London Port Health Authority; 
• Town Centre and Marine Units of Essex Police; and 
• Planning. 

4.43 The Council will work with national bodies as appropriate, including the FSA, Chartered 
Trading Standards Institute, Chartered Institute of Environmental Health, Department for 
Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS), Local Government Association and Justice and Care Organisation.  

 

264



13 
 

4.44 Promotional Work and other non-official controls interventions for food and feed 
4.45 Participation will be as part of a larger exercise organised nationally or through Essex County, 

and will be prioritised in line with corporate objectives. 
4.46 Initiatives identified through the PH agenda, including those identified in action plans for 

Health and Wellbeing will be supported. To this end, the team is working with PH to support 
the obesity strategy and is considering the adoption of the Essex Tuck-In programme. 

4.47 The Team provides intelligence to the Intelligence Database (IDB) and directly to the Food 
Crime Unit and the Gangmasters Labour Abuse Agency.  

4.48 Regulatory Services will also participate in: 

• Health Promotion Events organised by SCC. 
• Targeted events. 
• Southend Action Days, targeted activity in specific areas 
• Social media messaging through Facebook and twitter 

4.49 The Council has continued to use social media through a Facebook page to inform business 
of emerging issues, including reinforcing the FHRS; publicising campaigns and informing 
members of where a business achieves a five under that scheme. 

4.50 The team uses resources to support leisure events across the town, though participating on 
the Safety Advisory Group (SAG) and inspecting at events previously identified as higher 
risk. 

5.0 Resources 
 
5.1 Financial Allocation 
 
5.2 Table 6 below highlights the financial allocation associated with the plan. 
 
 Table 6 financial allocation 

 £ Budget 2022-23 
Travel and Subsistence 1,700 
Equipment 0 (there would be budget available if 

required) 
IT & Legal (included in management, 
administration, and technical services) 

0 (there would be budget available if 
required) 

1Sampling Budget 0 (funding stream from grants where 
available and would be available if 
required) 

*Staffing Costs 355,000 
**Contracted food hygiene and standards 
inspections  

11,800 

Contracted animal feed inspections  500 
Total 369,000 

(1Microbiological samples are included as part of our free allocation with UKHSA.) 
*Includes calculations of on-costs as amended 2022-23 
**Underspend on vacant posts and to backfill covid secondments used to complete food hygiene and 
standards activities.  

  

265



14 
 

5.3 Staffing Allocation 
 
5.4 Table 7 highlights the staffing allocation over time, and Table 8 in section 5.8 highlights the 

staffing allocation necessary to deliver the plan. 
 

Table 7 Staffing Allocation over Time 
 

Staff  FTE 2019 – 
20 

FTE 2020-21 FTE 2021-22 FTE 2022-23 

Management Food and 
Feed 

0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 

Regulatory Services 
Officers Food* vacancy 
factor used for 
Contracted inspections 

3.2 1.8 2.0 2.2 

Enforcement Officers 
Food  

0.5 0.6 1.0 0.7 

Contracted food 
inspections 

0.5 0.8 1.6 1.2 

Total Officers 4.7 3.7 5.1 4.6 
Administration 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.5 
Regulatory Services 
Officers Feed 

Contracted 
out service 

Contracted 
out service 

Contracted 
out service   

Contracted 
out service 

Total FTE 5.3 4.3 5.7 5.1 

5.5 Staff Development Plan 
5.6 Training will be identified as part of the annual conversations with staff members to meet the 

needs of the service to be delivered. Registered Environmental Health Practitioners are 
responsible for managing their own CPD training which funded by the Council. 

5.7 Continued assessment of competencies in line with the Code of Practice is undertaken as 
part of the Council’s appraisal system, Officers who support areas of food, feed, infectious 
disease, and legal processes will receive appropriate training which will be provided both in-
house and externally as appropriate, and Officers working to complete their registration as 
food practitioners will be supported.  

5.8 Table 8 shows the projected resource required to deliver programme. 
Table 8 projected resource required to deliver programme 

Activity (does not include Business Support time) FTE 
Food Hygiene Inspections 1.86 
Approved Premises 0.04 
Food Standards (if undertaken at time of food hygiene inspection) 0.4 
Revisits to check compliance / FHRS 0.03 
Service Requests  0.4 
Events applications 0.23 
HA / Primary Authority 0.01 
Advice to Business 0.21 
Formal action 0.1 
Co-ordination liaison 0.07 
Promotional work 0.01 
Sampling activities 0.11 
Food poisoning (does not consider outbreak) 0.23 
Incidents (including illegal harvesting of shellfish) 0.5 
Training for competency (Code of Practice requirement) & internal 0.13 
Auditing 0.05 
Management of activities (service and improvements)  0.9 
Administration 0.5 
Total Food (including dedicated administration) 5.78 
All Feed Activities   0.1 

266



15 
 

Total FTE 5.79 

 
5.9 There is a contract in place to undertake food inspections to assist with meeting the FLCoP 

requirements, to ensure that high risk interventions are completed in year. However, Table 7 
and 8 demonstrate that there is a .69 FTE deficit between current  resources and the number 
required to deliver the programme. programme. This deficit is covered by utilising underspend 
in salaries across Regulatory Services to bring in additional contractors, to meet the 
inspection programme. 

6.0 Quality Assessment 
6.1 Quality Assessment and Internal Monitoring 
6.2 A comprehensive audit of data entering by the business support and officers was undertaken 

this year. It identified key areas of control to be implemented, and new processes have been 
implemented along with associated training. New reports are available to identify errors going 
forward.  

6.3 The team participate in the consistency exercises that are organised by the FSA, and these 
results and share results at the Essex Food Liaison Group. 

6.4 There is performance monitoring in place which is reported monthly to the Director of Public 
Protection. 

7.0 Review 
7.1 Review against the Service Plan 2021-22 
7.2 There is continued support for report writing and there are a range of performance reports 

available 
7.3. Table 9 shows the Inspections Under the Food Safety Recovery Plan 2021-22. 
 Table 9 Inspections Under the Food Safety Recovery Plan 2021-22. 
  

FSA Category Numbers Due  Achieved 
A 4 100% 
B 33 100% 
C 0 176 Due or Overdue Inspections 
D 0 384 Due or Overdue Inspections 
E 0 68 Due or Overdue Inspections 
Unrated assessed 
for prioritisation  

207 
 

100% assessed.  
44 high priority inspections 
completed 

 
7.4 The service fully complied with the FSA recovery plan for food hygiene inspections, and 

undertook additional inspections, which were due in accordance with the Food Law Code of 
Practice, but not required in year. The team also fully supported all premises which were 
exporting to the EU, and this included the additional responsibility of registering and 
inspecting fishing vessels registered to the Council. 

7.5 The FSA recovery plan only required A rated risk food standards inspections to be completed 
and this was achieved.  

7.6 The team is assisting the Assistant Regulatory Services Officer to complete their training 
route to achieve full competency for food interventions. They have achieved competency to 
undertake C, D and E risk inspections. During the year additional inspections were contracted 
to assist with the priorities of the inspection programme, and to back-fill those undertaking 
contact tracing.  

267



16 
 

 
7.7 Table 10 presents the Feed Premises Profile for the 2021-22 inspection programme, in line 

with the desk-top study. 
 Table 10 Feed Premises Profile Inspection Programme 

Category No. In 
category 

Due  
2021-22 

Completed  % Achieved 

R7 2 3 3 100 
R6 16    
R51 18    

 
7.8 To resolve the time element of the training and enforcement for feed this part of the service 

has been contracted out to Essex Trading Standards.  
 
8.0 Enforcement 
 
8.1 Table 11 below highlights the enforcement undertaken in Food Premises. 
 
 Table 11 Enforcement undertaken in Food Premises 
 

 2021-22 2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 
Prosecutions 0 0 0 0 
Simple Cautions 0 0 0 0 
Improvement Notices 2 0   5 9 
Prohibitions & Voluntary 
Closures 

1 1 0 0 

Seizure and Detentions 
(including voluntary 
surrender) 

18 51 47 8 

Remedial Action and 
detention notices 

0 0 0 0 

Total 21 52 52 8 
 

8.2 Table 12 Enforcement pertaining to Illegal shellfish harvesting. 
 Table 12 Enforcement Pertaining to Illegal Shellfish Harvesting. 

 

Fe
b 

21
 

M
ar

 2
1 

Ap
r 2

1 

O
p 

G
ul

l 
Ap

ril
 2

1 

M
ay

 2
1 

Ju
ne

 2
1 

Ju
l 2

1 

Au
g 

21
 

Number of shellfish 
harvesting groups seen / 
intercepted 

1 9 12 3 17 12 18 28 

Number of individual shellfish 
gatherers seen / intercepted 

2 20 26 7 66 38 62 90 

Number of tools seized 0 0 49 0 34 4 0 14 

Number of vehicles of 
interest seen / intercepted 

4 5 9 3 11 3 2 1 

Total amount of shellfish 
seized in kg 

0 72.5 379.8 30.2 224.1 20 51.1 98 

 
8.3 When comparing the figures for 2020, there was an overall reduction in shellfish gathering 

activities in Southend, this is attributable to the disruption programme in place. A total of 282 

268



17 
 

people were intercepted by Officers, and the volume of shellfish seized would equate to 
£10,150.  

8.4 The team continues to work collaboratively with partners, these include: the Gangmasters 
and Labour Abuse Authority, the Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authorities, the town 
centre and marine units of Essex Police, and the charity Justice and Care. The Team 
contributed to Operation Gull, which was a three week operation, supplementing the usual 
interventions undertaken by Environmental Health in July, August, and September 2021. The 
operation was a success and operations intercepted harvesting groups, individuals and the 
vehicles used.  

9.0 Service Requests 
9.1 Table 13 highlights the service requests for food safety and standards and infectious disease 

investigations. 
 Table 13 Service Requests for Food Safety and Standards, and Infectious Disease 

Investigations and Covid interventions 
 2021-22 2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 
Food Safety and Standards 423 596 535 555 
Infectious Disease 196 137 266 221 
Covid interventions 130 891 0 0 
Total 749 1624 799 776 

 
9.2 Table 14 highlights the numbers of samples taken. 

Table 14: Sampling 
 2021-

22 
2020- 
21 

2019-20 2018-19 

Microbiological Samples 
Taken 

192 111 210 188 

Analytical Samples Taken 30 25 42 0 
 

9.3 The FSA funded an EU imported food sampling project which was completed. There were no 
samples required for feed analysis in 2021-22. 

 
10.0 Identification of any Variation from the Service Plan 2021-22 
 
10.1 The FSA recovery plan priorities were completed, and that plan focussed on the priorities 

identified by the FSA. 
10.2  A sampling grant for sampling imported foods became available in-year, and a successful 

grant application was made. 30 samples were taken by officers in line with the FSA priorities. 
However, the plan to explore the use of alternative enforcements and the use of Uniform to 
reschedule the next intervention was not achieved, and has been rescheduled to this year. 

10.3 Additional resource was required by officers to correct inputting errors of administrators. 
 
10.4 Areas for Improvement 
10.5 The following areas of improvement have been identified: 

• Continue to enhance and develop the functionality of the Uniform database; 
• Continued improvement of remote working facilities to integrate paperwork for 

inspections; 
• Improved reporting tools for performance management purposes; 
• Standardising work where possible and process improvements; 

269



18 
 

• Continue to review and prioritise new premises inspections where risk identified; 
• Training of Officers to support work areas and identified competency requirements; 
• Explore the use of the alternative enforcement visits, and reschedule for the next 

intervention in line with the FLCoP. A process will be developed and ensure the 
mapping in Uniform reflects this; 

• Work with businesses to identify service and advice needs; 
• Review of processes for issuing of health certificates function.  
• Team to maintain competency in FCCO to enable certification of EHC for export to EU.  
• Improve process compliance of administration staff. 

  

270



19 
 

Annex 1  

Leader and Cabinet Portfolio for Regulatory Services:   

Leader   Cllr Stephen George 

Public Protection:  Cllr Martin Terry 

Food Service – Officers undertaking food work only: 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Interim Executive Director 
Neighbourhoods and Environment
John Burr

Director Public Protection – 
Joanne Stowell

Head of Regulatory 
Services – Elizabeth 
Georgeou

Regulatory Services 
Manager – Sheira Fox 
(Food Hygiene, 
Standards) Lead Food 
Officer

(F

Regulatory Services 
Manager – Adam Penn

Food RSO’s 
Juliette Gilbert
Wai Leung
Louise McDermott
Ollie Nawrat (Assistant 
RSO) 

Enforcement 
Officers:
Sarah Thompson

Trading Standards 
(Feed) RSO’s
Essex Trading Standards
Alison Rust 

271



20 
 

Annex 2 

SOUTHEND-ON-SEA CITY COUNCIL 
 SAMPLING PROGRAMME; 1 April 2022 – 31 March 2023 

Food Std 
Sampling 
Dates 

 Microbiological Sampling Dates 

  
Sampling 
day: 
Weds 

 
Sampling Projects 

In-house, UKHJSA, FSA funded, Eastern Region 

A
pp

ro
ve

d/
 

fa
ct

or
y 

 

C
oc

kl
es

 
(J

un
e-

O
ct

) 

13/04/2022 In house-ready to eat seafood including smoked salmon  

27/04/2022 In house-ready to eat seafood including smoked salmon  

12/05/2022 In-house scooped & machine ice cream including vegan 
In house ready to eat salads and environmental surface 
sampling of burger / kebab premises e.g. surfaces of cutting 
board, dishwashers, and reusable cloths  

 
 

Yes 

25/05/2022 In-house scooped & machine ice cream including vegan 
In house ready to eat salads and environmental surface 
sampling of burger / kebab premises e.g. surfaces of cutting 
board, dishwashers, and reusable cloths  

Y 

 

08/06/2022 

In-house scooped & machine ice cream including vegan 
In house ready to eat salads and environmental surface 
sampling of burger / kebab premises e.g. surfaces of cutting 
board, dishwashers, and reusable cloths 

  
Yes 

22/06/2022 

In house sampling made to order sandwiches near schools / 
university / plain chicken or egg sandwich / rolls (no salad) 
from sandwich shops including bakeries (and food allergen 
knowledge test 

 
 

 
Yes 

06/07/2022 

In house sampling made to order sandwiches near schools / 
university / plain chicken or egg sandwich / rolls (no salad) 
from sandwich shops including bakeries (and food allergen 
knowledge test 

  
Yes 

20/07/2022 

In house sampling made to order sandwiches near schools / 
university / plain chicken or egg sandwich / rolls (no salad) 
from sandwich shops including bakeries (and food allergen 
knowledge test 

 Yes  

 

03/08/2022 

In house sampling made to order sandwiches near schools / 
university / plain chicken or egg sandwich / rolls (no salad) 
from sandwich shops including bakeries (and food allergen 
knowledge test 

 Yes 

17/08/2022 

In house sampling made to order sandwiches near schools / 
university / plain chicken or egg sandwich / rolls (no salad) 
from sandwich shops including bakeries (and food allergen 
knowledge test 

 Yes  

31/08/2022 
In-house sampling – sliced cooked meat, corned beef, sliced 
gala pies from butchers and delis 

 Yes 

272



21 
 

14/09/2022 

In-house sampling – sliced cooked meat, corned beef, sliced 
gala pies from butchers and delis. Sliced cured meat (salami 
and similar) biltong 

 Yes 

28/09/2022 

In-house sampling – sliced cooked meat, corned beef, sliced 
gala pies from butchers and delis. Sliced cured meat (salami 
and similar) biltong 

 Yes 

12/10/2022 
In-house Listeria shopping basket (pate, soft cheese, smoked 
fish, ham) 

 Yes 

26/10/2022 
In-house Listeria shopping basket (pate, soft cheese, smoked 
fish, ham) 

 Yes 

09/11/2022 
In-house Listeria shopping basket (pate, soft cheese, smoked 
fish, ham) 

Yes Yes 

23/11/2022 
In-house sampling RTE seeds / nuts (pistachio) festive 
products, dates for presence of salmonella 

  

05/12/2022 
In-house sampling RTE seeds / nuts festive products, dates 
for presence of salmonella 

  

 

 

NEW YEAR *No sampling activities* 
 

11/01/2023 UKHSA Sampling project – TBC   

01/02/2023 UKHSA Sampling project – TBC   

15/02/2023 UKHSA Sampling project – TBC   

01/03/2023 UKHSA Sampling project – TBC   

15/03/2023 In-house project on emerging risks / re-sampling  

 

29/03/2023 In-house project on emerging risks / re-sampling  

 

 

 

273



This page is intentionally left blank



School Admission Arrangements 2024-25 Page 1 of 7 Report Number 

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 
 

Report of Executive Director (Children and Public Health) 

to 
Cabinet 

on 
13 September 2022 
Report prepared by:  

Catherine Braun, Head of Access and Inclusion 
Chrissy Papas, Place Planning and Admission Compliance Manager 

 
School Admissions Arrangements for Community Schools 2024/25;  
the Coordinated Admission Scheme for Academic year 2024/25; and 

Review of the relevant area 
 

Pupil Scrutiny Committee  
Executive Councillor: Councillor Laurie Burton 

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item)  

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1. To confirm the admission arrangements for Community Schools for the academic 

year 2024/25.  
 

1.2. To confirm the Coordinated Admissions Scheme for 2024/25. 
 

1.3. To review and agree to the relevant area. 
 
 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1. To approve the proposed Admissions Arrangements for Community 
Schools for the academic year 2024/25 are approved, as set out in Appendix 
1. 
 

2.2. To note, that consultation with governing bodies of Community Schools 
takes place on the published admission number (PAN) for community 
infant, junior and primary schools for September 2024 as set out in the 
Admission Arrangements in Appendix 1. 

 
2.3. To approve the proposed Coordinated Admissions Scheme for 2024/25 

onwards, as set out in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3.  
 

2.4. To agree any minor changes after School Governor consultation be ratified 
by the Executive Director for Children and Public Health in December 2022 
for publication as required by law, 1 January 2023 

 

Agenda
Item No.

275

15



School Admission Arrangements 2024-25 Page 2 of 7 Report Number 

 

2.5. To approve the relevant area for schools is agreed as follows: Southend, 
Castle Point and Rochford for the years 2025 and 2026 (item 6 below). 
 

3. Background 
 

Statutory Framework 
3.1. The Council has the responsibility to determine the following in relation to school 

admissions: 
 
a) the Admission Arrangements for Community Schools (admission numbers, 

admission criteria and catchment areas); and 
b) the Coordinated Admissions Scheme, which sets out the way in which 

admissions for all schools (including academies and other own admission 
authority schools) will operate. 

 
3.2       The local authority (as the admission authority for all community schools) must 

consult on the admission arrangements for Community Schools, if it proposes to 
make any changes to the existing arrangements or, at least every seven years, 
even if there are no changes. 

 
3.3 Own Admission Authorities, (academy, foundation and voluntary aided schools) 

have the responsibility to consult on and determine their own admission 
arrangements including catchment areas. 

 
3.4 The Admissions Code 2021 determines that the official window for formal 

consultation on final proposed arrangements for admissions (including catchment 
areas) is between 1 October and 31 January and the consultation must last for a 
minimum of 6 weeks. 

 
3.5 Admission arrangements for Community Schools in Southend must be 

determined by 28th February 2023 and included in a composite prospectus for all 
schools by 15th March 2023.  These are statutory deadlines and must be adhered 
to by all admission authorities.  

 
3.6 The current admission arrangements for Community Schools (including 

catchment areas) were last consulted on and approved by the Council for the 
admissions in academic year 2022/23.  No changes are proposed for 2024/25 
and therefore no consultation for admission arrangements is required.  

 
3.7 The local authority (as the admission authority for Community Schools) must 

consult the governing body of each community school where it proposes either 
to increase or keep the same published admission number (PAN).  
 

3.8 The Council must balance the duty to ensure sufficient school places alongside 
its duty to make efficient use of resources. The DfE recommends Councils have 
a surplus of around 3-5% within each planning cluster.  Where surplus becomes 
too low or too high consideration is needed to either increase or reduce the 
number of available places in the City.  This results in changes to some school 
PANs.  The proposal is to keep the same PAN for all Community Schools 
for 2024/25. 

 

276



School Admission Arrangements 2024-25 Page 3 of 7 Report Number 

 

3.9 Schemes for co-ordinating all admission applications to schools must be 
formulated and submitted to the DfE by 1 January in the determination year.  For 
the school year commencing September 2024, submission to the DfE must be 
submitted by 1 January 2023.  Consultation on the scheme is mandatory every 
seven years or where substantial changes are being made.  Southend-on-Sea 
City Council will consult admission authorities in the Borough to ensure 
cohesion of the coordinated admissions round.  Consultation will run from 
1 November to 7 December 2022. 

 
3.10 The School Admissions guidance requires Local Authorities to determine every 

two years a “relevant area” for the purposes of admissions.  This defines the area 
in which admission authorities consult on admission arrangements.  The area of 
Southend, Castle Point and Rochford has been in place for many years and is 
most appropriate for consultation given that a significant number of pupils access 
provision in schools in those areas. 
 
Admission Arrangements for 2023/24 
Admission/oversubscription Criteria 

3.11 There are no proposed changes from the previously consulted 2022/23 
admission arrangements.  There is therefore no requirement to consult for 
2024/25.  The admission criteria for Community Primary Schools for September 
2024/25 are shown in Appendix 1. 
 
Catchment Areas 

3.11 The proposed catchment areas for primary schools for September 2024 are 
identified within the Admission Arrangements in Appendix 1.  There are no 
proposed changes from the last full public consultation for 2022/23. 

 
Primary and Secondary Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme 2024 

3.12 Consultation rules for co-ordinated arrangements require the local authority to 
consult   with other admission authorities in the area and other local authorities if 
there are changes from the previous year’s scheme.  Minor changes are 
proposed for the co-ordinated scheme for 2024 as provided in summary in 
Appendix 3.  

 
3.13 The co-ordinated admission scheme has not changed significantly from the 

version adopted for 2023, however a local consultation with schools will run as 
usual.  
 

3.14 It is not anticipated that there will be significant comments for changes to the co-
ordinated admission scheme from schools and therefore it is requested that the 
final version is ratified by the Executive Director for Children and Public Health in 
December for publication as required by law, 1 January 2023, usually by mid 
December 2022.  
 
Background information on the relevant area 

3.15 The “relevant area” for Southend, must include all of the Borough of Southend 
but may include parts of Essex.  An area could be included in more than one 
“relevant area”, which would be the case if any part of Essex were included.  

 

277



School Admission Arrangements 2024-25 Page 4 of 7 Report Number 

 

3.16 In view of the considerable cross border movement it is recommended that the 
“relevant area” for Southend includes the areas of Castle Point and Rochford in 
addition to the Borough of Southend-on-Sea.  
 

4. Other Options 
 
4.1 The Council could decide to change the admission arrangements for the 

Community Schools.  This would require full public consultation.  This would add 
undue pressure on a small number of local schools for 2024, where no need for 
change has been identified.  

 
4.2 The Council must consult in the round after this, for the 2025/26 arrangement to 

ensure the continuation of the PAN reduction for Chalkwell Hall Infant School to 
progression of the year 2 pupils into Chalkwell Hall Junior School for 2025/26. At 
that stage a full public consultation must be held.  

 
4.3 Not undertaking a public consultation does not change the requirement that 

Southend-on-Sea City Council must consult admission authorities on the 
proposed Coordinated Admission Scheme 2024 to ensure the delivery of school 
places, as required by law.  
 

4.4 Not undertaking a public consultation does not change the requirement that 
Southend-on-Sea City Council must consult Governors of community schools on 
their PAN and inform schools of the minor changes to the coordinated scheme. 

 
5 Reasons for Recommendations 

 
5.1 The Council is not proposing any changes for admission criteria, PAN or 

catchment areas for community schools (2.1).  
 
5.2 The Council will consult individually the Governing Bodies of community schools 

as required for increased or unchanged PAN's (2.2).  
 
5.3 The Council is required to publish the Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme 2024/25, 

by 1 January 2023.   Cabinet is asked to approve the proposed scheme to allow 
consultation with schools as required in the Admission Code (2.3). 
 

5.4 Due to the requirement to publish the scheme by the 1 January 2023, Cabinet is 
asked to agree that any minor changes identified from the school consultations 
on the scheme be ratified by the Executive Director for Children and Public Health 
in December (2.4). 

 
5.5 The relevant area will be adopted as proposed, no consultation required. 
 
5.6 A report will be presented to the January Cabinet to formally approve the PAN's 

and to formally determine the admission arrangements. 
 
6 Corporate Implications 
 
6.1 Contribution to the Southend 2050 Road Map 
 

278



School Admission Arrangements 2024-25 Page 5 of 7 Report Number 

 

6.1.1 These arrangements will assist pupils within the Borough to access quality 
learning opportunities to achieve the best possible outcomes for all children.  It 
fits well into the ambition of Opportunity and Prosperity, in that it supports sharing 
our prosperity amongst all of our people.  It further supports the ambition in that 
our children are school and life ready and our workforce is skilled and job ready.   

 
6.2 Financial Implications  

 
6.2.1 There are no direct financial implications for the Council.  The administration of 

school admission, and core revenue funding for the running of a School is funded 
through the Dedicated Schools Grant. 

 
6.3 Legal Implications  
 
6.3.1 The determination of admission arrangements for Community Schools and the 

provision of a coordinated admissions scheme is a statutory requirement. 
 
6.4 People Implications  
 
6.4.1 The proposed changes to one schools PAN have been considered in line with the 

pupil product for the schools catchment area.  Based upon historical admission 
trends and numbers of births that have declined in the area, the changes are not 
expected to impact catchment residents negatively. 

 
6.5 Property Implications 
 
6.5.1 There are no Property Implications associated with this report. 
 
6.6 Consultation 
 
6.6.1 The local authority (as the admission authority for community schools) must 

consult the governing body of each Community School where it proposes either 
to increase or keep the same published admission number (PAN).  As no 
changes are proposed there is no required to hold a public consultation for 
2024/25 however the governing bodies will be consulted.  

 
6.6.2 Schemes for co-ordinating all admission applications to schools must be 

formulated and submitted to the Department for Education (DfE) by 1 January in 
the determination year.  For the school year commencing September 2024, 
submission to the DfE must be submitted by 1 January 2023.  Consultation on 
the scheme is mandatory every seven years or where substantial changes are 
being made.  Southend-on-Sea City Council will consult admission 
authorities in the Borough to ensure cohesion of the coordinated 
admissions round.  Consultation will run from 1 November to 7 December 
2022. 

 
6.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications 

 
6.7.1 A co-ordinated admissions scheme and clear oversubscription criteria are 

necessary to ensure fair access to school places.  Admission Arrangements for 
Community Schools and the Coordinated Admission Scheme for Southend 
Schools have been written in line with mandatory requirements set by the 

279



School Admission Arrangements 2024-25 Page 6 of 7 Report Number 

 

Admissions Code 2021.  The code determines that authorities must ensure that 
the practices and criteria used to decide the allocation of school places are fair, 
clear and objective and that parents should be able to easily understand how 
places are allocated. 

 
6.7.2 In line with the Equality Act 2010, the arrangements and scheme are reviewed 

annually against an expanded list of protected characteristics as identified within 
the Admission Code: disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; 
race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 

 
6.7.3 The proposed Scheme, arrangements and decisions made through their 

administration are clear that there is no discrimination on the grounds of disability; 
gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or 
sexual orientation, against a parent who is applying for a school place or offered 
admission as a pupil. 

 
6.7.4 There are limited exceptions to the prohibition of discrimination on grounds of 

religion or belief and sex.  Schools designated by the Secretary of State as having 
a religious character are exempt from some aspects of the prohibition of 
discrimination on the grounds of religion or belief and this means they can make 
a decision about whether or not to admit a child as a pupil on the basis of religion 
or belief.  Single-sex schools are lawfully permitted to discriminate on the grounds 
of sex in their admission arrangements. 

 
6.8 Risk Assessment 
 
6.8.1 The need to reduce PANs in the Borough is based upon an assessment of 

forecast need inclusive of surplus places.  The risks to a small number of schools 
becoming financially unviable to continue in the long run is great if nothing is done 
to reduce excessive surplus places.  Discussions with other cluster schools to 
gain agreement to consult on lowering PANs, has also been undertaken and Trust 
and Governing Bodies are considering consulting in the Autumn as well. 

 
6.8.2 If the Council does not agree a scheme, one will be imposed by the DfE, and the 

Council's reputation will suffer. 
 
6.9 Value for Money 
 
6.9.1 There are no Value for Money implications associated with this report. 
 
 
6.10 Community Safety Implications 
 
6.10.1 There are no Community Safety Implications associated with this report. 
 
 
 
6.11 Environmental Impact 
 
6.11.1 There are no Environmental Impacts associated with this report.   
 
 

280



School Admission Arrangements 2024-25 Page 7 of 7 Report Number 

 

7 Background Papers 
 

7.1 School Admissions Code 2021  
School Admission Appeals Code 2012  
 

8 Appendices  
 

8.1 Appendix 1 - Proposed Admissions Arrangements for Community Schools for 
September 2024 including Published Admission Numbers on Page 2. 

 
8.2 Appendix 2 - Proposed Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for September 2024 

onwards. 
 

8.3 Appendix 3 - Explanatory note to highlight changes on the Co-ordinated 
Admission Scheme 2024/25 

 

281

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/389388/School_Admissions_Code_2014_-_19_Dec.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/275897/school_admission_appeals_code_1_february_2012.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
APPENDIX 1   

Admissions 
Arrangements  
for Community Schools  

 

For September 2024/25 round of admissions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For office use – statutory process: The School Admissions Code 2021 

  

Key Dates Task 
September 2022 Cabinet with no consultation proposal as no changes   

19th Sept – 31st October 2022 PAN consultation with Governing Bodies for community schools 

January - 28th February 2023 Final Determined Admission Arrangements by Cabinet (post PAN 

consultation) 

15th March 2023 Publication of Composite Prospectus of Determined Arrangements 

16th March – 15th May 2023 Window for Objections to the School Adjudicator. 

12th September 2023 Final arrangements for 2024 are published in the Primary booklet 

283



CONTENTS 
 

1. Introduction            4 

2. Community Schools Published Admissions Number 2024/25    4 

3 Oversubscription criteria for community schools      4 

Barons Court Primary School & Nursery      5 

 Chalkwell Hall Infant School        5 

 Chalkwell Hall Junior School        5 

 Earls Hall Primary School         5 

 Edwards Hall Primary School        5 

 Fairways Primary School         5 

 Heycroft Primary School         5 

 Leigh North Street Primary School        7 

 West Leigh Infant School         7 

4. Explanatory notes, including maps, apply to all community schools in  

Southend-on-Sea           7 

4.1 Pupils in public care and children that were previously in public care   7 

4.2  Pupils with Education, Health and Care Plans      8 

4.3  Pupils eligible for pupil premium (West Leigh Infant and  

West Leigh Junior Schools)         8 

4.4  Pupils of staff of the school         8 

4.5  Distance          9 

4.5.1 Tie-Break          9 

4.6  Distance where parents have separated      9 

4.7  Infant to partner Junior admissions       10 

4.8  Siblings           10 

4.9  Waiting lists           10 

4.10  Over and Under age applications        10 

4.11  Admission of children below compulsory school age and deferred entry to school  11 

4.13  In-year admissions          11 

4.14  Home Address          12 

5.   Catchment Map           13

   

284



1. Introduction 
Southend-on-Sea City Council is the admission authority for all community schools in the city. This 

document sets out the formal policies for all community schools in the city. The arrangements below, 

including the explanatory notes, are in line with government legislation and guidance (School Admissions 

Code and School Admissions Appeals Code) and designed to ensure there is a fair, clear and 

reasonable admissions procedure for all applicants, and to help guide parents through the application 

process.   

These arrangements apply to all admissions, including in-year admissions for the admission year 2024 

and are delivered under the terms of the Determined Coordinated Admission Scheme 2024. 

2. Community Schools Published Admissions Number 2024/25 
 

Community Primary Schools Proposed admission limit 
for 2024/25, for each year 

group 
Barons Court Primary School & Nursery 35 

Chalkwell Hall Infant School 90 

Chalkwell Hall Junior School 120 

Earls Hall Primary School  90 

Fairways Primary School 60 

Heycroft Primary School 60 

Leigh North Street Primary School 90 

West Leigh Infant School 120 

3. Oversubscription criteria for community schools 
Criteria are set for each individual school below and apply to admissions for year 2024/25.  
Explanatory notes, below, apply to all community school arrangements.  The published 
admission limit for community schools is provided above.  

If at the closing date for applications, there are not enough places for all those who have expressed a 

wish to have their child admitted to a community school; places will be allocated using the admission 

criteria as below. This will not apply to children with a statement of special educational needs (SEND) or 

Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans as the plan/statement names the school and therefore the child 

must be admitted to the named school. The admission criteria are listed below by school with 

explanatory notes following:  

 

 

 

 285



Barons Court Primary School & Nursery 

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children 

2. Pupils who live in the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school 

3. Pupils who live in the catchment area 

4. Pupils who live outside the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school 

5. Pupils of staff at the school 

6. Pupils who live outside the catchment area 

(for all criteria, catchment area map and additional information please see explanatory notes and 

maps below) 

Chalkwell Hall Infant School 

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children 

2. Pupils who live in the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school or Chalkwell Hall 

Junior School 

3. Pupils of staff at the school 

4. Pupils who live in the catchment area 

5. Pupils who live outside the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school or Chalkwell 

Hall Junior School 

6. Pupils who live outside the catchment area 

(for all criteria, catchment area map and additional information please see explanatory notes and 

maps below) 

Chalkwell Hall Junior School 

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children 

2. Pupils attending year 2 at Chalkwell Hall Infant School 

3. Pupils who live in the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school or Chalkwell Hall 

Infant School 

4. Pupils of staff at the school 

5. Pupils who live in the catchment area 

6. Pupils who live outside the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school or Chalkwell 

Hall Junior School 

7. Pupils who live outside the catchment area 

(for all criteria, catchment area map and additional information please see explanatory notes and 

maps below) 

  

286



Earls Hall Primary School  

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children 

2. Pupils who live in the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school 

3. Pupils of staff at the school 

4. Pupils who live in the catchment area 

5. Pupils who live outside the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school 

6. Pupils who live outside the catchment area  

(for all criteria, catchment area map and additional information please see explanatory notes and 

maps below) 

Fairways Primary School 

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children 

2. Pupils who have a sibling attending the school 

3. Pupils who live in the catchment area 

4. Pupils of staff at the school 

5. Pupils who live outside the catchment area 

(for all criteria, catchment area map and additional information please see explanatory notes and 

maps below) 

Heycroft Primary School 

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children 

2. Pupils who live in the catchment area and have a sibling attending the school 

3. Pupils who live in the catchment area 

4. Pupils who live outside the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school 

5. Pupils of staff at the school 

6. Pupils who live outside the catchment area 

(for all criteria, catchment area map and additional information please see explanatory notes and 

maps below) 

Leigh North Street Primary School 

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children 

2. Pupils who live in the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school 

3. Pupils of staff at the school 

4. Pupils who live in the catchment area 

5. Pupils who live outside the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school 

6. Pupils who live outside the catchment area 

(for all criteria, catchment area map and additional information please see explanatory notes and 

maps below) 

 

 287



West Leigh Infant School 

1. Looked after children and previously looked after children 

2. Pupils who live in the catchment area who have a sibling attending the school or West Leigh 

Junior School 

3. Pupils of staff at the school 

4. Pupils eligible for pupil premium who live in the catchment area 

5. Pupils who live in the catchment area 

6. Pupils who live outside that catchment area who have a sibling attending the school or attending 

West Leigh Junior School 

7. Pupils who live outside the catchment area 

(for all criteria, catchment area map and additional information please see explanatory notes and 

maps below) 

4. Explanatory notes, including maps, apply to all community schools in 
Southend-on-Sea  
Parents must make a separate application for transfer from nursery to primary school and from infant to 

junior school. Parents must complete a Southend-on-Sea Common Application Form (CAF) for 

applications to year reception and year 3 between 14th September and 15th January.   

 

4.1 Looked after children and children that were previously looked after 

A 'looked after child' or a child who was previously looked after but immediately after being looked after 

became subject to an adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship order90 including those who 

appear [to the admission authority] to have been in state care outside of England and ceased to be in 

state care as a result of being adopted. 

 A looked after child is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with 

accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in 

Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989). 

This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see Section 12 adoption orders) 

and children who were adopted under the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (see Section 46 adoption 

orders).  

Child arrangements orders are defined in Section 8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by Section 12 

of the Children and Families Act 2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any 

residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed to be a child arrangements order. 

Refer to section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special Guardianship order’ as an order 

appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).  

4.2 Pupils with Education, Health and Care Plans 

An Education, Health and Care Plan is a plan made by the local authority under Section 37 of the 

Children and Families Act 2014 specifying the special education, health and social care provision 288



required for that child.  All children whose statement of special educational needs (SEND) or Education, 

Health and Care (EHC) plan names the school must be admitted. Children with a statement or a plan will 

follow a different process for admission. Further information can be found on 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 

Local Offer 

4.3 Pupils eligible for pupil premium – Early years pupil premium (West 
Leigh Infant School) 

Nurseries and schools are given a pupil premium/early years pupil premium for children who have 

qualified for free school meals at any point in the past six years. Parents will need to tick on the 

application form and/or supplementary information form or notify the Local Authority in writing if they are 

eligible or registered for pupil premium.  Any disclosure for pupil premium will be used only to rank 

applications against the admission criteria and will not be held for any other purpose. 

Parents can check their eligibility by filling out the LA online form 

Parents that are in receipt of one of the following may be eligible for pupil premium:  

• Income Support  

• Income-based Job Seekers Allowance  

• Income-related Employment and Support Allowance  

• Support under Part VI of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999  

• The Guaranteed Element of State Pension Credit  

• Child Tax Credit (if they not entitled to Working Tax Credit and have an annual income under 

£16,190)  

• Working Tax Credit 'run-on' - the payment someone may get for another 4 weeks after they stop 

qualifying for Working Tax Credit and Universal Credit 

 

4.4 Pupils of staff of the school 

Children will be ranked in this admission criteria if they are children of staff at the school under the 

following circumstances: - 

a. where the member of teaching staff (including, staff that are at the school in positions, such as: 

Senior Leadership Team/level, Head of Year Group, Head of Department, Office Manager or 

SENCo) that has been employed at the school for two or more years at the time at which the 

application for admission to the school is made,  

and/or 

b. the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant post for which there is a demonstrable specialist 

skill shortage and 

289

https://www.southend.gov.uk/children-disabilities/special-educational-needs
https://livewellsouthend.com/kb5/southendonsea/directory/localoffer.page?localofferchannel=0
https://www.southend.gov.uk/help-costs/free-school-meals-1


c. are the children of the member of staff, living permanently with the member of staff at the same 

address. The member of staff must be working at the school at the time of application and 

expected to continue with their employment at the school during the application and allocation 

process.  

4.5 Distance 

In the case of over subscription in any one category “straight line” distance will be used to measure the 

distance between the pupil’s home and the nearest pupil entrance to the school. Distances will be 

measured using the Local Authority’s computerised measuring system. The pupils living closest will be 

given priority. If the pupil’s home is a flat the distance will be measured to the main external entrance to 

the building. 

4.5.1 Tie-Break 

To be used to decide between two applications that cannot otherwise be separated: If the same distance 

is shared by more than one pupil, and only one place is available, the place will be awarded on the basis 

of a computerised random allocation process (supervised by someone independent of the Council / 

governing body).  In the case where the last child offered is a twin or sibling of a multiple birth sibling 

both/all children will be offered and the sibling will be an ‘excepted pupil’. 

4.6 Distance where parents have separated 

The distance is measured the same for all applications.  Only one application can be received. The LA 

should not have the details of both parents or know of the marital status of the parents.  If more than one 

application is received from parents, applications will be placed on hold until such time that: 

• an application is made that both parents agree to; or 

• written agreement is provided from both parents; or 

• a court order is obtained confirming which parent's application takes precedence’. 

Details on address checks and which address is relevant are also provided in the admission booklet. In 

all cases the child’s normal place of residence is applicable for the purposes of the application. 

4.7 Infant to partner Junior admissions 

Parents must apply in the main round to transfer from an infant school to the junior school. Parents must 

use the Council common application form (CAF) and submit the application between 14th September to 

15th January. The Council offers a full coordinated process for admission to year 3. 

4.8 Siblings 

Siblings are considered to be a brother or sister, half-brother or half-sister, step-brother or step-sister, 

adopted brother or sister, living at the same address, who attends the school at the time of application 

with a reasonable expectation that he or she will still be attending at the time of the proposed admission. 

290



In the exceptional situation where one twin or one or two triplets are refused a place, in order to keep 

family members together and in line with the School Admissions Code 2014, the additional pupil(s) will 

be admitted even if this results in the admission limit for the year group being exceeded. 

4.9 Waiting lists 

Children’s names will automatically be on the waiting list for schools that are higher on the rank list and 

for which they do not receive an offer (for years Reception and year 3).   

Parents can appeal against the refusal for schools for which they did not receive an offer. Appeals must 

be lodged within 20 school days of the date of the letter. Parents can access the information on appeals 

and submit an appeal online on the council’s web site www.southend.gov.uk/admissions or email 

admissions@southend.gov.uk to request an appeal application form. All appeals are considered by an 

Independent Appeals Panel.  

Waiting lists for all year groups for community schools are closed at the end of each school year. 

4.10 Admission of children below compulsory school age and deferred entry 
to school. 

The Council provides for the admission of all children in the September following the child’s fourth 

birthday.    Most children start school on a full time basis, however parents can defer the date their child 

is admitted to the school until later in the school year but not beyond the point at which they reach 

compulsory school age (age 5)  and not beyond the beginning of the final term of the school year for 

which it was made (for reception this will be start of summer term/April); 

Parents wishing their child to attend part time, or to delay starting must discuss their decision with the 

headteacher of their allocated school.  The approved deferment means that the place is held open and is 

not offered to another child and the parents must take up the place full time by the start of the Summer 

Term in April. Part-time agreements should include core teaching sessions.  

In the case of children born prematurely or the late summer months parents may request admission 

outside the normal age group so that their child starts school the September after their 5th birthday. 

Such requests for Schools in Southend-on-Sea are directly to the school and the school advises the 

parent of their decision. In most cases school will notify the Council and the Council will inform the parent 

in writing. Parents must notify the LA and provide any letters relating to this matter, especially for 

agreements outside the Council’s area.  

Parents submitting a request for admission outside the normal age group must also complete the Single 

application Form during the main admission round, 14th September – 15th January for the ‘usual age 

group for their child’.  

4.11 In-year admissions 

As permitted by law parents can make an application at any time to any school outside the normal 

admissions. Where places are available applicants will be offered. Where there are no places applicants 

will be refused and can join the waiting list for the school. Waiting lists are ranked according to the 291



admission criteria for the school. In some cases where a child is already on a school roll locally the place 

may be offered for the start of the next term.  

To apply for reception after the normal admission cycle or for admission into Years 1-6, parents will need 

to complete an In-Year application form which is available from the Council’s offices and the website, 

www.southend.gov.uk/admissions and admissions@southend.gov.uk  

Applications in the current school year are processed within a maximum of 15 school days, applications 

for the next school year are processed as received from 1 July,  however most decisions are released on 

return of schools in September.  

Pupils that are refused a place and added to the waiting list and remain on the waiting list until 31 Aug of 

any given year. Waiting lists close on 31 Aug of any given year and new waiting lists are created for the 

next academic year (from the applications for the next school year). Waiting lists from previous years are 

not rolled over to the next. Parents wishing to continue on a waiting list for a following year are required 

to make a fresh application. 

As required by the School Admissions Code parents will be notified within 15 school days of the outcome 

of their application and will be sent a written outcome, with a reminder of the right of 

appeal.  Applications are shared with the allocated school and with a school that is a preference and is 

its own admission authority.  Full details on how information is processed is published on the Councils 

website.  

4.12 Right of Appeal 

Main round appeals (reception and year 3): Parents can appeal against the refusal for schools for 

which they did not receive an offer. Appeals must be lodged within 20 school days of the date of the 

letter. Appeals must be heard withing 40 school days of the deadline for lodging appeals. Parents can 

access the information on appeals and submit an appeal online on the council’s web site 

www.southend.gov.uk/admissions or email admissions@southend.gov.uk to request an appeal 

application form. All appeals are considered by an Independent Appeals Panel.  

Main round appeals (in-year R-6): Parents can appeal against the refusal for schools for which they did 

not receive an offer. Appeals must be lodged within 20 school days of the date of the letter. For 

applications for in-year admissions, appeals must be heard within 30 school days of the appeal being 

lodged.  Parents can access the information on appeals and submit an appeal online on the council’s 

web site www.southend.gov.uk/admissions or email admissions@southend.gov.uk to request an appeal 

application form. All appeals are considered by an Independent Appeals Panel.  

4.13 Home Address 

For all applications, the address used will be the child’s habitual normal place of residence as at the 

closing date for applications, i.e., 15th January (reception and year 3).  Changes to address can be 

accommodated up to a month after the closing date. Where the address change cannot be 

accommodated within the reasonable period, parents will be advised, and changes will be updated after 

all on time applications have been processed. 292

http://www.southend.gov.uk/admissions
mailto:admissions@southend.gov.uk
https://www.southend.gov.uk/downloads/file/5784/school_admission_privacy_notice
https://www.southend.gov.uk/downloads/file/5784/school_admission_privacy_notice


4.14 Catchment area  

The catchment area is provided in the catchment map look up facility and also copied below.  

 

The relevant Coordinated Admissions Scheme and Primary Admission booklets should be read 
in conjunction to the Determined Admission Arrangements for all schools in the City of 
Southend-on-Sea.   The Primary Admission booklet contains further details, provides more 
information and is written to support parents through the rounds.

293

https://school-catchment-areas-southend.hub.arcgis.com/


 
12

5. Catchment Map 

 

294



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 

Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme 2024/25  

 
 
 
 
Publication Due: 1 January 2023 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 

Approval Route Key Dates 

Cabinet:  September 2022 

Consultation with schools: 2 November – 1 December 2022 

Approved by Executive Directors 
delegated authority: 

10 December 2022 

Published: Council Web site December 2022 (before 1 Jan 2023) 

1Table _Office Use table with key dates for the process 

295



 

Page 2 of 12 
 

Introduction 
The School Admissions Code 2022 requires a single arrangement for co-ordinating all applications to 
state schools from parents in their area. In the City of Southend-on-Sea, the scheme applies to 
admissions into reception, year 3 and year 7.  This document must be published by 1 January of each 
year.  
 
1.Aims and scope of the scheme 
1.1  To assist the offer of one school place to each pupil. 
1.2  To simplify the admission process for parents. 
1.3  To co-ordinate with other local authorities and admission authorities.  

 
2.Key Aspects of the Scheme 
2.1  The Council processes applications for all schools in the area.  
2.2  The Council will send offers of places to Southend residents even if the school is in another local 

authority.  
2.3  Only the Council will know the ranking of the parental preferences. Parental preferences may be 

shared with Admission Authorities for the purposes of admission appeals. This will be after offer 
day.  

2.4 The Council will provide each school with a breakdown of preferences for their own school as on 
offer day.   

2.5 In all cases admission authority schools are responsible for applying the admission criteria. 
Schools are responsible for appeals unless they agree with the Council otherwise.  

2.6 Admission authorities must confirm by 1 February of each year if they wish for the Council to run 
appeals.  

 
3. Collation and publication of Open Day/Evening events 
3.1 Secondary Schools and the Council will work together with the aim of ensuring parents can visit all 

secondary schools in the City.  
3.2    The Council will coordinate and publish the open days for secondary schools in the area. 
3.3    Secondary Schools to advise the Council of open days when the school calendar for the next 

school year is set. The Council will email all secondary schools to share dates provided, between 
January and April with the aim of working together to avoid clashes. 

3.4 The Council will publish final dates and details on the secondary information flyer sent to all year 5 
pupils by the middle of June. This will coincide with the publication of the Secondary Booklet in 
Early July.  

 
4. General details of the scheme 
4.1 Run process for main round Primary and secondary admissions up to the end of coordination (last 

week in August).  
4.2 Parents will complete a Common Application Form on which they will be able to put forward 

3 primary schools in order of priority; or 5 secondary schools in order of priority 
4.3 Parents will be advised to apply on-line for a school place at Southend Admissions but will be able 

to complete a paper form if they wish. 
4.4 All application forms must be sent to the Council.  
4.5 Lists of pupils that have not applied will be made available, where possible. School or early years 

providers that do not share data with the Council will need to provide the admissions team with a 
list of pupils. The team can then check on who has not yet applied.  

4.6 Parents can add schools in another local authority on their application form. The offer of a place at 
a school in another local authority will be made by the Council.  Similarly, other local authorities will 
offer places to their residents on behalf of Southend schools.  

4.7 The Council considers all preferences against the admissions criteria for each school. 
4.8 Completed Supplementary Information Forms must be sent back to the school. These forms are 

not application forms and parents must complete the application form.  
296



 

Page 3 of 12 
 

4.9 The Primary and Secondary Booklets are available electronically and can be provided in print on 
request from parents. Letters to parents are provided to primary schools for mail out (including 
independent schools).  

4.10 There is a national closing date for application forms. The deadline for receipt of any 
Supplementary Information Forms is set by individual schools and the Consortium of Selective 
Schools in Essex. Supplementary Information Forms submitted after the closing date may not be 
used until after national offer day. 

4.11 Parents must ensure these additional forms are provided in good time to the school or the 
consortium. 

4.12 Initial lists will be shared with schools for communication on children that have not get applied and 
for faith schools to match against SIF forms.  

4.13 Submitted On-line applications will be imported to the admissions database. The Council will input 
into the admissions database all information shown on any paper application forms, including any 
reasons for the application, and will provide details to all schools. 

4.14 The Council will share files with other local authorities as required.  
4.15 The Council pre-ranks all lists where possible.  Schools and the Consortium, are responsible to 

rank/check ranking in order of the respective criteria, for all pupils who have applied to their school. 
Ranked lists must be returned to the Council by the agreed date.  Applications that do not have a 
Supplementary Information Form must still be ranked.   

4.16 Pupils with plans will be accommodated if the named school is in the final Education, Health and 
Care Plan by 3 February for Secondary and 3 March for Primary (or next working day) of any given 
year. 

4.17 Certain pupils may need to be admitted over number and the Council will manage the school back 
to the admission limit until the last week of August.  

4.18 Ranked lists for own admission authority schools remain the responsibility of the admission 
authority. 

4.19 The scheme works with the order in which parents select preferences. The order of preferences 
should reflect the order parents wish to be offered a place. If for example parents are unsuccessful 
in gaining a place for the first preference school, they are not disadvantaged in obtaining their 
second preference or their third preference etc.  The process will continue until all preferences are 
used. 

4.20 It is a parental responsibility to inform the Council of a sibling at the school and any change of 
circumstance during the round, such as change of address (1 Sept to 22 Aug) 

4.21 The Council will provide any other local authorities with details of any pupil’s resident in their area 
who can be offered places at schools in the Borough (and vice versa). 

4.22 Where possible the Council will share allocation lists to schools and the Consortium as appropriate 
before offer day. This will be dependent on the process being complete before offer day. Schools 
will be notified if it is not possible to send the lists to them.  When lists can be sent, schools will be 
reminded of section 2.10 of The School Admissions Code 2021.   Schools must not contact 
parents about the outcome of the applications until after these offers have been received by 
parents.  

4.23 The Council will send an offer of a single place to pupils applying for a school place on the offer 
day. 

4.24 Parents who completed an online application will be advised of the outcome of their application by 
email on offer day, unless they indicate on the application form that they would prefer a response 
by letter.  

4.25 Parents who completed a paper application form will be advised of the outcome of their application 
by email on offer day.  Where no email address is provided letters will be posted using 2nd class 
envelopes.  

4.26 Offers are automatically recorded as ‘accepted’. Parents will need to respond to any subsequent 
offers made post offer day 

4.27 Refusals must be received in writing from the applicant to the Council, refusals sent to the schools 
cannot be actioned by the Council until confirmation is received by the parent or the home LA if an 
out of area pupil. 

4.28 The Council will not log a refusal, for statutory age pupils, unless the parents can provide details of 
the educational arrangements, they are putting in place for their child.  

4.29 Schools must refer children that do not arrive on the year 6 transition day to the Council for 
recording, tracing and follow up with the parent.  

4.30 Schools must refer children that do not take up places, and that have not responded to further 
tracing, in early September as ‘children missing education’ and follow the CME protocol.  297



 

Page 4 of 12 
 

4.31  Where children aged under 5 do not take up a reception place the primary/infant school must 
report this to the Council. The Council follow the ‘under 5s missing education’ process.  

4.32 The Council will not accept the refusal of places without information.  The Council will refer pupils 
as appropriate, to the elective home education team where parents have confirmed they will be 
electively home educating.  This will only be where the parent has confirmed this in writing.  

4.33 Where no offer is possible the Council will offer a place at a school in the Borough nearest to the 
home address with vacancies at that time.  Such offers will not be made to selective or faith 
schools (unless arranged with the school/s). 

4.34 Offer letters for the main round to years R, 3 and 7 will remind parents not to call schools on offer 
day and to call the Council. 

4.35 Only the Council will inform parents of offers and waiting list positions to parents until the last week 
in August.  As lists are updated schools might not have accurate information.  

4.36 Schools that send welcome letters/packs will only do so two weeks after offer day to provide 
parents with the opportunity to consider offer and allow for any post offer day activity at the 
Council. 

4.37 Any places will be reallocated if parents advise the Council that they no longer require a place. The 
Council will ensure the child is tracked and monitor parents that choose to home educate.  

4.38   The Council will send allocation lists, waiting lists and withdrawn lists on the prescribed timetable 
and not on demand.  

4.39 The Council publishes the School Admissions Privacy notices on Appeals, proof of address and 
the overall notice on Admission Policies and Reports – Southend-on-Sea City Council  

4.40  The Council shares personal information with teams within the Council working to improve 
outcomes for children and young people (eg. Inclusion, Attendance, CME, Virtual school etc) the 
full list is provided on Microsoft Word - School Admissions.docx (southend.gov.uk) 

 
5.Summer Born Children  
5.1 In the case of children born prematurely or late summer months parents may ask for admission to 

reception a year later. The child would be aged five.  
5.2 The decision to admit outside of a child’s normal age group is made based on the circumstances of 

each case.  Parents must submit requests directly to schools and schools must decide. Schools 
will inform the Council if they wish for the Council to send the outcome to the parent. 

5.3 Parents submitting a request for admission outside the normal age group must also complete the 
Common Application Form. Parents can decide which admission year they wish to apply for once 
they have an outcome from schools. Admission cannot be delayed further than the term after the 
child turns five. Parents that apply a year later will need to use a paper application form.  

 
6.Co-ordination of pupil admissions to Year 3 of Southend junior schools 2024/25 
6.1 Applications will not be necessary for children moving from Year 2 to Year 3 in their existing 

primary school.  However, parents of children in Year 2 of an infant school must apply for transfer 
to year3.   

6.2 The closing date for completing a common application form for a Year 3 place is 15 January 2025 
6.3 The Council will write to all year 2 parents advising of coordination round 
6.4 The Council will work with infant schools in the area to assist the transfer of pupils to the Junior 

school.  
6.5 The Council will provide an initial list of application received via common applications forms to all 

junior schools by 26 January 2025 
6.6 The Council will provide a list of all applications received via common application forms to all junior 

schools by 9 February 2025 
6.7 Schools must rank applications according to their admission criteria and return the ranked list to 

the Council on the agreed dates. 26 February 2025. 
6.8 Ranking must only be based on the highest qualifying admission criterion, and not all criteria as 

this skews the ranking.  
6.9 For all applications received by the closing date, from parents of Year 2 children (including children 

attending year 2 in an infant school), the Council will inform parents of the outcome of that 
application on National offer day.  

298

https://www.southend.gov.uk/school-admissions/admission-policies-reports
https://www.southend.gov.uk/downloads/file/5784/school_admission_privacy_notice


 

Page 5 of 12 
 

6.10 There is full co-ordination for admission to year 3 as a normal admission round for junior schools.  
This is because we have infant and junior schools in the borough and additional places West Leigh 
Junior School.   

6.11 Applications submitted for children that are in the primary school that wish to remain in the same 
school will be withdrawn and parents will be advised that no application is required. 

 
7. Co-ordinated arrangements between the offer date and start of autumn term. 
7.1 The council will continue to coordinate admissions until the last week in August of each year.  
7.2 Late and new preferences/applications will be slotted into the waiting lists by the Council in line 

with school admission arrangements. This will include using new address details where relevant 
and re-ranking applications to appropriate positions. 

7.3 Where parents have refused the offer of the place then the vacant place will be offered in strict 
order of the waiting list until the place is accepted. This does not apply to Eastwood Academy, who 
advise on place to be offered due to their admission arrangements. 

7.4 The offer of school places as they become available will continue to be made by the Council. 
7.5 Once the final list is sent to schools on 22 August the coordination procedures for reception year, 

year 3 and year 7 will close.  The Council will continue to administer waiting lists and in-year 
admissions for all Community and identified Own Admission Authority schools as agreed. 
Admission Authorities wishing to manage their own waiting lists will do so from 22 August onwards. 
Waiting lists must be held at least until the end of the first term (December).  

 
8. Year 7 - Under and over age applicants 
8.1 Parents must direct their request for under or over age matters directly to the school.   
8.2 Any decisions made must be well documented and meet the requirements of the School Admission 

Code in that they are in the ‘best interest of the child’.  
8.3 Once a child, has started the year and completed at least one term as an out of normal age group, 

they cannot apply for a second opportunity to year7. Admission mid-year to move from year 7 back to 
year 6 is not usually in the best interest of a child.  

8.4 Schools must keep a record of the decision to admit out of normal age group and be able to provide 
reasons for decision to the Council. 

 
9.     Applications from children whose parents are living abroad  
9.1    Parents who are living abroad and who wish their child to apply for a Southend school have no 

home authority.  They can apply through what is a proxy home authority (i.e., the Council area in 
which they intend to buy a house or settle the child with relatives). However, although they may 
apply in this way, no place will be offered until they can provide clear evidence of residency.   

 
10. New applications, late applications, changes of preferences and additional applications  
10.1 New applications:  Applications from parents moving into the area, who in the view of the Council 

could not have made an application by the closing date, will be slotted into the system when 
received. These applications might only be processed after all on time offers are made.  These will 
be regarded as new applications and will only apply for parents that could not have applied on time 
such as moving into the country.   Exceptional circumstances will be considered at the discretion of 
the Council.  

10.2 Change of address:   Addresses for schools in Southend-on-Sea are as per the child’s normal 
place of residence on or before the last Friday in November, for Secondary Admissions. And for 
Infant, Junior and Primary Admissions as at 15 February (both rounds up to a month after the 
closing date).   Any change of addresses that could not have reasonably been made by these 
dates would be at the discretion of the Council. Any addresses after these dates are updated after 
offer day for the transfer group (i.e., 1 March or 17 April) and the applications re-ranked 
accordingly.  Parents that could not have applied by the deadlines for the main rounds will be 
considered under the terms of this scheme. 299



 

Page 6 of 12 
 

10.3 Late applications:  Applications received after the closing date, will be regarded as late.  They will 
not be considered until all “on time” applications have been considered.  The Council will be the 
final arbiter, under the coordinated scheme, as to whether an application is late or not.   

10.4 Changes in preference 
Changes in the order of preferences already expressed will not be accepted after the closing dates 
unless, the circumstances are deemed to be exceptional and the changes can be accommodated.  
Change of preference for schools under another local authority will be consulted on with the 
appropriate local authority. Changes received after the closing date will be considered after the 
appropriate national offer date. 

10.5 Additional preferences:  any additional preferences received after the closing dates will be 
considered after the offer date. 

10.6 Checks will be made with other departments in the Council and, where it is suspected that the 
family live outside Southend, contact will be made with the relevant Council. Where there is 
reasonable doubt as to the validity of a home address, the Council reserves the right to take 
additional checking. 

10.7 Changes of address between offer day and the last week of August will be checked by the Council.  
Parents will need to provide proof of the home address in the form of; a house purchase; exchange 
of contracts, or a long-term letting agreement. In all situations, the Council must be satisfied that it 
is the child’s normal/habitual place of residence.  

10.8 Places can be withdrawn up to the end of December / or first term in the situation where an offer is 
made in error, or the application has been found to be fraudulent. Admission Authorities must 
inform the Council of any places withdrawn for the coordinated round up to December of each year 
and vice versa.  

10.9 Schools must inform the Council of address, sibling, or any other differences in ranking lists.  
10.10 Applications made online, via the parent portal that are unsubmitted will not be processed.   
 
11. Supplementary Information Forms 
11.1 In order that they may seek further information to apply their admission criteria, the following 

schools require parents to complete a Supplementary Information form.  
 

Primary School Details 
Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary For all applications 
Sacred Heart Catholic Primary For all applications 
St George’s Catholic Primary For all applications 
St Helen’s Catholic Primary For all applications 
St Mary’s, Prittlewell, C of E Primary For all applications 
Table 2 Primary Schools and Supplementary forms 

Secondary School Details 
St Bernard’s High School For all applications 
St Thomas More High School For all applications 
Shoeburyness High School For year 7 applications for selective places 
Southend High School for Boys For all applications for selective places 
Southend High School for Girls For all applications for selective places 
The Eastwood School For year 7 applications for Sport / Performing Arts 

places 
Westcliff High School for Boys For all applications for selective places 
Westcliff High School for Girls For all applications for selective places 
Table 3 Secondary Schools and Supplementary forms 

12.Waiting lists 
12.1 On offer day the Council will have a waiting list for each Southend school. In most cases the 

Council will be able to rank pupils that apply late, for example using distance. Depending on the 
admission criteria a new application would be added into the waiting list. 

300



 

Page 7 of 12 
 

12.2 The Council will maintain the waiting list as ranked by schools. Where any new pupil, such as a 
late application, is added to the waiting list the Council should be advised within 10 working days of 
where such pupils fit in relation to other pupils on the waiting list.  

12.3 Where a vacancy does arise the place will be offered by the Council to the pupil at top of the 
waiting list. 

12.4 A parent of a child at the top of the waiting list offered a place must confirm, within 10 working 
days, whether they wish to accept the place. During the 10 days the child would hold two offers. 

12.5 The Council will keep waiting lists for all community schools and schools who we manage in year 
admissions for in the Borough for the full school year.  Waiting lists will be maintained strictly in 
accordance with the admission criteria of the school concerned. 

12.6 The Council will remove pupils from the waiting list who are offered and accept a place at a school 
that is a higher preference. 

12.7 The Council will rank pupils with address changes, late and new applications after all on time offers 
are made or on the waiting list as appropriate.  

12.8 All admission authorities must specify, in their arrangements, the period a child remains on a 
waiting list for each school year.  

 
13. Appeals 
13.1 When a local authority or an admission authority informs a parent of a decision to refuse their child 

a place at a school for which they have applied, it must include the reason why admission was 
refused; information about the right to appeal; the deadline for lodging an appeal and the contact 
details for making an appeal. Parents must be informed that, if they wish to appeal, they should set 
out their grounds for appeal in writing. Admission authorities must not limit the grounds on which 
an appeal can be made. 

13.2 Own admission authorities must inform the Council no later than 1 October before a main round if it 
requires the Council to present their appeals. The Council might not be able to support schools 
with appeals without agreement.  The Council does not present appeals for in year processes 
where it is not the administrator.  

13.3 Schools will send lists of submitted appeals to the Council. The Council will record the appeal 
against the admission record and provide the school with all relevant documentation. 

13.4 School must inform the Council within 5 school days of the outcome of any appeal.  
13.5 Having received notification from the school, parents will have 5 school days to confirm in writing to 

the Council which place they wish to accept following the outcome of any appeals. Once a place is 
released, that place will be reallocated. 

13.6 Admission authorities must comply with the School Admissions Appeals Code 2022 and must 
record all appeals and provide the data to the Council after all appeals are heard.   

 
14. Atypical Admissions  
14.1  The Council will execute instruction from the Department for Education in relation to admission 

related matters including but not limited to; 
 
14.2  By 30 September of each year the Council will write to all year 9 pupils to advise of alternative 

education opportunities that are available for year 10 pupils within a reasonable distance; 
 
14.3  All schools have a statutory duty to secure impartial careers guidance for all Year 8 to Year 13 

students to inspire their young people to fulfil their potential and to make them aware of all 
opportunities open to them. We strongly recommend that your child discuss their options with a 
Careers Adviser in their current school or college. The careers advisor will also be able to advise of 
UTCs further away that might offer different specialities. 

 
15. In Year 
15.1  Own Admission Authorities must inform the Council by 1 August at the latest of each year whether 

they intend to be part of the Council’s in-year co-ordination scheme for the following 1 September 
to 31 August or whether they will be managing their own in-year admissions.  301



 

Page 8 of 12 
 

 
15.2  The Council will publish information on its website by 31 August to explain how in-year applications 

will be made and how they will be dealt with form 1 September onwards. 
 
15.3 The Council will provide a suitable application form for parents to complete when applying for a 

school place for their child for a school for which it coordinates in year admissions. . Where  the 
Council receives an in-year application for a school which manages its own in year admissions, it 
must promptly forward the application to the relevant admission authority, which must process it in 
accordance with its own in-year admission arrangements. 

 
15.4   Own Admission authorities must follow the requirements of the Code. 
 
15.5  All schools must provide the Council with available places/vacancies via the weekly email request. 
 
15.6  The Council and Own Admission Authorities should inform a parent of the outcome of an 

application within 10 school days, and must respond in writing no later than 15 school days. 
 
15.7   Own admission authorities must inform the Council of all in-year applications and their outcome 

within 2 days of receipt of the application.  
 

15.8   Own Admission Authorities must follow Children Missing Education protocol were appropriate 

 
16. Annual Review of the Scheme 
16.1 Each year all local authorities must formulate and publish on their website a scheme by 1 January 

in the relevant determination year to co-ordinate admission arrangements for all publicly funded 
schools within their area. 

16.2 Local Authorities must consult admission authorities for schools affected by the scheme and other 
Local Authorities every 7 years as a minimum.  

16.3 A local authority must inform the Secretary of State whether they have agreed a scheme by 15 
April. If this is not achieved the Secretary of State may impose a scheme. 

 
17.List of schools  
The list of schools that are included in this agreement 
 
Secondary Schools 
School Name Number 
Belfairs Academy 5434 
Cecil Jones Academy 4004 
Chase High School 4000 
Shoeburyness High School 4034 
Southchurch High School  4002 
Southend High School for Boys 5446 
Southend High School for Girls 5428 
St Bernard’s High School 5465 
St Thomas More High School 5447 
The Eastwood Academy 5414 
Westcliff High School for Boys 5401 
Westcliff High School for Girls 5423 

Table 4 Secondary School 

Primary Schools 

302



 

Page 9 of 12 
 

School Name Number 
Barons Court Primary School & Nursery 2124 
Blenheim Primary School 2387 
Bournemouth Park Academy 3822 
Bournes Green Infant School 2128 
Bournes Green Junior School  2123 
Chalkwell Hall Infant School 2023 
Chalkwell Hall Junior School  2019 
Darlinghurst Academy  2127 
Earls Hall Primary School 2023 
Eastwood Primary School 3825 
Edwards Hall Primary School 3826 
Fairways Primary School 2407 
Friars Primary School & Nursery 3824 
Greenways Primary School 2104 
Hamstel Infant School 2093 
Hamstel Junior School (partner school) 2092 
Heycroft Primary School 2126 
Hinguar Community Primary School 2094 
Leigh North Street Primary School 2096 
Milton Hall Primary School and Nursery 5273 
Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary School 2002 
Porters Grange Primary School & Nursery 2001 
Prince Avenue Academy 2000 
Richmond Avenue Primary School 3823 
Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School & Nursery 3326 
St George’s Catholic Primary School 3329 
St Helen’s Catholic Primary School 3327 
St Mary’s Prittlewell Church of England Primary School 3325 
Temple Sutton Primary School 2132 
Thorpedene Primary School 5225 
Westborough Academy 2004 
West Leigh Infant School 2109 
West Leigh Junior School (partner school) 2108 

Table 5 Primary Schools 

 

303



 

Page 10 of 12 
 

17.Key dates – Infant, Primary and Junior admissions September 2024 
Date Actions 

1st January 2023 Date for formulation of scheme 

September- October 

2023 

Publish Admissions Information Advertisements, fliers, and letters to registered 
parents of early years children 

14 September 2023 Admission round opens for applications  

Early October 2023 Distribution of year 3 “letter/fliers” to year 2 pupils 

Mid December 2023 Preliminary lists to faith schools for Supplementary Information Form follow up 

14 September – 22 
January  

the Council admissions team verifying applications, which continues right up to 
end of coordination for late applications. 

15 January 2024 Closing date for admission applications (address changes up to a month will be 
accommodated)  

22 January 2024 Follow up list to faith schools for Supplementary Information Form follow up 

31 January 2024 Initial list of preferences sent to admissions authorities and other local 
authorities for ranking. Initial list is a pre-ranked list.  

2 February 2024 SEN pupils will be accommodated if the named school is identified in the 
finalised Education, Health and Care Plan. Post this date pupils will be admitted 
over the PAN but managed back to PAN until coordination ceases 

9 February 2024 Final list of preferences sent to admissions authorities 

26 February 2024 Closing date for schools to return ranked preferences 

12 April 2024 
 

Where possible, final offer lists and offer data will be sent to schools under 

embargo. 

16 April 2024 National Offer Day 

(Easter bank holidays 1April and 12 April 2024) 
16 May 2024 Closing date for appeal forms (reference to the code 2.3 of School Admissions 

Appeals Code 2012 – must be submitted at least 20 days for one time appeals 
after offer day – date is in outcome letter to applicants)  
Date supports appeals being heard by deadline. 

18 July 2024 All on-time appeals completed (2.3a) School Admission appeals Code 2012 (40 

school days from 16 May) 

23 August 2024 The administration of waiting lists for years R and 3 and all in-year admissions 

handed over to academy, voluntary aided, and foundation schools. 

Coordination ceases  
Table 6 Key Dates - Infant, Primary and Junior Admissions September 2024 

  

304



 

Page 11 of 12 
 

 
18. Key dates – Secondary admissions September 2024 
Date Action 
First week in July 2023 Publication of Secondary Admissions Information (booklet) 

Admissions information distribution to year 5 pupils. 
Open evenings at schools that admit pupils because of testing / 
auditions 

1 July – 7 September 
2023 

Registration for testing / audition (CSSE/Eastwood) confirmed by 
CSSE and Eastwood in publications 

1 September 2023 Opening of on-line admissions facility for transfer to secondary school 
First two weeks in 
September 2023 

Distribution of reminder flier /booklet to year 6 pupils 

XX September 2023* 11+ test (to be confirmed by the Consortium – dates will be available 
in the Admissions booklets) 

XX September 2023* Alternative test date (for religious, illness or exceptional 
circumstances) 11+ test (to be confirmed by the Consortium – dates 
will be available in the Admissions booklets)  

9 October 2023 List of pupils not applied will be made available to current 
primary/junior schools where possible, or primary/junior lists from 
school to be matched with applications,  to identify any barriers 
preventing on-time applications being submitted.  

XX October 2023* Testing results to be sent to parents by Consortium / schools (to be 
confirmed by the Consortium – dates will be available in the 
Admissions booklets) 

w/c 16 October 2023 Follow up list of pupils not applied will be made available to current 
primary/junior schools to identify any barriers preventing on-time 
applications being submitted. 

w/c 16 October 2023 Preliminary list to be sent to faith schools for Supplementary 
Information Form follow up 

31 October 2023 Closing date for admission applications (address changes up to a 
month will be accommodated – 30 Nov 2023) 

w/c 6 November 2023 Follow up list to be sent to faith schools for Supplementary Information 
Form follow up. 

w/c 20 November 2023 List of preferences to be sent to schools and other authorities for 
ranking. 

w/c 8 January 2024 Closing date for schools to return ranked preferences 
9 February 2024 SEN pupils will be accommodated if the named schools are identified 

in the finalised EHSP by 9 February  
w/c 23 February 2024 Where possible, final offer lists and offer data will be sent to schools 

and Consortium under embargo.  
1 March 2024 National Offer day 
4 March 2024 Year 6 destination lists sent to primary/junior schools under embargo. 
After 15 March 2024  Secondary schools that wish to send welcome letter/packs  
1-25 March  2024 Updated information, new offers, withdrawals etc sent to secondary 

school’s post offer responses via email communication 
w/c 25 March 2024 Updated lists to secondary schools 
1 April 2023 Closing date for appeal forms (reference to the code 2.3 of School 

Admissions Appeals Code 2012 – must be submitted a min of 20 days 
for one time appeals after offer day – date is in outcome letter to 
applicants – need this date to ensure all appeals completed before 
primary appeal round) 

305



 

Page 12 of 12 
 

Date Action 
w/c 20 May 2024 Updated lists sent to secondary schools and primary/junior schools for 

year 6 transfer. 
17 June 2024 All on-time appeals completed – refer to School Admissions Appeals 

Code 2012 (reference to the code 2.3 of School Admissions Appeals 
Code 2012 – must be heard within 40 days for one time appeals after 
1 April) 

w/c 24 June 2024 Updated lists sent to secondary schools and primary/junior schools for 
year 6 transition day. Schools must report children that do not attend 
transition day to SCC. 

27 August 2024 The administration of waiting lists handed over to academy, voluntary 
aided, and foundation, free schools. 

Key Dates - Secondary Admissions Sept 2024 

 

 
Southend-on-Sea City Council  |  Education and Early Years   |   Access & Inclusion Team 
Queries to or copies can be requested from: Chrissy Papas, School Place Planning & Admission 
Compliance Manager, SBC,  chrissypapas@southend.gov.uk  
 
 

306

mailto:chrissypapas@southend.gov.uk


APPENDIX 3 

Southend-on-sea City Council  

Summary of proposed changes to the Co-ordinated Admission Scheme 2024/25 

Cabinet - September 2022  (Due in July for sign off) 

The following provides an updated summary of proposed changes from the Coordinated Admission 
Scheme 2023/24, proposed for 2024/25 

Item on 
scheme  

Proposed addition or change 
 

3. 
New section for clarity 

3.      Collation and publication of Open Day/Evening events 
3.1 Secondary Schools and the Council will work together with the aim of ensuring parents 

can visit all secondary schools in the City.  
3.2    The Council will coordinate and publish the open days for secondary schools in the area. 
3.3    Secondary Schools to advise the Council of open days when the school calendar for the 

next school year is set. The Council will email all secondary schools to share dates 
provided, between January and April with the aim of working together to avoid clashes. 

3.4 The Council will publish final dates and details on the secondary information flyer sent to 
all year 5 pupils by the middle of June. This will coincide with the publication of the 
Secondary Booklet in Early July.  

 
4.1 Clarity:  Run process for main round Primary and secondary admissions up to the end of 

coordination (last week in August). 

4.5 Clarity:   
Lists of pupils that have not applied will be made available, where possible. School or 
early years providers that do not share data with the Council will need to provide the  
admissions team with a list of pupils. The team can then check on who has not yet  
applied.  

4.12 Clarity and actual practice: 
Initial lists will be shared with schools for communication on children that have not get applied 
and for faith schools to match against SIF forms. 
 

4.9 Clarity: 
The Primary and Secondary Booklets are available electronically and can be provided 
in print on request from parents. Letters to parents are provided to primary schools for 
mail out (including independent schools) 
 

4.13 Clarity:   
Submitted On-line applications will be imported to the admissions database. The 
Council will input into the admissions database all information shown on any paper 
application forms, including any reasons for the application, and will provide details to 
all schools. 

3.26 Update: 
Offers are automatically recorded as ‘accepted’. Parents will need to respond to any  
subsequent offers made post offer day 

4.28 Clarity:  
The Council will not log a refusal, for statutory age pupils, unless the parents can 
provide details of the educational arrangements, they are putting in place for their child. 

4.29 New:  
Schools must refer children that do not arrive on the year 6 transition day to the Council for 
recording, tracing and follow up with the parent.  

4.30 Clarity:  
Schools must refer children that do not take up places, and that have not responded 

307



to further tracing, in early September as ‘children missing education’ and follow the 
CME protocol. 

4.31 New:   
Where children aged under 5 do not take up a reception place the primary/infant school  
must report this to the Council. The Council follow the ‘under 5s missing education’  
process.  
 

4.36 Change period from 4 weeks to 2 weeks to support activity run by schools post offer day 
 
Schools that send welcome letters/packs will only do so two weeks after offer day to provide 

parents with the opportunity to consider offer and allow for any post offer day activity at 
the Council. 

 
 

4.39 New:  
The Council publishes the School Admissions Privacy notices on Appeals, proof of  
address and the overall notice on Admission Policies and Reports – Southend-on-Sea City 

Council 
4.40 New:  

The Council shares personal information with teams within the Council working to 
improve outcomes for children and young people (eg. Inclusion, Attendance, CME,  
Virtual school etc) the full list is provided on Microsoft Word - School Admissions.docx 

(southend.gov.uk) 
 

5.2 Partially new: 
The decision to admit outside of a child’s normal age group is made based on the  
circumstances of each case.  Parents must submit requests directly to schools and  
schools must decide. Schools will inform the Council if they wish for the Council to send  
the outcome to the parent. 
 

12.5 Clarity: The Council will keep waiting lists for all community schools and schools who we 
manage in year admissions for in the Borough for the full school year.  Waiting lists will be 
maintained strictly in accordance with the admission criteria of the school concerned. 

 

END 

308

https://www.southend.gov.uk/school-admissions/admission-policies-reports
https://www.southend.gov.uk/school-admissions/admission-policies-reports
https://www.southend.gov.uk/downloads/file/5784/school_admission_privacy_notice
https://www.southend.gov.uk/downloads/file/5784/school_admission_privacy_notice


Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 1 of 12  

 

Southend-on-Sea City Council 
 

Report of Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Director 
(Finance & Resources) 

to 
Cabinet 

on 
13th September 2022 

 
Report prepared by: Caroline Fozzard 

Senior Finance Lead – Strategy, Sustainability and 
Governance 

 
Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 2022/23 

Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Paul Collins 

A Part 1 Public Agenda Item 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1. The Treasury Management Report for Quarter One covers the treasury 

management activity for the period from April to June 2022 and compliance with 
the treasury management strategy for that period. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
 That the following is approved: 
 
1.1. The Treasury Management Report for Quarter One 2022/23. 
 

That the following is noted: 
 

1.2. Treasury management activities were carried out in accordance with the 
CIPFA (The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) Code of 
Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Sector during the period 
from April to June 2022. 

 
1.3. The loan and investment portfolios were actively managed to minimise cost 

and maximise interest earned, whilst maintaining a low level of risk. 
 
1.4. £0.592m of interest and income distributions for all investments were earned 

during this three-month period at an average rate of 1.36%. This is 0.47% 
over the SONIA rate (Sterling Overnight Index Average) and 0.41% over the 
average bank rate. Also the value of the externally managed funds increased 
by a net of £0.916m due to changes in the unit price, giving a combined 
overall return of 3.46%. (Section 8). 

 
1.5. The level of borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) (excluding 

debt relating to services transferred from Essex County Council on 1st April 

Agenda
Item No.

309

16



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 2 of 12  

 

1998) remained at £347.3m (HRA: £74.2m, GF: £273.1m) during the period 
from April to June 2022. 

 
1.6. During the quarter the level of financing for ‘invest to save’ schemes 

decreased from £8.39m to £8.38m. 
 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1. This Council has adopted the ‘CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management 

in the Public Sector’ and operates its treasury management service in compliance 
with this code. The code recommends that local authorities submit reports regularly 
as part of its Governance arrangements. 
 

3.2. Current guidance is that authorities should report formally at least twice a year and 
preferably quarterly. The Treasury Management Policy Statement for 2022/23 set 
out that reports would be submitted to Cabinet quarterly on the activities of the 
treasury management operation. This is the first quarterly report for the financial 
year 2022/23. 

  
3.3. Appendix 1 shows the in-house investment position at the end of quarter one of 

2022/23. 
 
3.4. Appendix 2 shows the treasury management performance specifically for quarter 

one of 2022/23. 
 
 
4. National Context 
 
4.1. Given the ongoing economic and fiscal challenges UK gross domestic product 

(GDP) is estimated to have fallen by 0.1% in the quarter from April to June 2022. 
The Office for National Statistics has stated that this estimate is subject to more 
uncertainty than usual given the current conditions. Services fell by 0.4% with the 
largest negative contribution from human health and social work activities, 
reflecting a reduction in COVID-19 activities. There were positive contributions 
from consumer-facing services that did well as COVID-19 restrictions eased, such 
as travel agencies and tour operators, accommodation, food service, arts, 
entertainment and recreation. 

 
4.2. The unemployment rate for the quarter from April to June 2022 was 3.8%. The 

number of people unemployed for up to 12 months increased during the latest 
three-month period. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in those 
unemployed for over 12 months. 

   
4.3. The Consumer Prices Index including owner occupiers’ housing costs (CPIH) was 

at 7.8% in April, at 7.9% in May and 8.2% in June. The largest upward contributors 
to the CPIH inflation rate in June came from housing and household services, 
principally from electricity, gas and other fuels and from transport, principally from 
motor fuels. 
 

310



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 3 of 12  

 

4.4. During the quarter the Bank of England increased the bank base rate from 0.75% 
to 1% on 5th May and further increased the rate to 1.25% on 16th June and 
maintained their Quantitative Easing (QE) programme at £895bn. 

 
4.5.  The economic situation together with the financial market conditions prevailing 

throughout the quarter provided opportunities for in-house treasury management 
activities. Variable rate instant access accounts benefited from the increasing 
interest rates although that effect did not feed through in the same way for notice 
accounts. As fixed term deposits matured, advantage could be taken of the 
increased rates when reinvesting those monies.  
 
 

5. Investments 
 

5.1. A prime objective of our investment activities is the security of the principal sums 
invested. To ensure this security before an in-house deposit is made an 
organisation is tested against a matrix of credit criteria and then other relevant 
information is considered. During the period from April to June 2022 investment 
deposits were limited to those who met the criteria in the Annual Treasury 
Management Investment Strategy when the deposit was placed. 

 
5.2. Other investment objectives are to maintain liquidity (i.e. adequate cash resources 

to allow the council to operate) and to optimise the investment income generated 
by surplus cash in a way that is consistent with a prudent level of risk. Investment 
decisions are made with reference to these objectives, with security and liquidity 
being placed ahead of the investment return. This is shown in the diagram below:
   

 
 
Security: 
 

5.3. To maintain the security of sums invested, we seek to lower counterparty risk by 
investing in financial institutions with good credit ratings, across a range of sectors 
and countries. The risk of loss of principal of all monies is minimised through the 
Annual Treasury Management Investment Strategy. 

 
5.4. Pie chart 1 of Appendix 1 shows that at the end of quarter one; 41% of our in-

house investments were placed with financial institutions with a long term credit 
rating of AAA, 17% with a long term rating of A+ and 42% with a long term rating 
of A. 

 

3 – Investment 
return2 - Liquidity

1 - Security

Investment 
decision

311



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 4 of 12  

 

5.5. As shown in pie chart 2 of Appendix 1 these monies were with various 
counterparties, 59% being placed directly with banks and 41% placed with a range 
of counterparties via money market funds. 

 
5.6. Pie chart 3 of Appendix 1 shows the range of countries where the parent company 

of the financial institution with which we have monies invested is registered. For 
money market funds there are various counterparties spread across many 
countries. 
 
Liquidity: 
 

5.7. At the end of quarter one £57.5m of our in-house monies were available on an 
instant access basis, £27.5m were held in notice accounts and £20m was invested 
in fixed term deposits. The table below shows the fixed term deposits during the 
period April to June 2022. 
 

 Table 1: Fixed Term Deposits 
 

Counterparty Date of 
Deposit 

Return Date Number 
of days 

Interest 
rate (%) 

Amount 
(£m) 

Santander UK 12/07/2021 12/04/2022 274 0.250 5.0 
Goldman Sachs 
International 

09/07/2021 08/04/2022 273 0.225 2.5 

Standard Chartered 19/11/2021 19/05/2022 181 0.290 10.0 
National Bank of Kuwait 
(International) plc 

19/11/2021 19/05/2022 181 0.340 15.0 

Lloyds Bank Corporate 
Markets (NRFB)* 

29/06/2022 29/12/2022 183 2.160 12.5 

Goldman Sachs 
International 

29/06/2022 29/12/2022 183 2.190 7.5 

 * NRFB – Non Ring-Fenced Bank 
 
 
5.8. The maturity profile of our in-house investments is shown in pie chart 4 of Appendix 

1. 
 
Investment return: 
 

5.9. During the quarter the Council used the enhanced cash fund manager Payden & 
Rygel to manage monies on its behalf. An average balance of £5.0m was invested 
in these funds during the quarter. The table on the next page shows the movement 
in the fund value over the quarter, the income distributions for that quarter, the 
returns both for each element and the combined return. See also Table 3 of 
Appendix 2. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

312



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 5 of 12  

 

Table 2: Payden Sterling Reserve Fund 
 
Quarter 1 £m Investment 

return (%) 
Value of fund at start of quarter 5.031  
Decrease in fund due to value of unit price (0.040) (3.25) 
Value of fund at end of quarter 4.991  

 
Income distributions 0.013 1.04 
Combined investment income (income distribution 
plus change in fund value due to unit price) 

(0.027) (2.21) 

 
5.10. The Council had an average of £117.7m of investments managed in-house over 

the period from April to June 2022, and these earned an average interest rate of 
0.78%. Of the in-house managed funds: 

 
• an average of £20.4m was held in the Council’s main bank account earning 

an average of 0.82% over the quarter. These monies were held in this 
account to ensure adequate cash resources to allow the council to operate. 

• an average of £55.0m was held in money market funds earning an average 
of 0.94% over the quarter. These work in the same way as a deposit account 
but the money in the overall fund is invested in a number of counterparties, 
therefore spreading the counterparty risk. 

• an average of £27.5m was held in notice accounts earning an average of 
0.66% over the quarter. 

• an average of £14.8m was held in fixed term deposits and earned an average 
return of 0.37% over the quarter. 

 
5.11. In accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy the performance of 

investments managed in-house during the quarter is compared to the SONIA rate. 
Throughout the quarter performance was lower than the SONIA rate (Sterling 
Overnight Index Average) which fluctuated between 0.690% and 1.190%. This was 
due to some of the monies being invested in notice accounts and fixed term 
deposits where the interest rate was either fixed or not rising in step with the 
increases in interest rates. The remaining fixed term deposits matured during the 
quarter and were reinvested towards the end of June at higher interest rates (see 
Table 1). The Council has given notice on its notice accounts and when those 
monies are returned at the end of the respective notice periods they can be 
reinvested at prevailing rates in quarters 3 and 4 respectively.  The bank base rate 
started the quarter at 0.75%, increased to 1% on 5th May and increased to 1.25% 
on 16th June.  Performance is shown in Graph 1 of Appendix 2. 

 
5.12. As investment balances fluctuate, all investment returns quoted in this report are 

calculated using the average balance over the period and are quoted as 
annualised returns. 
 
 
 
 
 

313



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 6 of 12  

 

6. Short Dated Bond Funds 
 
6.1. During the quarter two short-dated bond funds were used for the investment of 

medium term funds: Royal London Investment Grade Short Dated Credit Fund and 
the AXA Sterling Credit Short Duration Bond Fund. 

 
6.2. The monies are invested in units in the fund, the fund is then invested as a whole 

by the fund managers into corporate bonds in the one to five year range. An income 
distribution will be generated from the coupon on the bond and income distributions 
are paid to the Council. The price of units can rise and fall, depending on the price 
of bonds in the fund so these funds are invested over the medium term with the 
aim of realising higher yields than short term investments. 

 
6.3. In line with the capital finance and accounting regulations the Council’s Financial 

Instrument Revaluation Reserve will be used to capture all the changes in the unit 
value of the funds. Members should be aware that investment returns in some 
quarters will look very good and in other quarters there may be losses reported, 
but these will not impact the revenue account as only the distributions paid to the 
Council will impact that and not the change in the unit price. 

 
6.4. An average of £7.5m was managed by AXA Investment Managers UK Limited. 

The table below shows the movement in the fund value over the quarter, the 
income distributions for that quarter, the returns both for each element and the 
combined return. See also Table 2 of Appendix 2. 
 
Table 3: AXA Sterling Credit Short Duration Bond Fund 

  
Quarter 1 £m Investment 

return (%) 
Value of fund at start of quarter 7.518  
Decrease in fund due to value of unit price (0.202) (10.87) 
Value of fund at end of quarter 7.316  

 
Income distributions* 0.034 1.83 
Combined investment income (income distribution 
plus change in fund value due to unit price) 

(0.168) (9.04) 

 

 *  This income distribution is an estimate and will be confirmed and distributed in quarter 2. 
 
6.5. An average of £7.4m was managed by Royal London Asset Management. The 

table below shows the movement in the fund value over the quarter, the income 
distributions for that quarter, the returns both for each element and the combined 
return. See also Table 2 of Appendix 2. 
 
Table 4: Royal London Investment Grade Short Dated Credit Fund 
 
Quarter 1 £m Investment 

return (%) 
Value of fund at start of quarter 7.454  
Decrease in fund due to value of unit price (0.296) (16.04) 
Value of fund at end of quarter 7.158  

 
Income distributions 0.045 2.45 
Combined investment income (income distribution 
plus change in fund value due to unit price) 

(0.251) (13.59) 

314



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 7 of 12  

 

7. Property Funds 
 
7.1. Throughout the quarter long term funds were invested in two property funds: 

Patrizia Hanover Property Unit Trust and Lothbury Property Trust. 
 
7.2. The monies are invested in units in the fund, the fund is then invested as a whole 

by the fund managers into properties. An income distribution is generated from the 
rental income streams from the properties in the fund. Income distributions are 
paid to the Council. There are high entrance and exit fees and the price of the units 
can rise and fall, depending on the value of the properties in the fund, so these 
funds are invested over the long term with the aim of realising higher yields than 
other investments. 

 
7.3. In line with the capital finance and accounting regulations the Council’s Financial 

Instrument Revaluation Reserve will be used to capture all the changes in the unit 
value of the funds. Members should be aware that investment returns in some 
quarters will look very good and in other quarters there may be losses reported, 
but these will not impact the revenue account as only the distributions paid to the 
Council will impact that and not the change in unit price. 

 
7.4. An average of £22.3m was managed by Patrizia Property Investment Managers 

LLP. The table below shows the movement in the fund value over the quarter, the 
income distributions for that quarter, the returns both for each element and the 
combined return. See also Table 1 of Appendix 2. 
 
Table 5: Patrizia Hanover Property Unit Trust 
 
Quarter 1 £m Investment 

return (%) 
Value of fund at start of quarter 22.308  
Increase in fund due to value of unit price 0.981 17.64 
Value of fund at end of quarter 23.289  

 
Income distributions* 0.175 3.14 
Combined investment income (income distribution 
plus change in fund value due to unit price) 

1.156 20.78 

*  This income distribution is an estimate and will be confirmed and distributed in quarter 2. 
  

7.5. An average of £15.0m was managed by Lothbury Investment Management 
Limited. The table below shows the movement in the fund value over the quarter, 
the income distributions for that quarter, the returns both for each element and the 
combined return. See also Table 1 of Appendix 2. 

 
Table 6: Lothbury Property Trust 
 
Quarter 1 £m Investment 

return (%) 
Value of fund at start of quarter 14.752  
Increase in fund due to value of unit price 0.473 12.68 
Value of fund at end of quarter 15.225  

 
Income distributions* 0.096 2.58 
Combined investment income (income distribution 
plus change in fund value due to unit price) 

0.569 15.26 

*  This income distribution is an estimate and will be confirmed and distributed in quarter 2. 

315



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 8 of 12  

 

8. Overall Investment Position 
 
8.1. An average of £117.7m of investments were managed in-house. These earned 

£0.229m of interest during this three-month period at an average rate of 0.78%. 
This is 0.11% below the SONIA rate and 0.17% below the average bank base rate.  
  

8.2. An average of £5.0m was managed by an enhanced cash fund manager. During 
this three-month period this earned £0.013m from income distributions at an 
average rate of 1.04% and the value of the fund decreased by £0.040m at an 
average rate of -3.25%, giving a combined return of -2.21% 

 
8.3. An average of £14.9m was managed by two short-dated bond fund managers. 

During this three-month period these earned £0.079m from income distributions at 
an average rate of 2.14% and the value of the funds decreased by £0.498m at an 
average rate of -13.44%, giving a combined overall return of -11.30%. 
 

8.4. An average of £37.3m was managed by two property fund managers. During this 
three-month period these earned £0.271m from income distributions at an average 
rate of 2.91% and the value of the funds increased by £1.454m at an average rate 
of 15.65%, giving a combined overall return of 18.56%. 
 

8.5. The total for interest and income distributions in paragraphs 8.1 to 8.4 above is 
£0.592m. The total change in external fund values due to the unit price is a net 
increase of £0.916m, which is set out in the table below:  

 
 

Table 7: Externally managed funds – changes in unit price 
 

Fund Table 
Number 

Amount 
(£m) 

Payden Sterling Reserve Fund 2 (0.040) 

AXA Sterling Credit Short Duration Bond Fund 3 (0.202) 

Royal London Investment Grade Short Dated Credit 
Fund 

4 (0.296) 

Patrizia Hanover Property Unit Trust 5 0.981 

Lothbury Property Trust 6 0.473 

Total net increase due to changes in unit price  0.916 
 
 
 
9. Borrowing 
 
 PWLB and short term borrowing 
 
9.1. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is the Council’s theoretical need to 

borrow but the Section 151 Officer can manage the Council’s actual borrowing 
position by either: 
 
 
 

316



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 9 of 12  

 

1 -  borrowing to the CFR; 
2 – choosing to use temporary cash flow funds instead of borrowing (internal 

borrowing) or; 
3 - borrowing for future increases in the CFR (borrowing in advance of need). 
 

9.2. The Council began 2022/23 in the second of the above scenarios, with actual 
borrowing below CFR. 
 

9.3. This, together with the Council’s cash flows, the prevailing Public Works Loans 
Board (PWLB) interest rates and the future requirements of the capital investment 
programme, were taken into account when deciding the amount and timing of any 
loans. During the quarter no new PWLB loans were taken out, no loans matured 
and no debt restructuring was carried out. 

 
9.4. The level of PWLB borrowing (excluding debt relating to services transferred from 

Essex County Council on 1st April 1998) remained the same at £347.3m during 
quarter one. The average rate of borrowing at the end of the quarter was 3.46%. 
A profile of the repayment dates is shown in Graph 2 of Appendix 2. 

 
9.5. The table below summarises the PWLB activities during the quarter: 

 
Table 8: PWLB borrowing during quarter 1 

 
Quarter Borrowing 

at 
beginning 
of quarter 

(£m) 

New 
Borrowing 

 
 

(£m) 

Re-
financing 

 
 

(£m) 

Borrowing 
repaid 

 
 

(£m) 

Borrowing 
at end of 
quarter 

 
(£m) 

April to June 
2022 

347.3 0 0 (0) 347.3 

Of which:      
General Fund 273.1 0 0 (0) 273.1 
HRA 74.2 0 0 (0) 74.2 

 
 All PWLB debt held is repayable on maturity. 
 
9.6. The level of PWLB borrowing at £347.3m is in line with the financing requirements 

of the capital investment programme and the revenue costs of this borrowing are 
fully accounted for in the revenue budget. The current level of borrowing is also in 
line with the Council’s prudential indicators and is proportionate, prudent, 
affordable and sustainable. 

  
9.7. These figures exclude debt held by Essex County Council of £9.6m relating to 

assets transferred on 1st April 1998, which this Council is responsible for servicing. 
The debt is recognised as a deferred liability on our balance sheet. 
 

9.8. Interest rates from the PWLB fluctuated throughout the quarter in response to 
economic events: 10 year PWLB rates between 2.38% and 3.44%, 25 year PWLB 
rates between 2.52% and 3.70% and 50 year PWLB rates between 2.24% and 
3.47%. These rates are after the PWLB ‘certainty rate’ discount of 0.20%. 

 

317



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 10 of 12  

 

9.9. No short term loans for cash flow purposes were taken out or repaid during the 
quarter. See Table 4 of Appendix 2. 

 
 
 Funding for Invest to Save Schemes 
 
9.10. Capital projects have been completed on energy efficiency improvements at the 

new Beecroft Art Gallery, replacement lighting on Southend Pier, lighting 
replacements at University Square Car Park and Westcliff Library and LED lighting 
at the Priory Park workshop which will generate on-going energy savings. These 
are invest-to-save projects and the predicted revenue streams cover as a minimum 
the financing costs of the project. 

 
9.11. To finance these projects in total the Council has taken out interest free loans of 

£0.161m with Salix Finance Ltd which is an independent, not for profit company, 
funded by the Department for Energy and Climate Change that delivers interest-
free capital to the public sector to improve their energy efficiency and reduce their 
carbon emissions. The loans are for a period of four and five years with equal 
instalments to be repaid every six months. There are no net revenue budget 
implications of this funding as there are no interest payments to be made and the 
revenue savings generated are expected to exceed the amount needed for the 
repayments. £0.010m of these loans were repaid during the period from April to 
June 2022. 

 
9.12. At the meeting of Cabinet on 23rd June 2015 the LED Street Lighting and 

Illuminated Street Furniture Replacement Project was approved which was to be 
partly funded by 25 year reducing balance ‘invest to save’ finance from L1 
Renewables Finance Limited. The balance outstanding at the end of quarter one 
was £8.35m. There were no repayments during the period from April to June 2022. 

 
9.13. Funding of these invest to save schemes is shown in table 5 of Appendix 2. 
 
 
 
10. Compliance with Treasury Management Strategy 
 
10.1. The Council’s investment policy is governed by the CIPFA Code of Practice for 

Treasury Management in the Public Sector, which has been implemented in the 
Annual Treasury Management Investment Strategy approved by the Council on 24 
February 2022. The investment activity during the quarter conformed to the 
approved strategy and the cash flow was successfully managed to maintain 
liquidity. See Table 7 of Appendix 2. 

 
 
11. Other Options 
 
11.1. There are many options available for the operation of the Treasury Management 

function, with varying degrees of risk associated with them. The Treasury 
Management Policy aims to effectively control risk to within a prudent level, whilst 
providing optimum performance consistent with that level of risk. 

 
 
 
 

318



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 11 of 12  

 

12. Reasons for Recommendations 
 

12.1. The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management recommends that Local 
Authorities should submit reports regularly. The Treasury Management Policy 
Statement for 2022/23 set out that reports would be submitted to Cabinet quarterly 
on the activities of the treasury management operation. 

 
 
13. Corporate Implications 
 
13.1. Contribution to Council’s Ambition & Desired Outcomes  
 

 Treasury Management practices in accordance with statutory requirements, 
together with compliance with the prudential indicators acknowledge how effective 
treasury management provides support towards the achievement of the Council’s 
ambition and desired outcomes. 

 
13.2. Financial Implications  
 

 The financial implications of Treasury Management are dealt with throughout this 
report. 

 
13.3. Legal Implications 
 

 The Council has adopted the ‘CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management 
in the Public Sector’ and operates its treasury management service in compliance 
with this Code. 
 

13.4. People Implications  
 
 None. 
 
13.5. Property Implications 
 
 None. 
 
13.6. Consultation 
 

The key Treasury Management decisions are taken in consultation with our 
Treasury Management advisers.   
 

13.7. Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 

None. 
 
13.8. Risk Assessment 
 

The Treasury Management Policy acknowledges that the successful identification, 
monitoring and management of risk are fundamental to the effectiveness of its 
activities. 

 
 
 

319



Treasury Management Report – Quarter One 
2022/23 

Page 12 of 12  

 

13.9. Value for Money 
 

 Treasury Management activities include the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with effective control of the risks associated with those activities. 

 
13.10. Community Safety Implications 
 
 None. 
 
 
13.11. Environmental Impact 
 
 None. 
 
 
14. Background Papers 
 
 None. 
 
 
 
15. Appendices 
 
 Appendix 1 – In-house Investment Position as at 30 June 2022 
 
 Appendix 2 – Treasury Management Performance for Quarter One - 2022/23 

320



Appendix 1       In - House Investment Position as at 30th June 2022

Pie Chart 1

Pie Chart 2

Pie Chart 3

Pie Chart 4

INVESTMENTS - SECURITY AND LIQUIDITY

59%

41%

Countries where parent company is registered

UK Money Market Funds (Various)

59%

41%

Financial Sector invested in

Bank Money Market Funds

41%

17%

42%

Spread of investments by long term credit rating

AAA A+ A

55%

14%

19% 12%

Maturity profile of investments

Less than 1 mth

95 Days

181 days

185 Days

321



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Treasury Management Performance for Quarter One - 2022/23

INVESTMENT

Graph 1 -Investment Return

Quarter
Value of fund at the 

start of the Qtr 
Number of units in  

the Qtr 

Increase / 
(Decrease) in fund 

value

Value of fund at 
end of the Qtr 

Income Distribution 
for the Qtr 

Combined interest 
Rate

£ Units £ £ £ %

1 22,307,700.19 1,327.00 981,137.63 23,288,837.83 174,509.03 20.78

1 14,751,721.08 6,844.14 472,839.31 15,224,560.39 96,199.32 15.26

Quarter
Value of fund at the 

start of the Qtr 
Number of units in 

the Qtr 

Increase / 
(Decrease) in fund 

value

Fund Value at end 
of the Qtr 

Income Distribution 
for the Qtr 

Combined Interest 
Rate

£ Units £ £ £ %

1 7,453,619.73 7,751,268.43 (295,323.33) 7,158,296.40 45,050.37 (13.59)

1 7,517,980.14 7,406,876.99 (202,207.74) 7,315,772.40 34,144.84 (9.04)

Quarter
Value of fund at the 

start of the Qtr 
Number of units in 

the Qtr 

Increase / 
(Decrease) in fund 

value

Fund Value at end 
of the Qtr 

Income Distribution 
for the Qtr 

Combined Interest 
Rate

£ Units £ £ £ %

1 5,031,512.97 501,591.35 (40,779.38) 4,990,733.59 13,041.38 (2.21)

Table 3 - Enhanced Cash Fund

Financial Institution

Payden & Rygel

Financial Institution

Royal London Asset Management

AXA Investment Managers UK Limited

Table 1 - Property Funds

Table 2 - Short Dated Bond Funds

Financial Institution

Patrizia Property Investment Managers LLP

Lothbury Investment Management Limited

0.00%

0.20%

0.40%

0.60%

0.80%

1.00%

1.20%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Ra
te

 (%
)

Month

Average interest rate earned on in-house investments compared with benchmarks 2022/2023                                         
(4th Quarter 2021/2022 shown for comparison)

 Average Interest Rate Earned  Average SONIA  Average BOE Base Rate

323



Appendix 2 – Treasury Management Performance for Quarter One - 2022/23

BORROWING 

Table 4 - Short Term Borrowing
Counterparty Rate % Amount £ From To

In place during this Quarter None
Taken Out This Quarter None

Table 5 - Invest to Save Funding

Date Period of loan
Final Repayment 

date
Amount borrowed

Amount Repaid to 
Date

Closing Balance Qtr 
1

Rate of interest

£ £ £ %
23/03/2017 5 Years 01/04/2022 82,017 (82,017.00 ) 0.00 0
22/02/2019 5 Years 01/02/2024 64,148 (38,488.80 ) 25,659.20 0
25/11/2019 5 Years 01/11/2024 8,200 (4,100.00 ) 4,100.00 0
02/07/2020 5 Years 01/06/2025 6,171 (2,468.36 ) 3,702.54 0

- 25 year reducing balance finance
- balance of £8.35m outstanding at the end of quarter 1
- there was no repayment in quarter 1

Table 6 - PWLB Borrowing

GRAPH 2 - Long Term Borrowing - PWLB

PWLB - New this quarter

None

PWLB - Repaid this quarter

None

PWLB Rates Lowest Highest
Range of 10 years PWLB new loan rates this quarter (inc certainty rate) 2.38 3.44
Range of 25 years PWLB new loan rates this quarter (inc certainty rate) 2.52 3.7
Range of 50 years PWLB new loan rates this quarter (inc certainty rate) 2.24 3.47

TABLE 7 - Compliance with Treasury Management Strategy

All transactions properly authorised P

All transactions in accordance with approved policy P

All transactions with approved counterparties P

Cash flow successfully managed to maintain liquidity P

Any recommended changes to procedures None required

L1 Renewables Finance Ltd

Financial Institution

Salix Finance Ltd Energy Efficiency Programme

0

5

10

15

20

25

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50

M
ill

io
ns

Number of Years until maturity from 01/04/2022

Outstanding Debt Maturity

324



 
 

Page 1 of 2 

CABINET 
 

Tuesday, 8th September 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 46 
 
The following action taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 46 is 
reported. In consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member(s):- 
 
1. The Executive Director (Finance & Resources) authorised: 

 
1.1 347 Daws Heath Road, Hadleigh 

The disposal of the freehold of the above-mentioned residential 
property. 
(Eligible for call-in to Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee) 

 
1.2 Airport Business Park Southend – HBD Speculative Development 

Scheme ‘The Quad’ – Updated Arrangements 
Final pre-completion amendments to the terms for the HBD 
speculative development of ‘The Quad’ on Plot 14. 
(Eligible for call-in to Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee) 
 

1.3 Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP Accounts 
 Approval of the Porters Place Southend-on-Sea LLP (“LLP”) 

accounts (“the Accounts”) for the Financial Year 2020/2021 that 
were due to be filed on or before the 31st March 2022. 
(Eligible for call-in to Place Scrutiny Committee) 

 
 
2. The Director of Regeneration & Growth authorised: 
 

2.1 Greater Essex Careers Hub 
 Approval for the Council to enter into an agreement with The 

Careers and Enterprise Company to deliver the Greater Essex 
Careers Hub prior to the commencement of delivery of the 
programme on 1st September 2022. 
(Eligible for call-in to People Scrutiny Committee) 

 
2.2 Multiply Programme 

Approval for the Council to enter into an agreement with the 
Department for Education (DfE) to receive its allocation of the 
Multiply funding, the total value being £999,755.14 and deliver this 
grant funding programme for Southend City. 
(Eligible for call-in to People Scrutiny Committee) 

 
 
 

Agenda
Item No.

325

19



 
 

Page 2 of 2 

3. The Interim Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and 
Environment) authorised: 

 
3.1 Active Travel England – Local Authority Capability and 

Ambition Self-Assessment for Active Travel 
 The completion of the high-level Capability and Ambition 

Self-assessment for Active Travel before the deadline on 
noon on 22nd August 2022 as part of the Active Travel 
England bidding process for grant funding. 

 (Eligible for call-in to Place Scrutiny Committee) 

326


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 26 July 2022
	Minutes
	2. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and Environment) to liaise with Legal Services to finalise the required contract documentation and contract sealing for the Lot 1 Contract.
	3. That a permanent budget increase of £300k per annum for the Lot 1 contract commencing April 2023 and that this be included as part of the 2023/24 budget setting process, be approved.
	4. That one off implementation costs of £198k for the new contract funded by the Business Transformation Reserve, be approved.
	5. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and Environment) to procure the services for Lot 2 Contract by way of direct award via a Framework Agreement, subject to the appropriate operating budget being in place.
	Other Options:
	Reasons for Decisions:


	4 Minutes of the Special Meeting held on Wednesday, 24 August 2022
	6 City Centre Strategy and Investment Plan
	App 1 - WSouthend City Centre Strategy-Vision and Investment Plan-REVB

	7 City Council Brand Refresh
	Appendix 1 - results of engagement
	Appendix 1
	The Logo Consultation Analysis. – draft
	Summary
	Full Breakdown of questions
	1. Please rank your preference - 1 being your first choice etc.
	2. Please give your reasons for your choice*



	Appendix 2 - Shell concept
	Appendix 3 - Primary school worksheet

	8 Community Safety Partnership Strategy
	App 1 - Southend CSPS 2022 to 2025

	9 Private Rented Sector Housing Enforcement Policy
	Appendix - PRSH Enforcement Policy Draft
	1.0	Introduction
	2.0	Purpose and Scope
	3.	Tenure Groups
	3.3	Owner Occupiers
	3.4	Private Tenants
	3.5	Registered Social Landlords (“RSL”)
	3.6	Leaseholders
	3.7	Caravan Sites
	4.	Reporting Poor Housing Conditions
	4.2	Situations Where a Service May Not be Provided
	5.	Enforcement Responsibilities and Options
	5.3	Housing, Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)
	5.8	Legislation, Action and Powers
	5.11	Informal Action
	5.12	Formal Action
	5.13	In relation to the above enforcement options for hazards, the following enforcement notices will be considered, depending on the severity and or number of the hazards identified:
	5.15	Enforcement Considerations
	5.18	Entering A Property and Powers of Entry
	6.0	Charges for Notices and Financial and Civil Penalties
	6.1	Charges for Notices
	6.6	Civil Penalties
	7.3	Licensable HMOs operating without a licence
	8.3	Licensable properties with the adopted area operating without a licence
	9.1	A copy of the guidance on civil penalties can be accessed via: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-penalties-under-the- housing-andplanning-act-2016
	10.0	Complaints Relating to this Draft Policy
	10.1	Should you feel that your request for service or that undertakings in relation to
	housing enforcement from the Council has not been adequately considered, you may make a formal service complaint by contacting our Corporate Complaints Team.
	Prior to doing, the Council must have received your complaint directly and you are encouraged to discuss the matter initially with your case Officer first and where necessary the Service Manager or Head of Service.
	Making a Demolition Order under section 265 (Housing Act 1985 as amended by section 46 Housing Act 2004)
	Declaring a Clearance Area under section 289 (Housing Act 1985 as amended by section 47 Housing Act 2004)
	Section 1: Enforcement Fees
	Appendix 3 Civil Penalties Policy for imposing financial penalties under the Housing Act 2004 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Adopted February 2022)
	Appendix 5 Statement of Principles – The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015
	2.0	Purpose
	3.0	Duties
	4.0	The Legal Framework
	5.0	The purpose of imposing a financial penalty
	6.0	Principles to be followed in determining the amount of a Penalty Charge
	7.0	Review and Appeals in relation to a penalty charge notice
	8.0	Recovery of Penalty Charge
	8.1	The Council may recover the penalty charge on the order of a court, as if payable under a court order however such proceedings may not be started before the end of the period by which a landlord may give written notice for the Council to review the penalty charge notice and where a landlord subsequently appeals to the Tribunal, not before the end of the period of 28 days beginning with the  day on which the appeal is finally determined or withdrawn.


	10 Transport East's Transport Strategy
	11 Options for the Procurement of the Voluntary Sector Contract
	12 Stray Dog Service
	13 Personal Watercraft and BBQ PSPO
	Appendix 3 - PSPO Equality Assessment

	14 Feed and Food Service Plan 2022-23
	App 1 - Final Official Feed and Food Controls Service Plan 2022-23

	15 School Admissions Arrangements 2024-25
	Appendix 1 Community Admission Arrangements 2024
	CONTENTS
	1.	Introduction
	2. Community Schools Published Admissions Number 2024/25
	3.	Oversubscription criteria for community schools
	4.	Explanatory notes, including maps, apply to all community schools in Southend-on-Sea
	5.	Catchment Map

	Appendix 2 Proposed Coordinated Admissions Scheme 2024
	Southend-on-Sea City Council
	Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme 2024/25
	Publication Due: 1 January 2023
	Introduction
	1.Aims and scope of the scheme
	2.Key Aspects of the Scheme
	3.	Collation and publication of Open Day/Evening events
	4. General details of the scheme
	5.Summer Born Children
	6.Co-ordination of pupil admissions to Year 3 of Southend junior schools 2024/25
	7. Co-ordinated arrangements between the offer date and start of autumn term.
	8. Year 7 - Under and over age applicants
	9.     Applications from children whose parents are living abroad
	10. New applications, late applications, changes of preferences and additional applications
	11. Supplementary Information Forms
	12.Waiting lists
	13. Appeals
	14.	Atypical Admissions
	15.	In Year
	16. Annual Review of the Scheme
	17.List of schools
	17.Key dates – Infant, Primary and Junior admissions September 2024
	18. Key dates – Secondary admissions September 2024


	Appendix 3 Scheme changes summary sheet

	16 Treasury Management Report - Quarter 1 2022/23
	Appendix 1 - In-house Investment Position as at 30 June 2022
	Appendix 2 - Treasury Management Performance for Quarter One - 2022-23

	19 SO46 Report
	COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 46




